https://doi.org/10.57634/RCR5062

Polymers for the future

Olga V.Arzhakova,^a[®] Maxim S.Arzhakov,^a Elmira R.Badamshina,^b[®] Ekaterina B.Bryuzgina,^c[®] Evgeny V.Bryuzgin,^c[®] Aleksandra V.Bystrova,^{d, e}[®] Gleb V.Vaganov,^f[®] Valentina V.Vasilevskaya,^{a, d}[®] Artem Yu.Vdovichenko, e Marat O.Gallyamov, d, g Rustam A.Gumerov, d, g Andrey L.Didenko, f Vadim V.Zefirov,^d⁰ Sergei V.Karpov,^b⁰ Pavel V.Komarov,^d⁰ Valery G.Kulichikhin,^h⁰ Sergei A.Kurochkin,^b[®] Sergey V.Larin,^f[®] Alexander Ya.Malkin,^h[®] Sergey A.Milenin,^e[®] Aziz M.Muzafarov,^{d, e} Vyacheslav S.Molchanov,^g Alexander V.Navrotskiy,^c Ivan A.Novakov,^c Evgenii F.Panarin,^f Irina G.Panova,^a Igor I.Potemkin,^{d,g} Valentin M.Svetlichny,^f Nikita G.Sedush,^e[®] Olga A.Serenko,^d Sergey A.Uspenskii,^e[®] Olga E.Philippova,^g[®] Alexei R.Khokhlov,^{d, g} Sergei N.Chvalun,^e Sergei S.Sheiko,^f Andrey V.Shibaev,^g Igor V.Elmanovich,^d[®] Vladimir E.Yudin,^f[®] Alexander V.Yakimansky,^f[®] Alexander A.Yaroslavov^a ^a Lomonosov Moscow State University, Department of Chemistry, Leninskive Gory, 1, building 3, 119991 Moscow, Russian Federation ^b Federal Research Center of Problems of Chemical Physics and Medicinal Chemistry, Russian Academy of Sciences, prosp. Akademika Semenova 1, 142432 Chernogolovka, Moscow Region, Russian Federation ^c Volgograd State Technical University, prosp. Lenina 28, 400005 Volgograd, Russian Federation ^d A.N.Nesmeyanov Institute of Organoelement Compounds of Russian Academy of Sciences, Vavilova, 28, building 1, 119334 Moscow, Russian Federation ^e Enikolopov Institute of Synthetic Polymeric Materials, Russian Academy of Sciences, ul. Profsoyuznaya, 70, 117393 Moscow, Russian Federation

^f Institute of Macromolecular Compounds, Russian Academy of Sciences, St. Petersburg,

Bolshoy Prospekt V.O., 31, 199004 St. Petersburg, Russian Federation

^g Lomonosov Moscow State University, Faculty of Physics,

Leninskiye Gory, 1, building 2, 119991 Moscow, Russian Federation

^h A.V.Topchiev Institute of Petrochemical Synthesis, Russian Academy of Sciences,

Leninsky prosp., 29, 119991 Moscow, Russian Federation

The main challenge of modern polymer science is to search for ways of further development of polymer civilization, which obviously includes living organisms on the Earth, without harmful consequences for civilization and the planet in its entirety. The review considers approaches to handle the problem of environmental accumulation of plastic waste. Promising trends in the development of polymer technologies, which can significantly reduce the amount of waste produced, are highlighted. Separate Sections address original methods of additive manufacturing technologies, such as the extrusion printing technique to produce multilayer films, 3D printing by using high-temperature polyimide materials, new functional siloxane oligomers and hydrogels for medical uses. Much attention is paid to the development and applications of biodegradable materials in medicine, packaging industry and agriculture. An analysis of the European strategy for plastics and plastic disposal demonstrates that it has a number of limitations due to high energy requirements and changes in Earth's carbon balance. The modern approach to plastic waste management free from these shortcomings is briefly outlined. The bibliography includes 1233 references.

2

2 of 88

Contents				
1. Introduction				
2. Materials based or				

2.	Materials based on molecular brushes	3
	2.1. Reconfigurable polymer networks based	4
	on molecular brushes	
	2.2. Degradation of molecular brushes	5
3.	Multilayer coextrusion	8
	3.1. Use of multilayer coextrusion technology	10
	in production of packaging materials	
4.	Modern rheology of polymer melts	12
	4.1. Laminar flow	12
	4.2. Phase separation in polymer blends	13
	4.3. Filled polymers and nanocomposites	16
	4.4. Phase transitions in the shear flow	17
5.	3D printing	19
	5.1. 3D printing of thermally stable polymers	19
	5.1.1. Preparation of fusible polyimide powders	20
	5.1.2. Structure and properties of polyimide powders	21
	5.2. 3D printing of silicone polymers	22
	5.3. 3D printing of hydrogels	25
6.	Universal methodology of processing and modification	28
	of polymer films, fibres and plastics	
	6.1. Environmental crazing	28
	6.2. Reactive precursors for processing and modification	30
of p	blastics	
7.	Multiscale simulation concept in the studies	31
of s	tructure and properties of polymer materials	
8.	Biodegradable polymeric and composite materials based	35
	on plant raw materials	
	8.1. Biodegradable polymers with improved properties	35
	as a promising alternative to polyolefins	
	in packaging production	
	8.2. Application of polylactide in coatings of controlled	38
	release fertilizers	
9.	Modification of biodegradable materials based	39
	on polysaccharides for the control of the surface properties	
	and biodegradation performance	
	9.1. Factors controlling bioadegradation of polymers	39
	9.2. Properties of cellulose and chitosan and approaches	39
	to their processing	
	9.3. Modification of cellulose and chitosan	40
0.	Polymer waste management problem	41
11.	Processing of plastics using supercritical fluids	44
	11.1. Chemical recycling of plastics in sub-	44
	and supercritical solvents	

1. Introduction

This review addresses the state-of-the-art research areas of polymer science. The year 2020 marked the 100th anniversary of Hermann Staudinger's discovery of the chain structure of polymers. This discovery is considered to be the beginning of the development of polymer science as a systematic approach to investigating this type of organic materials. The polymer science is currently a powerful interdisciplinary field. Polymers form the basis of human civilization and play a key role in its evolution. Over the past period, it has become clear that Staudinger's discovery is not only about providing a tool for the creation of polymer molecules but also, resulting from the development of these concepts, about realizing the undeniable fact that the variety of life on Earth is based on polymer materials,

	11.1.1.	Hydrolysis and destruction in water	44
	11.1.2.	Alcoholysis and glycolysis	46
	11.1.3.	Processing in acetone	47
	11.1.4.	Solvolysis and destruction in ammonia	48
	11.1.5.	Processing in miscellaneous solvents	48
	11.2. Plas	stic recycling using supercritical carbon dioxide	49
	11.2.1.	Supercritical fluid extraction	49
	11.2.2.	Supercritical impregnation	50
	11.2.3.	Foaming	50
	11.2.4.	Destruction	51
12.	Alternati	ve concept of polymer waste management	51
13.	Environr	nental and medical applications of polymer materials	53
	13.1. App	plication of biocompatible and biodegradable	53
	nat	ural polymers as multifunctional binders and sorbents	3
	for	nature protection purposes, environmental geology	
	and	lagrochemistry	
	13.1.1.	Lignosulfonates	53
	13.1.2.	Xanthan gum	53
	13.1.3.	Alginic acid salts	54
	13.1.4.	Carboxylated cellulose soils	54
	13.1.5.	Chitosan	55
	13.1.6.	Interpolyelectrolyte complexes	55
		of biodegradable polymers	
	13.1.7.	Waterborne polyurethanes	56
	13.2. Pro	mising polymer materials for water treatment	58
	and	for preventing water pollution with organic	
	con	npounds	
	13.2.1.	Molecularly imprinted polymers	59
	13.2.2.	Microgels	60
	13.3. Bio	logically active water-soluble synthetic polymers	62
	for	biomedical purposes	
	13.3.1.	Membrane-active polymers	62
	13.3.2.	Macromolecular chelating agents and polyanions	63
	13.3.3.	Interferon-inducing and antiviral activity	63
		of polyanions	
	13.3.4.	Anti-adhesion and virucidal action of polyanions	64
	13.3.5.	Metallopolymer complexes for bioimaging.	65
		Luminescence imaging	
	13.3.6.	Metallopolymer complexes for magnetic	65
		resonance imaging	
14.	Conclusi	on	66
15.	List of at	bbreviations and symbols	67
16.	Informat	ion about authors	68
17.	Referenc	es	70

from proteins and polysaccharides (cellulose, chitin), covering the main forms of biomass, to DNAs and RNAs, which serve as carriers of the genetic information and play a key role in translating the genetic code in living things, providing their life stages and reproduction.

The idea of the life as a series of chemical transformations of organic matter was significantly improved and detailed in the past century, and the relationship between the organic and inorganic nature is clearly reflected in the so-called planetary cycles of carbon, oxygen, nitrogen, phosphorus, *etc.* Academician A.A.Berlin noted the key role of polymers in the carbon and oxygen cycles,¹ attracting keen attention of researchers to the circulation of polymeric substances on Earth. In parallel with investigations of biological systems, numerous polymer-based synthetic materials were designed and chemically manufactured on the industrial scale. Today, a world without polymeric materials is almost unimaginable.

However, the mass production of polymers has created a new serious environmental problem associated with their disposal. This problem is equally or even more challenging than the design of new materials. Even a cursory acquaintance with the scale of this problem leads to understanding of the indisputable fact that the issues faced by mankind, which are caused by the plastic pollution of the natural environment, are crisis factors of growth and development but not fatal consequences of the progress in the manufacturing of plastics, according to many environmental experts. The goal of polymer science is not to minimize the production of plastics but to include them in the circulation of polymeric materials on the planet and to learn how to control it. Now it is clear that the mechanisms of waste disposal should be anticipated when designing the synthesis of polymers.

This review is intended to provide a tool of interdisciplinary analysis of the promising state-of-the-art research areas of polymer science and evaluate the challenges and prospects at the century mark of its development. The review considers the modern state of such important fields, as the development of technologies for producing multilayer film materials, enabling one not only to control the supramolecular structure and morphology of polymer films but also, during multiplication, to perform the mechanochemical synthesis of new copolymers, inaccessible by conventional synthetic approaches.² Polymer aspects of 3D printing are considered in relation to the most complex and promising areas concerning the use of engineering plastics, silicone elastomers and hydrogels. Each of these areas is unique and the prospects of the application of these materials are truly limitless. Great attention is paid to prerequisites for the development of new polymer types, such as dense molecular brushes and unique materials based on these structures. Taking into account their high cost, it is supposed to impart new properties to these polymers, such as the ability not only to be organized to form more complex structures but also to be disassembled into building blocks for reuse. One Section is focused on the problems of biodegradable polymers and materials, which are considered by many experts as a mainstream approach for addressing issues associated with the plastic packaging as the major plastic waste. The processing and fabrication of plastic products are complicated by the specific nature of the rheology of polymer melts different from that of lowmolecular-weight compounds, thereby making rheological studies an essential part of polymer science.

A separate Section is devoted to the analysis of approaches to plastic waste disposal. This issue is discussed in terms of the global carbon cycle, in which the synthesis and fabrication of plastics are considered as an alternative to the burning of hydrocarbons. An objective analysis of the approaches to plastic waste disposal, occurring in nature and used in modern civilizations, shows that, along with the fundamental differences, there are many features in common. A comparison of the efficiency of these approaches casts doubt on the accepted paradigm for processing plastic waste, and its constructive revision may solve these problems forever and rid the polymer science of social and political pressure. This, in turn, can bring the development of this research area back to natural logics, that is to the pathway to perfection. The research areas included in this review were chosen by members of the Polymer Council of the Russian Academy of Sciences, as the most qualified experts on polymers in the Russian Federation. This choice is a matter of taste rather than a comprehensive systematic analysis of the leading research areas. It is equally important that the prospects of a particular research area were assessed based on the fundamental knowledge rather than consumer perceptions, which are commonly considered in specialized publications.

The unifying starting point of this review is the glance into the future, as seen by experts in different fields of polymer science. Here one should not expect futuristic projects and fantasies typical of non-fiction articles. The authors focused on the issues, which they considered to be of key importance for solving pressing current problems. The authors motto was 'Polymers for the Future', which is used as the title of our mosaic review. We hope that the readers will get a feel for modern trends in polymer science and will use them in their research and that the mosaic canvas will get together into the clear and optimistic picture of the future of polymer science.

2. Materials based on molecular brushes

In the past decade, a parade of highly branched macromolecules, including dense molecular brushes and unique materials based on these polymers, was the most significant event in the synthesis of polymers, which actually overturned the traditional views on intermolecular interactions of macromolecules. In the studies,^{3–10} the authors demonstrated the unique high level of control over the properties of soft materials *via* controlling the architecture of bottlebrush polymer networks. The approach to the control of the three-dimensional structure by tailoring the properties through architecture is among the advanced techniques of controlling the properties of the polymer material during the synthesis (bottom-up method) and it provides an opportunity of using digital technologies in the design of materials.

As opposed to linear structures, the brush architecture offers significant advantages in the design of new materials with specified properties. First, the properties of the material can be changed in a wide range by varying only the architecture of brush blocks, which is determined by a set of parameters (n_{sc}, n_g, n_x) , where n_{sc}, n_g and n_x are the degrees of polymerization of the side chains, the backbone between the grafted chains and the backbone between the crosslinks, respectively, with the chemical composition of the network remaining unchanged. For example, the modulus of elasticity (Young's modulus) can be changed by four orders of magnitude by varying the density of grafting and the length of side chains, as well as the distance between the crosslinks of the network (Fig. 1 a, b).¹¹⁻¹⁴ This significantly expands the potential of polymer technologies, in which the physical properties of the material are traditionally specified by its chemical composition.

Second, having numerous independently controlled architecture parameters, one can program different physical properties (modulus of elasticity, elongation at break, melting point, degree of swelling) and, which is most important, change these properties independently of each other.^{12, 15, 16} This opens up intriguing possibilities for the fabrication of materials with a unique combination of usually incompatible properties, *e.g.*, such as soft yet strong or elastic yet



Figure 1. Mechanical testing of polydimethylsiloxane (PDMS) bottlebrush elastomers (*a* is the true stress (σ_{true}) versus the uniaxial elongation (λ); elastomers defined by different n_g values at fixed n_{sc} and n_x demonstrate a wide range of mechanical properties, allowing the simultaneous increase in the stiffness (Young's modulus, *E*) and elongation at break λ_{max} ;¹² *b*, the combined plot $E(\lambda_{max})$ for a series of bottlebrush elastomers with different values of n_{sc} and n_x ; E_{ent} is the entanglement plateau modulus of linear polymers;¹² *c*, the plots $\sigma_{true}(\lambda)$ for physical networks self-assembled from linear – brush – linear block copolymers; such supersoft and strain-stiffening elastomers based on conventional PDMS (solid lines) make it possible to replicate the mechanics of biological tissues (empty squares); the numbers in square brackets correspond to the degree of polymerization of the brush backbone (printed in blue) and linear blocks (printed in red);¹² *d*, the softness (Young's modulus) of the network versus the firmness (defined as the ratio of the root-mean-square end-to-end distance to the square of the



contour length of the polymer between crosslinks) for linear – brush – linear triblock copolymers with different ratios and densities of grafting of short and long side chains; each set of colour symbols corresponds to a series of samples with a variable degree of polymerization of the linear block at a constant length of the brush block (points are extrapolated by dashed lines for the sake of convenience). The grafting density and the fraction of long side chains increase from left to right. Therefore, the copolymerization of short and long macromonomers enables the precise independent tuning of the Young's modulus and the firmness of the network.¹³ Figures a-c are reproduced with the permission of Springer Nature; Fig. d, with the permission of American Chemical Society.

damping (Fig. 1 c, d).^{13, 17–21} A combination of such properties is characteristic only of biological tissues.

Third, brush macromolecules are highly reactive due to the presence of numerous potentially functional side chain ends. Depending on a particular application, a controlled fraction of side chain ends can be readily functionalized with either reactive or strongly associating groups that promote either permanent or dynamic crosslinking.^{20, 22, 23}



Figure 2. Frequency dependences of the complex viscosity (η^*) of PDMS melts with similar molecular weights $(M_n \sim 500\,000)$ but with varying architecture (linear, bottlebrush and star-like bottlebrush) (a).²⁰ The 3D printing with a thermosensitive hydrogel based on linear – brush – linear block copolymers (b).²³ Figure *a* is reproduced with the permission of Springer Nature, Fig. *b*, with the permission of American Association for the Advancement of Science.

Fourth, a more compact shape and low interpenetration of macromolecules due to a high grafting density lead to a decrease in the number of chain entanglements and, as a consequence, a decrease in the viscosity of the melt (Fig. 2). This facilitates the processing of polymers and injection molding, which is particularly important for additive manufacturing, such as 3D printing.^{20, 23, 24}

2.1. Reconfigurable polymer networks based on molecular brushes

The possibility of controlling the characteristics of polymer materials by changing the architecture with the chemical composition of the networks remaining unchanged open unique prospects for controlling their properties through the reconfiguration of the polymer network without the loss of integrity and even the shape of the material. This is achieved by the introduction of small molecules, serving as dormant crosslinkers or, on the contrary, as crosslinker scavengers, into polymer networks. These molecules can be activated at any time by an external stimulus (e.g., temperature or light) in order to introduce additional crosslinks or remove the existing ones (Fig. 3). In the former case, the elastomer or gel becomes firmer; in the latter case, softer up to the transition to the melt of bottlebrush mesoblocks. state. It is worth noting that for materials containing dormant crosslinks, as opposed to conventional stimuliresponsive materials, these changes are irreversible, *i.e.*, in both states (before and after the activation), the materials remain stable indefinitely up to the next exposure to the corresponding external stimulus. This on-demand change in the properties may be useful in the development of upcy-



Figure 3. Schematic views of the reconfiguration (*a*) and the reversible Diels-Alder reaction of maleimide with furan (dormant crosslinker) and the deactivation of crosslinker with (anthracen-9-yl)methanol (*b*).

cling technologies, allowing for the reuse of polymer materials to improve their properties.

Similar principles of architectural reconfiguration can be applied in technologies for closed-loop recycling of chemically cross-linked networks, which are most difficult objects for recycling (molecular modification). The disassembly is performed by removing crosslinks and transforming the networks to liquid melts consisting of bottlebrush mesoblocks. For this purpose, it is necessary to activate a dormant crosslinker scavengers, which will remove percolation bonds between the macromolecules. As mentioned above, materials remain stable before and after the reconfiguration, making it possible to use the polymer product up to the recycling and to store the raw material (melt of bottlebrush mesoblocks) over a long period of time for its subsequent use as the starting compound to reassemble the material possessing, depending on the goal, the same or new characteristics.

Therefore, the architectural reconfiguration can be used not only to assemble very complex structures with specified properties but to disassemble these structures for the reuse.

2.2. Degradation of molecular brushes

The disassembly of molecular brush-based networks can be accomplished in different ways, including the backbone degradation, the cleavage of side chains or the disintegration into bottlebrush mesoblocks. Correspondingly, different products, such as bottlebrush oligomers, gels swollen in cleaved side chains and melts of molecular brushes are produced.

The backbone degradation of molecular brushes can occur *via* acid 25,26 or alkaline $^{27-31}$ hydrolysis. The backbone can have different nature, for example, polynorbornene (PNB), 25 polycarbonate (PC) 26 or polyimide (PI). $^{27-31}$

Shieh *et al.*²⁵ described an original approach to perform mild acid hydrolysis of molecular brushes consisting of the PNB backbone with polyethylene glycol (PEG) side chains. The addition product of cyclopentadiene and maleimide bearing a nitrogen-attached PEG side chain was used as the main monomer. 2,2-Dialkyl-1,3-dioxa-2-silacyclooct-5-ene comonomer units were introduced into the backbone and were then subjected to hydrolysis with hydrochloric acid, providing the backbone degradation (Fig. 4). The acid

hydrolysis was successfully applied to hydrolyze molecular brushes consisting of the PC backbone with PEG side chains.²⁶ Under acidic condition, the backbone underwent complete degradation accompanied by carbon dioxide elimination (Fig. 5).

In the studies,²⁷⁻³¹ the complete alkaline hydrolysis of the PI backbone of molecular brushes with grafted poly(methyl methacrylate) (PMMA) chains (Fig. 6) and poly(*tert*-butyl methacrylate) (PtBMA) was performed in order to isolate and determine the molecular weight characteristics of the side chains. The reaction was carried out under the conditions, which did not cause, as proved by the authors, the saponification of side-chain ester groups (45 h at 65 °C in a 2% KOH solution in a 60:40 THF: methanol mixture).

It should be noted that the acid hydrolysis of ester groups of PtBMA side chains in PI-graft-PtBMA molecular brushes afforded water-soluble PI-graft-PMAA molecular brushes with poly(methacrylic acid) (PMAA) side chains,



Figure 4. Schematic view of the hydrolysis of the copolynorbornene backbone at hydrolyzable moieties.²⁵ Reproduced with the permission of Springer Nature.



Figure 5. Schematic view of the acid hydrolysis of PI-graft-PEG molecular brushes.²⁶

which showed high efficiency as nanocontainers of cyanoporphyrazine agents in photodynamic therapy and diagnostics.^{29,31}

Approaches associated with the depolymerization of the backbone of molecular brushes ^{32,33} are of particular interest. Xiao *et al.*³² synthesized a series of molecular brushes by grafting azide-terminated polystyrene (PS) and PEG side chains onto the poly(benzyl ether) backbone bearing a triple bond at one end and a group initiating depolymerization at another end. The subsequent removal the latter group (Pd⁰ or F⁻) led to the irreversible degradation cascade from head to tail yielding individual side chains (Fig. 7). The depolymerization rate increased with increasing flexibility of the side chains in going from PS to PEG due to an increase in the conformational flexibility of the backbone, resulting in that the optimal orientation for the depolymerization of the terminal unit of the backbone was more rapidly reached (see Fig. 7).

Neary *et al.*³³ performed the backbone degradation of molecular brushes consisting of the polycyclopentene backbone with PS side chains through ring-closing metathesis depolymerization (Fig. 8). It should be emphasized that the released side chains contain the cyclopentene end group, that is active in the addition to thiols. This can be used to prepare other polymers with a complex architecture, *e.g.*, star-shaped (Fig. 9).

It is also worth noting that the mechanical tension that occurs upon adsorption of molecular brushes onto the surface, can lead to the covalent bond scission in the backbone.^{34–37} The atomic force microscopy study showed that the avalanche-like backbone degradation of molecular brushes can occur once the bond tension approaches $\sim 1 \text{ nN}$ (Fig. 10),³⁵ the bond cleavage rate being sensitive to the substrate surface energy.³⁷



Figure 7. Schematic view of the synthesis and depolymerization of molecular brushes.³² Reproduced with the permission of American Chemical Society.



Quantitative ring-closing metathesis depolymerization

Figure 8. Schematic view of the ring-closing metathesis depolymerization.³³ Reproduced with the permission of American Chemical Society.



ATRP is atom-transfer radical polymerization, RCM is ring-closing metathesis depolymerization

Figure 9. Schematic view of the sequential transformation of the polymer architecture from a linear macroinitiator (1) to a cylindrical molecular brush (2), a linear macromonomer (3) and a starshaped polymer (4).³³ Reproduced with the permission of American Chemical Society.



Figure 11. Formula and schematic representation of the structure of a block copolymer brush consisting of the PNB backbone with PLA and cyanobiphenyl side chains (*a*) and an AFM image of the film produced from this brush blended with 4-(hexyloxy)-4-biphenylcarbonitrile in a ratio of 1:1 with respect to LC side chains, which demonstrates the self-assembly to form cylindrical domains (*b*).³⁸ Reproduced with the permission of American Chemical Society.

Side chains of molecular brushes can also undergo different types of degradation, in particular hydrolysis. For example, Deshmukh *et al.*³⁸ synthesized heterografted molecular brushes consisting of the PNB backbone with polylactide (PLA) side chains and liquid crystalline (LC) cyanobiphenyl mesogens (Fig. 11*a*), which self-assemble in an applied magnetic field to form cylindrical PLA domains (Fig. 11*b*).³⁸ Then the PLA domains can be selectively removed by hydrolysis to produce nanoporous films.



Figure 10. Schematic view of the appearance of a significant mechanical tension along the brush backbone due to steric repulsion between the densely grafted side chains and the spontaneous scission of carbon–carbon covalent bonds in the aliphatic backbone (*a*) and AFM images illustrating the progressive backbone degradation of molecular brushes upon spreading of a droplet of the brush polymer solution on a solid substrate with increasing distance from the droplet (*b*). f is the tensile force. The points of application of the force are represented by dots, the arrows indicate the force direction, *x* is the lateral size of the film; the random distribution of the breakage points of the backbone is seen in the magnified image in the lower part of Fig. *b*.³⁵ Reproduced with the permission of Royal Society of Chemistry.

We decided to limit the description of conventional approaches, which are used to create materials based on polymer brushes, to this phenomenal research and focus the attention on the rapidly developing industrial techniques.

3. Multilayer coextrusion

The progress in studies of polymers is directly related to the state of science and technology, generating new ideas and approaches, as well as to an increasing demand of new materials. Thus, due to the development of electronic computing technique and software, in particular, computer-aided design systems, the additive manufacturing method, the most well-known variant of which is the 3D printing (layer-by-layer formation of products), has evolved from a revolutionary technology into a mainstream process used in a wide range of industries. This technology makes it possible, first, to fabricate items with complex geometry from several components or those, which do not require the assembly, and, second, enables the piece and small-scale production of components, in particular, those for the prototyping of products with individual design, individual medical products. Besides, the additive manufacturing is considered as an environmentally sustainable technology due to raw material savings and shortening of supply chains, resulting in the reduction of the environmental impact.^{39, 40} The development of modern polymer materials includes the complication of molecular composites and the design of different hierarchical structures (polymer chains assembled into lamellae, fibrils, spherulites, etc.), which form higher levels of the spatial organization, such as superlattices and fractal structures.

Most of hierarchical materials are manufactured by bottom-up methods, from molecules to macrostructures. However, the top-down technology based on the nanostructuring of uniform components is often more practical, scalable and cost-effective. An increase in the percentage of materials manufactured by top-down methods is evidence that this technological path will replace the methods based on the self-assembly of materials, particularly in the mass production.

In the past decades, another additive technology, referred to as the forced assembly multilayer coextrusion, has attracted both scientific and industrial interest, as a method for manufacturing hierarchically structured polymer systems with a wide range of functional properties. This process can be used to fabricate polymer film products consisting of hundreds (and even thousands) of individual alternating micro- or nanolayers of two or three different polymers, provided that they can be processed from a melt.²

The schematic view of the multilayer coextrusion is shown in Fig. 12 *a*. Two different melts of polymers (or a polymer composite) A and B are delivered from the corresponding extruders, pass through pumps and are then coextruded to form a multilayer laminar flow in a feedblock. By varying the performance of the extruders and pumps and the ratio of the flow rates of the melts from the extruders, one can change the ratio between the layer thicknesses of the two polymers A and B. Then the layered polymer melt flows through a layer multiplier. The presence of the latter is the distinguishing feature of a multilayer extrusion line, as opposed to conventional coextrusion setups, providing the fabrication of unique multilayer structures composed from different polymers.



Figure 12. Schematic view of the fabrication of multilayer films (a), the baker transformation and a multiflux layer multiplier setup; the arrow indicates the direction of the melt flow (b), the atomic force microscopy phase image of the cross-section of the structure.² Reproduced with the permission of Elsevier.

Rotation

Mirroring

Addition

а

Turn

Layering

Figure 13. Basic elements of a serpentine-like layer multiplier, performing the turn, mirroring, layering, rotation and addition $(a)^{45}$ and examples of serpentine-like layer multiplier setups ⁴³ (*b*). The arrows indicate the direction of the melt flow. Reproduced with the permission of Wiley.

In a layer multiplier, the polymer melt undergoes the baker's transformation, named after a kneading operation that bakers apply to dough. Due to the channel shape of the multiplier, the flow is spread, split into two layers and then recombined (see Fig. 12*b*). By repeating this process *n* times (combining several identical components; the case with n = 2 is shown in Fig. 12*b*), one can fabricate a film with the desired number of layers.

Therefore, using several multipliers and providing the laminar flow of the melt, it is possible to fabricate films consisting of tens or even thousands of polymer layers alternating in the cross-section of the film (see Fig. 12 *b*). The correctly chosen flow rates, temperature and channel geometry allow the fabrication of individual continuous layers with a thickness of up to 10 nm.²

There are several designs of layer multipliers. The schematic view of the most commonly used setup, so-called multiflux (see Fig. 12b),⁴¹ is based on Sluijters s static mixer.⁴² An alternative model of a serpentine-type layer multiplier (Fig. 13) was presented in the studies.^{43, 44} This type of multipliers is topologically equivalent to a multiflux multiplier, but it is more compact and is simple to manufacture, particularly in the case of flow-rotating elements. Besides, in more compact multipliers, the contact of the melt with the walls is minimized and, as a consequence, the shear stress causing the disturbance of the laminar flow is decreased, resulting in a more uniform layer distribution.

Guided by this principle, Neerincx and Peelen⁴³ developed a mixer called PeelIncx. A two-layer flow is fed into the top part of the mixer (Fig. 14*a*) and is split into two flows, the left one (omitted in the Figure) and the right flow. Each flow enters a curved channel and then is split into six parallel flows, which are directed downwards. In the down part of the mixer, which is symmetrical to the top part (Fig. 14*b*), these six flows from the right channel are recombined in the narrowing channel and form twelve



Figure 14. Top part (*a*) and the bottom part (*b*) of a PeelIncx layer multiplier.⁴³ Reproduced with the permission of Wiley.

layers and then, at the exit, are recombined with twelve layers from the left channel, resulting in 24 layers. This flow can be fed into another element of the layer multiplier connected in series. Therefore, each multiplier increases the number of incoming layers by a factor of 12, and the total number of the fabricated layers is 2×12^n , where *n* is the number of connected multipliers.

It should be emphasized that the multilayer coextrusion technology makes it possible not only to assemble individual micro- and nanolayers to form simple sequences, such as $(AB)_n$, $(ACBC)_n$ or $(ABC)_n$, but also to arrange individual layers both parallel and perpendicular to the surface of the film product. The multilayer coextrusion was applied to produce polymeric fractal mixtures with a large interface.^{45–47} Figure 15 presents photomicrographs of a treelike structure manufactured by a combination of elements shown in Fig. 13. Wang *et al.*⁴⁸ described the production of polycaprolactone nanofibres by multilayer coextrusion (Fig. 16). The process involved a combination of the multiplication and lamination of polycaprolactone (PCL) and polyethylene oxide (PEO) flows followed by the stretching and dissolution of PEO in water.



Figure 15. Fractal structure produced using a serpentine multiplier:⁴⁷ a, the general view; b-e, enlargements; f, an idealized structure, which can be produced in the absence of shear stresses. Reproduced with the permission of Wiley.



Figure 16. Schematics of the production of PCL nanofibres.⁴⁸ Reproduced with the permission of Elsevier.

Multilayer film materials and fibres, produced using this technology, possess unique properties. The application of layered materials in electronic optical systems is of interest. The alternation of layers with different refractive indices and with a stepwise increasing thickness allows the creation of gradient refractive index lenses (GRIN lenses).⁴⁹ Multi-layer polymers with incorporated active nanoparticles and(or) organic molecules can be used to create 3D optical data storage systems.⁵⁰ The precise control of the refractive index of multilayer polymer films at the nano- and microscales specifies the optical interference effects characteristic of these one-dimensional photonic crystal structures.⁵¹ For example, band-gap tunable lasers can be fabricated based on elastomers with strongly different refractive indices.⁵²

The multilayer coextrusion of melts is a flexible continuous highly efficient technological process, which can not only be used for research purposes in laboratories but can be scaled up to industrial levels to manufacture unique film products and high-tech materials, with increasing importance of packaging industry.

3.1. Use of multilayer coextrusion technology in production of packaging materials

The packaging industry is the largest consumer of polymers. The main strategies for improving their barrier properties, mainly to water and oxygen, are based on the introduction of inorganic fillers and lamination with polymers with low gas permeability.53 High gas permeability of polymers is due to the presence of the free volume in the latter; therefore, amorphous regions have much higher permeability compared to crystalline regions. The barrier properties of commercially available polymers can be significantly improved by varying the crystal structure, including the alignment of crystallites. Thus, the formation of a layer of a crystalline polymer with a thickness of about tens of nanometers between two layers of another confining polymer results in the crystallization in a confined space,⁵⁴ where crystalline lamellae are oriented parallel to the film surface, thereby significantly improving the barrier properties (Fig. 17). This effect was demonstrated in many studies, for example, for PS/PCL, poly(acrylic acid) (PAA)/PEO,55 PS/PEO,55 PS/PLA.56

Multilayer coextrusion technologies for the fabrication of multilayer polymer films allow the creation of functional multilayer materials with characteristics required for application in a particular field. Thus, multilayer coextrusion can be used to manufacture multilayer packaging products with improved mechanical and gas-barrier properties.^{56–63} In the past years, the mechanical ^{57,61,63} and transport ^{56–60,62} properties of multilayer polymer films and the analysis of



Figure 17. Oxygen permeability normalized to the corresponding permeability of the bulk film versus the thickness of single layers of multilayer films (a), and a schematic showing the gas diffusion pathway through a multilayer structure;⁵⁵ Fig. (a) was created by the authors on the basis of Ref. 55; (b) reproduced with the permission of American Association for the Advancement of Science.

the layer structures, interlayer adhesion and interlayer diffusion ^{58,62,64-69} have been extensively addressed in the literature. This interest is due to the fact that the changes in the macroscopic properties of coextruded films are largely associated with the effects at the interface between the layers and the dynamic constraints arising from the layered structure of the film. Multilayer polymer films are studied using both experimental methods and computer modeling.⁶⁵

Let us consider in more detail the key factors responsible for the performance characteristics of coextruded multilayer films. The main factors are the composition of the layers and the degree of interlayer adhesion between the layers. The choice of a pair of polymers with good interfacial adhesion between the layers may significantly improve interactions between the layers, whereas poor adhesion increases the probability of film stratification in the presence of external deformations.^{63, 68, 70} As a consequence, the degree of interlayer adhesion is largely related to the stability of the final multilayer material.

The number and thickness of individual layers are also important factors, which significantly affect the properties of multilayer polymer films. As mentioned above, the increase in the number of layers in the films fabricated by multilayer coextrusion is related to a decrease in the layer thickness. In turn, the decrease in the thickness of individual layers may lead to the alignment of the polymer chains, a change in their mobility, confined crystallization and a change in the glass transition temperature.^{2, 59, 62, 66, 68, 71, 72} All these have a significant effect on the mechanical and transport properties of multilayer polymer films. Besides, it was shown ⁷² that in the case of the layer thickness smaller than a certain critical value (generally, a few nanometers), the layers can degrade to nanoplates and nanoinclusions, facilitating an increase in the gas permeability of the film.

It is known that in multilayer films, there are dynamic constraints manifested in the changes in the mobility and organization of macromolecules in the layered system compared to the bulk material.^{2,73} For partially crystalline polymers, the dynamic constraints can promote confined crystallization with decreasing layer thickness;^{59,68,71,72} for amorphous polymers, they can lead to the alignment of the chains and a decrease in their mobility.^{62,66} The confined crystallization of partially crystalline polymers facilitates the sequential change in the crystal morphology with decreasing layer thickness from three-dimensional spherulites to one-dimensional crystalline lamellae with a unique orientation.^{54,62} There are two main types of the orientation of lamellae in the case of confined crystallization:

— polymer chains are aligned parallel to the plane of the layers in the film, while the lamellae are perpendicular to this plane (on-edge);

— lamellae are parallel to the plane of the layers, while the polymer chains are perpendicular to this plane (in-plane). $^{54, 56, 59}$

Nassar et al.56 observed the alignment of PLA lamellae parallel to the plane of the layer (in-plane) in multilayer films composed of PLA layers with a thickness of 20 nm, which are confined between the layers of polycarbonate compatible with PLA, whereas the use of polystyrene incompatible with PLA as confining layers led to the mixed in-plane and on-edge orientation of PLA lamellae. It was suggested that the stronger interaction between confined partially crystalline polymers and confining amorphous polymers in multilayer films can facilitate the formation of crystalline lamellae in the layer plane of the film (in-plane). For multilayer polymer films composed of polycaprolactone and polystyrene, the confined crystallization of polycaprolactone was observed 58 with decreasing layer thickness to the nanometer scale, resulting in the formation of lamellae aligned in the plane of the film.

It was shown that this phenomenon facilitated a significant improvement of the gas-barrier properties.⁵⁸ Messin *et al.*⁶² demonstrated that a decrease in the water and gas permeability of polycarbonate/poly(*m*-xylene adipamide) (MXD6) multilayer films is related to the alignment of MXD6 chains and the reduction in the chain segment mobility due to dynamic constraints. In the case of composite films, dynamic constraints can promote the improvement of the dispersion of filler particles and their alignment in the plane of the layers upon coextrusion, which is also reflected in the mechanical and gas-transport properties of the material.^{57,61,63} Therefore, the confinement effect can significantly influence the structure of the multilayer film, as well as its mechanical properties and moisture- and gasbarrier properties.^{2, 57, 58, 61–63, 69, 73}

The interlayer diffusion is another important factor responsible for the properties of multilayer polymer films. The motion of polymer chains across the interface between the layers results in the mutual diffusion, which is reflected in the transport and mechanical properties of the films.^{2, 64, 67, 74} The main driving force for interlayer diffusion is an increase in the entropy of the system caused by the interpenetration of the chains of the contacting layers.^{74, 75} Once the contact between the layers occurs, the polymer chains at the interface have a distorted conformation as if

reflected at this surface. Then the polymer chains relax towards the Gaussian conformation equilibrium in a melt, which maximizes the entropy of the system. However, because of topological entanglements, this relaxation process cannot take place through Fickian diffusion of the polymer chains, as was shown in the classical works by P.-G.de Gennes.^{76,77} The only mechanism of interlayer diffusion is the reptation through the motion of chain ends across the layer boundaries to the bulk.⁷⁵

This mechanism of interlayer diffusion results in that its effect on the structure and properties of multilayer films fabricated by coextrusion is not negligible even in the case of immiscible polymers, particularly in the case of nanothick layers.^{2, 67} It was demonstrated ⁶⁴ that the coextrusion gives rise to numerous interfacial regions in the film with different layer thickness that depends on the contact time of the layers in the multiplier. In the general case, the fraction of interfacial regions in the film is determined by the degree of interaction between the alternating layers of polymers. This fraction increases with increasing contact time of the layers, the number of mixers and with decreasing thickness of individual layers.^{64, 74} The degree of interlayer diffusion can differ for different layers in the film.64,74 The area of potential application of the fabricated multilayer materials depends on whether the layered structure of the film with different layer thickness is retained or destroyed due to interlayer diffusion.

Therefore, the main factors that affect the properties of multilayer films include the composition of the layers and the degree of interlayer adhesion between them, the number and thickness of the layers, the dynamic constraints and the degree of interlayer diffusion of the components. It is important to take into account the effects of these factors on the structure and performance properties of coextruded multilayer films when creating packaging.

Such materials, as polypropylene (PP), polyethylene terephthalate (PET), polyamide (PA), polyethylene (PE), ethylene vinyl alcohol (EVOH) and ethylene vinyl acetate, are currently most often used to manufacture packaging materials from multilayer polymer films. Layers of such polymers as EVOH and PA can provide enhanced gasbarrier properties of the films, whereas PP, PE and ethylene vinyl acetate are employed for protection from humidity;⁷⁸ PP, PS and PET layers are often used to provide mechanical stability of the films.⁷⁸

The issue of the safe disposal of multilayer films has attracted great attention. Therefore, the growing trend is to use biodegradable polymers. In particular, such biodegradable polymers as PLA, PCL, poly(butylene adipate terephthalate), poly(butylene succinate) (PBS), as well as different polyhydroxyalkanoates, can be used to create environmentally benign multilayer polymer films. These materials, taken alone, have drawbacks that limit their common use as packaging. However, their application in multilayer materials provides the possibilities for creating environmentally friendly packaging with altered characteristics. Thus, multilayer films with alternating PLA and PBS layers, which have improved moisture- and gas-barrier properties as compared to single-layer PLA and PBS films, were fabricated by multilayer coextrusion.⁶⁰ Under the environmental conditions, films based on biodegradable polymers are most often degraded via enzymatic hydrolysis by microorganisms and also via chemical hydrolysis at a rate dependent on the temperature, humidity, pH of the medium and UV irradiation.79,80 These materials are degraded into water, carbon dioxide, methane, biomass and inorganic compounds, the degradation rate being hundred and thousand times higher than the rate of standard large-tonnage polymers.⁸⁰

4. Modern rheology of polymer melts

With the development of state-of-the-art methods for the synthesis and processing of polymers, the conventional extrusion technologies based, in particular on the melt flow theory, did not lose the importance but even gained more significance. Actually, the main goal of modern technological processes for the manufacturing of goods from polymers and polymer composites is the formation of the desired structure of the material, which should provide the target functional performance. The notion structure is vague and requires the specification as applied to particular cases. The extrusion is one of the key technological processes for the fabrication of continuous goods with a specified profile, such as sheets, films, pipes, cable insulation, etc. The extrusion mechanics (i.e., the dynamics of the movement of the material in the extrusion channel and the profile extrusion die) was studied in sufficient detail and became the subject of university courses.⁴¹ Much more difficult is the analysis of physicochemical phenomena accompanying the extrusion of multicomponent polymer materials, which are largely determined by the rheological properties of polymers and their interfacial interactions. Therefore, these phenomena should be considered taking into account the complex stress states created in the extruder.

Before turning to the discussion of the conditions of polymer melt flow through multipliers and 3D printing heads, it is reasonable to briefly describe the main extrusion processes. The extrusion technology includes the preparation of a molten material of the basic polymer (or several polymers) containing different functional additives and the pushing of this material through the profile extrusion die with profile channels having a specified configuration.

In most cases, the functions of a single-screw extruder include the melting of the polymer composite based on thermoplastics and the creation of pressure for the uniform extrusion of the molten material through the profile extrusion die. Even in the case of extrusion of elastomers or thermoplastics, the chemical reactions in the extruder should be minimized. For this purpose, the operating elements of extruders (screws) are replaced by mixers with more complex geometry, the movement of the components to be mixed through the extruder playing a key role in the preparation of the mixture.

Screw extruders can be used as continuous flow reactors for the polymerization,⁸¹ the synthesis of thermosetting resins⁸² and polyurethanes,⁸³ PET recycling,⁸⁴ modification of polyolefins by grafting with maleic anhydride and other compounds,^{85,86} the synthesis of polyglycolides⁸⁷ and many other reactions. This technique is successfully used to perform the reactions, which are not accompanied by the formation of side products.

The use of twin-screw extruders is particularly efficient for mixing polymers (both with and without fillers),⁸⁸ which is reflected in the diversity of types of such extruders in the market, which are proved to be superior in different manufacturing processes (plastic and food industries, pharmaceutical applications, *etc.*).

Nevertheless, in any case, an extruder should produce a homogeneous material for the manufacturing of particular

long-length products (tubes, rods, different profiles). The resulting structure (to be more precise, the morphology) of the material produced by the extruder depends on the degree of randomization on a particular scale. Along with the homogenization of the composition of a multicomponent system, the extrusion can give rise to regular morphological forms due not only to phase and relaxation transitions but also to the kinematics of the process and specific intercomponent interactions.

The step of the process, in which a particular threedimensional structure can be produced under shear strain, is considered below. The formation of this structure is accompanied by physicochemical phenomena, which greatly depend on the rheological properties of the polymer composition.

4.1. Laminar flow

Homogeneous layers of two molten polymers (polymer composites) can be combined from two flows produced by two independent extruders. In the case of a flat slot die, the flow in the extruder producing the structure of the final material is laminar. In relation to the issue under discussion, the laminar flow theory was constructed for the first time for inelastic non-Newtonian fluids.⁸⁹ Subsequently, this problem was considered in the general case for axially symmetric flows of polymer melts, the rheological properties of which are described by the power law.⁹⁰

The fundamental problem in the discussion of stratified flows of polymer melts (like other fluids) is the interfacial instability (Fig. 18 a). This problem is related to the classical Kelvin-Helmholtz instability caused by the density difference between two immiscible fluids. However, this mechanism of instability is generally of little significance for stratified flows of polymer fluids because the effects associated with the nonlinear properties and elasticity of polymer melts and solutions are much stronger than the density difference. The flow dynamics is most affected by the elasticity of polymer melts, which cause the interface deformation due to normal stresses (perpendicular to the flow direction).91 Besides, the presence or the absence of compatibility of polymers in interfacial layers also plays an important role, the compatibility facilitating the stabilization of the interface.92

The interfacial stability is particularly challenging in the fabrication of thin and superthin films using the modern technology for doubling coextruded polymers. The theoretical analysis of the dynamics of multilayer flows and the appearance of interfacial instability was performed in a number of studies.⁹³ The complete solution of this problem



requires using numerical methods and should rely on the analysis of very complex rheological equations (separately for each of the combined layers), which take into account the nonlinearity of the rheological properties of the fluids and their elasticity, giving rise to normal stresses.

The formulation of the boundary conditions at the contact interface between the layers plays a significant role in the consideration of the dynamics of multilayer fluids. Generally, it is assumed that the rates of two flows are equal; however, the difference in the stress at the interface due to different rheological properties of the layers can cause interfacial slip and breaks induced by periodic adhesion–deadhesion,⁹⁴ the breaks being possible within the layers.⁹⁵

Due to the specific rheological properties of the coextruded layers, the interface profile can be distorted not only with time but also along the flow length (Fig. 18*b*).

The situation is even more complicated in the case of coextruded layers when manufacturing products with a circular cross-section because the distortion of the flat interface between the layers results in that one of the layers is turned and pushed against the channel wall (Fig. 18 c).

There are the following main areas of application of the multilayer extrusion technology:

— the direct manufacturing of multilayer long-profile products (in the simplest case, sheets);

— the use of multipliers of complex geometry (see above) to perform coextrusion of polymers, which are involved in chemical reactions under intense strain, resulting in the formation of an interfacial layer of intermediate composition.⁹⁶ This process is similar to the process, which includes the addition of a reactive monomer and its copolymerization with a melt of high-molecular-weight polymer during coextrusion to form an aligned layer on the surface of the high-viscosity melt;⁹⁷

— the multilayer extrusion can serve as the basis for the manufacturing of multiply doubled layers in an amount of 2^n , where *n* can reach large values.

4.2. Phase separation in polymer blends

Generally, incompatible polymers are considered when discussing the phase separation in polymer blends. The tendency of such polymers to the separation is the natural thermodynamic driving force for the macrophase separation. However, the kinetic barriers hinder this process and often make the stratification impossible due to a very low diffusion rate because of high viscosity of the polymer components. Therefore, the phase separation can occur only under nonequilibrium conditions induced by external stimuli. Among these factors is the interaction of mechanical fields, *i.e.*, shear or longitudinal strain. The following two situations are possible: the formation of morphological elements of one phase in the matrix of another component of the blend or the displacement of one component to the free surface to form a homogeneous layer. These phenomena are due to instability of the system induced by stresses, facilitating the disturbance of the quasi-equilibrium state.

Apart from the coextrusion of two (or more) polymers, of great interest is the specific morphology of the composites from a pseudohomogeneous blend of incompatible polymer melts produced in the profile extrusion die with a cylindrical channel. Actually, it is a polymer emulsion, in which droplets of the dispersed phase are deformed at the entrance to the channel and are converted to thin filaments at the exit (Fig. 19). This process for the fabrication of



Figure 19. Schematic view of the formation of the fibril-reinforced morphology in a two-component flow of a blend of incompatible polymers in a capillary (profile extrusion die).⁹⁹ Reproduced with the permission of Wiley.

composites is particularly attractive when the dispersed phase is produced by a thermally stable fibre-forming polymer, in particular a LC thermoplastic, the aligned rigid macromolecules of which ensure high durability of furnished products.⁹⁸ These systems are called *in situ* composites.

The problem of the spatial separation of polymer blends is no less interesting and is practically important. It is not just about the stretching of the droplets of the dispersed phase along the extrusion direction but also about the migration of this phase in the transversal direction to the periphery of the flow. This effect is most important in the case of high-viscosity blends of thermoplastics with LC polymers, the melts of which have a lower viscosity due to the anisotropy of the rheological properties. An example of the formation of a surface layer consisting of a LC polymer, which was fabricated by the extrusion of polysulfone (PSF) and liquid-crystalline copolyester (LC CPE), is presented in Fig. 20 *a*.

It is seen that the morphological skeleton of LC CPE is similar to a wood or bamboo cut. Thus, the skeleton consists of concentric fibril-like layers and the outer shell (bark), which is responsible for the unique rheological properties of the melts of such composites. Due to the low-viscosity surface layer, acting as the lubricant, the viscosity of blends is much lower than that of its components (Fig. 20 *b*), particularly at 280 °C.

Along with the presence of a low-viscosity peripheral layer, which causes the effect of slug flow during transport in channels, one should take into account the specificity of the velocity profile in the central zone of the flow in the presence of low-viscosity droplets of the dispersed phase in the polymer emulsion. Most likely, this is a polyparabolic



Figure 20. SEM image (1256) of an extrudate, which initially contained 70% PSF and 30% LC CPE Ultrax-4002, after the removal of PSF with dichloromethane (the LC matrix is indicated by an arrow) (*a*) and the plot of the viscosity of PSF–LC CPE blend melts versus the content of LC CPE Ultrax-4002 at different temperatures (*b*).⁹⁹ Reproduced with the permission of Wiley.

profile, which should contain prominences corresponding to stretched droplets of the LC melt, resulting in the reduction in the viscosity of the flow and the formation of reinforced fibrils in the solid extrudate. In the presence of a LC component in the polymer blend, the specific features of the flow of composites with significantly different rheological properties of their components can be clearly tracked. This makes one think about the development of a rheological model describing the specific features of the extrusion of such systems.

The general and most significant effect of the phase separation in rotation flows is the formation of shear banding associated with the transition from a quasi-stable, but unstable, system to an organized structure. This fact is well-known for wormlike micelles 100, 101 and polymer solutions,¹⁰² as well as for polymer melt blends.¹⁰³⁻¹⁰⁵ The formation of a regular structure upon shearing is accompanied by the separation of a homogeneous mixture into clearly visible bands (generally, into two bands, but a much larger number of bands can also occur), which differ in the composition and, correspondingly, the rheological properties. In the case of a simple shear, shear rate jumps are observed at the band boundaries, determined from the velocity profiles. This effect is particularly pronounced in the case of the shear-banding flow between coaxial cylinders and a small gap between them (Fig. 21a) and also between the conical and flat surfaces at a small angle between the generatrix of the cone and the plane (Fig. 21 b,c). The capillary flow serves as a model of the final step of extrusion, while the shear strain in a rotating setup models, to a large extent, the behaviour of polymer melts and solutions under conditions of worm rotation.

It is most convenient to perform experimental studies of the appearance of shear banding in mixtures of polymer solutions and melts containing one liquid-crystalline component with a viscosity much lower than that of the isotropic component. As an example, Fig. 22 presents the evolution of the morphology of a model mixture composed





Figure 22. Photomicrographs $(4 \times)$ illustrating the successive steps of the mixing of a coloured LC aqueous solution of HPC and a solution of PIB in decalin at a shear rate of $0.2 \text{ s}^{-1} (a-c)$ and $1.3 \text{ s}^{-1} (d-f)$ depending on the shear strain: $\gamma = 0$ (a), 246 (b), 682 (c), 1600 (d), 2230 (e) and 3820 units (f).¹⁰⁹

of a 50% LC aqueous solution of hydroxypropyl cellulose (HPC) and a solution of polyisobutylene (PIB) in decalin at the same concentration in the 1:1 ratio.¹⁰⁹ The viscosity of the HPC solution is approximately two orders of magnitude lower than that of the PIB solution.

A similar situation is observed for polymer melts, one of which is in the LC state. An example of the shear-induced texture development in a blend composed of high-viscosity isotropic PSF and low-viscosity LC CPE of polyethylene terephthalate with hydroxybenzoic acid is presented in Fig. 23.

If we accept that the composite consists of a highviscosity matrix with the viscosity $\eta_{\rm m}$ and droplets of a dispersed phase with the radius r_0 and the viscosity $\eta_{\rm d} \ll \eta_{\rm m}$, the problem of the flow stability and the formation of droplets can be considered as follows.⁹⁹ The shear leads to the deformation of droplets, which adopt a stretched (cylindrical) shape with the length L and the radius r; the volume (V) of the droplet remains unchanged:

$$V = \frac{4\pi r_0^3}{3} \sim \pi L r^2 \tag{1}$$

The stretching rate of the droplet is determined by dL(t)/dt. If the shear rate of the viscous matrix is $\dot{\gamma}$, the difference between the stretching rate of the droplet and the shear rate of the matrix in the vicinity of the droplet is $dL/dt - \dot{\gamma}R$. The dynamics of the droplet stretching is determined from the conditions of balance between the friction force and the capillary force

$$\eta_{\rm m} R \left(\frac{\mathrm{d}L}{\mathrm{d}t} - \dot{\gamma}r \right) \simeq -\frac{\alpha_{\rm s} \mathrm{d}A}{\mathrm{d}L} \tag{2}$$



Figure 23. Photomicrograph $(4 \times)$ illustrating the morphology of the PSF-LC CPE melt of polyethylene terephthalate with hydroxybenzoic acid produced at the cone-plane.¹⁰⁶

where α_s is the surface tension and $A \simeq 2\pi rL \simeq \sqrt{VL}$ is the surface area of the droplet. Ignoring the energy dissipation in the droplet and limiting only to the energy dissipation in the matrix, the stationary transverse radius of the droplet is

$$r \simeq \frac{\alpha_s}{\dot{\gamma}\eta_m},$$
 (3)

and the length of the stretched droplet is

$$L \simeq \frac{r_0^3}{r^2} \simeq \frac{r_0^3 (\dot{\gamma} \eta_m)^2}{\alpha_s^2}$$
(4)

Therefore, the lateral size of the droplet increases with increasing volume and deformation rate of the droplets, and the latter can adopt a circular shape. The stability of such structures can be attributed to the normal stress.

Apart from the lateral deformation of large droplets, one should take into account the radial movement of small droplets, which is associated with the radial pressure gradient P(r) at the cone-plane and is determined by the first (N_1) and second (N_2) normal stress differences in a high-viscosity matrix,¹⁰⁷

$$\frac{\partial P(r)}{\partial r} = -\frac{N_1 + 2N_2}{r} \tag{5}$$

It is worth noting that small droplets can coalesce to form larger drops.

The formation of the circular morphology is accompanied by the appearance of maxima in the flow curves, the maxima being observed only in the rotation $flow^{108}$ (Fig. 24).

The explanation of the observed effects is relied on the following points:^{99,108}

1) at a shear rate of $\sim 1 \text{ s}^{-1}$, the PSF melt undergoes the transition to a highly elastic state (so-called spurt or the flow stalling, *i.e.*, a drastic increase in the shear rate at a constant shear stress occurs) and, therefore, it us out of the game and has not effect on the viscosity;

2) at shear rates higher than the maximum point, LC CPE is responsible for the rheological behaviour of the composite;

3) at higher shear rates, the viscosity of all blends approaches the viscosity of CPE, which may be indicative



Figure 24. Flow curves of PSF (1) and CPE (2) melts and their blends containing 25% (3), 50% (4) and 75% CPE (5). The dashed lines indicate the capillary rheometry data for composites 3 and 4.108 The spurt region I, the slip of the polymer melt along the interface. The region of negative slope in the flow curves after the maximum II corresponds to instability of the system manifested in the phase separation of components and, finally, in the region III, the LC polymer is responsible for the rheological behaviour of the blends; σ is voltage. Reproduced with the permission of



of the formation of the LC matrix.¹⁰⁹

The concentration dependences of the viscosity of PSF/ CPE composites at different shear stresses are shown in Fig. 25. As can be seen, in the vicinity of the maximum in the flow curve, the viscosity in the positive (2) and negative (2') branches differ by more than two orders of magnitude. In the capillary flow, the viscosity decreases more abruptly compared to the rotation flow, which may be due to the formation of low-viscosity flows and the matrix of the LC polymer. The situation in the rotating zone of screws and in the profile extrusion die can be attributed, to some extent, to a combination of the rotation and capillary flows. This mode of processing of such composites at different rates (*i.e.*, in different branches of the flow curve) allows a significant increase in the performance of the product molding.

The shear banding can occur even in polydisperse polymer melts (blends of low- and high-molecular-weight polymers) due to the formation of zones (bands) with radically different molecular weights (Fig. 26). The highviscosity (high-molecular-weight) fraction forms a nearly immobile layer at the stationary wall, and the rate at the movable wall remains almost constant, so that there is a region in the central part of the gap between the coaxial cylinders, in which the shear rate is abnormally high compared to the average shear rate.¹¹⁰ In this region, the concentration of different phases gradually changes, due to which the transition from one extreme flat profile to another one appears to be rather smooth.

The interface between the layers can change in space and time,¹¹¹ which is manifested, in particular, in auto-vibrations in the measurements of a local shear rate or stress.^{112,113} Meanwhile, the general cause of transition from random instability to a regular band structure is the possibility of the coexistence of two (or several) stable but different states of the fluid structure. This is reflected in the





Figure 27. Effect of the decrease in the shear stress σ with increasing shear strain γ at a constant shear rate, reflecting the existence of an instability region (dashed line) with two possible states for one polymer or for the components A and B in the polymer blend. The Figure was prepared by the authors using original data from the study.¹¹⁸

experimental data as a negative dependence of the shear stress on the shear rate or of the shear stress on the shear strain (see, *e.g.*, Fig. 24). The flow curves with a branch of instability were observed also for many multicomponent polymer and colloidal systems, and generally this feature of the rheological properties of these systems was considered as a necessary condition for the appearance of shear banding.^{114, 115} As shown above, such flow curves correspond to the evolution of different flow morphologies (see Figs 22 and 23).

In some cases, in transient modes of shear strain, for example, in the pre-stationary region of flow at a specified shear rate, there is an area, in which the stress decreases with increasing strain (Fig. 27). It is this area, where the phase separation takes place regardless of whether there is a singularity in the steady-state flow curve.¹¹⁶ A similar situation was discussed above in terms of a significant decrease in the viscosity of composites due to phase separation (see Figs 25 and 26). Subsequently, this concept was formulated as a general criterion for the formation of shear banding regardless of the equation of the rheological state of complex fluids.¹¹⁷

The possibility of the coexistence of different states of polymers and colloidal liquids is explicitly reflected in the hysteresis of their rheological properties (viscosity or Young's modulus) in scanning measurements by increasing or decreasing the shear strain rate. This phenomenon can also lead to the structural self-assembly as shear banding.¹¹⁸

4.3. Filled polymers and nanocomposites

In the past decade, nanocomposites with nanosized fillers have attracted attention of researchers. Different aluminosilicates, carbon nanotubes, graphene, detonation nanodiamonds (the latter are an original Russian development¹¹⁹) are used as nanosized fillers. Abundant data demonstrating the effect of the composition on the rheological properties of the composites are available in the literature. However, the relationships between the rheological properties and the structure of the blends are rarely addressed. Meanwhile, the morphology, produced during a flow of nanocomposites in different dispersion media, is characterized by high sensitivity to the nature and properties of such media, in particular, to their elasticity. The evolution of the morphology can be visualized using an original technique based on a combination of a transparent mobile sphere and a transparent glass plate. The use of a spherical surface produces fields with different shear rates, allowing the observation of structural transitions that depend on the deformation mode.

In an aqueous medium, nanodiamonds form discrete rotating micro tornado, the long axis of which is perpendicular to the shear direction (Fig. 28). An increase in the shear rate leads to a series of transformations of micro



Figure 28. Photomicrographs $(4 \times)$ illustrating the morphology of a nanodiamond dispersion in an aqueous medium, which appears under a flow at a rate of 1 s⁻¹ and at a shear strain of 0 (*a*), 190 (*b*), 380 (*c*), 940 (*d*), 1480 (*e*) and 2000 units (*f*).¹²⁰

tornado, resulting finally in its degradation (see Fig. 28f). These structures are similar to Taylor vortices, which appear in the case of predominance of inertial forces over viscous forces; their formation starts in the vicinity of the band and it develops towards the periphery of the flow, like the formation of the circular morphology (see above). The main difference is in the direction of loss of stability (lateral for circles and transversal for vortices).

The addition of only 1% HPC to an aqueous dispersion medium leads to a radical change in the morphology of the dispersion. Thus, concentric circles or spiral elements are formed instead of radial rod-shaped vortices (Fig. 29). The transformation of a Newtonian fluid into a high-viscosity fluid induces another mechanism of the formation of regular structures by nanodiamond particles, where the elasticity is the driving force.¹²¹ This fact served as the basis for the detailed analysis of the role of elasticity in the formation of the circular morphology in rotation flows. The most telling in this respect are the studies,^{122, 123} in which a new model was developed for the rheological behaviour of polymer systems, where the elastic reaction prevails over the dissipative one and the latter can be ignored. The development of this model was baws on the investigation of the circular morphology even in individual polymer melts produced by deformations at high shear rates (see Fig. 29). In the presence of filler particles in a melt, these particles are also ranked in concentric circles (Fig. 30).

Sets of elastic spherical particles as units serve as the structural elements of the model. Elastic interactions arise from changes in the particle shape (from spheres to ellipsoids capable of aligning under deformation) or their collisions. The equation of motion of such elastic elements is defined by the Hamiltonian function, describing both elastic components of the system, the orientational inter-



Figure 29. Photomicrographs $(4 \times)$ illustrating the texturing of nanodiamond particles in a 1% aqueous HPC solution in the presence of Tween 80. Different steps of formation of a spiral structure with a time interval of 2 min at a shear rate of 1 s⁻¹ are shown.¹²⁰

Figure 30. Photomicrographs $(4 \times)$ of the surface of a polycarbonate melt once the spurt mode is achieved (*a*) and the distribution of anisodiametric particles of the crushed mineral Na-sepiolite (aspect ratio is ~ 100) in the PIB matrix under similar conditions (*b*).¹²⁰

actions and contacts. Elastic deformations are described by a single parameter, namely, the modulus of elasticity E, which is a key parameter in the transformation of the particle shape and the alignment. The elastic energy density (w_1) depends on the modulus of elasticity, the eccentricity and the angle between the long axes of the ellipsoids ¹²⁰

$$w_1 = -\beta E(1 + |S_n||S_{n+1}|)\log \frac{1 + S_n S_{n+1}}{1 + |S_n||S_{n+1}|}$$
(6)

where $S_n S_{n+1}$ is the scalar product of vectors.

The second component of the Hamiltonian function (w_2) describes the rotation caused by collisions of particles in the mechanical field

$$w_2 = -\alpha \sigma \log(1 + hS_n) \tag{7}$$

where s is the shear stress and h is the unit vector in the shear direction. In these equations, the numerical coefficients a and b are *1.

The full Hamiltonian \hat{H} is the sum

$$\widehat{H} = -\alpha \sigma \sum_{i,j}^{N} \lg(1 + S_{i,j}h_{e}) -$$

$$-\beta E \sum_{i,j}^{N} (1 + |S_{n}||S_{n+1}|) \lg \frac{1 + S_{n}S_{n+1}}{1 + |S_{n}||S_{n+1}|}$$
(8)

and the equation of motion of the elastic medium takes the form

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}\boldsymbol{S}_{i,j} = \frac{\alpha\sigma}{1 + \boldsymbol{h}_{i,j}\boldsymbol{S}_{i,j}} \boldsymbol{h}_{i,j} \times \boldsymbol{S}_{i,j} + \frac{\beta E}{1 + \boldsymbol{S}_{i,j}\boldsymbol{S}_{i\pm 1,j\pm 1}} \boldsymbol{S}_{i,j} \times \boldsymbol{S}_{i\pm 1,j\pm 1}$$
(9)

This is the third-order Schrödinger equation, which can be solved. The analysis of the solution demonstrated that this equation predicts bifuractions, giving rise to instability. The bifurcations are manifested in the formation of selforganized structures as spirals or other periodic structures. Therefore, the model under consideration describes the appearance of instability as actually observed structures (Figs 31 and 32). The criterion M^* serves as the quantitative measure of the transition from the flow state to elastic deformations.¹²⁴

$$M^* = \frac{\sigma_{\rm s}^2}{2G_{\rm term}} \left(\frac{M_{\rm e}}{\rho}\right) \frac{1}{RT}$$
(10)

where s_s is the stress, above which the forced rubber-like state occurs, M_e is the molecular weight between the entanglements of macromolecules, G_{term} is the modulus of elasticity in the final viscoelastic shear zone, ρ is the density,



Figure 31. Photomicrograph $(8 \times)$ of the spiral texture formed in a PIB melt at the periphery of the flow. The arrows indicate the zones of evident bifurcations.¹²² Reproduced with the permission of Springer Nature.



Figure 32. Formation of telescopic spirals in strong rotation flows (*a*) and the concentration of filler particles between these spirals (b).¹²³ Reproduced with the permission of Hindawi.

T is the absolute temperature, and R is the universal gas constant.

Theoretical estimates demonstrated that the transition from a stable flow to unstable deformation regimes is accompanied by the formation of toroidal structures and their bifurcations. The tori have an inner telescopic structure, they consist of concentric cylinders with the surfaces of constant normal stresses. In the regions between the spirallike tori, the normal stresses, related to the elasticity of the melt, are minimal. The experimental studies of the fine structures confirmed the bifurcations of spirals in strong flows (see Fig. 31). The spiral formation and the concentration of the filler in weak regions between them are shown in Fig. 32.

Apparently, this pattern of interactions between the polymer melt and the filler under the conditions of the rotation flow has a general significance for an understanding of the processes that occur in the zone of extrusion mixing and the transport of heterophase polymer systems. In the extrusion or spinning die, these processes are changed for the *in situ* formation of composites, *i.e.*, single-dimensional self-reinforced products.

4.4. Phase transitions in the shear flow

The previous Section is concerned with strain-induced phase separation;¹²⁵ however, the addressed phenomena are not related to phase transitions in terms of thermodynamic definition. Below we consider the appearance of a new phase that is not formed without a mechanical field. In this respect, of particular interest are multicomponent systems with dispersed components that are either initially anisometric or can be deformed and oriented under the action of flow-induced stresses. Such systems include rigid macromolecules, emulsions and micellar solutions containing highly anisometric worm-like micelles and suspensions of non-spherical particles.

A fundamental issue is whether (and, if yes, how) thermodynamic characteristics of the systems vary. Obviously, mechanical (rheological) characteristics do vary, as indicated by the stepwise change in the viscosity upon the formation of the LC phase in lyotropic systems.¹²⁶ The formation of an LC phase can also be detected by optical and other physical methods (see, e.g., 127, 128). As regards internal characteristics, heat release accompanying the shear flow of a solution of a rigid-chain polymer was detected at the qualitative level only in one study.¹²⁹ It is noteworthy that in an initially isotropic solution heated up to the critical temperature, a LC structure is formed in the polymer-concentrated phase upon amorphous phase separation due to the lower critical solution temperature. As the two-phase system is cooled down, a homogeneous solution is formed again, and isotropization of the LC phase takes place, which is manifested as a viscosity step, reflecting heat absorption, *i.e.*, this is caused by thermodynamic factors.

Strain-induced transitions from the isotropic state to the LC phase represent a separate class of phenomena. A necessary condition for the strain-induced formation of an LC structure in a multiphase system is the presence of anisometric elements, either rigid macromolecules or anisotropic rod-like or planar particles. Dispersions of natural clays in polymers also refer to such systems. The possibility of formation of various mesophase structures in clays was shown long ago.¹³⁰ The discovery of strain-induced phase transitions in a system consisting of a lyotropic LC solution and layered silicate particles (since both components are



Figure 33. Schematic diagram of the rheo-X-ray experiment.¹³¹ The line shows the direction of an X-ray that passes through a dispersion of Na montmorillonite in an LC solution of HPC, which is subjected to shear in the annulus between the glass coaxial cylinders (capillaries). A video camera and a laser are used to align the working cell with the collimator and detector. The matrix is composed of aqueous solutions of HPC with a concentration of 50% (a mixture of LC and isotropic phase) and 60% (single LC phase) and 5% crystalline layered silicate as the dispersed phase. Published with permission from the American Chemical Society.

structurally active) is the most interesting result of joint rheological and X-ray diffraction experiments.¹³¹ The design of this rheo-X-ray experiment is shown in Fig. 33.

It can be seen in the 2D X-ray diffraction patterns (Fig. 34*a*) that in the beginning of the experiment, reflections of the LC domains aligned along the flow in a twophase solution of hydroxypropylcellulose (HPC) are located at the meridian, while clay particles arte transformed to the ordered state, with the corresponding reflections appearing at the equator. After 75 min of the intense shear (shear rate of 470 s^{-1}), the clay reflection shift to the meridian (Fig. 34*b*). It can be stated that in the beginning of the process, clay particles form a columnar mesophase, which is converted to the discotic phase under prolonged shear. The crucial role of strain in the structurization of aluminosilicate particles was demonstrated in that study for the first time.¹³¹

In the 100% LC matrix with HPC macromolecules aligned along the shear direction, a short-term shearing action gives rise to a four-point reflection of clay (Fig. 34c). This effect becomes more pronounced with time (Fig. 34d), which is possible only provided that that the clay particles in this phase form a combination of columnar and discotic mesophases.

Generally, during shearing, the situation develops as shown in Fig. 35. After injection of dispersions into the annulus between coaxial capillaries, the polymer phase is aligned along the capillary axis. The application of shear stress clearly reveals the type of orientation and the nature of the mesophases of HPC solution and Na montmorillonite: whereas for a solution, this is a nematic with the possible presence of elements of cholesteric mesophase typical of polysaccharides and the orientation occurs along the shear direction, in the case of clay, this is a combination of columnar and discotic mesophases.

Multicomponent polymer mixtures formed by incompatible polymers are, like colloids, thermodynamically nonequilibrium systems. The structure and, hence, the properties of such systems can considerably vary with time. Moreover, a moderate external mechanical impact is often sufficient to generate instability, which brings about fundamentally important consequences for the fate of the system. This largely refers to polymer solutions and melts in which mechanical impact also generates instability, giving rise to structural changes, which take place slowly, because the rate of propagation of new structural entities is restricted by diffusion processes in the highly viscous medium. Nevertheless, the development of instability in multicomponent polymer systems is determined by a number of contributing factors, the most interest and significant of which are as follows:

— instability at the interfaces preventing the formation of profiled parts with a specified geometry,



Figure 34. Evolution of X-ray diffraction patterns reflecting ordering of clay dispersions in a two-phase (a, b) and single-plase LC solutions of HPC (c, d).¹³¹ Published with permission from the American Chemical Society.



Figure 35. Schematic diagram of the stages of formation of the mesophase structure of clay particles in anisotropic matrices upon intense shear.¹³¹ Published with permission from the American Chemical Society.

- macroscopic separation of mixtures into components, including separation according to molecular weights, which markedly changes the flow dynamics,

— phase transitions, including transitions from isotropic into anisotropic state. In the limiting case, this ends in the formation of the LC phase,

— formation of regular 3D structures as bands differing in the component concentration and/or phase composition; a spatial and temporal instability of the boundaries of these structures cannot be ruled out.

Instability description in dynamic problems is based on the key physical mechanism that determines this phenomenon. As applied to polymer systems, the driving force of instability is elasticity.

The understanding of the specific nature of the rheological processes involved in the formation and multiplication of layers is necessary for the development of not only multiextruder techniques, but also various types of 3D printing.

5. 3D printing

A high-tech area traditionally related to polymer materials is additive manufacturing. In this respect, this is a widely used present.¹³² While speculating about the future of additive technologies, we decided to settle on three very complex, but simultaneously the most in-demand systems, particularly, thermally stable polymers, silicones and hydrogels. Development of research along each of these lines was accompanied by rather extensive modification of objects to make them suitable for 3D printing, and simultaneously by fundamental scientific advances, which provide an optimistic outlook.

5.1. 3D printing of thermally stable polymers

The progress of the computer methods for the creation of 3D images enabled the development of new approaches to the physical implementation of virtual 3D models in metals, ceramics or polymers and promoted improvement of manufacturing processes. The key role among the approaches belongs to layer-by-layer synthesis: computer modelling of the product and manufacturing of the product using a special equipment and various 3D printing techniques.¹³³ A promising technique is the selective laser sintering (SLS). This technique implies formation of a 3D product according to the layer-by-layer principle. A fusible powdered material is supplied to the matrix and locally heated by a laser beam; as a result, the particles are sintered and fuse together. This produces an intricately shaped item that could not be manufactured by conventional moulding. Another method, fused deposition modelling (FDM), is based on extrusion deposition of the material. This method implies drawing of a fusible polymer filament through a heated extruder. On passing through the extruder, the filament transforms into the viscous-flow state and, as it

comes out of the nozzle, it is deposited on the build platform where the product is thus formed. After the deposition, the polymer is rapidly solidified.

A type of FDM printing is direct printing using granules, which skips the filament preparation stage. 3D printing using granules differs from the conventional FDM printing in the design of the extruder, which additionally contains a screw conveyor. The advantages of this technique include lower cost of printing compared to the conventional FDM printing and a wide range of applicable materials.¹³⁴ A drawback of the method is that products obtained in this way have lower mechanical characteristics than those obtained by conventional techniques. This is due to the presence of defects and pores caused by the layer-by-layer deposition of the polymer, insufficient interlayer strength and pronounced shrinkage of the material during printing.¹³⁵ There are two key approaches for improving the mechanical characteristics:

— application of high-tech high-strength heat resistant polymers;

— modification of the used polymers by adding various fillers.^{136,137}

The raw materials currently used for SLS and FDM technologies are polyamides such as polyamide 12,138-140 polyamide 11,141,142 polyamide 6143 and polystyrene and polycarbonate.^{144, 145} Among high-tech heat resistant polymers, a group of poly(aryl ether ketones) are used most often for SLS printing, in particular poly(ether ketone) 146, 147 and poly(ether ether ketone) (PEEK);148, 149 FDM printing is performed using also some other thermally stable polymers, e.g., polyphenylene sulfide,150 polyphenylene sulfone 151 and amorphous polyimide Ultem.136,152 Analysis of recent publications has demonstrated that there is relatively little information on the use of SLS and FDM techniques for processing partly crystalline polyimides. The cause is that most known and commercially available aromatic PIs are difficult to process using the fusion method due to high viscosity of the melt and high flow point, which in some cases may approach the temperature of the onset of polymer thermal destruction. Processing of these PIs into an end product (fibre, film or coating) is mainly performed using solutions of polyamide acids in high-boiling amide solvents and includes subsequent thermal imidization. The search for chemical structures of fusible heat resistant polymers resulted in the development of a large group of partially crystalline PIs with melting points (close to the flow points) being far below the thermal destruction temperatures.^{153–156} These PIs may become promising raw materials for SLS and FDM processing.

Studies of partially crystalline polymers attract considerable attention of researchers.^{157–159} The most well-known partially crystalline PIs are those manufactured under the brand names LaRC-CPI,¹⁵³ LaRC-CPI2¹⁶⁰ (developed by NASA) and New-TPI (developed by Mitsui Toatsu Chem-



Figure 36. General scheme of the synthesis of partially crystalline PIs as powders, which includes chemical and thermal PAA imidization methods (*a*) and chemical structures of obtained polymers (*b*).

icals)¹⁶¹ and some other partially crystalline polyimides based on 1,3-bis(4-aminophenoxy)benzene and diphenyltetracarboxylic acid 3,3',4,4'-dianhydride developed at the Virginia Polytechnic Institute.¹⁵⁵ Most of these PIs can crystallize only in the presence of a solvent and cannot recrystallize after being transformed to the molten state.

A group of partially crystalline PIs has been developed at the Institute of Macromolecular Compounds, Russian Academy of Sciences, on the basis of 3-bis(3,4-dicarboxyphenoxy)benzene dianhydride (R), 3,3',4,4'-diphenyl oxide tetracarboxylic dianhydride (ODPA) and 4,4'-bis(4''-aminophenoxy)biphenyl (diamine, BAPB) and on the basis of 3,3',4,4'-benzophenonetetracarboxylic dianhydride (BZP) and 3,3'-diaminobenzophenone (diamine, 3,3'-BZP).^{162,163} These PIs (below referred to as synthetic PIs) are capable of controlled crystallization and reversible melting and can be transformed to the viscous flow state on heating.

5.1.1. Preparation of fusible polyimide powders

Development of the synthesis of partially crystalline PIs as fusible powders is highly important, as this expands the scope of engineering applications of PIs. Polyimide powders are obtained by chemical and thermal imidization methods. The first stage of the synthesis is common to both methods and includes polycondensation of a dianhydride with a diamine in an amide solvent to give polyamide acid (PAA). The thermal or chemical^{159,164,165} imidization of PAA affords PI powders (Fig. 36*a*). The developed syntheses furnished fusible polyimide powders: R-BAPB, ODPA-BAPB and BZP-3,3'-BZP.^{162, 163, 166} The chemical structures of the resulting polymers¹⁶³ are shown in Fig. 36*b*.

The molecular structures of the PI powders were confirmed by IR spectroscopy. The course of imidization was monitored by appearance of bands at 1780 and 1720 cm⁻¹ (symmetric and antisymmetric C=O modes of the imide ring) and at 1380 and 740 cm⁻¹. As an example, Fig. 37 shows the IR spectra of the R-BAPB polyimide powders obtained by thermal (curve 1) and chemical (curve 2) imidization. In both cases, the limiting degree of imidization was attained.^{159, 164, 168}

Apart from the considered method for the preparation of PI powders by imidization in a PAA solution, there are other processes, *e.g.*, an emulsion process.¹⁶⁹ This method is based on the preparation of a poly(ether imide) solution in dichloromethane and emulsification of the solution by adding surfactants. Finally, spherical poly(ether imide) particles with a size from 10 to 100 m are formed. Grinding of poly(ether imide) granules is also used to obtain the powders.¹⁷⁰

5.1.2. Structure and properties of polyimide powders

It is known¹⁷¹ that particle size and shape and the bulk density are important for the use of powdered polymers as 3D printing materials, especially for the SLS technique. The properties of partially crystalline R-BAPB, ODPA-BAPB and BZP-3,3'-BZP powders are summarized in Table 1. It can be seen, in relation to R-BAPB, that the powders obtained by chemical imidization have a higher density



and a narrower particle size distribution than the thermal imidization products. In other words, by varying the imidization method, it is possible to obtain powders differing in the particle size and bulk density.¹⁵⁹

Depending on the chemical structure of R-BAPB, ODPA-BAPB and BZP-3,3'BZP polyimides, the resulting chemically imidized powders can also differ in the particle size and shape (6 to 50 m). Furthermore, the bulk density is sufficiently high (at least 0.3 g mL⁻¹). The structure of PI powders obtained by chemical imidization is depicted in Fig. 38.

All of the prepared PI powders show endotherms in the DSC curves, which correspond to melting of their crystalline phase (Fig. 39). In the case of BZP-3,3'BZP and ODPA-BAPB powders, the curves clearly show two melting peaks at different temperatures; therefore, additional heat treatment can influence the thermal stability of the finished products.^{163,172-174}

According to DSC and thermogravimetric analysis (TGA) data, the synthesized powders possess a high level of thermal stability and heat resistance (Table 2). It can be seen that among the presented polymers, the highest thermal stability is inherent in the ODPA-BAPB polyimide: the glass transition temperature of this PI is 245 °C, and the melting point of the crystalline phase is above 370 °C; therefore, processing of the polymer by traditional methods such as injection moulding may be difficult.

Apart from the above-noted thermal characteristics of the synthesized PI powders, the viscosity of melts is also highly important for the melt processing of polymer materials.^{159, 175} The variation of the viscosity of melts of the PI powders with time is reflected in Fig. 40. For the R-BAPB and BZP-3,3'BZP systems (curves 1, 3), the viscosity of the melt changes little with time.^{174,176,177} In the case of ODPA-BAPB (curve 2), the viscosity sharply increases, which also

Table 1. Properties of PIs obtained by chemical imidization.^{159,163}

Sample	<i>d</i> , μm	$\rho, \mathrm{g} \ \mathrm{m} \mathrm{L}^{-1}$	$T_{\rm g},^{\circ}{\rm C}$	$T_{\rm m}$, °C	<i>T</i> _l , °C
R-BAPB	6-15 (10-40) ^a	0.325 (0.209) ^a	240	318	554
ODPA-BAPB	20 - 50	0.310	245	370; 410	555
BZP-3,3' BZP	10 - 30	0.300	231	283; 335	532

Note. The following designations are used: d is the size of the major fraction of the powder, ρ is the initial bulk density, T_g is the glass transition temperature, T_m is the melting point (two T_m values reflect the presence of two crystalline phases), T_1 is the temperature of 5% mass loss. ^a The values in parentheses are data for PIs obtained by thermal imidization.



 Table 2. Mechanical properties of three-dimensional plates and blades made of R-BAPB polyimide by various techniques.^{178, 179}

Method	Tensile strength, MPa	Tensile modulus of elasticity, MPa	Tensile strain (%)
Injection moulding	97.6 ± 0.3	2416 ± 8	46.5 ± 2.2
FDM printing (blade)	75 ± 3.1	1988 ± 12	11.2 ± 1.8
SLS printing (plate)	36.80 ± 2.51	1321 ± 87	5.67 ± 0.89

complicates the injection moulding of this polymer. However, for the SLS technique in which fusion of powder particles takes fractions of a second, the value of viscosity at a definite laser power is more important than the stability of this value with time. For material processing by 3D printing (SLS and FDM techniques), the desired viscosity of the melt can be attained by varying the molecular weight of the polymer via a change in the molar ratio between the monomers. For example, PI powders that had a proper viscosity in the molten state were prepared by changing stoichiometric ratio between the monomers the (dianhydride: diamine) taken for the synthesis.¹⁷² As an example, 3D-printed samples were fabricated from the synthesized R-BAPB powders by SLS¹⁵⁹ and FDM methods (Fig. 41).

Comparison of the mechanical properties of threedimensional PI samples obtained by various methods (see Table 2) showed that the level of characteristics of samples obtained by FDM and SLS 3D printing is sufficient for manufacturing tough three-dimensional items. However, there is still unsolved problem of improving conditions of FDM and SLS processing in order to attain characteristics of the end products at the level attained by injection moulding. This especially refers to the strain behaviour,



Figure 38. SEM images of PI powders obtained by chemical imidization: (a) R-BAPB, (b) ODPA-BAPB, (c) BZP-3,3'BZP.¹⁵⁹ Published with permission from Springer Nature.





Figure 41. Photographs of the setup for SLS 3D printing of a chemically imidized R-BAPB powder (*a*), a three-dimensional sample formed as a plate (*b*) and a filament formed from this powder (*c*); FDM-printed blade (*d*).^{159, 178}

which determines the plastic properties of 3D-printed samples.

Preliminary experiments carried out for ODPA-BAPB polyimide powders with different molecular weights also demonstrated the possibility of SLS printing of 3D products.

5.2. 3D printing of silicone polymers

Silicones are highly important materials that have started to be widely used for polymer 3D printing. This is obviously related to unique properties of silicones such as very low glass transition temperature, high thermal and thermooxidative stability, high gas permeability, excellent dielectric characteristics, physiological inertness and biocompatibility and the possibility of easy functionalization.^{180–185} Owing to their unique properties, silicones are in high demand for soft robotics,^{18, 186} manufacture of lithium batteries,¹⁸⁷ antibiofouling, anticorrosion, anti-icing ^{188–190} and superhydrophobic coatings,¹⁹¹ biotechnology and medicine ^{192, 193} and other applications.^{194–197}

The current state of 3D printing of silicones is covered in several review publications. Depending on the method of curing of siloxane polymers, the use of various 3D printing techniques to obtain various products, including special-purpose items, is considered. The most recent reviews on this subject appeared in 2018¹⁹⁸ and 2020.¹⁹⁹ A doctoral thesis²⁰⁰ addresses the silicone 3D printing by the thiol-ene addition mechanism to obtain preceramic materials. A re-

view by Zhou *et al.*²⁰¹ focuses on 3D techniques for manufacturing soft polymer materials in which silicones are in high demand as starting components. Analysis of 3D printing techniques using various polymers, including silicone elastomers, and evaluation of the properties of the resulting materials were reported by Herzberger *et al.*²⁰² Some examples of silicone printing are given in a review ²⁰³ dealing with the extrusion 3D printing. A short review by Luis *et al.*²⁰⁴ discusses silicone 3D printing techniques to fabricate items for medicine.

This Section briefly discusses the problems of production of silicone materials using additive manufacturing technologies in the context of chemical reactions used to form cross-linked polymers or obtain thermoplastics and evaluates the prospects for the development of these technologies taking account of the chemical processes underlying the 3D printing of silicones.

The following reactions that give cross-linked elastomers are most important as regards successful commercialization of the final products: hydrosilylation, which is usually conducted using platinum catalysts; condensation of silanol and alkoxy groups, which is most often catalyzed by tin; and radical cross-linking (Fig. 42).²⁰⁵

The hydrosilylation reactions are widely used for the 3D printing of silicones, largely owing to the commercial availability of two-component kits (for example, Sylgard 184) containing a platinum catalyst in one of the components. This type of curing of polysiloxanes is compatible with 3D printing techniques such as direct ink writing (DIW)²⁰⁵⁻²⁰⁸ and inkjet printing.^{209,210} Using the DIW technique with silicones cured by hydrosilylation in the presence of platinum, porous polysiloxanes were printed for the first time.²¹¹ One more interesting technique that can make use of platinum-curable two-component silicone kits is freeform reversible embedding (FRE) technology: a hydrophobic silicone is cured in a support hydrogel based on a hydrophilic polymer.^{212, 213} As a rule, after printing by these techniques, a long period of time at room temperature or several hours at 65-150 °C is required for complete curing of the end product. An original 3D printing technique based on two-photon three-dimensional microfabrication using photo-hydrosilylation reaction was proposed by Coenjarts and Ober.²¹⁴ A similar process using UV radiation to activate the cross-linking via hydrosilylation reaction is discussed by Beach et al.215 One more method 216 implies the formation of silicone microgranules that form a suspension with liquid PDMS and water. The resulting gellike pulp can be extruded and then cured. This material can be printed both in air and in water. By embedded 3D printing²¹⁷ using viscoelastic ink inside a silicone elastomer matrix, strain sensors were fabricated. This approach can be extended to obtaining high-tech products for wearable electronics, interfaces, soft robotics, etc. Luis et al.218 proposed one more original 3D printing technique involving commercial silicones cured by hydrosilylation. The authors designed their own 3D printer operating by the thermal extrusion method. As a result of optimization of 3D printing parameters and the mechanical properties of silicone, the authors were able to attain the shape and size accuracy of the product approaching those attained by moulding.

In a study by Porter *et al.*,²¹⁹ the silicone precursor was extruded and thermally cured using an IR laser. In order to increase the IR absorption, the silicone was filled with a carbon black-based dye. This is one of the first studies demonstrating the influence of laser curing parameters in



the near-IR range on the 3D printing of standard commercial high-viscosity silicone for medical applications. The same curing mechanism and the same silicone material were used ²²⁰ for thermal curing of silicone; however, the authors used a 3D printer with a heated nozzle. Smith *et al.*²²¹ considered 3D printing of the platinum-cured PDMS/ PEEK composite. The material was extruded and then cured in a furnace at a temperature of up to 150 °C. This composite was proposed for printing products for biomedical applications.

The above examples demonstrate that hydrosilylation is one of the most demanded reactions for silicone 3D printing, which is largely due to the commercial availability of the starting materials and large amount of knowledge on this reaction concerning the synthesis of cross-linked silicone resins. An obvious benefit of this curing mechanism is the applicability of silicones with virtually any viscosity. A drawback is the necessity of the additional thermal curing stage for the printed product, which complicates and slows down the manufacturing process. In addition, from the standpoint of green chemistry principles, it is desirable to avoid the use of toxic compounds, for example, catalysts based on heavy metals.²²²

The UV-induced thiol-ene addition of the thiol SH group to the C=C double bond is considered more and more often as an alternative to hydrosilylation.²²³ This photoinduced reaction has been thoroughly studied for the formation of polymer networks. The thiol-ene addition reactions ²²⁴ are characterized by high rates and high conversions, excellent solvent stability of the products, low susceptibility to oxygen inhibition and low volume shrinkage compared to these characteristics of acrylate and methacrylate systems (see below). The ready availability of vinyl-containing PDMS and polyfunctional mercaptans predetermined extensive use of 3D printing of silicones by the UV-initiated thiol-ene addition mechanism (Fig. 43).



Figure 43. General scheme of the preparation of a cross-linked polymer based on vinyl-containing PDMS and trifunctional mercaptan by the UV-initiated thiol—ene addition reaction.

The thiol-ene curing of polydimethylsiloxanes with vinyl groups is used in the DIW 3D printing,^{225, 226} stereolithography (SLA)²²⁷⁻²³⁴ and digital light processing (DLP).²³⁵ Bryan et al.²³⁶ proposed an interesting 3D printing technique using commercial silicones, which are cured by the UV-initiated thiol-ene addition with a support organogel based on polystyrene block copolymers. This made it possible to fabricate micrometre-sized silicone items with a very high accuracy. It was shown²³⁷ that high-viscosity PDMS can be printed without the use of any support material via fast UV curing of compositions containing vinyl-terminated PDMS and PDMS with distributed mercaptopropyl groups reinforced with a mixture of fumed silica and MQ resins. Similar materials and a similar synthetic route (but without fillers) were used ²³⁸ for the 3D printing of biocompatible silicone materials.

The abundance of publications devoted to 3D printing of silicone materials by the UV-initiated thiol-ene curing mechanism indicates that this approach obviously holds high promise. Materials for this technology are mainly commercially available. The processes using optical radiation have high speed and high accuracy. However, this approach has some disadvantages that affect its commercial promotion. The first one is the need to use a large amount of a photoinitiator, which impairs the properties of the products. The presence of the photoinitiator and a heteroatom such as sulfur in the end product may complicate secondary processing. Most often, 3D printing based on UV radiation requires expensive equipment and materials with a relatively low viscosity (< 5000 Pas) for the fast formation of a thin layer with a smooth surface without air inclusions.239

Yet another important reaction widely used for curing of silicones is UV-initiated polymerization of acrylate groups (Fig. 44). Siloxanes containing acrylate groups are commercially available; however, original materials obtained by introducing acrylate groups into initial polysiloxanes are also used, and this naturally affects the properties of the final materials. The 3D printing of silicones containing acrylate groups is accomplished using various photopolymerization methods.^{240–243} Du *et al.*²⁴⁴ showed the possibility of DLP 3D printing of materials based on acrylate-terminated PDMS copolymers with thiourea. These copolymers have excellent elasticity and could potentially be used for the manufacture of medical items and for soft robotics.

The silicone 3D printing using UV-initiated polymerization of acrylate groups for curing has the same drawbacks as that using UV-initiated thiol-ene addition mechanism of curing: the presence and the adverse influence of a photoinitiator and the necessity to use expensive equipment.

Despite the existing drawbacks, some of the printing technologies described above are already utilized for the commercial production of silicone products. Apparently,



Figure 44. General scheme of UV radiation-induced curing of PDMS with acrylate functional groups.

one should expect further improvement of 3D printing techniques using the above curing reactions aimed at increasing the speed and accuracy of printing and eliminating the existing drawbacks.

The DIW printing technique was used to fabricate silicone elastomer products with a nano-sized silica filler as a modifier of rheological properties. As a result, silicones with various mechanical properties (*e.g.*, superelastic materials stretchable to 2000%) become printable.²⁴⁵ The dynamic coordination bonds arising between the silanol groups of the filler and the polymer form a physical network, which breaks during extrusion, but is restored in the printed product, thus providing the desired viscosity.

An interesting work using an unusual method for crosslinking of silicones was performed by Brook s research group.²⁴⁶ It was shown that aqueous solutions of aliphatic aldehydes (glutaraldehyde, glyoxal or formaldehyde) rapidly react with siloxane polymers containing functional amino groups without catalysts. This curing composition can be used for 3D printing and for the development of adhesive and sealing formulations, as was demonstrated by the authors.

The 3D printing of the PDMS copolymer with pyrazoleurea moieties capable of forming dynamic (hydrogen) bonds was reported by Sun *et al.*²⁴⁷ A powder of this copolymer is applicable for SLS printing, and the end products based on this material are capable of self-healing.

In conclusion, we would like to note some achievements in the search for new effective methods of silicone crosslinking, which could also be applicable for the fabrication of 3D-printed silicone products. There is increasing number of



Figure 45. General scheme of the copper(I)-catalyzed azide – alkyne cycloaddition reaction.

publications on the introduction of azide and acetylene functional groups into polyorganosiloxanes and the postpolymerization modification by catalytic 1,3-dipolar addition.^{248–253} The possibility of cross-linking of functional PDMS by the non-catalyzed azide–alkyne cycloaddition mechanism was demonstrated.²⁵⁴ The copper-catalyzed 1,3dipolar addition, which was first discovered as the Huisgen reaction ^{255, 256} and then, after discovery of copper(I) catalysis, was studied by Meldal's ^{257, 258} and Sharpless' research groups ^{259–262} (Fig. 45), is one of the most often used clickreactions and has already proved to be efficient, in particular, for modification of polymers and preparation of materials based on them.^{257, 263–265}

Despite the absence of commercially available silicones for cross-linking *via* the azide–alkyne cycloaddition mechanism, this approach is quite promising for implementation into 3D printing technology. Note that apart from the obvious advantages inherent in an addition reaction requiring a cheap catalyst, the final cured structure contains a triazole moiety, which can improve the mechanical peformance of the end product.²⁶⁶

The Piers – Rubinsztajn reaction also holds high promise for silicone 3D-printing.²⁶⁷ This reactions proceeds as coupling between alkoxyl and silicon hydride groups catalyzed by $B(C_6F_5)_3$ to give a siloxane bond and release an alkane. Reviews ^{268–270} discuss the potential of this reaction for the generation of cross-linked silicone elastomers. Hydrosiloxanes can also be cured by α -diketones in the presence of a Lewis acid to give a Si–O–C bond.²⁷¹ These materials are easily processed to give the starting monomers under mild conditions. The curing methods of hydrosiloxanes catalyzed by $B(C_6F_5)_3$ are very convenient and environmentally benign; however, the evolution of gaseous products is a limiting factor hampering the implementation of these reactions in the 3D printing technology.

Thus, considering the global trend towards green technologies, it can be expected that the future development of silicone 3D in the future will also be related to the use of polyaddition reactions (in the ideal case, free from transition metal-based catalysts). Apparently, click-chemistry processes such as azide-alkyne cycloaddition, Diels-Alder reaction and other reactions would be used more and more often in 3D printing technology to obtain products with improved performance.

5.3. 3D printing of hydrogels

3D printing of polymer gels is a new area that has started to be developed in the last several years.^{201, 272-328} Hydrogels are convenient materials to be used in 3D printing. They can serve to obtain soft products with a number of valuable properties: compatibility with biological tissues, high water content, porous structure that can accommodate various chemicals and biological objects, including living cells, *etc*. The gel products obtained by 3D printing can be used as adjustable valves,^{283,294} soft manipulators for robotics ^{305,316,325} and personalized smart sensors that are glued to the skin to monitor the movement or concentration of various substances in the body and are capable of controlled release of required compounds (*e.g.*, medications) in response to a change in their content.^{326, 327} A new promising trend is 3D bioprinting,^{273, 328} in which biocompatible molecules, biopolymers and even living cells are used as an ink. The major lines of research in this field are related to the design of artificial tissues and organs for the replacement of damaged parts in the human body.

Moreover, hydrogels are among the key objects for 4D printing. The concept of 4D printing in which the fourth dimension is time was first proposed by Tibbits in 2014.²⁷⁴ Since then, 4D printing has turned into a new, rapidly developing area, which attracts considerable research attention.^{275–282, 316} The key feature of 4D printing is that the printed objects can interact with the environment.²⁸¹ Under the action of external stimulus, they can change their shape in a pre-programmed way, thus performing certain functions. This is illustrated in Fig. 46 in relation to a soft actuator: it can be seen that at room temperature, the actuator can capture and trasport a vial, while at elevated temperature, the actuator tentacles are opened and the vial is released.

The active gel materials for 4D printing include, in particular, shape memory hydrogels and hydrogels responsive to external stimuli.^{277, 329–331} For 4D printing, hydrogels are usually combined with non-swelling polymers. When the printed product is placed into a solvent, hydrogel swells, while the second (inactive) polymer component does not absorb the solvent. This causes a change in the shape of the product. Instead of one active material, the ink for 4D printing may contain several active materials,²⁸⁸ which provides a finer control over the shape of the product and complicates the product architecture.

Hydrogels can be used in most of 3D printing techniques including laser (stereolithography, two-photon polymerization), extrusion and jet printing.³²⁸ Hydrogels are best suited for the layer-by-layer extrusion procedure, which is simple, inexpensive and provides high quality of printing. For successful high resolution extrusion printing, the materials should meet the following key requirements:

— polymer solutions (printing ink) should be characterized by shear thinning, *i.e.*, they should markedly decrease their viscosity (which is necessary for solutions to be easily forced through the extruder and to be rapidly mixed), but nevertheless possess high elastic modulus and viscosity at rest (or yield stress), in order to retain the shape after extrusion up to the instant of fixation;²⁸⁹

— fixation that is performed by cross-linking of polymer chains into a network should proceed rapidly in order to provide a high speed of printing.²⁹⁰

The main environmentally friendly candidates for ink in the extrusion 3D printing are hydrogels based on biodegradable polysaccharides — alginate, hyaluronic acid, chitosan, methylcellulose, agarose and carrageenan.^{291, 292} Quite a few studies devoted to the 3D printing of gels based on polysaccharide networks have been reported to date.^{201,285} However, printing of hydrogels with a single polymer network has considerable limitations. First, the viscoelastic properties of the solutions after extrusion are insufficient, which leads to spreading of the structure and decline of the 3D printing resolution. Second, the printed products have low mechanical strength and wear resistance. To overcome these drawbacks, it is necessary to increase the mechanical strength of the gels. This can be done by a



Figure 46. Schematic comparison of 3D and 4D printing (*a*)²⁸⁰ and photographs of a clamping unit fabricated by 4D printing (*b*), which grasps a vial in air at room temperature (1) and releases it into water at 70 °C (2).³¹⁶ Figure *a* is published with permission from Springer Nature, Fig. *b* is published with permission from Wiley.

number of methods such as the fabrication of double networks or nanocomposite gels.

The double networks ^{293, 295, 332, 333} are composed of two interpenetrating polymer networks with substantially different properties: the first network is usually formed by a tightly cross-linked and rigid polyelectrolyte, while the second one consists of a loosely cross-linked and flexible polymer (Fig. 47). Mechanical deformation leads to cleavage of so-called sacrificial bonds in the first network, which is accompanied by a pronounced energy dissipation in a rather large volume and prevents propagation of rupture and destruction of the whole gel. As this takes place, the second network undergoes elastic deformation and maintains the gel elasticity.³³⁴ The use of double networks results in a marked increase in the tensile strength, energy of rupture and strain at break.

There are several major approaches to the 3D printing of gel products based on double networks: those using a mixture of two monomers, a polymer and a monomer or two polymers as the ink. The monomer forms a network via polymerization, while the polymer network is formed upon cross-linking of the existing macromolecules. Network formation from the monomer usually takes place in the printed product, most often via photopolymerization. For 3D printing with a mixture of two monomers, a thickening agent should be added to the ink in order to produce a sufficiently high viscosity needed for printing.²⁹⁶ Polymer networks are formed, most often, using photo-cross-linkable macromolecules, ionic cross-links or thermoreversibly cross-linked polymers.³²⁸ The reversibility of cross-links between the macromolecules is often an important feature: cross-links are destroyed as the solution flows (e.g., during the extrusion printing), but subsequently they are rapidly recovered, with the shape of the printed object being retained.

The 3D printing of gel products based on a double network in which one component is a polysaccharide and the other one is a synthetic polymer has been reported (Fig. 48). In this case, the ink is based on a polymer mixture or a mixture of a polysaccharide and a monomer. For



Figure 47. Schematic image of a double polymer network.³³³ Published with permission from the Royal Society of Chemistry.

example, 3D printing was applied for double networks of κ-carrageenan and covalently cross-linked polyacrylamide.²⁹⁷ The ink contained k-carrageenan, which formed the first network on cooling the ink below 40-45 °C at the outlet of the extruder, and acrylamide monomer and a photoinitiator, which were photopolymerized to generate the second network after formation of the product. The resulting hydrogels combined high mechanical strength and the ability to change electrical resistance upon deformation, which made them promising for the design of strain sensors. The preparation of biocompatible double networks of sodium alginate cross-linked by Ca2+ ions and photocross-linkable polyethylene glycol diacrylate (PEGDA) has been reported.²⁹⁸ For extrusion 3D printing, clay (laponite) nanoparticles were added to the ink, which provided a sufficiently high viscosity at rest and a reversible decrease in the ink viscosity during the flow. The PEGDA network was formed by photo-cross-linking after printing of the



material. The double networks of PEGDA and gellan gum with inserted living cells were fabricated in a similar way.²⁹¹ Gellan gum was cross-linked during printing on cooling from 37 to 25 °C. The capability for 3D printing was provided by the pronounced reversible decrease in the ink viscosity during flow, which is characteristic of gellan gum solutions, and the subsequent fixation of the structure by fast cross-linked using sodium citrate and polyvinyl alcohol cross-linked woth PVA microcrystals; the networks were formed *via* freezing–thawing cycles.³⁰⁰ These networks have very high tensile strength (12.7 MPa) and elongation of break (300%).

Recent publications describe the 3D printing of double networks based on two natural polymers. In this case, mixtures of polymers are used as ink; each polymer is cross-linked to form a network during or after the printing. These hydrogels are mainly considered as cell growth media to produce tissues and organs of a specified architecture, which is set by printing.^{279, 301} For example 3D printed items were obtained using gelatin or agar gels cross-linked on cooling, a sodium alginate gel cross-linked with Ca²⁺ ions after 3D printing, 302, 303 and photo-cross-linked gelatin methacrylate and sodium alginate gel.³⁰⁴ The possibility of cell growth in the printed material was demonstrated. For example, smooth muscle cells were introduced into gelatin and alginate gels during the 3D printing for the subsequent formation of an artificial heart valve.³⁰² Thus, 3D printing of gel items based on double networks is a new promising trend in the preparation of mechanically strong hydrogels.

Another approach for increasing the strength of polymer gels is to fill them with nanoparticles, which should also meet high requirements to environmental safety. Out of the whole diversity of nanofillers for traditional nanocomposite hydrogels, only only a few materials are considered as promising environmentally benign fillers for polysaccharide hydrogels meant for 3D printing, particularly, silica,³⁰⁶ graphene oxide ^{321, 336} and clay ^{287, 307–311, 337} nanoparticles, cellulose crystals and nanofibrils,^{275, 312–315, 317, 318} *etc*.

Filler particles can have various sizes and shapes and various surface functional groups, which can react with the polymer matrix. The interaction of nanoparticles with the polymer that forms the network structure may substantially improve the mechanical properties of the gel, since the nanoparticles act as an additional cross-linking agent for polymer chains. However, it is preferable to use nanoparticles that interact with polymer chains via non-covalent contacts or dynamic covalent bonds. In this situation, the lability of bonds between the system components would ensure a considerable decrease in the viscosity in the shear flow (during extrusion) and fast restoration of the mechanical properties of the gel at rest. Silica nanoparticles the surface of which is readily modified by functional groups are often used as fillers that actively interact with the matrix.306,338 For example, it was shown 306 that the addition of spherical silica nanoparticles surface-modified with amino groups that form dynamic covalent bonds with the aldehyde groups of modified alginate results in a severalfold increase in the hydrogel yield point. A similar effect is exerted by spherical gold nanoparticles, which act as multifunctional dynamic cross-links for thiol-modified hyaluronic acid.320

Plate-like nanoparticles are promising fillers. In particular, plate-like graphene oxide nanoparticles with surface functional (carboxyl and hydroxyl) groups interacting with the polymer matrix provide higher mechanical performance of nanocomposites based on sodium alginate ^{321, 323} and chitosan ³²² hydrogels compared to the initial matrix.^{321–323, 336} Plate-like clay (particularly laponite) nanoparticles are also widely used to improve the mechanical properties of polysaccharide hydrogels.^{287, 307} Of particular interest is the case in which laponite particles present in a relatively high concentration in the nanocomposite system form a card house type structure due to the electrostatic attraction between the positively charged flat edges of nanoplates and the negatively charged surface. This structure shows an elastic (gel-like) response to minor mechanical impacts and a yield stress, and has shear thinning under high shear stress. After the stress is relieved, the structure is restored. Owing to these properties, laponite in a solution of polymer chains forms a gel-like structure suitable for extrusion 3D printing even in the absence of a cross-linking agent.³⁰⁷ After the end of 3D printing, the printed product is placed into a cross-linking agent solution to fix the structure and to increase the strength of the product.

Halloysite clay nanotubes proved to be good as a filler for reinforcement of hydrogels for 3D printing.³⁰⁸⁻³¹¹ High ratio between the particle thickness (50-100 nm) and length (100-1000 nm) and high particle strength provide a sharp enhancement of the mechanical properties of the polymer matrix, which was shown in relation to the chitosan and alginate hydrogel ^{309,310} and gellan gum.³¹¹ Owing to the presence of the inner cavity (20-40 nm), nanotubes increase the matrix density to a minor extent and open up the possibility of encapsulating various components inside the cavity.

A recent trend is the use of fillers representing nanocrystals and nanofibrils based on cellulose and cellulose ethers (methylcellulose, carboxymethylcellulose), which have high mechanical properties and low thermal expansion coefficients and are biocompatible and structurally similar to the polysaccharide matrix. Therefore, they can be used to modify hydrogels for 3D printing.^{275, 312, 313, 318} It has been shown that in sodium alginate hydrogels, cellulose nanocrystals are embedded into the matrix by forming hydrogen bonds. This makes the gels more stable, increases the elasticity of the matrix by an order of magnitude,³¹³ and increases the resolution of 3D printing and the strength of the product.³¹² Note that as certain concentrations are attained, the nanocrystals and nanofibrils of cellulose and its derivatives can themselves form hydrogels with rheological properties appropriate for 3D printing;^{312, 314, 315} in combination with other polysaccharides, they are used to produce ink.318,319

Nanoparticles not only strengthen hydrogels, but can also endow them with special properties. For example, silver nanoparticles embedded into a sodium alginate hydrogel reinforced by cellulose nanocrystals endow the hydrogel with antimicrobial properties, with high mechanical characteristics being retained.³²⁴ Aluminosilicate nanotubes can encapsulate some additional components; a specific feature of this nanocontainer is prolonged release of the components, for example, antibacterial agents that protect the natural polysaccharide matrix from degradation.³³⁹ Carbon nanotubes endow the gels with conductivity.³¹⁹

Thus, the specific feature of modern nanocomposite polysaccharide hydrogels applicable as ink for extrusion 3D printing is that the nanofillers not only introduce high mechanical properties, but also act as additional network structures alternative to cross-links or as nanocontainers. Moreover, they can additionally impart the gels with antimicrobial properties and conductivity. As a result, polysaccharide hydrogels acquire new functional properties and rheological characteristics required for extrusion 3D printing.

Meanwhile, it should be noted that studies on the use of double and nanocomposite networks in 3D printing technology are at their infancy, and the fundamental trends of the variation of the mechanical properties and structures of the gels in all stages of 3D printing providing fast printing of strong materials with a high spatial resolution are not ultimately clear as yet.

6. Universal methodology of processing and modification of polymer films, fibres and plastics

This section addresses the environmentally friendly and solvent-free methodology of processing and post-modification of films, fibres and plastics based on amorphous and semicrystalline polymers using two scientific and technological strategies, namely, orientational drawing in physically active liquid environments (PALEs) *via* the mechanism of environmental crazing and the use of labile and reactive precursors.

6.1. Environmental crazing

Environmental crazing is known to be a universal and scientifically justified strategy of structural-mechanical modification of polymers and offers ample opportunities for the development of innovative mesoporous and nano-composite polymeric materials with unique functional task-oriented properties addressing the challenges of the 21st century.^{340–342}

From the fundamental scientific viewpoint, environmental crazing constitutes a special mode of plastic deformation of polymers, which provides the formation of a highly ordered mesoporous structure with high volume porosity (up to 70%) and pore dimensions ranging from 1 to 50 nm.^{340, 341, 343–348} At the present time, two different modes of environmental crazing are identified: classical crazing for amorphous glassy polymers [PET, polyvinyl chloride (PC), PS] and intercrystallite crazing for semicrystalline polymers [PE, PP, polytetrafluoroethylene (PTFE), PLA, *etc.*],^{349–355} and controlled regimes of this process have been defined, thus allowing preparation of the materials with desired characteristics.

Classical crazing involves the nucleation and growth of separated crazes with their specific fibrillar-porous structure as discrete regions of localized plastic deformation.340,351,356 As the tensile strain increases, crazing proceeds via a gradual development of a highly developed surface $(100-200 \text{ g cm}^{-3})$, overall porosity increases to 60-70%, and nanoscale pores with dimensions below 15 nm are formed.^{343, 357} In this case, PALEs, on the one hand, promote the development of crazing due to the Rehbinder phenomenon as adsorption-induced strength reduction, $3^{\overline{58}}$ and, on the other hand, they stabilize the asformed fibrillar-porous structure via adsorption interaction with the highly developed surface of nanosized fibrils.340,341,351 Mesoporous polymeric systems with high surface area and excess free surface energy are characterized by a high thermodynamic instability and, as typical colloidal systems, they tend to reduce the excess level of surface energy via collapse of fibrillar-porous structure provided by coagulation up to a complete monolithization of the system.340,351

The mechanism of intercrystallite environmental crazing is characteristic of semicrystallite polymers (PE, PP, PTFE, *etc.*). Necessary conditions for intercrystallite crazing are the high degree of crystallinity of polymers (> 30%) and rubbery amorphous phase, thus providing an efficient separation of crystalline lamellae along the direction of the applied stress as well as cavitation and fibrillation *via* the Rayleigh-Taylor meniscus instability mechanism.^{349, 359-363} Upon intercrystallite crazing, the development of porosity and specific fibrillar-porous structure takes place exclusively within the amorphous phase, whereas the crystalline lamellae serve as a load-bearing framework.349,353 In the case of intercrystallite crazing, volume porosity can achieve 70%, and pore dimensions are in the nanoscale range (below 15 nm).^{344, 353, 364} The role of the PALE is concerned with plasticization of the amorphous phase and development of highly porous structure as well as with stabilization of a highly developed fibrillarporous structure of polymers.³⁴⁹ Noteworthy is that the above mesoporous polymeric materials are known to experience a low-temperature spontaneous strain recovery: upon unloading, the polymer fully restores its initial dimensions (strain recovery is 80-98%), ^{344, 353, 365, 366} thus opening the avenue for the preparation of new mechanoresponsive hardelastic materials based on a broad range of polymers.³⁶⁶ The efficient regime for stabilization of the highly porous structure of semicrystalline polymers is provided by annealing under isometric conditions at temperatures below the melting point of the polymer.367

Preparation of meso- and nanoporous polymeric materials is the challenging task of modern materials science.³⁶⁸⁻³⁷⁰ In this respect, key advantages of the scientific strategy of environmental crazing are concerned with the fact that this process can be applied for a broad range of amorphous and semicrystalline polymers, including hightonnage polymers such as PE, PP, PTFE, PET, PVC, polyamides as films, fibres, ribbons, hollow fibres. Nowadays, from the viewpoint of ecological issues and environmental safety, of special interest are the switching from traditional synthetic to biodegradable polymers (PLA, PCL, *etc.*) and the development of related mesoporous and nanocomposite materials with task-oriented properties.³⁵²

Crazing can be implemented in a continuous technological regime using traditional technological equipment for orientational drawing of polymers with its minor modification or using the *spot crazing* protocol due to local straining of the polymer.^{371, 372}

Principal implications of environmental crazing as the technology for the preparation of mesoporous polymeric materials are primarily related to the use of high-cost, toxic and inflammable organic solvents as the PALEs.340,349 Nowadays, the transition to ecologically friendly regimes of environmental crazing dictates the search for new alternative PALEs with high efficiency comparable to the efficiency of traditional organic solvents. A new approach for the solution of this challenge is based on the use of oilin-water emulsions of two thermodynamically incompatible liquids with high water content >95%.³⁷³ By their performance with respect to their potency in promoting crazing as estimated from the stress reduction and level of nanoscale porosity, emulsions containing micronic oil phase droplets (higher aliphatic alcohols, hydrocarbons, etc.) appear to be identical to pure organic solvents. This effect is provided by a selective adsorption of oil droplets by hydrophobic polymers (PE, PP, PET, PTFE) and the formation of a specific oil envelope on their surface, which serves as a pure organic solvent and allows an efficient crazing in the environmentally friendly mode.373

Hence, environmental crazing allows preparation of mesoporous polymeric materials with high mechanical characteristics, reduced density, unique heat-insulating properties, high MWTR and gas permeability, shape stability at elevated temperatures, materials with nanostructured surface and enhanced hydrophobicity, improved capillary characteristics, *etc.* (Fig. 49*a*).^{341, 344, 357, 366, 373, 374} The asprepared mesoporous polymeric materials can be efficiently used as breathable gas-permeable materials,³⁷⁴ sorbents, membranes, heat-insulating materials,³⁴¹ water-proof materials,^{344, 375} porous matrixes and substrates, packaging materials, sound-proof materials, mechanoresponsive materials,^{366, 376} porous materials for gas storage, high-tech



Figure 49. Diagrams illustrating the performance of mesoporous polymeric materials after their mechanical structural modification *via* environmental crazing (a) and applied aspects of their practical use (b).

textile materials for comfort clothing, *etc.* (Fig. 49 b).^{341, 344, 351, 357, 366}

The strategy of environmental crazing offers new opportunities for the development of a new generation of nanocomposite polymeric materials with valuable functional properties, which are based on common high-tonnage polymers via controlled introduction of one or several target additives into mesoporous polymeric matrixes when the additives are uniformly distributed within the polymer volume in the highly dispersed nanoscale state. By now, efficient methods for the introduction of a broad range of target additives into polymers have been worked out and scientifically justified: forced impregnation and cyclic forced impregnation upon deformation in the PALE containing dissolved target additives or wet passive impregnation when the as-formed mesoporous matrix is impregnated with a solution or a melt of the target additive. Principal benefits of this approach are related to the possibilities of the incorporation of thermodynamically incompatible additives into polymers and their uniform distribution in the nanoscale state within the polymeric matrix, the controlled content of the additive in polymers, introduction of precursors into polymeric matrixes and subsequent in situ reactions (for example, reduction of metal salts to zerovalence state or polymerization of monomers).

Introduction of functional additives in the nanoscale state into polymers allows preparation of high-performance nanocomposite materials of new generation based on traditional high-tonnage and biodegradable polymers with taskoriented functional properties: flame-retardant materials with low content of antipyrenes,377 metal-polymer nanocomposites with metal nanoparticles, 341, 366, 378, 379 antibacterial materials against Gram-negative and Gram-positive bacteria, viruses and fungi, 341, 366, 380 packaging materials, materials for medical applications, drug delivery systems, optochemical sensors with high spectral response,^{371, 372, 381-385} 'smart' materials as elements of 'electronic nose', electrically conductive polymeric materials, materials with controlled hydrophilic-lipophilic balance, 373, 375, 386 gas separation materials, membranes, selective sorbents, polymer - polymer nanocomposites.^{387, 388}

6.2. Reactive precursors for processing and modification of plastics

The traditional route for the optimization of the performance of polymeric composites *via* introduction of additives and modifying agents is based on the centennial empirical experience accumulated by polymer engineering. However, as the knowledge on the behaviour of polymer melts progressed, more sensible and theoretically justified solutions came into play. This section addresses the examples of these meaningful solutions and analysis of the challenges related to processing of polymers in terms of classical approaches.

Processing and modification of bulk plastics can be achieved by the use of reactive precursors which, in general case, are polymer-monomer-initiator systems (PMI systems), among which the following types are identified:³⁸⁹⁻³⁹³

-I — polymerizates with incomplete conversion prepared by bulk polymerization;

- II - polymer solutions in their own and/or 'foreign' monomer;

-III — polymerization products in the reactor with conversion <100%.

Let us demonstrate how the above precursors work by considering the simplest Type I PMI system,^{394–397} namely, PMMA polymerizate with a conversion of 88% (or, in other words, containing 12% of the residual monomer and the initiator).

For comparison, let us consider the thermomechanical curves of bulk PMMA (Fig. 50 *a*, curve *1*) and bulk PMMA containing 12% of hydogenated monomer (curve *2*).

The plasticizing effect of hydrogenated monomer is manifested as the depression of glass transition temperature by $(T_g^{(1)} - T_g^{(2)})$ and a comparable decrease in the flow temperature but the profile of the corresponding thermomechanical curve remains unchanged. In the reactive polymerizate with conversion of 88%, the residual monomer (concentration 12%) provides the similar plasticizing effect when the glass transition temperature of the polymerizate is $T_g^{(2)}$ (curve 3).

In this case, within the temperature range $T_1 - T_{max}$, deformability of the polymerizate dramatically increases and achieves its maximum at T_{max} when the system experiences the transition to the rubbery state. At the same time, the contribution from polymerization of the residual monomer to this process provides the vitrification of the system, and deformability of the material decreases down to the level of the initial bulk polymer within the temperature range $T_{\text{max}} - T_2$. Figure 50 b shows the correlation of the temperatures corresponding to the above temperature ranges and conversion of the polymerizate. As is seen in Fig. 50, for PMMA polymerizates with conversion of 80-95%, variations in the residual monomer concentrations have no effect on the characteristic temperatures T_{max} and T_2 , whereas T_1 linearly decreases. Let us mention that changes in T_{max} are provided by variations in the concentration of the initiator.

To highlight the reactivity of the polymerizate with conversion of 88%, we consider the following data. Figure 51 shows the temperature dependences of yield stress



 $(\sigma_{\rm v})$ for bulk PMMA (curve 1) and PMMA plasticized by 12% of hydrogenated monomer (curve 2). Plasticization of PMMA by hydrogenated monomer leads to the depression of glass transition temperature and to the concomitant shift of the linear temperature dependence of yield stress σ_y to lower temperatures (Fig. 51, transition from curve 1 to curve 2). At temperatures above 50 °C, 12% of residual monomer of the polymerizate with conversion of 88% provides the plasticization of the polymer similar to that of hydrogenated monomer. Within the temperature range of 50-80 °C, polymerization of residual monomer is accompanied by an increase in the yield stress of the material (Fig. 51, curve 3), and this value achieves the level of bulk PMMA (Fig. 51, curve 1). This evidence serves as the experimental basis for the development of low-cost technologies for processing and modification of plastics in the rubbery state, first of all, via blow molding and orientational drawing.

Within the temperature range $T_1 - T_{max}$ the plasticizing effect of the residual monomer provides the low-temperature processing of the polymerizate, and subsequent polymerization of the monomer component of the system within the $T_{max} - T_2$ range ensures the thermal stabilization of the article and supramolecular structure, which was formed upon processing and modification. Combination of the above effects is coined as 'a temporary plasticization'. The position and width of the above temperature ranges can be varied by changing the concentrations of the monomer and the initiator. Let us mention that the technological procedure of polymerization of 'a temporary plasticizing agent' can easily solve the problem of exhaustion of the residual monomer.

Optimized processing of plastics in the flow state, mainly by extrusion and injection molding requires the reduced flow temperature of the precursor. As was mentioned above, the plasticizing effect of the monomer component in the PMI systems offers the solution for the above challenge. However, in this case, the use of far more complicated protocols and formulations is required when two (or more) initiators with different operating temperatures are involved, and the maximum temperature should be higher than the processing temperature. Heat setting is achieved by polymerization of the residual monomer via heating of the finished article after the processing stage. One of the options of this process is concerned with the use of the initiators based on actual initiators and photoinitiators. The latters provide photopolymerization of the residual monomer at lower temperatures.

Noteworthy is that, upon processing of plastics both in rubbery and flow states, crosslinking agents, for example, bifunctional monomers may be included in the formulations



for the improvement of the performance and heat setting of the finished material.

Hence, the use of PMI precursors makes it possible to markedly reduce the polymer processing temperature (by $100-120^{\circ}$ C) and, correspondingly, energy consumption. The reduced temperature also allows the processing of high-molecular-mass polymeric products, which is beyond the capabilities of traditional methods because, for such materials, the processing temperature often exceeds the temperature of thermal degradation.

Let us emphasize the key role of the PMI systems (Types *II* and *III*) in the preparation of plastics modified by nanoparticles.³⁹⁸ Controlled viscosity of the PMI precursor provides the sedimentation stability of the dispersions of nanoparticles in the polymerization system and stabilization of the fine dispersion of modifying agents in the finished article. We would also like to stress the benefits of the above types of the PMI systems as polymer reinforcing agents for the fabrication of a new class of protective structures with orthogonal arrangement of glass ceramic blocks.³⁹⁹

In addition to the above technological benefits, the use of the PMI systems offers a broader scope of polymeric articles based on a limited range of initial monomers. For example, as was shown for a small range of (meth)acrylate and vinyl monomers,^{389–393} this appraoch allows the production of high-impact and form-stable orientation-toughened glasses; polymeric glasses with a molecular weight of up to 10⁷; layered polymer–polymer composites without physical interfaces between the layers; gradient composite materials; crosslinked and high-molecular-weight (> 500 000) extrusion glasses.

Summing up, we emphasize once again that the advanced methodology of processing and subsequent modification of polymer films, fibres and plastics offers ample opportunities for the development of environmentally friendly and low-cost production of a new generation of nanocomposite materials with valuable functional and engineering properties based on a limited scope of high-tonnage polymers and monomers.

Application of reactive PMI precursors allows an efficient solution to address the challenges of the production of plastics primarily related to high resource and energy costs and large amounts of waste. In addition to evident technological and economic benefits, this approach offers ample opportunities for the production of a wide range of plastics with a set of properties, which is almost unattainable when traditional technological regimes are used, as well as (nano)composites and polymeric adhesives.

7. Multiscale simulation concept in the studies of structure and properties of polymer materials

It was noted above (see Section 3.1) that computer simulation methods are in high demand for multi-layer extrusion processes used for the production of film materials. Of course, the significance of these methods is not exhausted by this special case. In this Section, we made an attempt to briefly characterize the most widely used methods for computer simulation of polymers and materials based on them.

Polymer nanocomposites (PNCs) are multiphase systems that are obtained by insertion of a nano-sized filler based on various nanoparticles (NPs) into the polymer matrix. The physicochemical properties of PNCs are strongly interrelated with the structural characteristics of the transient layer, that is, the interface between the polymer matrix and NPs. If the interfacial adhesion between the matrix and NPs is weak, the nanoparticles tend to agglomerate and behave as nanodefects, thus causing local stresses, which result in a considerable decrease in the strength of the material. The interaction between NPs and the polymer matrix can be controlled by modifying the NP surface. The development of new PNCs requires elaboration of versatile theoretical approaches to predicting the applicability of particular polymers for the manufacture of materials with desired properties. However, this is associated with considerable difficulties due to the necessity of taking into account a large number of parameters to characterize the properties of the polymer, nanoparticles and surface modification agent and the conditions of material use.

Owing to the sharp increase in the speed of numerical calculations and the rapid progress of computer hardware taking place in the recent decades, computer simulation turned into a separate method for accumulation of knowledge, existing on equal terms with theoretical and experimental studies. In some cases, computer models may replace laborious laboratory experiments requiring expensive facilities, reagents and methods for characterization of the products. The results derived from computations may fully reproduce the data that can be gained by EPR, NMR and IR spectroscopy, X-ray diffraction analysis, *etc.* This makes computer simulation an indispensable tool for preliminary prediction of the physicochemical properties of new materials, which is important for choosing the optimal strategies for their synthesis.

Currently, several levels of computer simulation are distinguished (Fig. 52) in terms of the space and time scales in which they are used. The most strict level of the study of molecular systems is provided by methods of quantum mechanics (QM). They can be applied to perform *ab initio* calculations in various approximations for solving the Schrödinger equation. This means that generation of a model requires only information on the compound structure. For example, for modelling of macromolecules, it is sufficient to know only the structural formulae of monomer units and the structure of polymer chain. QM methods provide accurate data about the energy characteristics, electronic spectra and optical, magnetic, electrostatic and other properties of molecular systems. The most balanced calculations (in terms of accuracy *vs.* time trade off) are implemented using the density functional theory (DFT). Depending on the used approximation, the level of QM simulations makes it possible to study molecular systems comprising several thousands of atoms in the time ranges from 10 to 100 ps.⁴⁰⁰

The next simulation level combines the classical all-atom molecular mechanics, which includes various sorts of atomistic molecular dynamics (MD) and Monte Carlo (MC) calculations based on the laws of analytical mechanics and statistical physics. The so-called valence force field (VFF), the combination of phenomenological potentials composed of a set of analytical functions, is used as the interaction potential. In essence, VFF contains information about different types of intra- and intermolecular interactions. The intramolecular interactions include the deformation potentials of covalent bonds, bond angles and torsion angles (between the planes formed by groups of atoms) and other forces determining the structure of molecules. The intermolecular interactions usually include the van der Waals and electrostatic forces. The VFF parameters are selected by a cumbersome fitting procedure in such a way as to reproduce the chosen combination of thermodynamic properties of a set of known chemical compounds. Examples of VFF are the polymer consistent force field (PCFF)⁴⁰¹ and condensed-phase optimized molecular potentials for atomistic simulation studies (COMPASS).402



Figure 52. Hierarchy of computer simulation methods. The arrows indicate the transfer of information between the conventionally identified levels implemented in the framework of computer models. For abbreviations, see the text.

Since the only external parameters used in all-atom MD and MC are VFF parameters, these methods can be regarded as macroscopic. Using these methods, it is possible to study both well-known and new polymers. In the latter case, if no adequate parameterization for the considered chemical compound in the chosen VFF procedure is available, it can be generated by QM calculations. The software implementation of the all-atom MD and MC methods can be used to study the properties of the models of materials composed of several millions of atoms over time ranges of a few microseconds.⁴⁰³

Currently, using MD, it is possible to predict rather accurately thermophysical, mechanical and other properties of PNCs 404-406 and also to track visually (to an accuracy of a single atom) the structural evolution of a system. Therefore, MD can be regarded as a fairly accurate methodology for polymer characterization. For example, Komarov et al.406 reported the use of a large-scale MD simulation to study a self-organizing nanocomposite based on silica nanoparticles and thermoplastic silicone-urea block copolymer containing flexible non-polar PDMS blocks and rigid polar bis(4-isocyanatocyclohexyl)methane block. It was shown that urea blocks tend to be aligned parallel to one another owing to hydrogen bonding between them. The microphase separation, giving rise to a bi-continuous phase of flexible and rigid blocks, was observed in the simulation cell. Thus, the matrix itself can be considered as a self-organizing polymer-polymer nanocomposite. The urea blocks form the percolating reinforcing phase, which accounts for relatively high tensile strength inherent in these copolymers. After the introduction of a minor mass fraction of silica nanoparticles into the polymer, the thermophysical and mechanical properties of the system are corrected, with the reinforcing network of rigid urea blocks being retained.

The next simulation level (see Fig. 52) makes use of coarse-grained models based on Monte Carlo method and Langevin, Brownian and dissipative particle dynamics (DPD).⁴⁰⁷ The characteristic sample sizes of the model systems are 20 to 500 nm, while accessible time ranges reach in some cases 500 µs. Due to the use of intermediate scale, this simulation level is called mesoscopic, or mesoscale. In the models of molecular systems, exact chemical structure details are discarded, while collective variables are used instead. All molecular structures are replaced by an equivalent ensemble of centres of force - mesoscopic (or coarse-grained) particles. The interaction between the particles is assessed using coarse-grained types of VFF, which are restored by statistical processing of the evolution of representative prototypes of molecular systems at the atomistic level of simulation.

The mesoscale level models also use the self-consistent mean field method and related approaches, in particular the dynamic density functional theory (DDFT).^{408,409} Mention should also be made of the methods based on the integral equation theory. An example is the polymer reference interaction site model (PRISM).⁴¹⁰ Coarse-grained simulation is usually employed to study relatively slow structurization processes in polymer systems, which are difficult to simulate in the framework of molecular mechanics.^{411–413}

Consideration of PNCs at the macroscopic level (see Fig. 52) is performed using hydrodynamics, continuum mechanics and finite-element (FEM) methods. Model parameterization at this level is based on information on the physical properties calculated at the atomistic and mesoscale simulation levels. Examples are the elastic moduli

of the polymer matrix and NPs, the structure and properties of the polymer/NP interface (they are determined at the atomistic level) and NP distribution in space (this is derived from mesoscale smulation data). Additionally, the equations of state, kinetic relations for a quantitative description of plasticity and fracture of the material, *etc.*, can be used.^{414,415} The upper level in the hierarchy of the computer simulation methods depicted in Fig. 52 is the level of engineering and technological process design. At this level, the final products and methods for their production are designed. This is done using specific aproaches that are beyond the scope of this review.

Molecular mechanics, mesoscale simulation and finite element method require both preliminary parameterization of the force constants that determine the interaction between structural elements of the models and information on the filler distribution in the material bulk, which can be obtained experimentally. However, this is not always possible in the case of new materials. The problem of parameterization of computer models can be solved in terms of integrated calculation schemes based on the concept called multiscale simulation (MS).^{416–418}

Currently, the MS concept is regarded as the most consistent approach to study of molecular systems requiring no external (beyond the calculation scheme) parameterization. Using this approach, it is possible design computer models proceeding from physical conditions of PNC application and PNC chemical structure and composition. The application of MS concept can be described by the followng chart

(chemical formula + composition of material) \rightarrow

 \rightarrow MS model \rightarrow physical properties

The MS strategy is based on identification of the most significant structural scales and relaxation processes in PNC followed by classification of their types. This makes it possible to establish the key degrees of freedom determining the properties of the system, with each space-time scale being described by a particular simulation method. The transition between the identified levels is accomplished by their successive parameterization according to the bottomup principle. For example, quantum mechanical calculations are used to determine interaction parameters of both single atoms and groups of atoms, which is necessary for MD simulation. In the framework of molecular mechanics, the interaction between mesoscale particles can be parameterized and the properties of the polymer matrix, nanoparticles and the interface between them can be calculated. The latter is important for parameterization of the finite element method. In turn, mesoscale methods are used to explore the distribution of NPs in a polymer matrix, which is also important for the model parameterization in the finite element method (see Fig. 52).

Thus, the MS approach is an interrelated (*via* information exchange) hierarchical sequence of models aimed at elucidation of the structure \rightarrow property relationships. The chosen space and time scales specify the level of detail for each of the used models. The opposite is also true, namely, the specified level of detailing dictates the choice of the simulation method regarding both the duration of processes and the scale of structures. In the case of PNCs, most implementations of the MS methods are reduced to the construction of two-scale schemes that implement transitions between all-atom and mesoscale levels.⁴¹⁹⁻⁴²²

In some cases, simplifications based on the data on the key parameters of nanosystems can be used in the studies of PNC properties. One of such examples is considered below. It is known that many types of NPs are relatively large, and this complicates the direct use of atomistic MD. Meanwhile, it was shown that the physical properties of ultrathin polymer films sandwiched between two solid surfaces are similar to the properties of PNCs in which NPs have a high degree of ordering.⁴²³ This analogy is due to the fact that physical properties of hybrid systems are largely determined by the properties of the polymer/NP interface. This suggests that the formation of some physical properties in filled polymers and ultrathin polymer films on solid substrates is determined by the same mechanism. The computer simulation of PNCs can be simplified in this way. This model was employed 424 to study the effect of the mass fraction of SiO₂ NPs on the thermophysical properties of the polyimide matrix. The calculations were carried out using two methods: atomistic MD and QM. The model formed in this way was a two-scale calculation scheme. The inorganic filler was modelled by an infinite substrate (through periodic boundary conditions) based on the β -cristobalite (quartz polymorph) unit cell, which was multiplied along main crystallographic directions. The partial charges needed to calculate the electrostatic interactions were parameterized by QM calculations. Using the model they developed, the authors demonstrated a highly nonlinear variation of the temperature properties of the nanocomposite depending on the mass fraction of the filler. After the threshold content of SiO₂ (20 mass %) was exceeded, the coefficient of linear expansion of the material sharply decrease, because of increasing contribution of the $polymer/SiO_2$ boundary region in which the surface forces strongly influence the polymer chain dynamics, which is reflected in the properties of the whole system.

This simulation protocol is very convenient for studying both the polymer/NP interface structure and the properties of ultrathin films of organic liquids or melts supported on solid surfaces (or sandwiched between two solid surfaces).⁴²⁴⁻⁴²⁹ These models provide an answer to the question of how a change in the external conditions and the type of surface would affect the morphology of the near-surface layer and the properties of the whole material.

Examples of a more complex hierarchical simulation were described in a number of publications.430-437 Allatom simulations of samples of highly cross-linked polymer matrices were performed and multi-stage calculation schemes were proposed. The simulation of polymer matrices based on epoxide^{426,431} and phthalonitrile^{432,433} resins consists of the following sequence of stages: generation of a coarse-grain monomer model \rightarrow mesoscale level simulation of the polymerization \rightarrow reverse mapping \rightarrow study of the properties of samples of the resulting material. The simulation of highly cross-linked polystyrene matrices and reactions of their synthesis in dichloroethane included the stages of quantum mechanical calculations of partial charges on atoms of polystyrene and dichloroethane, allatom calculations of polystyrene solutions in dichloroethane at different polymer concentrations, forward and reverse data mapping and study of the macroscopic properties (Fig. 53).

Polystyrene cross-linking in dichloroethane was modelled in two ways. First, multiscale simulation in which the all-atom model of linear polystyrene macromolecules dissolved in dichloroethane was converted to a mesoscopic coarse-grained model, the model cross-linking was performed and then reverse mapping to the all-atom structure was done.⁴³⁴⁻⁴³⁶ Second, the reactive force field (ReaxFF) method was used: the reaction was conducted in a system including all atoms of polystyrene, cross-linking agent and catalyst.437 According to both calculation methods, highly cross-linked polystyrene is an inhomogeneous structure in which solvent-filled cavities coexist with areas with a high polymer concentration connected by bridges. This inhomogeneity is a consequence of the non-uniform distribution of cross-links both in the bulk and along the chain: some benzene rings have several cross-links, while other ones are completely free.



Figure 53. Scheme of the multiscale simulation of the synthesis of highly cross-linked polystytrene.

The calculated parameters, including specific and local sample densities, specific surface area, elastic modulus, pore size distribution and the maximum pore size, were in quantitative and qualitative agreement with experimental data.

It should be emphasized that a central idea underlying the procedure of construction of cross-linked polymer matrices related to the notion of mesoscale chemistry is described in a number of publications.426,431,432,438,439 According to this concept, the polymer matrix is generated by modelling of the chemical reaction using coarse-grained particles. The use of the mesoscale level is caused by the following factors. Chemical reactions can be modelled directly, for example, using QM methods⁴⁴⁰ or atomistic MD with the ReaxFF potential;⁴⁴¹ however, in the case of large model samples of polymer materials sufficient for obtaining adequate physical characteristics (elastic modulus, coefficient of thermal expansion, glass transition temperature, etc.), this method requires very large computing resources. This is due to the fact that the kinetics of chemical reactions of curing of, e.g., epoxide resins is determined by the rates of monomer diffusion, and the reaction is sharply retarded as the polymer conversion increases.442 A study of epoxide matrices based on bisphenol A diglycidyl ether and diethyltoluenediamine (DGEBA-DETDA) monomers showed that for obtaining correct local structure of epoxy resin, the simulation cells should be as large as possible. For the DGEBA-DETDA matrix, the simulation cell volume should be at least $\sim (150 \text{ Å})^3$ (Ref. 414). Most publications ignore this circumstance. As a rule, the chosen size of MD-simulated systems is too small (for saving computing resources).443 In our opinion, simulation of the polymerization at the mesoscopic level is often the only possible way to model materials based on crosslinked polymer matrices, including nanocomposites.

One more example of using MS protocols $^{444-447}$ is concerned with PLA, one of the most popular biodegradable polymers. The MS protocol includes all-atom calculations, forward and reverse mapping (Fig. 54*a*) and temperature-dependent renormalization of coarse-grained potentials; finally, the results of atomistic simulation of PLA melts were reproduced with high accuracy over a broad temperature range (Fig. 54*b*) and the effect of mechanical stretching on the structure and properties of polylactide was studied using coarse-grained calculations. Furthermore, good quantitative agreement was attained with considerable (by a factor of several tens) increase in the calculation speed.

The local structure of the PLA molecule depending on its isomeric composition can be taken into account in terms of a model in which quantum mechanical calculations of partial charges are applied to ordered helical conformations.⁴⁴⁷ This model provides structural and thermophysical characteristics for PLA containing different percentages of L- and D-isomers.

In conclusion, we would like to emphasize that this brief review does not cover all of the modern approaches used to predict the properties of polymer materials. Nevertheless, the presented examples demonstrate the enormous potential of computer simulation. At the same time, advanced calculation schemes suitable for modelling and investigation of PNCs and requiring no additional parameterization are implemented only using the concept of multiscale simulation. The success of application of this concept relies on the design of a sequence of interrelated models (based on



а

Figure 54. Mapping of the polvlactic acid structure (a) and temperature dependences of the specific volume of oligolactide determined bv all-atom simulation (red line), coarse-grained simulation (yellow line) and simulation after the temperature-dependent renormalization (blue line) $(b).^{446}$ (1) atomistic, (2) coarsegrained $\gamma_{nb} = 0$, $\gamma_b = 0$, (3)coarse-grained $\gamma_{nb} = -0.25,$ $\gamma_{\rm b} = 0.5.$ γ_{nb} and γ_{b} are the empiritemperature-depencal dent renormalization coefficients for non-bonding and bonding interacrespectively. tions Reproduced with permission from Elsevier.

identification of the most important degrees of freedom of the molecular systems) and gaining the required information for implementing each level of the calculation scheme. One more important issue is analysis of the experimental data, which often prompts the strategy of designing the calculation scheme.

8. Biodegradable polymeric and composite materials based on plant raw materials

8.1. Biodegradable polymers with improved properties as a promising alternative to polyolefins in packaging production The concept Polymers for the Future implies the environmental friendliness and safety of the materials at all life cycle stages - from renewable sources of raw materials to controlled degradation to environmentally friendly products. Natural and synthetic biodegradable polymers are perceived as promising materials of the future because, after their use, they degrade down to carbon dioxide, water, and biomass under the action of environmental factors and microorganisms.⁴⁴⁸ Due to biocompatibility and biodegradability, these materials have long been successfully used in medicine and pharmaceutics, in the production of sutures, implants, scaffolds, targeted drug delivery release systems and prolong drug, $etc.^{449, 450}$

In the past two decades, due to the pressing problem of environmental pollution from plastic waste, biodegradable polymers have attracted the attention of manufacturers of packaging materials, diverse disposable products and materials for 3D printing.^{451,452} Polyolefin-based packaging materials are the main source of environmental pollution.

Additionally, a severe environmental problem is concerned with the accumulation of the so-called microplastics, which are the particles of high-tonnage polymers with dimensions ranging from several microns to several millimetres, and their source is the gradual breakdown of polymeric products (clothes, cosmetics, car tires) and partially biodegradable materials consisting of polyolefins and special catalysts or degradable fillers in landfills.⁴⁵³ In contrast to traditional polymeric waste, which can be collected and utilized, spreading of microplastics is uncontrolled and they contaminate groundwater, rivers and seas, and eventually can be traced in human and animal bodies.⁴⁵⁴ Therefore, the problem of contamination by polymer waste is pressing not only from the viewpoint of ecological issues but its solution also is crucial for human health control and protection.

Switching to biodegradable polymers for the production of both packaging materials and some other articles, including car spare parts, can mitigate the accumulation of polymer waste. Biodegradable polymers, like traditional polymers, should be collected and properly disposed, for example, by industrial composting or recycling. Main benefits of biodegradable polymers are concerned with their short-term degradation into harmless products when released to the natural environment. Noteworthy is that the above polymers can hardly be considered as fully environmentally safe if their biodegradability alone is taken into account. The source of raw materials and environmental hazard at the stage of production should also be accounted for.

According to the European Bioplastics e.V., the global annual production of biodegradable polymers was 1.23 million tons in 2020, and by 2025, the growth up to 1.8 million tons is planned.[†] More than a half of the global consumption of biodegradable polymers accounts for the packaging industry, whereas consumer products and agriculture take second and third places, respectively. The main triggers stimulating the use of biodegradable polymers are concerned with various restrictions and tax measures. The development of this particular area is limited by relatively high cost of biodegradable materials and their certain characteristics which are inferior to those of polyolefins.

To find a broader use, biodegradable materials should be more competitive in price and properties as compared with high-tonnage polymers, should retain the desired operation performance and undergo degradation within the scheduled time period. The development of sustainable 'green' materials, which can replace large-tonnage polymers in many areas, presents the challenging task for scientific community all over the world.

Biodegradable polymers are classified into natural polymers polymers and synthetic polymers, produced either by microorganisms or by chemical synthesis (Fig. 55). Synthetic polymers are produced from both natural and synthetic monomers (based on oil). Such polymers [for example, polybutylene adipate terephthalate (PBAT), poly(ɛ-caprolactone)] can hardly be considered as fully environmentally friendly because the source of their raw materials is not renewable. Currently, the most common biodegradable polymers are PLA and various starch-based blends; their share in the global market of biodegradable polymers is approximately equal (32% each), and the annual production volume of each is 400 000 tons.[‡] Less share belongs to polymers based on petroleum raw materials such as PBAT (23%), PBS (7%) and PHA synthesized by microorganisms (3%). Therefore, natural polymers (primarily, starch and its blends) are the most advantageous candidates for high-tonnage biodegradable polymers due to their availability and excellent biodegradability, this also

[†]According to the data of European Bioplastics e.V. [European Bioplastics nova-Institute (2022); https//www.european-bioplastics.org/market] (accessible 21.12.2022).

[‡] According to the data of European Bioplastics e.V. [European Bioplastics nova-Institute (2022); https://www.european-bioplastics.org/market] (accessible 21.12.2022).


concerns PLA due to its good physicomechanical characteristics; however, all the above polymers also suffer from certain drawbacks (see below). In order to develop the materials with improved properties, diverse approaches have been worked out.

Starch is known to be the most common and accessible among natural polymers. Starch presents a mixture of two polysaccharides: amylose (10-20%) and amylopectin (80-90%). The source of starch is the renewable plant raw materials such as cereals, corn, potatoes, etc. Pure starch is an unstable brittle material and its processing is difficult due to the crystalline phase of branched amylopectin. Preparation of thermoplastic starch-based materials, pristine starch should be modified by plasticizers (glycerol, sorbitol) under heating and shear stresses. On the industrial scale, processing is performed using an extruder. Depending on the mode of modification, the elastic modulus and strength of the resultant amorphous thermoplastic starch are equal to 0.1-1 GPa and 20 MPa, respectively. After the modification, even though thermoplastic starch becomes processable, it can hardly be used for packaging production because of its high hydrophilicity. At the next stage, starch is blended with polyesters or vinyl-alcohol based polymers; also, various mineral additives are introduced.455 The most commonly used are the commercial starch-based biodegradable materials produced under the brand name 'Mater-Bi', which are mixtures of the thermoplastic starch with one of the following polymers: PBAT, poly(ɛ-caprolactone) or acetylcellulose. Hydrophilicity of the starch-based materials can be reduced and their barrier properties can be improved by the deposition of UV-crosslinked coatings based on the modified soybean oil. As a result of this modification, water permeability of the material decreases by a factor of 10.456 Alternative modification methods have also been developed, and some of them can be implemented on the industrial scale.457

Among all natural polymers, starch is credited as the most easily processable polymer but the feasibility of other polysaccharides (mostly, cellulose derivatives) is also being investigated.458 For example, recently, a new approach for the preparation of easily processable bioplastic from sawdust has been proposed,459 and the advantages of this approach are related to the facts that no costly extraction of cellulose and lignin is required, and the finished material is prepared as finely dispersed cellulose micro- and nanofibrils in the lignin matrix. As a result, the materials possessing this structure are characterized by high strength (128 MPa) and excellent water resistance. Due to their poor processability, polysaccharides are mostly considered as fillers in biodegradable composite materials. Natural composites (wood, crustacean exoskeletons, bones) are constructed in the same manner.460 The most promising functional fillers are nanocrystalline cellulose,458 chitin 461 and chitosan.462,463 The introduction of the above fillers allows the development of biodegradable composites with improved performance (thermal, physicomechanical, barrier and antibacterial properties).

A promising representative of the family of synthetic biodegradable polymers is PLA which is an amorphous or semicrystalline polymer with an elastic modulus up to 2.5-3.5 GPa and a strength of 60 MPa. Under industrial composting, degradation of PLA *via* hydrolysis and enzymatic degradation is completed within few weeks. Being released into the environment, the degradation rate is controlled by environmental conditions (temperature,

humidity, presence of microorganisms); usually the degradation period does not exceed 5 years. Degradability and the degradation time of PLA can be controlled in a wide range by varying the ratio of L- and D-lactic acid units in the polymer chain.464,465 Initially, PLA was exclusively used for the production of biodegradable implants for surgery, regenerative medicine, traumatology, orthopedics, etc. However, since 2000, the production of PLA was greatly increased, and its cost has plummeted by hundreds of times and almost approached the cost of polyolefins, thus offering the opportunity to use PLA for packaging materials, various consumer goods and even for the fabrication of automotive parts.⁴⁶⁶ For the synthesis of PLA, the source of raw material is starch, from which lactic acid is obtained; then, its cyclic dimer, lactide, is synthesized. Commercial PLA grades are copolymers of poly(L-lactide-co-D-lactide) with low content (2-10%) of D-lactide units, which provide an easier processing due to the reduced melting point. Different grades of PLA are characterized by different viscosity optimal for a particular mode of processing. On the industrial scale, high-molecular-weight PLA is synthesized in a melt by ring-opening polymerization of lactide in the presence of various catalysts. Traditional catalysts are tin compounds; however, after degradation of the material, they are retained in the environment; hence, the search for new effective catalysts based on lighter metals, for example, zinc⁴⁶⁷ or zirconium, is invited.⁴⁶⁸ Alternative areas of research address the elimination of drawbacks inherent in the PLA-based materials, which limits the expansion of their applications for the development of packaging materials and household goods. Principal disadvantages of PLA are their brittleness, low impact toughness, softening temperature <100 °C, poor barrier properties and high cost as well as the slow-rate degradation in certain natural environments.

Noteworthy is that, over the long history of their application in medicine, numerous methods have been developed for the modification and controlled degradation of lactide-based polymers, which proved to be successful in the elimination of nearly all of the above shortcomings. For instance, brittleness of the material can be reduced by the incorporation of only 5-10% of more flexible units of ϵ caprolactone into the molecular structure of PLA at the stage of polymerization.469 Copolymerization of lactide and more hydrophilic glycolide allows the adjustable control over the degradation time ranging from a few months to several years. However, the potential of these approaches for producting packaging materials is limited as the production cost markedly increases. Basic approaches to the preparation of PLA with improved properties for packaging involve the modification of the supramolecular structure, blending with other polymers and introduction of various functional fillers, including the preparation of nanocomposites.

As was shown in the work,⁴⁷⁰ the main cause of embrittlement of PLA at room temperature is the rapid aging and crystallization leading to the formation of micronic spherulites. The above undesirable phenomena can be eliminated by fast deformation of the material upon heating, which changes the structure of the entanglement network. Structural modification of PLA via environmental crazing also provides an efficient tools for reducting the brittleness.⁴⁷¹ Impact toughness of PLA can be improved by blending with various biodegradable polymers such as polycaprolactone, polyurethanes, polysaccharides, copolymers of glycidyl methacrylate with ethylene and butylene, $etc.^{472, 473}$

Other shortcomings of PLA such as the low degradation rate in seawater can also be eliminated by the preparation of polymer blends.448 When PLA is blended with more hydrophilic polymers (in particular, starch), water uptake increases, thus accelerating the degradation.⁴⁷⁴ Moreover, the cost of the finished products can be reduced due to the availability of starch. However, it should be noted that other characteristics of polymer blends or composites are compromised (for example, strength may be reduced due to poor adhesion between a hydrophobic polymer and a hydrophilic filler). Therefore, the search for efficient compatibilizers and various functional fillers is important for the improvement of the physicomechanical properties of final materials. The glass transition temperature of poly(Llactide) is 60-65 °C; hence, at ~70 °C, the PLA-based articles are softened and deformed, which means that this polymer can hardly be applicable for the production of articles, which are used at elevated temperatures. This challenge can be addressed by preparing the material based on the blend of poly(L-lactide) and poly(D-lactide) when co-crystallization provides the formation of a stereocomplex with a different crystal lattice. Such materials are thermally stable up to 150 °C.475,476 The nanocomposite materials based on PLA and organo-modified montmorillonite show thermal stability up to 112 °C.477 Moreover, due to the layered structure of the filler, such composites are characterized by a reduced (up to four times) oxygen permeability. Hence, the preparation of various composites based on PLA, available natural polymers and functional additives seems to be promising. The production of biodegradable polymers can be developed on the basis of complexes for deep processing of grain, among the products of which starch and various sugar syrups occupy a significant share.

8.2. Application of polylactide in coatings of controlled release fertilizers

Numerous studies of scientists in different countries are targeted to the improvement of the methods to achieve better technical and economic indicators of the biosynthesis of lactic acid, synthesis of PLA and preparation of the PLA-based composites. The final goal is to reduce PLA as a raw material and increase the scope of its application. In particular, PLA has great prospects in agriculture for the production of mulching films, seedling pots, controlled release fertilizers (nutrient mixtures), *etc.* This approach will significantly mitigate the environmental pollution by polymer waste (including microplastics) generated by the use of the polyolefin-based materials.⁴⁷⁸ The search of scientific and patent literature on the use of PLA as coatings for fertilizers shows that the number of works in this area significantly increased over the past 5 years.

The basic idea is that the PLA-based capsule provides a gradual release of one or several fertilizers in accordance with the growing season of plants. Of special interest is the fact that the PLA degradation products are not only environmentally friendly but also promote the flora conservation as they boost the concentration of chlorophyll and sprout formation rate, increase the digestibility of nutrients necessary for plant digestibility and protect plants from toxic impact of mineral salts at high concentrations. The technology of controlled nutrient release offers an efficient approach for plants, which provides a marked reduction in wastage and gradual delivery of nutrients to agricultural crops. Various additives are used as nutrient compounds: nitrogen-containing (urea, guanidine, hexamethylenetetr-amine, glycine, alanine),^{479–482} salts containing Cl, S, Na, K, Mg, Ca, Fe, Mn, Zn, Cu, Se, e.g., Na(NH4)₂PO₄, NaH₂PO₄, Na₂SO₄, (NH₄)₂SO₄, NH₄NO₃, NaNO₃, MgSO₄, KH₂PO₄, CaO, FeSO₄, NH₄Cl, MnSO₄, MnCl₂, MnHPO₄, ZnSO₄, ZnO, CuSO₄, K₂SeO₄, Na₂SeO₄, commercial fertilizers, for example, 'Nitrolusal',[§] boron compounds^{483–485} (see ¶), *etc.* as individual compounds or their mixtures. The final composition of the fertilizer depends on the type of plants for which a given fertilizer is intended, conditions of their use and type of soils.

Both inorganic (sulfur and clay) and organic coatings [PSF, PE and poly(acrylic acid-co-acrylamide)] as well as biopolymers are used to provide a prolonged release of micronutrients.⁴⁸⁶ The basic property of such coatings is their vapour permeability. In the work,⁴⁸⁷ polymer coatings were classified according to their water vapour permeability. For synthetic polymers, the gas permeability coefficient ranges from 70 to 3000 cm² s⁻¹ Pa⁻¹; for unmodified polysaccharides, from 4000 to 12 000 cm² s⁻¹ Pa⁻¹.

Controlled release of fertilizers to soil is provided by the formation of the coating on the surface of granulated nutrient composites. Release of the nutrient components, on the one hand, should be retarded in order to protect the seedling from over-abundance and the fruiting plant from the deficiency of elements and, on the other hand, it should be fast enough to supply the plant with nutrients within the growing season.484 The optimal period for the release of target components should be 30-120 days. The studies have shown that, in order to provide a slow release of nutrients within 30 days, the thickness of the PLA shell of the granule should be $200-600 \ \mu m$ (in some cases, up to 2 mm), thus markedly increasing the cost of the final controlled release fertilizers product. The cost of the PLA-based coatings can be reduced and their performance can be improved by the preparation of the PLA-based composites with natural polymers or by the use of multilayered coatings.479,483,488-490 Polymers used in agriculture are referred to as agro-polymers. Agropolymers and additives include cellulose, starch, lignin, alginates, soy protein, chitin, chitosan, xylan, wax, clays, etc. In most cases, agropolymers are waste products of related industries such as wheat straw, coffee cake, biochar, peat, etc.

In addition to the methods for deposition of coatings, alternative approaches are used for the development of controlled release fertilizers, for example, micro(nano)-cross-linked gels with incorporated nutrients⁴⁹¹ or nano-composites prepared by the extrusion of polymer blends with fertilizers.⁴⁹² An active ingredient is incorporated into the polymer by adsorption, dispersion of an active ingredient in the polymer composite or by encapsulation; and the release of target components is provided by desorption, diffusion or breakdown of the polymer matrix (Fig. 56).

The use of controlled release fertilizers and stabilized fertilizers is an indicator of good agricultural practice. Such fertilizers are in the greatest demand in agricultural holdings for the cutivation of ornamental plants as well as indoors and outdoors fruit and vegetable crops, and for the introduction of innovative farming systems, for example, no-till

[§]See M.Oliveira, C.Mota, A.S.Abreu, J.M.Nobrega. J. Polym. Eng., 35 (4), 401 (2015).

[¶] L.Xie, M.Liu, B.Ni, X.Zhang, Y.Wang. Chem. Eng. J., 167, 342 (2011).



Figure 56. Scheme illustrating the mechanisms behind the release of active compounds from the matrix of the polymer composite.

technology when large amounts of fertilizers should be applied in one hit. Improved methods for the preparation and use of 'smart' fertilizers make a significant contribution to the sustainable development of agriculture.

9. Modification of biodegradable materials based on polysaccharides for the control of the surface properties and biodegradation performance

At the present time, the traditional field of research addressing control over hydrophilic or hydrophobic surface properties of the materials is reaching a new level.⁴⁹³⁻⁵⁰⁰ The contact (or wetting) angle serves as a quantitative measure of these properties (>90° for hydrophobic surfaces and $\leq 90^{\circ}$ for hydrophilic surfaces). Of special interest are the limit states of wettability — superhydrophilicity (contact angle <15°) and superhydrophobicity (contact angle >150°), which provide a complete wettability or non-wettability, respectively.^{493, 501-503}

Tailored modification of the surface layers of the materials based on natural polymers offers new properties while retaining the performance of the material in whole.^{504–507} For example, in-depth research addresses the materials based on cellulose and chitosan as fibres, films, aerogels, hydrogels, hollow tubes, *etc.*, which are characterized by biocompatibility and biodegradability after their modification by the compounds which control the lyophilic properties and degradation rate.^{508–517}

9.1. Factors controlling bioadegradation of polymers

As was mentioned above, in contrast to common polymers, biodegradable materials can be degraded by bacteria and fungi in environmental conditions.518-520 Biodegradable polymers usually degrade in soil or in water within 6-9months.⁵²¹ Key parameters that control the resistance of polymers to biodegradation are the following: molecular weight, supramolecular structure (degree of crystallinity), the presence of functional groups and imperfect units.^{522, 523} Oligomers serve as a source of carbon for microorganisms, whereas polymers with higher molecular weight are resistant to bacteria and fungi.⁵²⁴ Semicrystalline and crystalline polymers experience no swelling or limited swelling in water, thus hindering the penetration of enzymes from microorganisms into the polymer matrix and increasing the resistance of crystalline polymers to biodegradation. 525 - 527

Surfaces can be functionalized by grafting of the compounds that interact with the reactive sites of polysaccaharides. Surface modification is generally performed using lowmolecular-weight compounds containing highly reactive groups. Hydrophilicity can be improved by the treatment with acetic anhydride or acyl chloride in the presence of urea,^{528, 529} as well as by grafting of hydrophilic copolymers based on glycidyl methacrylate with the subsequent formation of chelate complexes.⁵³⁰ Due to improved hydrophilicity, biodegradation of the as-treated materials is accelerated in the presence of moisture due to the presence of enzymes and ions, which control the kinetics of degradation and the rate of active reproduction of microorganisms in this environment.

The surface hydrophobization of the cellulose- and chitosan-based materials is traditionally used for the improvement in their performance for the production of paper, textiles, construction materials, *etc.* To this end, two principal methods of surface modification are used:

— adsorption of various compounds on the surface of cellulose-containing substrates; $^{531-535}\,$

— electrostatic interaction and complexation of protonated amino groups of chitosan with negatively charged polyanions or low-molecular-weight compounds, for example, fluorine-containing surfactants.⁵³⁶

Among low-molecular-weight reagents, the most known are chlorosilanes,^{531, 537} carbonyl compounds,^{538–541} acid halides ⁵⁴² and haloalkanes ($C_{10}-C_{18}$).⁵⁴³ However, materials modified with often toxic low-molecular-weight reagents do not show sufficiently stable hydrophobic or superhydrophobic properties in a humid environment. From this viewpoint, chemical modification of chitosan, cellulose and related materials with synthetic polymers seems to be more promising,^{544–546} as it provides the preparation of new materials with improved properties, in particular, with high strength, thermal stability, adsorption, antimicrobial and antioxidant properties.

9.2. Properties of cellulose and chitosan and approaches to their processing

Cellulose is known to be the most common plant raw material, which is used for the preparation of composite materials, textiles, drug delivery systems, personal care products, *etc.* This low-price, biodegradable and renewable resource has also attracted the attention of researchers due to its physical and chemical properties. However, cellulose lacks some universal performance properties inherent in synthetic polymers, and this aspect explains the ever increasing interest in its modification, preparation of cellulose-based composites and blends.

Cellulose is characterized by high reactivity due to the presence of three hydroxyl groups in each unit. From this standpoint, cellulose can be considered as a polymer polyatomic alcohol with elementary units containing one primary (at the sixth carbon atom) and two secondary (at the second and third carbon atoms) hydroxyl groups. These functional groups are responsible for the reactivity of cellulose. Cellulose is a fibre-forming compound with a high molecular weight, and its modification is often performed under heterogeneous conditions or, in other words, treatment with reagents takes place on the surface of the materials.^{547–549} In contrast to some synthetic polymers, cellulose to the degradation temperature. Processing of cellulose through solutions is hindered because the use of

traditional solvents is impossible due to the presence of inter- and intramolecular hydrogen bonds. To tackle this problem, special dissolving systems have been developed,⁵⁵⁰⁻⁵⁵³ which allow the production of cellulose materials and products as well as their modification. The examples of such systems are the following: water-alkaline solutions,⁵⁵⁴⁻⁵⁵⁶ melts of hydrated inorganic salts,⁵⁵⁷⁻⁵⁶¹ aqueous concentrated solutions of inorganic acids,^{550, 562-564} supercritical water.⁵⁶⁵⁻⁵⁶⁷ Dissolution of cellulose without chemical modification is a laborious process due to the rigid long main chain with strong interand intramolecular hydrogen bonds.551,568 Therefore, cellulose should be activated to make it more solvent-accessible. In the late 1970s, the studies were launched to develop new approaches to dissolve cellulose using mixtures of aprotic polar solvents, such as dimethylformamide, dimethyl sulfoxide, dimethylacetamide, ethyl acetate with nitrogen oxides, lithium chloride, paraformaldehyde, etc. 556, 569, 570

Since the 1980s, solutions of cellulose in tertiary amine N-oxides were studied in the Institute of Macromolecular Compounds of the Russian Academy of Sciences in order to obtain the related cellulose-hydrate fibres.⁵⁷¹ At the present time, some manufacturers, including those in Russia, have advanced the technologies for the preparation of cellulose-hydrate fibres with the performance, similar to that of cotton, using *N*-methylmorpholine-*N*-oxide solutions.^{572–574} However, challenges associated with the improvement of technological production lines and the search for new solvent systems remain pressing since, along with the benefits of fibres produced by new technologies, they suffer from certain drawbacks (in particular, fibre fibrillation upon spinning due to an increased crystallinity of cellulose).

In terms of availability and distribution, chitosan is an equally promising polysaccharide. Chitosan is the only cationic natural polysaccharide which is the product of deacetylation of chitin, a structure-forming component of the exoskeleton of crustaceans and insects. In this area, pioneering works by P.P.Shorygin were concerned with the study of acetylation, nitration and methylation of chitin.577 Chitosan is a copolymer consisting of N-glucosamine and N-acetylglucosamine monomer units, and their ratio (degree of deacetylation) depends on the method of its production.578 The structure of chitosan is similar to that of cellulose, and therefore, like cellulose, it has fibre- and film-forming properties.⁵⁷⁹ The presence of hydroxyl groups and uncharged amino groups is responsible for the ability of chitosan macromolecules to form strong intraand intermolecular hydrogen bonds. In turn, linear aggregates and rigid crystalline domains are formed in chitosan. In a solution, individual chitosan chains are arranged into a helix with a repeat of 10.1 - 10.5 Å along the polymer chain.

Potential sources of chitin and, consequently chitosan, are widely distributed in nature.⁵⁸⁰ Their total reproduction in the world's oceans is estimated at 2.3 billion tons per year, providing the global potential for chitin and chitosan production equal to 750 thousand tons per year. From the viewpoint of industrial production, the most accessible sources of chitin and chitosan are the shells of commercial crustaceans;⁵⁸¹ in Russia, the catch of the Kamchatka crab and strigun crab in the Far East is 80 thousand tons per year.^{††}

Like cellulose, chistosan cannot be melt processed; however, dissolving systems appear to be 'softer'. Due to the presence of amino groups, chitosan can be dissolved in dilute organic acids, for example, in aqueous solutions of acetic, succinic or lactic acids, thus allowing the formation of films, sponges and fibres.

9.3. Modification of cellulose and chitosan

The presence of many functional groups in both cellulose and chitosan makes them unique candidates for subsequent modification. In most cases, the final goal of the modification of cellulose and chitosan is either their solubility in aqueous media,582,583 or their ability for water uptake due to get formation via crosslinking,584-586 or required lyophilic properties.587-589 Physicochemical methods for surface hydrophobization of biodegradable materials based on polysaccharides (Fig. 57) involve adsorption of the following compounds on their surface: complexes of natural polymers or copolymers based on unsaturated carboxylic acids, containing titanium, zinc, silicon dioxides, 532-534 as well as vegetable oils 535 and thiols.531 For this purpose, the materials are immersed and allowed to stay in a hydrophobizing solution, and then dried. In this case, the materials acquire superhydrophobic (contact angle of water is 150°) and superoleophilic properties (contact angle of oils is 0°). This procedure allows the preparation of oleophilic-hydrophobic materials, which are promising for the separation of water-organic emulsions and retain their ability for biodegradation in enzyme solutions for 15 days.

Materials with controlled surface wettability can be prepared by photolithography,⁵⁹⁰ electrodeposition,⁵⁹¹ sol-gel deposition,⁵⁹² chemical vapour deposition ⁵⁹³ and electrospinning.^{594, 595} However, the above methods are complicated, labour-intensive and high-cost. As a result, their practical application is limited. Moreover, the resultant materials are unable to switch their wettability as transition from superhydrophobicity to superhydrophilicity, and back. Therefore, the challenging task is to develop new materials with controlled lyophilicity and response to environmental impact (changes in temperature, electric field, light radiation, pH).⁵⁹⁶⁻⁶⁰²

Modification of polysaccharides by synthetic polymers via graft copolymerization presents a relatively new approach to the synthesis of graft copolymers. Graft



†† A.G.Dvoretskii, A.P.Balykin. Izv. Ros. Akad. Nauk. Ser. Geograficheskaya, 85 (3), 405 (2021); https://doi.org/10.31857/s2587556621030055

Figure 57. Scheme illustrating the modification of woven materials by adsorption for imparting superhydrophobic and oleophilic properties.

copolymerization allows introduction of polymer side chains *via* free-radical,⁶⁰³ ionic ⁶⁰⁴ and controlled radical polymerization ⁶⁰⁵ giving new derivatives composed of natural and synthetic polymers.⁵⁴⁴

Grafting of monomers on functional groups of the backbone of polysaccharides makes it possible to prepare compounds with different structures, degrees of branching, and content of unmodified hydroxyl and/or amino groups of cellulose and chitosan.⁶⁰⁶ Combination of useful properties of synthetic polymers based on vinyl monomers (primarily, physicomechanical properties) and biopolymers (adhesion to mucous membranes of living organisms, biocompatibility, ability to adsorb biopharmaceuticals as well as the ability to flocculation and coagulation, the absence of toxicity) can be achieved by radical graft polymerization. The graft copolymers are mainly used as supports for tissue engineering, separation membranes, hydrogels, aerogels, $etc.^{607-609}$

Graft copolymers of chitosan and cellulose are composed of polysaccharide macromolecular chains with randomly distributed branchings of grafted polymers. Performance of graft copolymers is markedly controlled by the chemical structure, length and number of grafted chains. Two approaches, namely, grafting from and grafting to/ onto, have been used to obtain graft copolymers of chitosan and cellulose.^{493, 494, 610} The former approach involves polymerization of monomers by means of initiators anchored to the carrier surface. Active sites on polysaccharide macromolecules can be produced either at the stage prior to blending with a monomer or directly in the course of the reaction with a monomer. In the latter approach, end groups of the synthesized polymers react with the complementary functional groups on the to-be-modified surface to form graft copolymers.^{610, 611} When polymers sensitive to external changes are grafted onto the surface of polysaccharides, this approach allows preparation of 'smart' materials, which can serve as antibacterial surfaces,612 heatsensitive materials, components of composite materials with improved adsorption properties. In particular, adsorption properties of chitosan can be improved by modification via grafting with polyglycidyl methacrylate (PGMA).⁶¹³ As was shown,⁶¹⁴ modification of cellulose with hydrophobic PGMA leads to a decrease in water uptake with increasing PGMA content, and post-modification with hydrochloric acid accompanied by epoxide ring-opening to form a hydrophilic material promising for biomedical applications. Glycidyl methacrylate interacts with chitosan and cellulose in the same manner,^{615,616} when double bonds at the second stage participate in free-radical polymerization with such monomers as methyl methacrylate 615 and butyl methacrylate.⁶¹⁷ The same approach has been applied for polymerization on hemicellulose of methacrylates - stearyl acrylate⁶¹⁸ and lauryl methacrylate.⁶¹⁹ After modification of film materials, the water contact angle increases to 114- 123° as compared with 70° of the initial film; and this is the maximum achievable increase in hydrophobicity for smooth surfaces.

The use of glycidyl methacrylate and (fluoro)alkyl methacrylate copolymers for the modification of cellulosecontaining materials $^{620-622}$ relies on the same principles. The surface layer is composed of polysaccharide macromolecular chains with randomly distributed branchings of the graft copolymer.⁶²³ To provide interaction of hydroxyl and oxirane groups, acidic or basic catalysis is used, $^{623, 624}$ a noncatalytic process at 130–150 °C is also possible.⁶²⁵ The studies on physicochemical, mechanical and biological properties of the materials based on modified chitosan showed that they are promising for the development of biodegradable vascular prostheses.⁶²⁶ These materials act as a hollow skeleton. Endothelial cells are attached to the surface of chitosan, and they proliferate with the formation of new living tissues. In an ideal case, this framework can degrade with a certain rate, which depends on the chemical composition of surface functional groups which are responsible for lyophilic properties of the surface of the materials.

Physical characteristics of aerogels based on cellulose and chitosan modified by grafted synthetic polymers open up the opportunities for practical applications of these materials as catalyst carriers, adsorbents for oils $^{627, 628}$ and heavy metals, $^{629, 630}$ filtering materials $^{631, 632}$ for separation of water–organic emulsions. The above properties of the modified materials, which distinguish them from the properties of initial natural polymers, are very important because the high affinity for the organic phase, low water and moisture absorption, biodegradability as well as the possibility of repeated and long-term use are the main requirements for modern adsorbents for oils and petroleum products.

To conclude, surface chemical modification of the materials based on cellulose and chitosan involves interaction of reagents through hydroxyl and amino functional groups of polysaccharides. The resultant materials retain the key properties of polysaccharides, such as biocompatibility and biodegradability, but show improved physicochemical, physicomechanical and adsorption characteristics and adjustable lifetime.

10. Polymer waste management problem

At the first glance, the issues related to accumulation of polymer trash and pollution of the world ocean by plastic waste are not directly related to the polymer science, but refer to organizational and management tasks of particular countries, first of all, the most developed countries. These countries are characterized by the highest polymer consumption per capita, which is largely correlated with life standards and well-being of the society.633 However, the global character of the arising problem and the designed approaches to the problem solution adopted in particular countries or associations of countries directly affect the trends of development of polymer science and engineering and thus interfere with their natural progress. Examples of such solutions are the ban of the single-use plastic items ^{‡‡} and reducing the consumption of lightweight plastic carrier bags^{§§} adopted by the European Parliament. One of the goals of the project Polymers of the Future is to elaborate a fundamental concept of this problem in order to decrease or mitigate the social and political impact on the progress polymer science.

In the European Union, a polymer waste management program has been developed and is consistently implemented (see below). In a review ⁶³⁴ that analyzes the existing approaches to polymer waste management, three main trends are distinguished (Fig. 58):

^{‡‡} See https://www.europarl.europa.eu/news/en/press-room/20190321IP-

R32111/parliament-seals-ban-on-throwaway-plastics-by-2021 (accessible 20.12.2022).

^{§§} See https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri = ce-lex:32015L0720 (accessible 20.12.2022).



Figure 58. Life cycle of a polymer material.⁶³⁴ Published with permission from Springer Nature.

recycling, which implies thorough sorting and crushing;

— incineration, which is accompanied by release and utilization of a large amount of energy;

— landfilling.

The common practice is directed towards increasing the proportion of recycled waste. Adherents of this trend believe that this would decrease the consumption of hydrocarbons and energy expenditure for the synthesis of polymers. However, they usually neglect the fact that in 90% of cases, secondary polymers have a lower quality than primary ones, which naturally deteriorates the quality of polymer products. One more neglected fact is that the equipment cost and the energy consumption related to the sorting and crushing are added to the cost of the end products and thus generate a considerable energy and monetary imbalance in the operation of plants that use this approach.

Much more encouraging is incineration with energy recovery 635 and energy use with a positive economic balance.⁶³⁶ A reverse side of this waste management method is the need to remove components containing organic chlorine (first of all, PVC) from the waste bulk and to construct powerful treating facilities for effluent gases, which markedly decreases the expected economic benefit. The percentage of incinerated waste permanently increases, despite one more large drawback: combustion gives off an enormous amount of carbon dioxide. In other words, this route of waste disposal directly contradicts the concept of decreasing the carbon footprint, which is a part of environmental agenda. This route is also incorrect in terms of D.I.Mendeleev s statement that burning oil is akin to firing up a kitchen stove with bank notes. Burning polymers differs from burning oil only by the fact that before being converted to CO₂, polymers have already performed a useful function. However, this is a weak argument from the point of view of environmentalists.

The third option, waste landfilling,⁶³⁷ is least popular, because it is supposed to landfill only the most hazardous waste, which cannot be disposed of by the first or the second method. This approach is considered to be least favoured, as landfilling requires huge underground storages with unpre-

dictable reclamation periods; also, there are concerns about possible contamination of groundwater and soil water with components of plastic degradation and withdrawal of large areas of deficient land from turnover. Nevertheless, landfilling is performed on a large scale, most often, in an unqualified manner, *i.e.*, without preliminary sorting. In those cases where landfilling is performed in a qualified manner, the landfill sites are often found in some other region.

Unfortunately, the current approaches are up-to-theminute and arbitrary. This can be easily found out by analyzing the available regulatory documents. The delay in waste management measures brings about the need to introduce bans and restrictions on the production of certain types of polymers, while from the point of view of efficiency and prospects, it is better to increase the capacity for waste collection and processing into safe construction materials, for example, for aquatic construction.

What is the focus of modern approaches to the processing of polymer waste? The commonly accepted hierarchy of polymer waste management establishes the priority trends of development of technologies according to the closed-loop economy concept, which must obey the so-called 3R s rule (Reduce, Re-use, Recycle).⁶³⁸

The Russian Federation law 89-FZ, dated June 24, 1998, On Production and Consumption Waste envisages improvement of the waste management system and establishes the state policy measures in the field of waste management. The fullest use of the raw substances and materials, increase in the service life of polymer products and waste treatment and disposal were supposed to be the factors preventing and reducing the amount of polymer waste.

In order to prevent waste formation, it is necessary to take measures before a polymer or an item become trash, such as withdrawal of single-use items (containers and packaging for non-medical purposes, plastic bags for retail stores).⁶³⁹ An alternative option is to integrate the packaging disposal into the value-added process flow. Also, manufacturers of packaging materials could themselves develop processes for disposal of their complex waste.^{†††}

^{†††} See https://www.tetrapak.com/sustainability/planet/environmental-impact/tetra-pak-operations (accessible 20.12.2022)

A way to address the problem of reducing the adverse impact of polymer waste on the environment is the creation and industrial production of environmentally benign selfdegrading compounds such as biodegradable polymers (see

below).⁶⁴⁰ The longest service life of polymer materials and products other than packaging implies than they can be repaired and reused. First of all, this refers to the use of selfregenerating and self-healing materials, but not implies the transfer of second-hand principle to critical items made of polymers. Scaling up from laboratory research to the industrial production of these innovative materials is a primary challenge faced by researchers.

Most polymer products retain their technical characteristics after being converted to waste. Hence, it is necessary to find how they can be usefully employed. Polymer waste recycling as a production process of secondary polymers includes the following stages:⁶⁴¹

- preparation: collection, sorting and purification;

- mechanical, chemical or biological processing;

— fine tuning of the secondary product: enhancement of performance characteristics, creation of marketable appearance (upgrading), *etc*.

In the vast majority of cases, the products based on polymer materials are complex compositions; apart from a polymer or a blend of several polymers, they contain modifiers, fillers, antioxidants and various functional additives. When the polymer materials and products turn into trash, they are usually contaminated, and their recycling requires considerable energy, material and labour expenditures for sorting and purification before the secondary processing.⁶⁴² For this reason, recycling is economically reasonable at enterprises that can utilize waste generated by their own manufacturing processes.

Recycling is economically and environmentally justified only for relatively large flows with a uniform composition free from foreign polymer waste impurities. In this regard, the first stage comprising the collection, sorting and purification is the key stage in the whole polymer recycling process. One way to optimize this stage is to reduce the number of sorting processes and to use two-stream waste collection,⁶⁴³ which implies domestic separation of waste into two streams, one containing waste to be recycled and the other containing all other types of waste.

It is noteworthy that the separate waste collection is a long-standing problem. In particular, in the USSR, it was solved by existence of separate collection points for glass containers, waste paper, scrap metal and textiles. Perhaps, it would be expedient to revise an old approach to an old problem in a new way, that is, to arrange the separate collection of secondary raw materials adapted to new reality (by adding collection points for polymeric bottles, fuel cans, *etc.*).

One more possible example is to deliberately take away plastic trash, *e.g.*, plastic parts of obsolete office equipment, from enterprises by companies that recycle waste polymers. As a rule, office equipment is manufactured using highimpact polystyrene and ABS plastics (copolymers of acrylonitrile, butadiene and styrene). This means that the same sorting is performed just on the spot, but not at a garbage recycling plant. The same is true for collection of waste single-use tableware from public catering facilities. Conversion of the above measures from special cases into common practice requires economic interest of the enterprises participating in the separate collection of polymer waste. Collection of single-type plastic trash, structurization of the flows of obsolete polymer products and materials is a socioeconomic task.

The polymer waste delivered to the processing plant is subjected to crushing (shredding), purification, washing and additional separation. This is done using sorting stations, crushing machines, washing equipment, drying units, separators, agglomerators and granulating units. The types, kinds and specific features of the equipment were described in a number of reviews devoted to polymer recycling $(e.g.^{644, 645})$. The resulting secondary polymer raw material as flakes or granules is routed to further processing, which consists in the conversion of waste into secondary products and can be performed by non-destructive (mechanical treatment: crushing, final purification of the melt, granulation; polymer blending, introduction of modifying agents and fillers and chemical modification) or destructive (hydrolysis, glycolysis, methanolysis, pyrolysis) methods.

Processing without the change in the chemical composition of polymers includes refinement (additional separation according to types), regranulation and reuse in the manufacture of new articles. In view of the fact that an increase in the number of processing stages usually deteriorates the properties of polymers because of the thermo-oxidative degradation, a relevant issue is the search for efficient stabilizers and antioxidants that would favour repeated recycling with retention of properties.

If the requirements to the mechanical properties of the secondary polymer raw material are relatively low, the waste mixture is recycled into final products (without additional separation according to types). Compatibilizers are added to improve blending and the quality of blends. Without compatibilizers, the properties of the obtained compositions, which often consist of incompatible polymers, are very poor.⁶⁴⁶

A method for optimization of polymer recycling is the targeted blending of polymer wastes to obtain materials of a higher quality or more environmentally benign (upcycling). An example is provided by the production of blends of poorly separable polymers such as PE and PP and composites, *i.e.*, the addition of fillers (fibres, micro- or nano-sized particles) into polymer waste. The newly obtained materials with satisfactory properties are used in some fields of economy.⁶⁴⁷ Production of the same problems as the fabrication of composites based on primary polymers: enhancement of the compatibility (use of compatibilizers, surface modification of fillers, optimization of filler composition and concentration).

Meanwhile, the above methods of polymer waste recycling without change in the chemical composition reduce the amount of plastic waste, but do not solve the problem of waste accumulation. After the end of service life, they become waste or trash once again. The use of secondary polymers for manufacturing so-called non-critical items (buckets, garbage bags, plastic containers, bungalow furniture, *etc.*), which in some cases contain some primary polymers, only enhances the spread of short-lived products that are quickly thrown away, thus contributing to the growth of plastic trash piles.

Chemical modification changes the structure of recycled polymers.^{648,649} Most often, this involves addition of compounds for restoring the molecular weight of polymers, so-called chain extenders, which act as cross-linking agents.⁶⁵⁰

The method of thermochemical degradation of polymers to give low-molecular-weight products is based on the destruction processes induced by factors that cleave the chemical bonds of macromolecules.

During the thermal processing of polymer waste, the destruction of macromolecules proceeds at 400-450 °C to give low-molecular-weight hydrocarbons. The reaction can take place under either atmospheric or elevated pressure with or without a catalyst. In particular, polyolefin waste is processed to give liquid furnace oil and diesel fuel.⁶⁵¹

The ways of chemical recycling of polymer waste include the following high-temperature processes: hydrogenation in a hydrogen atmosphere; cracking and hydrocracking; gasification in an oxygen, steam or carbon dioxide atmosphere and in their mixture to give synthesis gas (a mixture of carbon monoxide and hydrogen); pyrolysis in an oxygenfree atmosphere;^{652, 653} hydrolysis based on cleavage of polymers with aqueous solutions of acids.⁶⁵⁴ A reaction similar to hydrolysis is glycolysis in which glycols are used for depolymerization.

According to reviews,^{655,656} chemical recycling of polymer waste is the most promising approach for the integration of polymers into closed-loop economy. Successful implementation of these plans requires new reactor designs and deeper understanding of processes that underlie chemical recycling. In order to optimize the chemical processing methods and adapt them to plastic waste flows, irrespective of the sorting quality, it is necessary to find experimental correlations between the feed composition, operating conditions, type of the reactor and the composition of reaction products and also to use mathematical modelling methods and model systems.

A prevalent opinion is that incineration of polymer waste with energy recovery is the most efficient way for polymer waste elimination.^{657,658} Polymer waste is incinerated using furnaces of various designs: hearth, rotary, burner-fired, fluidized bed and other furnaces. Complete conversion of polymer waste to CO_2 and H_2O at a relatively high temperature requires preliminary grinding.⁶⁵⁹ It is noteworthy that this method of polymer waste recycling does not solve the carbon footprint problem (for more details, see Section 12).

Self-degradation of polymers induced by bacteria, UV radiation and water also refers to elimination methods. Degradation of, for example, polyethylene or polystyrene under the action of UV radiation (290-320 nm wavelength) is activated by introduction of 2-5% vinyl ketone monomer into the polymer backbone. The low-molecular-weight fragments formed upon the photodegradation are ultimately taken up by soil microorganisms.

The photodegradation of common plastics can be accelerated, in particular, by using special degradation agents. Most often, these are transition metal compounds, which catalyze the polymer destruction on exposure to UV light. The addition of the degradation agents to polymers is complicated by the fact that the additive should accelerate the polymer destruction in the light and simultaneously do not interfere with long-term operation also in the light. In other words, the additive should trigger the degradation at a definite time point. This can be achieved by introducing encapsulated additives. The use of microcapsules containing a degradation agent makes it possible to predict the service life of the polymer, which would be limited by stability of the microcapsule material. Over time, the polymer photodegradation may be accompanied by the degradation induced by bacteria; therefore, these agents are often added to biodegradable polymer composites.

11. Processing of plastics using supercritical fluids

Most of the approaches to polymer waste processing considered above use common liquid solvents and various catalysts. Currently, supercritical fluids (SCFs) have been used more and more often as the most promising media for the destruction and modification of polymer waste. Below we consider processing of typical plastic waste of diverse nature and composition in SCFs of various polarity, including the destruction *via* solvolysis. The products thus formed and the possibility of their reuse are discussed. Primary attention is given to processes in sub- and supercritical water and in supercritical carbon dioxide, as these solvents comply, to the greatest extent, with the green chemistry concept.

11.1. Chemical recycling of plastics in sub- and supercritical solvents

11.1.1. Hydrolysis and destruction in water

In many respects, water appears to be a perfect reaction medium for chemical processing of polymers: it is a nonflammable, non-toxic and fully environmentally compatible solvent. Under atmospheric pressure and a temperature of 25 °C, water is a polar medium, but at high pressure and temperatures above 150 °C, it becomes less polar and suitable for dissolving non-ionic organic compounds. Near the critical point (374 °C and 217 bar), minor variations of temperature or pressure have a considerable effect on the physical or chemical parameters of water, which makes SC H_2O a solvent with tunable properties. In addition to the fact that supercritical water can serve as a solvent for nonpolar organic compounds, while retaining certain dissolving capacity towards polar compounds, it can also act as the active medium in acid- and base-catalyzed reactions. In the vicinity of supercritical conditions, the oxidative ability and the overall reactivity of water considerably increase.

It is not surprising that particularly SC water is used most often in the studies devoted to the chemical recycling of polymers in SCFs. Degradation of polymers in water with the goal of recycling is the subject of a number of reviews (see, *e.g.*^{660–664}). This part of our review deals with the approaches to processing of the main types of polymers and macromolecular systems in SC water. The considered materials include condensation polymers, addition polymers, cured macromolecular resins, cross-linked polymer compositions and carbon fibre- (CFRP) and glass fibrereinforced plastics (GFRP).

11.1.1.1. Condensation polymers

Polyethylene terephthalate is a thermally, chemically and mechanically stable polymer, which is widely used in the packaging industry, particularly for the production of plastic water containers. Among the possible approaches to the chemical recycling of PET, Shojaei *et al.*⁶⁶⁵ distinguished hydrolysis, which can proceed in acidic, alkaline or neutral medium (usually, at temperature > 200 °C and pressure > 15 bar). The hydrolysis affords PET monomers: terephthalic acid (TPA) and ethylene glycol (EG).^{666, 667} If a methylating agent is added to the reaction mixture, the reaction gives dimethyl terephthalate (DMT) together with EG.⁶⁶⁸ Kazaryan and Martirosyan⁶⁶⁹ showed that the

hydrolysis of PET in water can be initiated even at ~180 °C. Exposure of PET in steam at 200 °C and 16 bar also results in a decrease in the molecular weight.670 Campanelli et al.671 reported a kinetic study of PET hydrolysis in subcritical water at temperatures above the melting point of PET (230-245 °C). When the reaction was conducted in a dilute solution of ammonia, the optimal temperature of hydrolysis decreases to 220 °C.672 Fang et al.673 reported important data on the phase changes in the water/PET systems at temperatures of the onset of PET hydrolysis in subcritical and supercritical water: PET and water form a homogeneous phase at a temperature close to the melting point of PET, whereas TPA is a water-insoluble crystalline solid under these conditions. Dissolution of TPA in water takes place above 350 °C. Publications that describe hydrolysis of PET analogues and derivatives such as polyethylene naphthalate 674, 675 and polybutylene terephthalate ⁶⁷⁶ in hot and SC water are also available.

Hydrolysis in sub- and supercritical water was utilized to degrade bisphenol A polycarbonate to the monomer and to bisphenol A degradation products: isopropylphenol and isopropenylphenol.^{677, 678} The transition from subcritical to supercritical water was accompanied by increase in the yield of reaction products from 38 to 89%. When alkali metal salts were used as catalysts, the yield of products increased over the whole investigated temperature range. Watanabe *et al.*⁶⁷⁹ found that the process carried out with high-pressure steam (79 bar and 300 °C) afforded bisphenol A, which, however, did not further decompose.

Nylon-6 obtained by ε -caprolactam casting accompanied by ring opening polycondensation is a polyamide very hard to mechanically process. Wang *et al.*⁶⁸⁰ investigated the hydrolytic degradation of this type of nylon in subcritical water at 90 bar at 345 °C. Under these conditions, monomer casting nylon completely decomposed into water-soluble monomer and oligomers after 45 min; the maximum yield of the products (89%) was observed after 75 min.⁶⁸⁰ The reaction can be accelerated by using zeolites and acid metal oxides as catalysts.⁶⁸¹

The high potential of using SC water for polymer recycling was demonstrated for Okajima *et al.*,⁶⁸² who performed decomposition of aromatic polyamide Kevlar[®] fibres. The authors studied the thermochemical decomposition of this mechanically and chemically relatively stable polymer in various media: supercritical water, subcritical water with and without the addition of NaOH. Hydrolysis gave the corresponding monomers: *para*-phenyldiamine and TPA; the reaction rate, which depended on the medium, increased in the following series of solvents: subcritical water < supercritical water with NaOH. For the identified optimal conditions (250 °C, 40 bar, NaOH: Kevlar[®] ratio of 1:5), the yield of the two monomers was 95% (Fig. 59).

11.1.1.2. Addition polymers

In the first stage of the thermal decomposition of PVC in SC water, chlorine atoms are eliminated from the backbone by the dehydrohalogenation mechanism to give hydrochloric acid in the aqueous phase.^{683–687} Sato *et al.*⁶⁸⁴ presented the distributions of gaseous and liquid products of PVC hydrolysis in SC water under milder (370 bar and 450 °C) and more harsh (600 bar and 600 °C) conditions. At 600 °C, all liquid products of the reaction were aromatic hydrocarbons: phenol, benzene, naphthalene. If the reaction was



Figure 59. Images of Kevlar[®] fibres (*a*) and monomers resulting from Kevlar[®] fibre treatment in SC water: *para*-phenyldiamine (*b*) and TPA (*c*).⁶⁸² Published with permission from Elsevier.

carried out at 450 $^{\circ}$ C, acetic acid was also present among the products.

The PS degradation in SC water (370-420 °C and 240-320 bar) afforded a complex mixture of liquid products, including styrene monomers and dimers.688 The yield of styrene was higher for PS treatment in SC water than for PS pyrolysis.689 The product distribution considerably depended on the reaction conditions and on the use of a catalyst (e.g., NaOH).⁶⁹⁰ A complex mixture of products was also formed upon decomposition of polyolefins, PE⁶⁹¹⁻⁶⁹⁴ and PP,^{695,696} in SC water. The studies on supercritical water gasification of PS and polyolefins have been considered in detail in a review.⁶⁹⁷ The processing of fluoroplastics such as polytetrafluoroethylene, polyvinyidene fluoride and copolymers based on them, deserves a special interest. An important advantage of SC water is the possibility to convert fluorine atoms into the anions, which are located in the aqueous phase, and this minimizes hazardous emissions of fluorinated compounds to the atmosphere.698,699

A number of recent studies are devoted to comparison of liquid organic products formed upon SC water treatment of chemically diverse plastics, including both polymerization and polycondensation products.^{700–702} The results of these studies confirmed once again that the use of SC water as a solvent is promising for the chemical recycling of polymers.

11.1.1.3. Thermosetting plastics, cross-linked polymers, composites and systems of a complex composition

Tagya *et al.*⁷⁰³ showed the possibility of decomposition of phenol resin model compounds and molding materials in supercritical water to the monomers. Cross-linked epoxy resins are also efficiently decomposed in SC water to give phenol derivatives as the products; this reaction can be catalyzed by adding Na₂CO₃.^{704–707} Apart from epoxy resins, decomposition in SC water was studied for thermally stable plastics such as poly(ether ether ketones),^{704,708} styrene copolymers,⁷⁰⁹ butadiene copolymers,⁷¹⁰ cation exchange resins⁷¹¹ and polyurethanes.⁷¹²

Chen et al.713 studied the thermal degradation of waste tyres and natural rubber in SCFs and compared the results obtained using supercritical water and CO₂. In both cases, a considerable decrease in the molecular weight was noted; the use of SC water resulted in a more efficient degradation of both tyre rubber and natural rubber. Computer simulation data showed that the tyre decomposition in SC water follows a radical mechanism.⁷¹⁴ The conversion of waste tyres into low-molecular-weight products can also be efficiently carried out in SC water with the addition of hydrogen peroxide.715 Of particular interest are gaseous reaction products, specifically, the formed hydrogen, the yield of which can be increased by adding catalysts [for example, Ba(OH)₂, Ca(OH)₂ or Mg(OH)₂] as a result of steam gasification reaction.716 The destruction of waste tyres may be combined with crushing by conducting the process under high-pressure hot water jet (jet pressure of up to 2200 bar) (Fig. 60).717

Recycling of plastics used in electronic and computer equipment in SC water can be distinguished as a separate area (the rapid increase in the consumption of the products of electronic industry and annually increasing amounts of the corresponding waste is a more and more pressing environmental issue).^{718–720} This refers to printed circuit boards,^{721–726} integrated microcircuits,⁷²⁷ keyboards,⁷²⁸ liquid crystal display parts.^{729, 730} It was shown that up to 99% of metallic gold and copper can be recovered from





Figure 60. Experimental facility for investigation of tyre destruction under a high-pressure hot water jet (*a*) and scheme of a real unit for tyre shredding and processing (b).⁷¹⁷ Published with permission from De Gruyter.

printed circuit boards ⁷²² *via* treatment in SC water at 400 °C and 250 bar. Furthermore, the listed items often contain brominated organic compounds as fire-retarding agents; in this case, supercritical water treatment results in efficient conversion of bromine to HBr, which occurs in the aqueous phase and can thus be separated from nonpolar degradation products, which form a separate phase.^{720, 721, 724, 725, 731–734}

A widely adressed process of plastic waste recycling in SCFs is the processing of CFRPs with separation of the carbon and polymer phases; the key publications in this area were analyzed in a few reviews. 735-737 The chemical nature of the polymer component of CFRPs treated in SC water may be different, including plastics based on epoxy resins,738-743 in particular in the presence of brominated fire-retarding agents,744 polyesters,745 PEEK,746 acrylonitrile, styrene and butadiene copolymer747 and polyamides.748 It was shown 740,749 that the recovered carbon fibre fabric preserves the woven architecture and can be used again. Apart from CFRPs, examples of recycling using SC water are known for GFRPs.750 The discussion of CFRP recycling in this stage includes not only scientific aspects, but also economic 751 and environmental 752, 753 considerations. A pilot unit for CFRP recycling using SC water with a reactor working volume of 2.9 m³ was put into operation by Panasonic Corporation in Tochigi (Japan).⁶⁶³

An important factor hampering the industrial implementation of plastic recycling processes discussed here is high corrosion activity of sub- and supercritical water, resulting in fast wear of equipment and requiring the use of expensive corrosion-resistant alloys for the manufacture of reactor equipment.⁷⁵⁴ This problem is aggravated by the fact that the reaction products may contain both corrosive low-molecular-weight compounds (salts, acids) and highviscosity fractions, which makes handling of equipment more complicated. Nevertheless, in our opinion, the benefits of using SC water for plastic recycling can provide sufficient incentive to search for the required optimized engineering and design solutions.

11.1.2. Alcoholysis and glycolysis

The critical parameters of methanol (240 °C and 78 bar), ethanol (241 °C and 63 bar), 1-propanol (263 °C and 52 bar) and 1-butanol (289 °C and 45 bar) are much lower than those of water (374 °C and 217 bar); furthermore, the corrosion activity of SC alcohols is lower than that of SC water. Thus, plastic recycling using SC alcohols is more gentle for the operating equipment. In addition, the decomposition of plastics in SC alcohols may follow a different chemical pathway compared to that in SC water and give a different set of reaction products. In the case of condensation polymers, SC alcohol is not only a decomposition medium, but also a reactant involved in alcoholysis.

Studies of methanolysis of PET in supercritical fluids are widely represented in scientific literature.^{755–762} Depolymerization of PET in SC methanol gives DMT and EG,⁷⁶³ which can be easily purified and reused in PET synthesis. When other SC alcohols are used instead of methanol, the corresponding TPA esters are formed together with EG.^{764–768} Also, there are examples of PET depolymerization upon the glycolysis in SC EG to give bis(2-hydroxyethyl) terephthalate as the product.⁷⁶⁹ A number of studies are devoted to the mechanism and kinetics of PET methanolysis in SCF.^{770–773} Depolymerization of PET analogues in SC methanol has been studied.^{774–777} Mitsubishi Heavy Industries, Ltd. (Japan) launched a pilot line for the chemical processing of PET in SC methanol.⁷⁷⁸ Regarding condensation polymers, works dealing with decomposition of polycarbonates^{779–781} and polyamides^{782–784} in SC alcohols are worth mentioning.

As the above-considered thermal decomposition of polystyrene in SC water, the reaction in SC methanol gives styrene monomers and dimers among the reaction products.⁷⁸⁵ As the reaction time increases, the yield of dimers decreases, while other reaction products include an increased proportion of toluene. In the thermal decomposition of HDPE in SC ethanol, like in the decomposition in SC water, the liquid product fraction is a complex mixture of compounds.⁷⁸⁶

A potential advantage of SC alcohols over SC water is the possibility of recycling cross-linked polyolefins in which the cross-links are cleaved selectively without the pyrolytic degradation of the polymer backbone.^{787–790} Regarding the potential industrial implementation, an important factor (demonstrated in a number of studies) is the possibility of selective cleavage of the PE cross-links in a continuous flow process during extrusion of polymers in SC alcohols.^{791–795}

Apart from cross-linked polyethylene, studies on the recycling in SC alcohols are focused on polyurethane foams,^{796, 797} cured epoxy resins,^{798, 799} rubber crumb ⁸⁰⁰ and plastic parts of light-emitting diode displays.⁸⁰¹ As with SC water, a considerable part of studies are devoted to CFRP processing in SC alcohols.^{802–819} While comparing the liquid products and the solid carbon-containing products of CFRP processing in various SCFs (methanol, 1-propanol, 2-propanol, 1-butanol and acetone), Cheng *et al.*⁸⁰⁹ showed that at a particular temperature and pressure, the carbon filler of CFRPs is most efficiently recovered in SC 1-butanol. Recycling of CFRPs is also efficient in SC EG and a EG/water mixture in which 97% of the polymer component of the composite was removed.⁸²⁰

11.1.3. Processing in acetone

Supercritical acetone is widely used in research practice.821 The destruction of composite materials based on thermosetting polymers in acetone at elevated temperature and pressure attracts attention of specialists by the possibility of degrading epoxy resins reinforced by glass or carbon fibre fabric, recovery and reuse of the filler (this is especially important for expensive carbon fibre) and conversion of the cured resin to low-molecular-weight compounds, which can be reused. This type of destruction is accompanied by chemical transformations of the solvent via aldol reaction, aldol condensation, Michael reaction and other pathways to give diacetone alcohol, isomesityl and mesityl oxide, isophorone, phorone, mesitylene, its isomers and so on (Fig. 61).822 Similar reactions and condensations can also proceed in supercritical primary (secondary) alcohols provided that they are oxidized to aldehydes (ketones).

The products formed upon transformations of SC acetone and polymer decomposition have a beneficial effect on the rate and degree of thermal destruction of reinforced composites.⁸²² Apparently, these products promote the subsequent cleavage of ester bonds in the cross-linked epoxide material. In this case, it can be stated that SC acetone functions as not only a solvent (the term solvolysis is even used in the literature, see below).⁸²² It appears possible to recover both the filler and a part of the starting reactants used to obtain the thermoset. It was shown that



Figure 61. Possible chemical reactions of SC acetone.822

after repeated destruction cycles, unreacted acetone can be efficiently separated and reused.⁸²³

Okajima et al.736 compared the decomposition of carbon fibre-reinforced epoxy resin cross-linked with amines in a series of SC solvents, alcohols and ketones, including methanol, ethanol, propanols, butanols and acetone and methyl ethyl ketone with a higher critical temperature. For invariable reaction temperature of 320 °C and solvent concentration in the reactor of 3.64 mol L^{-1} , different pressures (in the range from a few to 12 MPa) exceeding the critical pressure were set. The authors showed that in the initial reaction period, the decomposition rate was positively affected by solvents with smaller size of the molecules, while at the final stage, the dissolving capacity is more important, which must be taken into account in relation to appearance of carbonized reaction products. Indeed, the efficiency of SC acetone in elimination of the adverse effects of carbonization during the thermal destruction of polymers is well known.⁸²⁴ Among the tested solvents, particularly SC acetone demonstrated a combination of high rate and high degree of destruction of thermosetting composites. The conversion efficiency at an invariable temperature increased with increasing pressure (acetone density).825 The recovered carbon fibre sheets preserved the surface and strength characteristics. In experiments using acetone and water mixtures (80:20), temperature rise resulted in acceleration of the composite destruction, but a temperature above 340-360 °C was undesirable, because this deteriorated the properties of carbon fibre recovered from the composite making it more fluffy.826

A comparative study of the degradation of epoxidebased GRFPs and CFRPs in SC acetone and in subcritical water under the same conditions (pressure, temperature) showed that treatment in acetone is more gentle for the recovered glass fibre;⁸²⁷ in this case, the strength characteristics of this filler are better preserved. The fibre recovered from CFRPs retains high strength characteristics irrespective of the type of solvent used for the destruction.

In the case of recycling of hydrophobic polymers in SC acetone, destruction is also accelerated owing to better solubility compared to usual thermolysis and removal of the products under the same conditions, as was shown in relation to polystyrene⁸²⁸⁻⁸³⁰ and polyolefins.⁸³¹

11.1.4. Solvolysis and destruction in ammonia

For supercritical ammonia (132 °C, 11 MPa), chemical transformations of molecules of the pure solvent are impossible. In this respect, SC ammonia resembles SC water and differs from supercritical ketones, aldehydes and some other organic solvents (see below). The dipole moment of the ammonia molecule (1.65 D) is comparable with that for water and methanol molecules (1.8 and 1.65 D, respectively); the presence of a dipole moment distinguishes these solvents from non-polar CO₂, which has only a quadrupole moment. Decomposition of polymers with polar groups is expected to involve solvolysis, *i.e.*, direct participation of the ammonia molecule in the induced chemical transformations of the macromolecules.

A typical process that can be mentioned as solvolysis in ammonia is the decomposition of PET. It is known that solvolysis of PET catalyzed by zinc acetate occurs in aqueous ammonia even at room temperature and ambient pressure.⁸³² Under supercritical or nearly supercritical conditions, a high reaction rate is attained even without catalysts. Ammonia molecules actively participate in the reaction; therefore, unlike hydrolysis or methanolysis (see above), decomposition of PET in ammonia gives terephthalic acid diamide, instead of TPA or DMT (Fig. 62).⁸³³ Unlike esters or acids, these amides cannot be directly used for the two-step transesterification–condensation or onestep condensation reaction to give again the polymer.

Polyurethane foams, traditionally produced by reactions of polyhydric alcohols (polyols) with isocyanates, can also be degraded in SC ammonia.⁸³⁴ Ammonia molecules actively participate in the foam destruction reactions. Consequently, apart from polyols, the recovered products contain amines (instead of the initial isocyanates) and amides (mainly ureas), resulting from transformations of the fragments of carboxylic acid derivatives.⁸³⁴ After the separation of products and conversion of amines to isocyanates, repeated synthesis of polyurethanes is possible.

In addition, the destruction of aliphatic 835 and aromatic polycarbonates in SC ammonia makes it possible to obtain alcohols (phenols) and urea.833 In particular, this type of decomposition of polycarbonates based on bisphenol A allows recovery of bisphenol A for the subsequent use without the need for its additional transformation.833 This determines good prospects of polycarbonates (or related compounds) for the degradation in SC ammonia. Mormann and Frank 836 investigated the chemical recycling of thermosetting polycyanurate based on bisphenol A, phenyl isocyanurate as a model of polyisocyanurates and cured bismaleimide resin. Particularly SC ammonia ensured conversion of the starting materials to low-molecular-weight products (bisphenol A and melamine; aniline and urea; and aniline and two methylenedianiline isomers, respectively) suitable for reuse. Later, analogous processes were successfully implemented at elevated temperature and pressure in aqueous (including dilute) solutions of ammonia.672,837,838

The high reactivity of ammonia may be fairly useful. Xiu *et al.*⁸³⁹ showed that treatment of plastic-containing wastes

(in particular, recycled printed circuit boards) in aqueous ammonia under subcritical conditions gives nitrogen-containing products of degradation of the epoxy resin binder valuable for fine chemical industry, *e.g.*, pyrazine and pyridine derivatives. A later publication of the same authors showed that the plasticizer and chlorine can be effectively removed from recycled PVC *via* reactions with ammonia molecules under similar conditions.⁶⁸⁷

11.1.5. Processing in miscellaneous solvents

Supercritical nonpolar hydrocarbons are a reasonable choice of solvent for the destruction of hydrophobic polymers, because of the expected good solubility of the starting materials and/or decomposition products in these solvents. In particular, efficient thermal destruction of polystyrene in supercritical hexane,⁸⁴⁰ cyclohexane and ethylcyclohexane ⁸⁴¹ has been carried out. The processes were more intense ⁸⁴¹ than those in the experiment carried out at the same temperatures (300-400 °C) and pressures (2-5 MPa) under inert atmosphere (nitrogen) and in the presence of a catalyst. The process was also accelerated in supercritical pentane and toluene.⁸⁴²

Relatively high destruction rates were attained in some subcritical solvents with hydrogen donor properties including phenol.⁸⁴³ Phenol was successfully used to decompose not only polystyrene,⁸⁴⁴ but also polyolefins.⁸⁴⁵ Similar experiments were carried out using subcritical decalin.⁸⁴⁶

Dhawan *et al.*⁸⁴⁷ found dozens of detectable low-molecular-weight organic products upon depolymerization of natural rubber and vulcanized rubber waste in SC toluene and noted a cascade of transformations of the solvent. Reaction mechanisms were proposed for typical products (distribution of product yields depended on the particular reaction conditions); some of the mechanisms included cross-reactions of radicals formed upon thermal decomposition of the macromolecules and the solvent molecules. The average molecular weight of liquid products showed a tendency to decrease with increasing reaction temperature.⁸⁴⁸ Depolymerization processes of *cis*-polyisoprene in SC tetrahydrofuran were considered by Lee and Hong.⁸⁴⁹



Figure 62. Products of PET solvolysis in supercritical water, alcohols and ammonia.⁸³³

49 of 88

Jie *et al.*⁵⁰ visually observed the degradation of polystyrene in SC toluene in a reactor with an optical window. The observation indicated that the polymer first rapidly dissolved and then gradually decomposed. The mechanism of the decomposition starting with the end group was discussed.⁸⁵¹ Among the tested SC solvents, toluene was found to be one of the most efficient for depolymerization of polystyrene.⁸⁵² Sub- and supercritical D-limonene, which are good solvents for polystyrene, were successfully used to recycle cured ester-based glass fibre-reinforced thermosets. The fibres were recovered for the subsequent use, with their mechanical properties being retained.⁸⁵³

Subcritical acetic acid is used for efficient degradation of cured bismaleimide resin to recover the reinforcing carbon fibre.⁸⁵⁴ Cured bromine-containing epoxy resin from recycled printed circuit boards was successfully decomposed in this solvent to bisphenol A and phenol; bromine-containing fire-retarding agents decomposed to release HBr.⁸⁵⁵ The clear-cut beneficial effect of the chosen solvent on the process rate was attributed to a high degree of swelling of these thermosets in this solvent.

The degradation of polar polymers in nonpolar SC hydrocarbons may require the use of polar co-solvents. Efficient depolymerization of nylon was carried out in SC hydrocarbons in the presence of water, which was necessary just for the reaction to proceed.⁸⁵⁶

The operating parameters of reactions involved in polymer destruction in compressed gases often exceed characteristics (pressure, temperature) of the critical points of these gases; therefore, these processes can be classified as decomposition under SC conditions. Feng et al.857 reported decomposion of plastic waste (polyolefins) in nitrogen or hydrogen at high pressure; in the case of hydrogen, the pressure was above the critical point (SC hydrogen). However, no significant difference between the yields was detected. Under optimized conditions, a liquid low-molecular-weight fraction was formed as the major product.857 By varying the process conditions, it was possible to increase the yield of the gas fraction.858 Combining of plastic waste with coal for recycling gave a clear-cut positive synergistic effect,857 which was in particular found for mixtures of polyolefins with polystyrene.859 Similar processes were conducted to recycle plastic waste together with heavy oil residues.860 The enhanced degradation of mixed polyolefin plastics, specifically in compressed hydrogen, was attributed 861,862 to the catalytic action of the added elemental sulfur. Other applicable catalysts include dispersed alumina-silica,857 zeolites 863 and superacids.864,865 A procedure involving dechlorination stage was proposed for the hydrocracking of mixtures of polyolefins with PVC.866 It should be emphasized that, despite the fact that formally these processes take place under SC conditions, the densities of compressed gases in these experiments are moderate.⁸⁶⁷

11.2. Plastic recycling using supercritical carbon dioxide

The use of SCFs to control the properties of materials produced from polymer waste⁸⁶⁸ attracts considerable interest. Modification of these materials to impart specified properties to the final processing product may involve extraction, impregnation and foaming processes, which reflects the diversity of methods of treating the items depending on the goals and objectives of this treatment.

Studies of the possible plastic recycling methods using supercritical CO_2 are widely (in comparison with other SCFs) presented in the literature. This is largely caused by

the environmental friendliness of this solvent and relative ease of converting CO_2 to the SC state (in comparison with water and other polar solvents, CO_2 has relatively low critical parameters, namely, 31.1 °C and 7.39 MPa).

11.2.1. Supercritical fluid extraction

Supercritical fluid extraction (SFE) is a highly demanded and well-studied application of both SC CO2 and, in general, SCF for plastic recycling. The process is based on the dissolution and mass transfer of the substance impregnated into the polymer matrix into an external solution using SCF, which acts as the extracting solvent (eluent). Owing to their high density, SCFs have a pronounced dissolving capacity for many types of fillers. In addition, due to the absence of surface tension related effects, SCF can penetrate deep into the polymer matrices without hindrance, including matrices with a complex pore morphology, and can also freely leave them upon decompression. This favourably distinguishes SFE from the extraction methods based on the use of classic liquid solvents.^{869, 870} Indeed, SCFs in the compressed state occupy the whole volume, like gases, while pressure release induces a uniform decrease in the fluid density. The action of these two factors eliminates the problem of (non)wettability of pore walls. The concentration gradient of the solute is the driving force for the diffusion extraction process. The characteristic times of diffusion in SCFs are much lower than these times in liquid media. In addition, by varying the extraction parameters (temperature and pressure), it is possible to smoothly change the dissolving capacity of SCFs and thus to carry out selective extraction.

As noted above, SC CO₂, a cheap non-toxic gas, is used most often for SFE processes. Owing to ready availability and safety, it has traditionally attracted considerable interest for food industry and pharmaceutical applications related to the fluid extraction of valuable compounds (carotenoids, alkaloids, phenols, essential oils, etc.) from plant sources. The practical implementation of these approaches is described in numerous reviews.871-874 Supercritical CO₂ is also widely investigated with regard to the use for sterilization, because it efficiently inactivates bacteria and viruses in relatively low-temperature (non-destructive and safe) processes.875-877 The sterilization may be an important stage of recycling of plastic waste of medical origin. In this part of the review, the attention is concentrated on SFE as applied to plastic materials and generalpurpose waste.

Many polymers, especially amorphous polymers, have a clear-cut ability to swell in supercritical CO₂; this unfreezes the mobility of macromolecules; therefore, SFE additionally accelerates the diffusion of compounds extracted from the polymer matrix.^{878, 879} As a consequence, SFE can be used to remove the pollutants introduced into these polymers during operation and specially added dopants meant for enhancing the performance characteristics of the materials. The main compounds that should be recovered (in some cases, with the prospect of subsequent reuse) include plasticizers, dyes, antioxidants, UV light absorbers, fire retarding agents, stabilizers, modifies and additives, residual oligomers, monomers, catalysts, initiators and organic and other contaminants.880 It is important to emphasize that SFE can be performed using either one fluid (e.g., SC CO₂) or also co-solvents (fluid mixtures) for increasing the dissolving capacity of the medium towards a wider range of compounds (for example, a typical expedient is to add a

polar co-solvent to nonpolar CO₂).⁸⁸¹ The main classes of polymers purified by SFE and compounds recovered during this extraction are considered below.

Packaging plastics are the most abundant polymers that get to the trash basket. First of all, this refers to PP and PE. High-quality and efficient recycling of these thermoplastics, in particular for the subsequent reuse, includes purification, which can be accomplished by SFE methods. The recovered extraction products can also be valuable for the subsequent use. Antioxidants (BHT, Irganox, Irgafos, Hostanox, Topanol), UV light absorbers (Tinuvin, Cyasorb) and slip additives (e.g., erucamide) were extracted from PP matrices using SC carbon dioxide.882-885 Depending on the extractable compound, the extraction efficiency was 10 to 100%. The above antioxidants were also extracted upon the addition of various co-solvents (methanol, hexane, acetone) to pure SC carbon dioxide.886-888 A similar situation occurs for the supercritical fluid extraction from PE matrices: pure CO₂ was used to recover the same sets of antioxidants, UV light absorbers and slip additives.^{884, 885, 889, 890} Co-solvents (out of the series: methanol, xylene, toluene, chloroform, acetonitrile) were added to increase the efficiency of extraction of the same compounds.^{891, 892} In addition, a number of publications address SFE of various organic pollutants (stearin, dilaurin, trilaurin and tripalmitin molecules were considered as models) from polyolefin polymers used for food packaging.⁸⁹³⁻⁸⁹⁵ It was proposed to use SFE to remove residual monomers and initiators from polyolefins.⁸⁹⁶ Finally, it was shown that SC CO₂ can be applied for decontamintion of polyolefin containers from oil products⁸⁹⁷ and for the separation or purification of paraffins resulting from the chemical recycling of polyolefins.⁸⁹⁸

Among polymers that are successfully purified by SC-CO₂ (in some cases, using co-solvents), mention should be made of PET, 899-902 nylon, 903-905 PVC, 906-909 polystyrene,910-913 polyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF) and PTFE,914 polyurethane,^{915,916} polyvinylbutyral.⁹¹⁷ Supercritical fluid extraction can also be used to extract bromine-containing agents present in fire-retardant coatings 918-922 and printed circuit boards in electronics.922,923 In addition, the same approach is also suitable for recovering macromolecular components from printed circuit boards.924,925 When polar water or hydrogen peroxide were used as co-solvents for nonpolar SC CO2, it was possible to efficiently extract copper,^{926,927} cobalt,⁹²⁸ indium,⁹²⁹ palladium, silver⁹³⁰ and other 931 metals from waste printed circuit boards, batteries and LC displays for the subsequent use. A recently proposed and successfully tested technique for the extraction of organic electrolyte from spent lithium ion batteries using SC CO₂ with the goal of subsequent regeneration is of special practical interest.^{932–935} Separation of the products of depolymerization of polycarbonates⁹³⁶ and isolation of low-molecular-weight destruction products by mechanical processing of polymers⁹³⁷ was described. An approach in which SC CO₂ is used as the precipitation agent for the macromolecular fraction was elaborated. This approach can be implemented in the processing of polystyrene⁹³⁸ or extraction of fire-retarding agents from PS 939,940 and for nylon precipitation during the recycling of carpet waste.941 The selectivity of SC CO₂ as a precipitating agent for polymers (it readily dissolves many classes of low-molecular-weight organic compounds, but only few types of polymers) provides the purity of the precipitated macromolecular fractions.

11.2.2. Supercritical impregnation

It was noted above that SC CO₂ may efficiently wash out various compounds from polymer matrices, owing to its diffusion and penetration properties. Meanwhile, it can also be used to solve the inverse problem: impregnation of polymer matrices. For this purpose, it is necessary to reverse the sign of the concentration gradient of the compound dissolved in SCF. This approach is used to tackle research problems such as insertion of the pharmaceutical agents into polymeric implants,942 textile dyeing,943 formation of diverse nanoparticles in matrices or on substrates for the fabrication of composites,944 addition of monomers and initiators to a polymer to form polymer blends⁹⁴⁵ and obtaining other functional materials.946,947 However, for waste recycling problems, SC impregnation of polymers with agents promoting degradation of matrices, e.g., crosslinked macromolecular systems, is most important. Supercritical impregnation is most widely used in devulcanization processes in which agents that cleave the sulfur cross-links in the polymer are introduced into rubber before recycling.948 When a devulcanizing agent (diphenyl disulfide is a typical example) is used in SC CO₂, some of the dissolved molecules of the agent also penetrate into swollen rubber on heating and react with sulfur cross-links to cleave them.949 This approach, proposed by Kojima et al.,950,951 was further developed in subsequent studies.^{952,953} Owing to high penetration ability of the solvent and fast diffusion, it is possible to attain a high degree of devulcanization even in carbon black-filled rubber (this type of filling markedly impairs the diffusion for conventional liquid media, but this impairment is less pronounced for SCF).954 The recycled rubber markedly swells in SC CO₂, which results in efficient devulcanization. This approach proved to be efficient for vulcanized rubbers based on various types of natural and synthetic rubbers.955-957

11.2.3. Foaming

The fact that numerous polymers (especially amorphous ones) swell in SC CO₂ forms the basis for foaming processes widely used in research. These processes are implemented in the following way: the polymer is saturated with CO₂ at constant elevated temperature and pressure, then depressurizing is carried out, and, hence, the polymer-SCF system leaves the thermodynamic single-phase region, *i.e.*, phase separation takes place. In other words, the plasticized polymer matrix becomes supersaturated with CO₂, and gas bubbles are formed; this accounts for the formation of a porous polymer structure, the morphology of which is fixed upon removal of the plasticizer, *i.e.* CO₂ molecules.⁹⁵⁸ Foaming can be used in plastic processing for the fabrication of composite materials with inclusion of the products of vulcanized rubber recycling. Indeed, foaming of mechanically produced mixtures provides stirring and distribution of the inserted agents throughout the whole polymer matrix. Unlike impregnation, in this case, good solubility of the compounds in SC CO₂ is not a necessary condition. Composite materials based on PP and PE filled with rubber destruction products were obtained.959-962 This increased the thermomechanical characteristics of the composites. Using SC foaming, it is possible to fabricate composites, e.g., with PET, the conventional recycling of which is an intricate process requiring a high degree of purity. Therefore, it is economically reasonable to reuse PET without high purification in the form of composites.963 The residual contaminants can act as functional additives that provide controllable properties and thus promote diversification of possible applications of the materials.⁹⁶⁴

11.2.4. Destruction

Supercritical CO₂ can be used as a medium for polymers destruction. Currently, there is a moderate number of publications devoted to the use of SC CO₂ for depolymerization and destruction of polymers. Chen and co-workers 965, 966 reported PET recycling via oxidative pyrolysis in SC CO_2 to give a superhydrophobic carbon material. The use of this medium increased the efficiency of the process in comparison with conventional oxidative pyrolysis. Supercritical CO₂ was proposed for the oxidative destruction of nylons.⁹⁶⁷ During this process, polymer matrices swelled, which allowed for more efficient penetration of the oxidant NO2 into the material. Gao and co-workers 968,969 carried out the catalytic hydrolysis of PET in SC CO₂, which also acted as the plasticizer and promoted more efficient penetration of the catalyst and water molecules into the polymer matrix. Elmanovich et al.970 carried out the oxidative decomposition of PP in SC CO2 and showed that this medium increases the efficiency of polymer destruction to obtain more selective and controllable distribution of the final products. It was shown 971 that, depending on the ratio of the amounts of oxygen and the polymer, the thermochemical destruction of PE in oxygen-enriched SC CO₂ affords either waxy oligomers or a liquid product with predominance of acetic acid (Fig. 63).

These examples provide the conclusion that SC CO_2 is a promising medium for chemical degradation of polymers. The fact that the number of relevant publications is still moderate indicates that further studies along this line would be relevant.

Thus, the diversity of examples of recycling of plastic wastes in various types in supercritical fluids attests to versatility of this strategy, which has no competitors in the diversity of polymer waste composition and possibility of intensifying the degradation or modification processes. Particularly the versatility accounts for somewhat exagerated attention received by this approach in the literature. However, in view of the possible ecological costs, the method does not appear perfectly trouble-free, and this aspect still requires systematic analysis.

The studies dealing with plastic degradation in supercritical water, ammonia, alcohols, acetone, *etc.* implement an approach to chemical recycling in which the chemical structure of the polymer is broken and new low-molecular-



Figure 63. General scheme of the chemical processing of PE in oxygen-enriched SC CO_2 .⁹⁷¹ Published with permission from Elsevier.

weight compounds are formed. In most cases, supercritical fluids are direct participants of the reaction. For condensation polymers (especially for PET), solvolysis in SCFs gives EG and TPA and its derivatives, which can be reused as monomers to obtain PET. In the case of vinyl polymers (PE, PP, PVC, PS), decomposition in SCFs results in the formation of a multiphase product, the liquid phase of which consists of a variety of compounds. Meanwhile, chemically inert carbon dioxide, which is readily converted to the SC state, acts primarily as a mediator, a plasticizing agent for the matrix to be decomposed, a carrier of functional additives or a solvent for the products of the induced destruction.

Regarding SCF solvolysis of plastics, a strategy that seems quite promising is not the recycling of single pure polymers that selectively gives the monomer or a particular low-molecular-weight compound, but rather the chemical recycling of polymer composites (printed circuit boards, natural and vulcanized rubber items, carbon fibre- and glass fibre-reinforced plastics), which may lead to isolation of pure solid-phase components — metals or various fillers, including carbon and glass fibres. Recycling processes of polymer blends can be characterized by positive synergistic effect,⁹⁷² which has not yet been studied in detail.

Despite the existence of significant scientific grounds for the chemical recycling of plastics in SCFs, there are still few economic calculations and commercial implementations. Apparently, the bottleneck is promotion of new engineering and design solutions. Therefore, the search for new approaches to plastic recycling in SCFs should be concentrated, first of all, on easily industrially scalable processes.

12. Alternative concept of polymer waste management

The material presented in the previous parts of the review indicates that currently there is no universal way for polymer waste management. Therefore, some ecologists put forward the idea of abandoning polymers in the most large-scale applications - packaging industry and construction — and there are appeals to return to the glass or paper packaging. However, they forget that paper is a polymer material the manufacture of which is associated with considerable environmental costs and pollution, and that the power consumption for the glass manufacture casts doubt on the possible increase in the scope of glass application. One more dangerous idea is to turn the manufacture of polymers into the production of biodegradable polymer materials, which is proposed as a panacea in view of the failure to collect and recycle polymer waste in an economically feasible and environmentally benign way. 473, 474, 640, 973, 974 The adherents of this approach forget that the final products of destruction of biodegradable plastics include greenhouse gases, which ecologists try so hard to control. Nevertheless, this ideology is persistent and is steadily developing, thus diverting the efforts and resources of scientists and industrialists from the search for really effective solutions, i.e., political and economic practice begins to affect the prospects of polymer science and engineering.

The packaging market size increases every year; hence, the environmental pollution by plastic waste grows. This problem has no one common solution. It is necessary to simultaneously develop polymer waste collection and sorting, recycling and environmentally safe disposal. Switching to biodegradable polymers is just one of the tools to reduce pollution. Examination of the recent scientific achievements demonstrates that many drawbacks of natural and synthetic biodegradable polymers can be eliminated, which would expand the scope of their applicability. Meanwhile, for the fabrication of available and fully environmentally benign materials, it is necessary to continue the design of more efficient processes for obtaining raw materials (in particular, lactic acid), studies in the field of green polymerization (using new catalysts, reducing energy expenditure) and the synthesis of composites with enhanced properties (functional additives and compatibilizers).

However, ignoring the fundamental approaches to solving the problem of polymer waste recycling not only retards the production of the most massive types of polymers, but also influences the progress of polymer science and engineering. Indeed, one or two research areas are normally selected to be supported out of the whole possible range. However, it is evident that they just cannot meet with success, since they immediately generate another, no less important problem, namely, a pronounced increase in the carbon footprint. Analysis of publications devoted to various aspects of the concept of biodegradable polymers, starting from development of methods for their synthesis (including studies of composting kinetics) and ending with kinetics of the degradation products, demonstrated that the insufficiently scientifically proven choice of the development strategy leads to accelerating movement in a wrong direction.

We do not mean that the development of biodegradable polymers has no prospects. They are needed for drug delivery systems, matrices for cell structures, medical suture material and various types of implants and prostheses, *i.e.*, it is necessary to develop the manufacture of these materials according to the needs of their unique applications. However, these materials should not be opposed to readily available, cheap and efficient polymers as a result of a biased comparison of their benefits and drawbacks. This opposition brings about unjustified distortions in the distribution of efforts and funds and does not help to approach the main goal: development of a strategy covering the collection, processing and disposal of polymer materials in economically and environmentally sound ways.

In the situations where empirical search leads to a dead end, it is reasonable to find out how a particular problem is solved by nature, and often this helps to find a right way. Unlike human society, nature has successfully and long ago solved the problem of disposal of polymer waste, which is present in the environment in markedly larger amount than has been newly synthesized. Strange as it may seem, we were unable to find a systematic analysis of this fact in the literature. Let us look into this issue ourselves. It was noted in the Introduction that the nature uses renewable polymer materials as a potent tool for the control of not only the carbon cycle, but also the oxygen cycle of the Earth. Thus, plants, which are largely represented by various types of cellulose-based polymer materials, absorb carbon dioxide to generate oxygen, but simultaneously they actively release carbon dioxide and consume oxygen during wood oxidation. The following constituents of the handling of wood in nature can be noted:

(1) large-scale combustion during forest fires;

(2) active secondary use of wood (after completion of the life cycle of plants) for the construction of houses and other stuff for the animal world, which range from birds making nests to beavers, who use wood extensively and skilfully;^{§§§}

(3) successive transformation of wood under oxygen deficiency into peat, brown coal, hard coal and oil, *i.e.*, into the stored carbon reserves against which 'environmentalists' actively argue for the reason of changing the Earth's carbon balance.

Surprisingly, the above-described 'civilization' approaches to polymer waste magagement generally mimic the natural ways. However, there is a significant difference: civilization methods show increasing trend towards combustion, whereas the nature uses the option of combustion very sparingly. Recycling (including that for meeting people's needs), which removes wood from oxygen generation processes and from the combustion with evolution of carbon dioxide, makes a large contribution to the disposal of wood. As regards landfilling, the contribution of this type of disposal gradually decreases, with widespread swamp drainage, forest clearance and changes in the Earth s crust, which are far from being regular.

Despite the apparent spontaneity and independence of the three constituents of wood handling, the concentrations of oxygen and carbon dioxide on the Earth are maintained constant. The role of wood in establishing this equilibrium is not entirely clear, but coincidence of the oxygen content in the atmosphere and the oxygen index of wood prompts the idea that this fact is not occasional. This emphasizes once again the important role of wood in this equilibrium. The relationship between the three main constituents of wood handling in nature is sharply changed in particular periods, which leads to pronounced fluctuations of the carbon dioxide content in the atmosphere. Nevertheless, the nature always returns to the observed optimal levels.

It follows from the above brief superficial analysis that despite the similar structure of trends of the natural and civilization handling of polymer matter, they also have basic differences. Recycling of plant wood provides for the production of high-quality materials at minimum cost (except for paper manufacture), whereas the recycling of polymer waste is always accompanied by a quality loss. Incineration gives rise to carbon dioxide and some hazardous components in both cases. Perhaps, the civilization approach is more favourable in this respect, because the hazardous compounds formed upon waste incineration are trapped, while the exhaust products of fires and even burning of firewood are not treated. The natural landfilling and conversion of polymer matter occur over different time periods; therefore, the similarity is only formal. It cannot but be mentioned that landfilling in the natural version is most efficient, as huge amounts of biomass are withdrawn from the turnover and are finally converted to effective fuel.

Although the operations on polymer waste treatment are formally similar, the time frame and the scale factor preclude direct implementation of the biomimetic approach. The natural cycle of waste treatment may be highly nonuniform and may result in sharp fluctuations of the carbon dioxide content in the atmosphere. The human population

^{§§§} It should also be borne in mind that people use enormous amounts of wood for economic purposes (building of houses and manufacture of furniture, transport facilities and various homeware).

MM We did not mention natural gas, which is also formed upon biomass transformation under anaerobic conditions and which is concentrated, in the best case, in underground cavities and, in the worst case, as gas hydrates on the bottom of northern seas in permafrost areas.

may not withstand such fluctuations; therefore, it is vitally important to have mechanisms for controlling the carbon dioxide and oxygen concentrations. In this respect, the only objective biomimetic conclusion that follows from the presented comparison is that carbochain polymers should be considered as an important tool to control the carbon cycle. For this tool to operate, it is necessary to optimize two most promising constituents of polymer matter disposal, namely, incineration and landfilling, with the focus being placed on the latter. The efficiency of landfilling may be increased at the expense of the former route, *i.e.*, recycling may consist in the conversion of waste into the form optimal for the environmentally benign landfilling.

13. Environmental and medical applications of polymer materials

Whereas the previous parts of the review consider how to prevent the environmental pollution by polymer waste, this Section, conversely, addresses a number of examples in which polymers serve for environmental protection.

13.1. Application of biocompatible and biodegradable natural polymers as multifunctional binders and sorbents for nature protection purposes, environmental geology and agrochemistry

Soil is a highly valuable natural resource, the state of which is exceptionally important for the production of foodstuff and maintenance of balanced life activity of ecosystems as a whole.^{975,976} Unfortunately, assessment of the state of soil cover in the world indicates that soils are being degraded: the soil fertility decreases, the acid-base properties change and contamination with toxic compounds, mineralization, *etc.* take place.^{977,978} Most of the problems are caused by poor structural state of soil and low soil stability to erosion processes in which soil degrades under the action of external factors such as wind, water flows or mechanical treatment.^{979,980}

The physicochemical properties of soils are enhanced by using chemical binders, usually Portland cement, hydrated lime and microsilica.^{981, 982} The introduction of these agents enhances the strength characteristics of soil.^{982, 983} However, the cementing binders are not environmentally benign: their production and application are accompanied by considerable atmospheric discharge of carbon dioxide and nitrogen oxides.⁹⁸⁴

These factors initiated the search for more environmentally acceptable and inexpensive binders. A solution was found in the use of polymer additives.985 Commercially available urea formaldehyde resins, poly(vinyl acetate) and its derivatives, poly(vinyl alcohol), polyacrylates, polyurethanes and latexes are used as polymer soil stabilizers (which were called non-traditional).986 Acrylamide and sodium acrylate copolymers, known under the general term polyacrylamide (PAM), which demonstrate stable erosion prevention properties, have occupied the top position in this list over time. The accumulated experience of the use of PAM in laboratory and field tests is most fully reflected in review publications.987,988 In particular, it was shown that the rate of PAM degradation in the environment is less than 10% per year. The high stability of PAM and the necessity of frequent PAM addition to maintain the erosion prevention properties lead to the accumulation of the polymer in soil and simultaneous accumulation of the residual acrylamide monomer, possessing neurotoxic properties even in very low concentrations.

In recent years, polymers of natural origin (biopolymers) and the products of their processing have been used more and more often as soil conditioners;⁹⁸⁹ these polymers include heterofunctional polysaccharides (starch, agar, xanthan gum, carboxymethyl cellulose, hyaluronic acid, pectin, chitosan, *etc.*) and derivatives of lignin or soil organic matter (lignosulfonates, lignohumates, humic acids, fulvic acids). These polymers are biocompatible; under the action of physical factors and soil microorganisms, they degrade to low-molecular-weight products. The use of biopolymers markedly reduces the environmental impact on soil. A brief review of the studies dealing with biopolymers used most often as construction binding materials and soil structure forming agents is presented below.

13.1.1. Lignosulfonates

Lignosulfonates (LGS) are sulfo derivatives of lignin formed as by-products of wood processing in the paper and woodworking industry.⁹⁹⁰ The macromolecules of industry-based LGS are usually branched and contain functional groups, which provide good solubility in water, that is, alcohol, phenol, carboxyl and sulfo groups.⁹⁹¹ The molecular weight of LGS is in the range from 5 to 400 kDa; they are non-toxic, do not cause metal corrosion and do not affect the soil acidity.⁹⁹²

Many researchers observed improvement of geotechnical characteristics of soils of various textures (dry sand, silty sand, sandy loam and soft clay) after treatment with LGS.^{993,994} The application rate of LGS (mass fraction of the polymer in soil) depends on the type of soil and varies from 0.2-0.6 mass % for loamy soil substrates to 2-6 mass % for sandy soil substrates. Numerous advantages of LGS over the traditional cement for increasing the stability of loamy soil to erosion by water was demonstrated by Vinod *et al.*⁹⁹⁵

Shivashankar *et al.*⁹⁹⁶ used LGS to prevent the erosion of dip slopes of clayey soil. LGS were also used as stabilizers for industry-produced soil substrates; for example, they are successfully suppressed the wind erosion of red sand, a coarse sandy bauxite residue formed as a by-product of alumina production.⁹⁹⁷

The above examples attest to stabilizing ability of LGS for both compact and loose soils; currently the interest in this polymer binder continues to increase.

13.1.2. Xanthan gum

Xanthan gum (XG), an anionic branched polysaccharide, is formed *via* aerobic fermentation of sucrose or glucose by *Xanthomomanas bacterium*.⁹⁹⁸ Xanthan gum is soluble in hot and cold water; the solutions have high viscosity even at low concentrations of the biopolymer owing to the rigid structure of helical macromolecules and their capacity for intermolecular interactions.^{999,1000} This anionic biopolymer easily binds water molecules through hydrogen bonds and forms elastic hydrogels at high concentrations. As compared with solutions of other polysaccharides, solutions of XG are distinguished by long-term stability upon variation of ionic strength and pH of the solution, successive freezing-thawing cycles, heating-cooling cycles and applying mechanical stress.¹⁰⁰¹

Xanthan gum is used for strengthening of loose sandy soils ¹⁰⁰²⁻¹⁰⁰⁴ and soft clayey soils;¹⁰⁰⁵⁻¹⁰⁰⁷ for waste stabilization in the tailing dumps of mining and processing 1000

plants ¹⁰⁰⁸ and for increasing the fracture toughness of clay structures.¹⁰⁰⁹ The optimal content of XG for increasing soil strength is 1-2.5 mass %.¹⁰¹⁰

Xanthan gum proved to be efficient for preventing water erosion of the sandy banks of water streams.¹⁰¹¹ The addition of XG to the Korean red soil, which refers to silty loams, in a quantity of 0.5-1.0 mass % increased the resistance of soil to erosion by water by almost an order of magnitude.¹⁰¹² Being in contact with water, XG swelled and retained water in soil for a long period of time, which was favourable for plant growth.

Numerous examples of application of XG as an environmentally benign binder for geotechnical purposes are summarized in reviews.^{1013, 1014} Our analysis of the published data and our own data show that the mechanical characteristics of soils are determined by the following parameters: the amount of XG applied; the type, density, porosity and moisture content of the soil substrate; and method of mixing of soil with the polymer. Alkali and alkaline earth metal ions improve the elastic properties of XG and act as bridges between the anionic XG macromolecules and negatively charged soil particles, giving rise to polymer–soil composites, which behave similarly to solid plastics. The considerable decrease in the selling price of this biopolymer indicates that it may serve as a competitive modern polymer binder.

13.1.3. Alginic acid salts

Commercially available alginates are usually extracted from brown algae, for example, from *Laminaria digitata* and *Ascophyllum nodosum*, by treating the algae with aqueous solutions of alkalis.¹⁰¹⁵ Alginates are linear copolymers of β -D-mannuronic acid (M) and α -L-guluronic acid (G). Commercial alginates differ in the number and sequence of acid residues and consist of homopolymeric M and G blocks alternating with variable-structure MG blocks, the ratio of which varies depending on the source.¹⁰¹⁶ In solution, alginates behave as flexible helices. Divalent metal ions form ionic bonds with the anionic groups of the polymer, which causes a collapse of the macromolecules and, in the limiting case, leads to the loss of their solubility.¹⁰¹⁷

The critical parameters determining the properties of alginate materials are their composition and molecular weight. An increase in the proportion and length of G blocks in the polymer is accompanied by increasing strength characteristics of alginate films and hydrogels, whereas a greater proportion of M blocks promotes the flexibility and elasticity.¹⁰¹⁸

Alginates were among the first polymers used to stabilize soils; the application of alginates for soil stabilization started in the 1940s.¹⁰¹⁹ However, the efficiency of these plant polymers proved to be moderate: a robust stabilization effect could be attained by introducing several tons of the polymer material per hectare. Later, it was shown that at these consumption rates, the content of nitrogen taken up by plants in soil decreases to a very low level.¹⁰²⁰

Currently, the interest in alginates is being revived, although studies reported in the literature are mainly limited to laboratory tests. According to Fatehi *et al.*,¹⁰²¹ the compressive strength of finely dispersed sand of shifting dunes linearly increases as the biopolymer content increases from 1 to 5 mass %. Similar results were reported ¹⁰¹³ for the alginate-silty sand system; the authors noted a lower stabilizing capacity of alginate compared to that of XG.

Alginate was used to fabricate a soil constructor, an artificial soil blend composed of a high plasticity silt clay and tyre-derived ground rubber ¹⁰²² and to immobilize shifting sand and stimulate the vital activity of microorganisms with subsequent desert reclamation.¹⁰²³ Alginates formed the hydrophilic interlayers between quartz particles, which retained water and promoted colonization and growth of cyanobacteria, which are able to survive under extreme conditions of arid climate and take up atmospheric nitrogen and carbon dioxide, which mitigates the greenhouse effect ^{1024, 1025} and leads to formation of a productive soil in a desert.¹⁰²⁶

Generally, the studies demonstrated an acceptable stabilizing effect and water-retaining properties of alginates; the results attest to good prospects of using this biopolymer and its derivatives as soil conditioners.

13.1.4. Carboxylated cellulose soils

Sodium carboxymethyl cellulose (Na-CMC) is a watersoluble product of reaction of cellulose with monochloroacetic acid in the presence of alkali;¹⁰²⁷ it is widely used as a viscosity modifier, an emulsion stabilizer, a binder and a water-retaining agent. The key properties of this salt solubility and viscosity and gelation capacity of solutions are closely related to the polymer molecular weight and degree of carboxymethylation, *i.e.*, the degree of replacement of cellulose hydroxyl groups by carboxymethyl groups.¹⁰²⁸

Modification of the slopes of sandy loam soil with the biopolymer gave rise to an effective erosion control barrier.^{1029,1030} A noticeable increase in the sand stability to intense water flow was observed at the Na-CMC application rate of 0.7 mass %; however, the increase in the water resistance was accompanied by a decrease in the rate of water penetration into soil,¹⁰³¹ which was due to polymer swelling and formation of a viscous gel upon polymer contact with water. Field tests with long-term (three-year) monitoring showed that the surface layer involving Na-CMC can effectively control erosion of sand slopes for long periods of time.¹⁰³¹

Agrochemists consider Na-CMC to be a promising agent for combating desertification of territories and for obtaining polymer materials with controlled release of biologically active compounds. For this purpose, so-called superabsorbent hydrogels able to retain considerable amounts of water in the bulk were obtained on the basis of Na-CMC. Cross-linked derivatives of Na-CMC improve the hydrophysical characteristics of coarse-grained sandy soils and increases several-fold the amount of water accessible for plants in the root zone, which makes it possible to increase the time between waterings and mitigate the abiotic stress in plants caused by the lack of water.¹⁰³²⁻¹⁰³⁴ Particles of carboxymethyl cellulose hydrogels can act as depots for pesticides and/or adsorbents for binding toxic heavy metal cations.^{1035, 1036} The biodegradation rate of Na-CMC hydrogel depends on the composition of the soil substrate and soil humidity and, on average, amounts to six months.¹⁰³⁷ The biodegradation rate can be varied by adding antiseptic agents, which suppress the microbial activity.

The above properties confirm the high promise of using Na-CMC for formulations capable of suppressing erosion processes in soil and create (maintain) conditions for plant growth, especially in arid areas with insufficient water supply.

13.1.5. Chitosan

Chitosan is a biocompatible material that slowly decomposes into harmless products (amino sugars), which are either absorbed by living organisms or excreted from organisms.¹⁰³⁸ Owing to accessible free amino groups, chitosan reacts with negatively charged micro- and macrosized species and forms complexes both with anionic lowand high-molecular-weight compounds and with polyvalent metal ions.¹⁰³⁹ For this reason, chitosan is actively used in environmental protection technologies as a flocculant for wastewater treatment and an adsorbent for binding and deactivation of various pollutants: dyes, phenol derivatives, pesticides and metals.⁵⁷⁸

Chitosan was first used for geo-environmental purposes about 20 years ago as a binder to suppress erosion of loamy soils during irrigation. According to laboratory tests, it was only slightly inferior to polyacrylamide in efficiency.1040, 1041 Wind tunnel tests of sandy clays treated with chitosan showed their high resistance to air erosion.¹⁰⁴² A sharp decrease in the hydraulic conductivity of sandy soil after treatment with chitosan was noted;^{1043, 1044} this may provide grounds for the design of barrier filters and removal of toxic metal ions from moving contaminated groundwater plumes.¹⁰⁴⁴ During field tests, coatings obtained by applying a chitosan solution (0.5 mass %) on a soil of coastal region with a high content of clay particles protected the soil from water erosion.¹⁰⁴⁵ In a similar testing of a sandy soil with a lower content of clay,1046 the water resistance was acceptable only upon successive application of 0.2 mass % of an aqueous solution of an anionic polysaccharide, carrageenan, and then 0.2 mass % of an aqueous solution of cationic chitosan onto the substrate surface.

Biodegradation of films involving chitosan was studied by Makarios-Laham and Lee.¹⁰⁴⁷ Under laboratory conditions, the bacteria *Serratia marcescens* and *Pseudomonas oeruginosa* and fungus *Beauveria bassiana* absorbed 80% of the biopolymer within eight weeks of incubation at room temperature. In the soil, 100% biopolymer degradation took place within six months.

Chitosan may enhance the vital activity of plants.^{1048, 1049} It was proposed as an antifungal agent against diseases of horticultural crops caused by the fungus *Fusarium*.^{1050, 1051} The biocidal properties of chitosan and film forming properties promote the formation of film coatings on seeds for protection against pathogens and stresses.¹⁰⁵² The formation of coatings with optimized structure and mechanical properties requires, in some cases, the introduction of a plasticizer and/or a cross-linking agent.¹⁰⁵³

Thus, chitosan has a high potential as a geo-ecological and agrotechnical material. However, field tests of this biopolymer that would describe the integrated effect of chitosan inclusion on the physical, mechanical and microstructural state of the soil and the vital activity of the soil microbiota have not yet been carried out.

13.1.6. Interpolyelectrolyte complexes of biodegradable polymers

The improvement of properties, increase in the stability and generation of new functions of biopolymers are usually attained by chemical modification. As an alternative, it was proposed to modify biopolymers by incorporating them into interpolyelectrolyte complexes (IPECs) formed upon interaction of oppositely charged ionic polymers (Fig. 64 a).

More than 50 years have passed since the first publications reporting the IPEC preparation. During this period, the regularities of formation and properties of these compounds have been extensively studied and repeatedly described.¹⁰⁵⁴⁻¹⁰⁶⁰ A fundamental characteristic of the polyelectrolyte complexes is their composition, which is usually expressed as the ratio of the concentrations of ionic groups of both components - the polyanion and the polycation.¹⁰⁵⁶ In the case of equal charge to charge ratio of the complexes, stoichiometric water-insoluble polycomplexes are formed; an excess of any of the components gives water-soluble non-stoichiometric IPECs. The polycomplexes can be considered as copolymers containing both hydrophilic and hydrophobic blocks (see Fig. 64 a). Isolated parts of polymer chains act as hydrophilic blocks, and hydrophobic blocks are sequences consisting of oppositely charged units of both polymers.

An important benefit of IPECs is simplicity of their preparation. A traditional method is mixing of aqueous solutions of the cationic and anionic polymers in a certain volume ratio.¹⁰⁵⁸ This makes it possible to change the hydrophilic-hydrophobic balance of IPECs in a specified manner and to obtain polycomplexes with different overall charges and thus to control the IPEC solubility and reactivity towards low-molecular-weight, colloidal and macrosized objects.

The amphiphilic nature of IPECs allows them to efficiently bind soil particles.¹⁰⁵⁴ The charged areas on the surface of soil particles bind to oppositely charged isolated IPEC blocks; the hydrophobic areas on the particle surface bind to the hydrophobic blocks of IPECs (Fig. 64*b*). These interactions together ensure aggregation of soil particles.

The interpolyelectrolyte complexes of synthetic polymers, *e.g.*, anionic sodium polyacrylate and cationic polydiallyldimethylammonium chloride, surpass single ionic



polymers in their structuring properties.¹⁰⁶¹⁻¹⁰⁶⁴ These IPECs efficiently bind both light loose sandy soils and well-aggregated loamy soils. By varying the IPEC composition, it is possible to vary the polycomplex composition, taking account of the type of soil, and thus to affect the mechanical strength and erosion stability of the protective polymer-soil coatings. The use of biodegradable polymers for the synthesis of IPECs opens up new prospects in the development of production techniques for soil conditioners. IPECs made of biodegradable polymers possess the same benefits as the traditional IPECs obtained from synthetic polymers, namely, the possibility of adjusting the composition of the polycomplex to physicochemical properties and structural features of soil, the ability to form strong and simultaneously moisture- and air-permeable coatings with high water-retaining properties for reasonable cost. In addition, new IPECs are biocompatible, biodegradable and, as a consequence, environmentally benign. After performing the stabilizing function, IPECs degrade to small molecules (fragments) and are removed from soil together with subsoil water and/or are digested by soil microorganisms.

Examples of using IPECs composed of biodegradable polymers for solving environmental problems have been reported in the literature. The studies addressed both polycomplexes in which only one component (lignosulfonate) was capable of biodegradation ^{1065, 1066} and polycomplexes fully composed of biodegradable polymers, e.g., a mixture of alginate (or Na-CMC) and chitosan.^{1067, 1068} Treatment of sandy soils with such formulations resulted in the formation of 5-10 mm thick protective crusts, which resisted the action of wind and rain and increased the moisture permeability of soil. The works along this line are now mainly restricted to demonstration of the stabilizing properties of biodegradable IPECs. Much less attention is given to the relationship between the composition of IPECs and the properties of soil substrate, on the one hand, and the strength of the polymer-soil coatings and their stability to the wind and air erosion, on the other hand. Meanwhile, this correlation is necessary for understanding the mechanism of action of new IPECs and, what is more important, for the development of multiple-action polymer structures (soil conditioners) capable of performing a number of essential functions: suppress erosion processes in soil, improve the soil structure, retain water, supply nutrients, bind toxins, control pH and so on. Solving these issues would markedly expand the potential of biodegradable IPECs as a result of using new polymers for the preparation of polycomplexes and using new types of soil, in particular degraded and artificial soils.

Owing to the broad set of functional groups, biopolymers form multiple electrostatic, hydrophobic and hydrogen bonds with structurally diverse mineral particles of various nature, soil substrates and low-molecular-weight compounds. This provides conditions for efficient and safe solution of a number of geo-environmental and agrotechnical problems. The biodegradability of natural macromolecules can reduce the environmental pollution and minimize the consequences of the secondary soil contamination caused by uncontrolled physicochemical and biological transformations of the polymers put into soil.

Currently, biocompatible and biodegradable natural ionic polymers are considered to be promising environmentally benign additives able to enhance the mechanical and rheological characteristics of mineral soil, prevent dust transfer and immobilize quick sand. Biopolymers can be used as soil conditioners to reduce the degradation of agricultural lands, to bind organic carbon and to detoxify and reclaim contaminated soils. Binding of a biopolymer into an IPEC with an oppositely charged (bio)polymer provides controlled modification of the polymer binder and formation of environmentally benign protective coatings on the soil surface. There are virtually no published data on the optimal compositions of these polycomplexes and their behavior as combined-action soil conditioners, whereas the experience of using polycomplex binders made of synthetic polymers demonstrated obvious advantages of polycomplexes over single polymers.

13.1.7. Waterborne polyurethanes

Owing to the enhanced ability to form host-guest supramolecular compounds, waterborne polyurethanes can be used both to prevent water pollution and to selectively and efficiently remove organic pollutants contained in water even in minor amounts.

The synthesis of environmentally benign waterborne polyurethanes (WBPU) is a vigorously developing trend of polymer chemistry. These materials have already largely displaced the conventional organo-soluble polyurethanes. Waterborne polyurethanes are used more and more often as coatings,¹⁰⁶⁹ adhesives,¹⁰⁷⁰ targeted delivery systems for biologically active compounds, including medicinal drugs¹⁰⁷¹ and agrochemicals¹⁰⁷² and for water treatment systems.¹⁰⁷³

Like in the case of conventional organo-soluble polyurethanes, WBPUs are mainly synthesized by the reaction of diisocyanates with low-molecular-weight and oligomer diols and with diamines (Fig. 65).

The isocyanate components used for the synthesis of WBPUs include aromatic¹⁰⁷⁴ and aliphatic diisocyanates¹⁰⁷⁰ and also isocyanurate oligomers, resulting from their polymerization.¹⁰⁷⁵ Among the wide diversity of diisocyanates, isophorone diisocyanate is used most widely for WBPU synthesis. This is due to the possibility of controlling urethane formation process taking advantage of different reactivities of the isocyanate groups of this diisocyanate.^{1076, 1077} In order to increase the environmental safety of WBPUs, they are often prepared using biodegradable oligodiols, particularly, polycaprolactonediol and poly(butylene adipate).¹⁰⁷⁸ One more hydroxyl-containing compound used for this purpose is castor oil obtained from renewable sources of raw materials.¹⁰⁷⁹

The synthesis of non-isocyanate WBPUs by the reaction of bifunctional cyclocarbonates with diamines has been actively developed in recent years (Fig. 66).¹⁰⁸⁰⁻¹⁰⁸²

Thus, a large diversity of the raw materials for the preparation of WBPUs in combination with the possibility of controlling the process of synthesis make an effective tool for tuning the properties of the final material.

The stability of aqueous dispersions of polyurethanes is largely attained by introducing internal emulsifiers into polyurethanes. All hydrophilic agents used for the synthesis of WBPUs can be divided into three groups:

— anionic [*e.g.*, 2,2-bis(hydroxymethyl)propionic acid];¹⁰⁸³

— cationic (e.g., N-methyldiethanolamine);¹⁰⁷⁹

— non-ionic (*e.g.*, PEG).¹⁰⁸⁴

It should be emphasized that cationic type internal emulsifiers (specifically, 3,3'-diamino-*N*-methyldipropylamine) are mainly used for the synthesis of non-isocyanate



WBPUs. Ionic type internal emulsifiers are neutralized by tertiary amines or carboxylic acids to form quaternary ammonium bases, which is also favourable for stabilization of waterborne polyurethanes.

It follows from the above that WBPUs are amphiphilic polymers in which urethane moieties linked to ionic centres form the hydrophilic part, while the urethane moieties of oligoesters and low-molecular-weight diols (diamines) represent the hydrophobic part. As a result, WBPUs tend to self-organize and can form micelles or vesicles.^{1071, 1078, 1083} This is a key feature of WBPUs, which ensures the possibility of encapsulating low-polarity molecules of biologically active compounds.

All benefits of WBPUs are fully utilized in the design of water treatment systems and in prevention of water pollution, as indicated by the examples listed below.

For preventing pollution of water by pesticides, WBPUs are widely used as pesticide delivery systems in agrochemistry, as they provide a controlled release of pesticides owing to their amphiphilic nature.^{1072, 1079, 1085, 1086} An increase in the efficiency of pesticide action is achieved by encapsulation of biologically active substances into the nonpolar WBPU core. The resulting WBPU nanoemulsions applied on plant leaves ensure the location of pesticides in the close contact with potential pests for a long period of time. Due to the low surface tension of these emulsions and the possibility of hydrogen bonding between the leaf surface and the polymer matrix, the efficiency of retention of pesticides encapsulated in WBPUs is much higher than that with the use of commercially available formulations as emulsifiable concentrates or powders.¹⁰⁸⁵ The limiting content of the popular pesticides such as avermectin and lambda-cyhalothrin in WBPUs can reach 40% with encapsulation efficiency being > 85%.^{1072, 1085, 1086} As expected, the rate of release of pesticides from the polymer matrix depends on the amount of encapsulated biologically active compound, pH and temperature.1086

Zhang *et al.*¹⁰⁷⁹ analyzed the effect of the nature of ionic emulsifier on the efficiency of azadirachtin encapsulated in castor oil-based WBPU. The highest photochemical stability of the pesticide was attained by encapsulation in polyurethanes obtained using a cationic type internal emulsifier. In particular, it was shown that 7-day natural light irradiation of azadirachtin applied using conventional Tween-80 emulsifier leads to decomposition of almost 70% of the biologically active compound, whereas the photodegradation of the WBPU-encapsulated pesticide is only 30% over the same period of time. The efficiency of azadirachtin retention in WBPU after simulation of atmospheric precipitation was 87.9%, whereas this value obtained after wash-off of samples applied using traditional formulations was only 7.3%.

Due to their hydrophilicity and environmental safety, foams based on WBPU with various immobilized nanoparticles can act as effective filtering systems for the treatment of water to remove various sorts of lyophobic compounds,¹⁰⁸⁷ heavy metal ions,¹⁰⁸⁸ phenol¹⁰⁸⁹ and bacteria such as *E.coli*.¹⁰⁷⁴ It is noteworthy that all composite materials used in the experiments were obtained *in situ* in an aqueous medium.

For example, WBPU-based polyurethane foams with immobilized thermally expanded graphite particles were prepared ¹⁰⁸⁷ for effective separation of oil-in-water type emulsions under the action of gravity. The results of measurement of the contact angles and sorption for water and various oleophilic compounds (diesel fuel, toluene, silicone oil) showed that these composite materials possess both hydrophilic and oleophilic properties with respect to air environment. After swelling in water, the foams started to show clear-cut oleophobic behaviour (contact angle of >133°). Filtering systems for oil-in-water emulsions with a separation efficiency of 99.99% were developed on the basis of thermally expanded graphite immobilized in WBPU.

WBPU-based gels are often employed for aerobic – anaerobic removal of nitrogen from waste water. In particular, cross-linked WBPUs can serve as matrices for immobilization of sources of nitrifying bacteria such as active sludge.^{1084, 1090, 1091} WBPUs used to fabricate these composites are mainly obtained using oligoether diols (PEG), isophorone diisocyanate and 2-hydroxymethyl acrylate.¹⁰⁸⁴ Nitrifying bacteria are immobilized *in situ* in the polymer matrix in water *via* three-dimensional radical polymerization of WBPU.

Composites based on active sludge immobilized in a cross-linked WBPU matrix markedly surpassed their analogues using poly(vinyl alcohols), sodium alginate, their mixture and carboxymethylcellulose as the carrier for nitrifying bacteria in all key characteristics such as mechanical strength, biological activity, tensile strength and swelling ratio.¹⁰⁹² Moreover, WBPU did not affect the growth of bacteria or the structure of the bacterial community, resulting in increase in the amount of biomass. The obtained experimental data attest to good prospects of using crosslinked WBPUs for treatment of waste water from industrial plants. This is also confirmed by the fact that a number of laboratory bioreactors using biomass immobilized in already WBPU-based gels have been constructed.^{1073,1093,1094} The efficiency of waste water treatment by this method may reach 99.9% for NH_4^+ removal. 1095

Thus, considering polyurethanes, it was shown that the use of common polymers is shifting towards the environmental protection. The progress of polymer chemistry is accompanied by the appearance of new materials that promote highly efficient water treatment for removal of hazardous organic compounds. New measures for preventing contamination of living nature with hazardous compounds are based on more efficient and careful application of materials using special polymer systems.

13.2. Promising polymer materials for water treatment and for preventing water pollution with organic compounds

Numerous natural and synthetic polymer systems that are described in the previous part of the review by no means exhaust the applications of polymer materials for environmental protection purposes. Ever increasing attention is drawn by the polymers specially designed for useful functions in this field. The design and tailoring of polymer systems for water treatment processes are described below.

The traditional treatment methods such as precipitation, flocculation, coagulation and activated carbon treatment do not ensure efficient removal of organic pollutants from water. Currently, the main efforts in the development of water treatment methods are directed towards the use of membrane technologies 1096 for micro-, ultra- and nanofiltration.1097,1098 The elaboration of relevant membrane processes requires new advanced materials, among which mention should be made of metal-containing nanoparticles, carbon nanomaterials, zeolites and polymer materials. Water treatment membranes are now being developed on the basis of nanocellulose,¹⁰⁹⁹⁻¹¹⁰¹ carbon nanotubes in a polymer matrix,^{1102,1103} metal nanoparticles in a polymer matrix.^{1104,1105} Dendrimers and highly branched polymers,^{1106,1107} molecularly imprinted polymers (MIPs)¹¹⁰⁸⁻¹¹¹⁰ and other materials ^{1111,1112} are also considered to be promising for water treatment.

13.2.1. Molecularly imprinted polymers

The concept of molecular imprinting for the design of water treatment materials to remove organic pollutants is based on formation of so-called imprints of the template molecules of pollutants. As a result, MIPs are able to specifically (complementarily), selectively and efficiently recognize and covalently or non-covalently bind the molecules of the imprinted organic pollutants (Fig. 67). The issue concerning the manufacture, properties and various applications of MIPs are considered in a number of reviews.^{1109,1113–1115} The progress in the development of MIPs can be evaluated by considering the number of publications retrieved from Web of Science in response to the query molecularly imprinted polymer: 269 papers were published in 2006, 828 papers appeared in 2015, and more than 1200 papers appeared in 2022.

Non-covalent imprinting is most popular because of the relative ease of implementation and versatility. Here the key role belongs to the selection of the functional monomer that form associates with the functional groups of the template molecule *via* ionic or hydrogen bond, $\pi - \pi$ contacts, hydrophobic interactions, etc. The most promising functional monomers are, for example, methacrylic, acrylic, itaconic, p-vinylbenzoic, 2-trifluoromethylacrylic and 2-acrylamido-2-methyl-1-propanesulfonic acids. Apart from these functional monomers, some monomers less prone to form associates are used. Among such monomers, most popular are 4-vinylpyridine, vinylimidazole, aminostyrene, N,Ndiethylaminoethyl methacrylate, 2-hydroxyethyl methacrylate, N-vinylpyrrolidone and acrylamide. These monomers provide control over the thermodynamic compatibility of MIPs with the medium in which they are synthesized and used for water treatment to remove organic pollutants. Combining various functional monomers for the formation of MIPs based on non-covalent contacts leads to the most efficient recognition and binding of organic molecules, because the imprint is most complementary to the template molecule.

The efficiency of MIPs for water treatment to remove organic pollutants is due to the fact that the imprint is preserved with time both in the absence of external impacts and under the action of elevated temperature, mechanical stress, osmotic pressure, irradiation, etc. The key role in this aspect is played by the cross-linking monomer, which fixes the imprint of the template in the polymer during the synthesis of MIPs via the formation of a cross-linked structure, which ensures the mechanical strength and a decrease in the MIP ability for swelling, melting and deformation at temperatures above the glass transition temperature. However, a superfluous content of the crosslinking monomer leads to a decrease in the imprinting efficiency, since the number of formed imprints decreases. The optimal content of the cross-linking monomer usually corresponds to a 3-7-fold molar excess of the cross-linking monomer over the functional monomer.¹¹¹⁶ A lower excess of the cross-linking monomer gives rise to MIPs in which the imprints of template molecules are located too closely to one another and can even overlap, which disrupts their complementarity and decreases the MIP selectivity and efficiency. Ethylene glycol dimethacrylate, trimethylolpropane trimethacrylate, divinylbenzene, N,N'-methylene-bisacrylamide, *etc.* are widely used as cross-linking monomers.

The efficiency of MIPs is considerably affected by the medium in which they are synthesized. The solvent can influence, first, the morphology of the polymer matrix (the presence of meso- and macropores) and, second, the strength of interaction between the template molecule and functional monomers, thus changing both the shape of the imprint and functional group accessibility and proximity to the molecular imprint surface . The solvents used most often in the synthesis of MIPs include acetonitrile, chloroform, toluene, N,N-dimethylformamide, methanol, tetrahydrofuran and dichloroethane. The efficiency of prepared MIPs depends, first of all, on the solvent polarity. When water is treated to remove organic pollutants, the effect of water as a highly polar solvent is great; for example it can disturb the equilibrium between organic pollutant molecules bound to the imprint and pollutant free molecules in the aqueous solution. This fact should be borne in mind while choosing functional and cross-linking monomers to increase the efficiency of MIPs.

The most frequently used MIP production processes are free radical polymerization, ionic polymerization, polycondensation and polyaddition, electropolymerization and oxidative polymerization. The main requirement to these processes are high conversion of the monomers under conditions favourable for specific interactions between the functional monomer and the template molecule. Free radical polymerization is used most widely due to the wide choice of vinyl(idene) monomers, moderate requirements to the special purification of monomers and solvents and initiating systems that operate at room temperature (UV and visible light initiation, 1117, 1118 initiation by γ -radiation¹¹¹⁹) or at moderate temperatures. Furthermore, an additional benefit of this method for obtaining MIPs is the development of reversible deactivation radical polymerization, which produces polymers with a narrow molecularweight distribution and, in the case of copolymerization, gives compositionally uniform copolymers with fine-tuned macromolecular design,^{1120,1121} which is necessary for providing highly specific interaction between the imprint and an organic molecule. Meanwhile, copolymerization with cross-linking comonomers, which follows a clearly microheterogeneous mechanism under usual conditions, involves a lower degree of microsyneresis when occurs in the living polymerization mode; this allows the preparation of cross-



Figure 67. Conceptual chart of the preparation of molecular-imprinted polymers and their use to remove organic pollutants from water.

linked polymers with a more uniform morphology at the microlevel.¹¹²² This increases the capacity and efficiency of MIPs for the recognition of the molecules of organic pollutants.

Molecular imprinted polymers with an extensive specific surface area are developed for highly efficient removal of organic pollutants. The traditional approach involves the formation of porous and mesoporous polymers, which can be obtained in different ways,^{1123,1124} in particular, in the presence of non-polymerizable low-molecular-weight 1125 and high-molecular-weight porogens.1126 Mesoporous MIPs can be utilized as monolithic membranes or microparticles obtained by grinding of monolithic samples. An alternative approach is based on the formation of polymer nano- and microspheres formed upon precipitation,1127 suspension,1128 emulsion or miniemulsion polymerization.1129 These nano- and microspheres of polymers are characterized by a narrow size distribution and can also have a mesoporous morphology. A promising approach is the fabrication of (nano)composite materials in which MIP are integrated.¹¹³⁰

As examples, consider several particular results on the development of MIPs for the recognition and binding of organic pollutants. Li et al.¹¹³¹ obtained MIP based on oleic acid and divinylbenzene by inverse microemulsion polymerization; the maximum adsorption capacity of the product towards 2,4-dichlorophenol was 183.8 mg g^{-1} . Reversible addition-fragmentation chain transfer precipitation polymerization was used 1132 to obtain MIP imprinted with 2,4dichlorophenoxyacetic acid, which showed 25-45% higher maximum capacity than non-impregnated analogues. High efficiency was found for MIPs based on acrylamide and glycidyl methacrylate copolymers;1133 in the formation of molecular imprints complementary to 2,4-dinitrophenol, they increased the maximum sorption capacity from 41.5 to 138.9 mg g^{-1} . For the removal of polycyclic aromatic hvdrocarbons (benzanthracene, benzopyrene, dibenzopyrene, etc.) using polymer nanoparticles based on methacrylic



Figure 68. Basic interrelated factors that should be considered to develop MIP for a particular imprinted organic pollutant.

acid and trimethylolpropane trimethacrylate, the adsorption capacity increased after molecular imprinting from 119 to 687 mg g⁻¹ (Ref. 1134). It is evident that molecular imprinting considerably increases the efficiency of polymer materials for removal of organic pollutants from water.

It is noteworthy that the development of MIPs is a multidisciplinary problem that should be addressed taking account of a lot of factors (Fig. 68). Solution of such a multidisciplinary problem requires a comprehensive approach including both fundamental and applied research.

13.2.2. Microgels

By microgels are traditionally meant solvent-swollen polymer particles of a network architecture with sizes from tens of nanometres to a few micrometres.¹¹³⁵ These macromolecular entities combine the properties of polymers and colloidal particles. Owing to their structure, microgels swell in good solvents and thus become deformable (soft), porous and colloidally stable, which is typical of polymers in good solvents. Conversely, in poor solvents, microgels collapse, and in this state they displace most of the solvent from the bulk of the network and behave as solid colloids, including the capability for aggregation. Also, microgels are known for their high surface activity: upon adsorption at the interface, the networks are distorted and flattened, and the surface tension decreases. This points to an analogy between microgels and surfactants.¹¹³⁶ Of special interest are polymer particles sensitive to changes in the medium in which they dissolved. In particular, water-soluble microgels can change the degree of swelling (and, hence, the permeability and deformability) depending on external stimuli such as temperature and pH changes.¹¹³⁷ The above properties characterize microgels as unique high-molecular-weight compounds possessing a high potential for practical applications in various fields, one of the fields being the removal of organic compounds, metal ions and other pollutants from water.¹¹³⁸ In this case, benefits of microgels are the possibility of catalytic neutralization of the collected material and the possibility of reuse. This part of the review describes examples of successful application of stimulussensitive microgels as water-soluble sorbents.

13.2.2.1. Chemical structure

The responsiveness of a polymer network to external stimuli depends on the polymer composition (Fig. 69). The most frequently encountered type of microgels are temperatureresponsive particles based on N-isopropylacrylamide (NIPA), which swell in water at temperatures below the volume phase transition temperature (VPTT), amounting to ~33 °C.¹¹³⁹⁻¹¹⁴³ This feature is due to the presence of hydrophilic and hydrophobic groups in the network units: the hydrophilic groups are hydrogen-bonded to water, while hydrophobic interactions of insoluble groups increase with temperature rise. Other examples of temperature-responsive monomers are N-isopropylmethacrylamide (NIPMA) with a higher VPTT (~45 °C)¹¹⁴⁴⁻¹¹⁴⁶ and a NIPA isomer, N-n-propylacrylamide (NNPA) with a lower VPTT (~23 $^\circ\text{C}).^{1147,\,1148}$ The incorporation of comonomers with functional groups into microgels during the synthesis gives multiresponsive microgels. The swelling ratio and response to the main stimulus for this material differ from those for homopolymer networks. For example, VPTT of amphiphilic microgels decreases depending on the proportion of the hydrophobic comonomer.1145,1149 Conversely, an increase in VPTT can also be attained by incorporation of



Cationic

monomers forming the basis of water-soluble stimuli-responsive microgels.

charged comonomers (anionic^{1139-1141,1144,1150} or cationic^{1143,1151}). The electrostatic repulsion between the like charges would result in additional extension of the polymer network subchains, and the microgels would become responsive to solution pH and ionic strength. For example, the polymers containing acrylic acid (AA) monomers swell at $pH \ge 5$,¹¹⁴¹ while those containing 1-vinylimidazole monomer swell at $pH \leq 4$.¹¹⁴³ Mention should also be made of the possibility of obtaining water-soluble particles containing biodegradable cellulose,¹¹⁵² β-cyclodextrin¹¹⁵³ or chitosan¹¹⁵⁴ macromolecules. Finally, it is possible to incorporate inorganic metal nanoparticles, 1147, 1149, 1155, 1156 oxide nanoparticles 1150, 1151 or minerals 1157, 1158 into the polymer networks. This gives hybrid microgels possessing high capacity for absorption of metal ions, which serve as catalytic sites, or responding to an external magnetic field (apart from the main stimulus).^{1150, 1151}

13.2.2.2. Removal of pollutants

The efficiency of application of microgels of a definite composition depends on the type of water pollutants, the main of which are heavy metal ions (mercury, lead, cadmium, zinc and their compounds), dyes (first of all, azo dyes) and other organic compounds dissociating in water (ionic surfactants, phenols, *etc.*).¹¹³⁸ The electrostatic repulsion between the ion or molecule and a charged group of the polymer network is the driving force for the pollutant removal. Anionic polymer microgels were reported to

(see ^{1139, 1145, 1146, 1153, 1156}). Cu^{2+} Pb^{2+} absorb (see $^{1145, 1153, 1159}$), Cd²⁺ (see $^{1145, 1153}$), Co²⁺ (see 1146) and Cr³⁺ ions¹¹⁴⁵ and cationic dyes: safranin,¹¹⁴⁰ brilliant green,¹¹⁴⁰ brilliant cresyl blue,¹¹⁴⁰ methylene blue¹¹⁴⁴ and rhodamines.^{1144, 1150} The networks with cationic groups are able to absorb AsO₄³⁻ anions,¹¹⁵¹ orange II dye molecules,¹¹⁴³ and also anionic surfactants,¹¹⁶⁰ nitrophenols¹¹⁶¹ and humic acids.¹¹⁶² The hybrid microgels containing nanoparticles of the mineral attapulgite can, in addition, collect Zn^{2+} and Ni²⁺ ions.^{1157,1158} The uptake of the networks directly depends on the content of charged groups (the higher the charge, the greater the amount of pollutant that can be captured),^{1140,1159} their chemical structure (e.g., microgels containing AA monomers capture lead ions more efficiently than ions of other metals)^{1145, 1153, 1157, 1158} and pH of the medium (the anionic and cationic groups are activated at high and low pH, respectively).1143,1144 Another mechanism of absorption may be due to the hydrophobic interactions, which are enhanced in temperature-responsive microgels as the temperature is raised. This allows one to conduct absorption of charged molecules by both neutral networks¹¹⁶³ and likely charged networks. The latter fact was demonstrated for microgels based on NIPA and AA and also based on NIPMA and AA in the removal of anionic dyes, orange II^{1141,1142} and Congo red,¹¹³⁸ respectively. In addition, hydrophobic interactions are the key factors responsible for the absorption of oil and oil

products by water-insoluble (and non-responsive) micro-gels.^{1164, 1165}

13.2.2.3. Multiple use

Apart from the absorption of pollutants, an important aspect is the collection of microgels after treatment and the possibility of reuse. The simplest method is flocculation, which takes place on heating of temperature-responsive networks 1141, 1142, 1159 or spontaneously as the substance is being absorbed by polyelectrolyte networks.^{1151, 1157, 1158} In this case, the sorbent can be readily separated from the aqueous medium. In addition, magnetically responsive composite particles can be collected by applying an external magnetic field; therefore, they can be used in open water areas (however, it should be borne in mind that the uptake rate somewhat decreases compared to fully polymer analogues).^{1161, 1162} A pollutant can be extracted from microgels by swelling in a solvent upon decrease in the temperature ¹¹⁴² or change in the pH,¹¹⁵¹ while the networks can be reused. For example, multiple use (five absorption-release cycles) was demonstrated for both anionic microgels (using the orange II dye)^{1141,1142} and cationic microgels (using AsO₄³⁻ ions).¹¹⁵¹ Meanwhile, for composite networks with the mineral attapulgite nanoparticles, the efficiency of removal of Pb2+ and Cu2+ ions from water virtually did not change after 10 cycles; the networks containing Fe₃O₄ nanoparticles were shown to be applicable five times for removal of various phenols from water.1161

13.2.2.4. Catalytic neutralization

Apart from being used as sorbents, water-soluble microgels can be used for the manufacture of green catalytic systems 1166-1168 for the conversion of the absorbed pollutants. In most cases, these systems are aqueous solutions with composite particles made of responsive polymer networks and metal nanoparticles (mainly, of noble metals).1147-1149,1155,1156,1166,1169,1170 Examples of conversion of aromatic compounds using composite microgels include the following processes: reduction of 4-nitrophenol to 4-aminophenol with gold,^{1166,1170} silver,^{1147,1149,1170} platinum¹¹⁵⁶ and palladium¹¹⁴⁸ nanoparticles; reduction of nitrobenzene to aniline with silver nanoparticles;1149 oxidation of benzyl alcohol to benzaldehyde with gold nanoparticles.¹¹⁶⁹ Organic pollutants can also be degraded, which was shown for dyes: Congo red,¹¹⁷⁰ methylene blue,¹¹⁷⁰ methyl orange¹¹⁵⁵ and eosin H.¹¹⁵⁵ The catalytic activity correlates with the absorption capacity of the polymer network, which in turn depends on various factors (see above) and can be controlled by an external stimulus.

Thus, stimuli-responsive microgels are promising candidates for cleaning of water areas, which was confirmed by numerous laboratory studies. The extensive practical use of network particles could be facilitated by solving a number of relevant issues that currently exist. First of all, it is necessary to arrange a large-scale production of microgels with a controlled internal structure; one can hope that this would benefit from the active development of microfluidics.^{1171,1172} One more task is to provide multiple use of microgels for scavenging of oil and oil products, because repeated use of a non-responsive sorbent can be difficult.1165 This problem should be addressed by choosing networks readily soluble in oil (for example, networks based on N-vinylcaprolactam 1166-1168, 1173) and with water solubility varying in reponse to external stimuli. Finally, one more task is to collect the microgel sorbent with the

absorbed pollutant on open water areas. This problem can be addressed by using composite particles responsive to external magnetic field.^{1161,1162} Generally, it can be expected that the high research interest in responsive colloidal networks and their undoubted practical potential would serve as the base for wide use of polymer microgels in various industrial branches to improve their environmental friendliness.

13.3. Biologically active water-soluble synthetic polymers for biomedical purposes

The progress in the field of water-soluble polymers also involves a highly important application of these systems, namely, the design of polymer materials for medical purposes. Pressing problems of biology and medicine initiated the appearance of the chemistry of biomedical polymers. Recent research in this area has been focused, first, on modification of known drug substances in order to improve their therapeutic properties, provide targeted delivery to the biotarget (organ), and, second, on the search for new macromolecules possessing their own biological activity and simulating the functioning of biopolymers.

The synthesis of structurally diverse macromolecules and in-depth study of their properties revealed a broad range of biological activity, manifested at the molecular and cellular levels and at the whole-body level.

Using the accumulated knowledge on the control of synthesis methods, molecular weight characteristics, chemical structure and supramolecular structure of macromolecules, it is possible to solve particular biomedical problems and fabricate polymer systems with targeted biological action. It should be noted that the biological activity of most synthetic polymers is caused by their macromolecular nature and exists only at the polymer level.¹¹⁷⁴ Watersoluble polymers provide unique opportunities for the design of polyfunctional biologically active systems and delivery systems for the targeted therapy and diagnosis.^{1175–1178}

The current coronavirus pandemic stimulates the search for effective antiviral compounds that would not be toxic to the host cells. Since viral infection is often accompanied by a bacterial infection, macromolecular systems possessing combined (antimicrobial and antiviral) biological activity may be useful for prevention of viral and bacterial infections.

The most promising compounds that deserve close attention are membranotropic polymers, polyelectrolytes (charged macromolecular compounds — polycations and polyanions) and water-soluble macromolecular chelating agents.

13.3.1. Membrane-active polymers

Membrane-active polymers are water-soluble macromolecular systems that actively interact with biological membranes and change their barrier functions. Among these polymers, the most interesting macromolecules are cationic polyelectrolytes with positive charge both in the backbone and in the side chain. The main biological target of these polymers in a bacterial cell is the cytoplasmic membrane.^{1177, 1179} The decisive factor is the electrostatic interaction of cationic polyelectrolytes with proteins and phospholipids in the cell membrane. This entails neutralization of the charge of the membrane and the whole cell. This changes the packing density of lipid chains, which results in increase in their mobility, decrease in the barrier functions, increase in the membrane permeability, escape of lowmolecular-weight metabolites from the cell and cell death. Polycations have a broad-spectrum antimicrobial activity; they suppress the growth of gram-positive and gram-negative bacteria, viruses and fungi when present in concentrations of $5-100 \ \mu g \ m L^{-1}$ (Ref. 1177).

The molecular weight distribution of ionogenic groups along the chain and type of counter-ion do not affect the antimicrobial activity of polycations. It is determined by the content of ionogenic groups in the macromolecule.¹¹⁸⁰ Owing to the presence of membrane activity, cationic polyelectrolytes can be used to increase the cellular uptake of low-molecular-weight (*e.g.*, antibiotics)¹¹⁷⁷ and highmolecular-weight (*e.g.*, DNA)¹¹⁸¹ target compounds, and in biotechnological processes, this can be used to improve the release of target compounds from cells.

The targeted delivery of the foreign genetic material to specified intact cells is a promising method for solving problems of biotechnology, molecular biology and gene therapy. The construction of gene vectors for the targeted delivery of genetic material is associated with the necessity of compacting the rigid DNA molecule bearing negatively charged phosphate groups. The gene vector must penetrate through cell membrane and act as a viral particle carrying modified DNA. Viral particles are not actively used due to immunological reactions and the risk of pathological cell transformation.

An alternative method is to form IPECs of DNA with synthetic polycations in which DNA is compacted and protected from protonation, the action of nucleases and other unfavourable factors of the environment. Interpolyelectrolyte complexes with DNA are obtained using various polycations: polylysine, polyethyleneimine, polyvinyl-polyallylamine, polyaminoacrylates 1182-1184 and so on. Note that DNA-polycation complexes are stable, they have a lower cytotoxicity than the polycation and a higher degree of transfection (up to 90% and more) of eukaryotic cells. Hence, these complexes could serve as promising vectors for DNA transfection. Since polycations act on several targets in the cell (destabilize the cytoplasmic membrane and suppress the activity of bacterial enzymes located in the membrane), bacterial resistance to them is formed more rarely than the antibiotic resistance. Therefore, in recent years these polymers have attracted increasing attention 1178, 1185, 1186 as potential agents for the prevention and treatment of diseases caused by bacterial and viral infections and as compounds with a broad spectrum of biological activity. Thus, polycations based on aminoacrylates were found to have desensitization and reparative effects on bone and soft tissues 1187 and also antitumour and immunomodulatory activities.¹¹⁸⁸ In addition, water-soluble copolymers of dimethylaminoethyl methacrylate with N-methyl-N-vinylacetamide and methacryloylaminoglucose reduce Ag⁺ to Ag⁰ and form water-soluble dispersions of silver nanoparticles active against H1N1 influenza virus and against gram-negative (E. coli) and gram-positive (Staph. aureus) bacteria.1189

13.3.2. Macromolecular chelating agents and polyanions

Membrane activity is also inherent in water-soluble polymers containing carboxyl, phosphonic, sulfo and various chelating groups.^{1177,1190–1192} These polymers are able to bind metal ions not only in common solvents, but also in biological objects. For example, ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA), a known low-molecular-weight chelating agent, binds up to 40% of Mg^{2+} ions and up to 80% of Ca^{2+} ions present in the bacterial cell wall and cytoplasmic membrane, thus increasing their permeability. A polymeric EDTA analogue, copolymer of *N*-vinylpyrrolidone and *N*-vinyliminodiacetic acid, also binds Ca^{2+} , Sr^{2+} , Zn^{2+} , Mg^{2+} and other cations,¹¹⁹⁰ changes the cell membrane permeability and increases the sensitivity of antibiotic resistant bacterial strains to, for example, tetracycline, penicillins, *etc.*

Water-soluble methacryloylacetone – *N*-vinylpyrrolidone copolymers, in which more than 90% of β -dicarbonyl groups are enolyzed in aqueous solutions, form stable complexes with Ca²⁺, Y³⁺, Zn²⁺, Mg²⁺ and Cu²⁺ ions.¹¹⁹¹ These copolymers are able to break the Mg²⁺ and Ca²⁺ complexes with the phospholipids, proteins and lipopolysaccharides of cell membranes; they increase the membrane permeability and promote, for example, the chlortetracycline transport across the cell membrane (the bacterial resistance to this antibiotic is caused by decreasing membrane permeability).¹¹⁷⁷

13.3.3. Interferon-inducing and antiviral activity of polyanions

The antiviral activity of polyanions was first discovered by Regelson¹¹⁹³ for ethylene copolymers with maleic anhydride. Later, it was ascertained that preliminary administration of solutions of *N*-vinylpyrrolidone copolymer with crotonic acid or with maleic anhydride prevents the death of mice infected with tick-borne encephalitis and louping ill viruses.^{1194,1195} Furthermore, these polymers protected animals from infection with Aleutian mink disease and influenza viruses. The antiviral activity was found for polyacrylic and polymethacrylic acids and copolymers of divinyl ether with maleic anhydride (DIVEMA). It was found that DIVEMA and *N*-vinylpyrrolidone–maleic anhydride copolymers increase the resistance of experimental animals to various types of viruses (in particular, rabies virus).

The antiviral action of the polyanions upon intraperitoneal administration is associated with induction of interferon synthesis (which usually takes place in response to a viral infection) in the animal body.¹¹⁹⁶

The antiviral and interferon-inducing activities was found for polymer derivatives of para-aminosalicylic acid (PAS), which is used as an antituberculosis drug.¹¹⁹⁷ The authors studied the effect of the chemical structure of the polymer derivatives of PAS such as the type of the polymer-PAS bond (azomethine, amide) on the degree of protection of mice infected with tick-borne encephalitis virus and on the interferon concentration in the blood after intraperitoneal administration of 1% aqueous solutions of polymers. The survival rate of animals reached 35-45%, and interferon was detected in blood for 48 h. High interferon-inducing activity was found for DIVEMA copolymer after subcutaneous, intraperitoneal and intragastric administration.¹¹⁹⁸ Irrespective of the way of administration, interferon appeared in blood after 6-12 h and reached the maximum concentration within 24 h to 4 days. Analogous results were obtained 1199 when interferon synthesis was induced by complexes of acridone acetic acid and N-alkyl-vinylamine copolymer with N-vinylpyrrolidone. The highest level of interferon was observed 8 h after the intraperitoneal administration of the complexes. These data indicate that these polymers (unlike low-molecular-weight analogues) are capable of delayed and remote induction of

interferon synthesis; hence, these compounds can be used for the prevention of diseases caused by viral infections.

13.3.4. Anti-adhesion and virucidal action of polyanions

A viral infection starts with non-specific adsorption of viral particles (virions) on the membrane of the host cell. This is followed by receptor-mediated adsorption, which leads to penetration of the virus into the cell. In the early stage, the key role is played by electrostatic interactions and effects related to the structure of viral receptors. The pH dependence of the adsorption of the virus (reovirus) on the charged membranes was demonstrated under model conditions, and it was shown that in neutral media the viral particles are negatively charged.¹²⁰⁰ Detailed electron microscopic examination of the effect of the nature of synthetic polycation, polyanion and neutral polymer on the adsorption of some viruses dangerous for humans was used to study the adsorption of viral particles 1201 on the polymer layers deposited on a substrate. The chosen water-soluble polymers included macromolecules carrying an NH₂ group (polyvinylallylamine), a tertiary amino group and a quaternary ammonium group (polydimethylaminoethyl methacrylate and its ammonium salts), a neutral polymer (polyvinylpyrrolidone) and a polyanion (polyacrylic acid). In sorption experiments, the virions of rotavirus, adenovirus, astrovirus and two types of caliciviruses were used.

Polyvinylpyrrolidone did not significantly affect the adsorption of these virions; polyacrylic acid substantially decreased the adsorption for all viruses, which attested to their negative charge (except for adenovirus); and all polycations efficiently adsorbed astroviruses, rotaviruses and caliciviruses. The viruses showed the highest affinity to polyallylamine, in which the NH₂ group was more remote from the backbone. Zerda *et al.*¹²⁰⁰ gave an explanation for the high antiviral activities of synthetic and natural sulfocontaining polymers: dextran sulfate, heparin, polyvinyl

sulfonate, polystyrene sulfonate, polyvinyl alcohol sulfate, $etc.^{1180, 1202, 1203}$ It is believed 1204 that these polymers inhibit the interaction stage of viral particle with the glycosamino-glycan receptor of the target cell.

Among the variety of sulfo-containing polymers, considerable attention of researches is paid to polystyrene sulfonate, which has a broad range of biological action.¹²⁰⁵ It is active against influenza, herpes and rabies viruses, coronavirus, HIV, etc. It also shows an antibacterial activity against gonococci, chlamydia, and some other bacteria and is considered as a promising prophylactic agent against pathogenic microorganisms that cause sexually transmitted diseases. However, homopolymers (sodium polystyrene sulfonate, sodium polyvinyl sulfonate, poly-2-acrylamido-2methylpropanesulfonic acid) have relatively high cytotoxicity, with IC₅₀ being $6-18 \ \mu g \ mL^{-1}$, and this restricts their application. Therefore, a number of sulfo-containing copolymers with hydrophilic monomers such as N-vinylpyrrolidone, acrylamide, etc. were synthesized and showed a lower toxicity.1206,1207

With the goal of extending the range of biological activity and obtaining a macromolecular system combining antiviral and antibacterial activities, carboxyl- and sulfocontaining polymer carriers, namely, copolymers of crotonic acid and sodium vinyl sulfonate with *N*-vinylpyrrolidone and 2-acrylamino-2-methylpropanesulfonic acid, were used to obtain complexes with cationic surfactants (Katapol bactericidal agent), antibiotic gentamycin and antiviral agent Arbidol. The products were active against the herpes and influenza viruses and had a broad spectrum of antimicrobial activity and low toxicity.^{1207, 1208}

The interaction of Katapol with some viruses was studied by transmission electron microscopy; it was found that Katapol nanoparticles (Figs 70, 71) actively interact with the virion envelope. For 0.05-0.2% concentration of Katapol,100% destruction of influenza, parainfluenza,



Figure 70. TEM images of the interaction of Katapol nanoparticles with the virions of influenza virus (C = 0.005%) (a), coronavirus (C = 0.05%) (b), rotavirus (C = 0.05%) (c). Figure a shows fusion of Katapol nanoparticles with the virion envelope (400 000 magnification); Figure b depicts the destruction of surface receptors and disruption of the integrity of the virion envelope (250 000 magnification). The photographs from the personal archive of E.F.Panarin were presented at the symposium Improvement of the Preparedness for Influenza Pandemic based on the Civilian Military Cooperation (A.K.Sirotkin, I.S.Kochetkova, E.F.Panarin. *Proceedings of the Symposium.* St. Petersburg, 2003, p. 59).



Figure 71. TEM images of the coronavirus (*a*) and rotavirus (*b*) virions (250 000 magnification). The photographs from the personal archive of E.F.Panarin were presented at the symposium Improvement of the Preparedness for Influenza Pandemic based on the Civilian Military Cooperation (A.K.Sirotkin, I.S.Kochetkova, E.F.Panarin. *Proceedings of the Symposium*. St. Petersburg, 2003, p. 58).

coronavirus and rotavirus virions was observed. Higher stability of coronavirus compared to influenza virus is probably attributable to the fact that the lipid envelope of the coronavirus is stabilized by special M-protein, which pierces the lipid bilayer. Adenoviruses are more resistant to Katapol. When the concentration of the bactericidal agent was 0.5%, up to 50% of the virions were damaged.

The synthesized polymers with polyfunctional biological activities are of interest for comprehensive investigation and for development of agents for preventing viral and bacterial infections.

13.3.5. Metallopolymer complexes for bioimaging. Luminescence imaging

Luminescence methods of imaging have long been used in biological and medical studies. Organic chromophores are mainly used as luminescent materials. However, they do not provide stable luminescence, show a broad (>100 nm) luminescence band and decolorize. Therefore, in the last decades, a lot of attention has been paid to luminescent lanthanide coordination complexes.^{1209,1210}

Lanthanides (Eu, Tb, Sm, etc.) possess unique optical properties: monochromatic emission (5-10 nm-wide luminescence bands), stability of emission over time, invariable positions of luminescence bands irrespective of the solvent and ligand nature and long excited state lifetimes $(\sim 1000 \text{ } \mu\text{s})$.¹²¹¹ Lanthanide metallopolymer complexes are of particular interest for bioimaging; unlike low-molecularweight complexes, they ensure a longer residence time and increased concentrations of the lanthanide in the animal body and are suitable for studying the pharmacokinetics and localization of biologically active compounds in tissues and cells. Metallopolymer complexes for bioimaging should be water-soluble, stable, non-toxic and compatible with fluids and tissues of the living body, and the polymers should have chelating groups in the molecule and provide the transfer of electron excitation energy from the triplet level to the resonance level of the lanthanide ion.

Macromolecular ligands appropriate for binding lanthanide ions are carboxyl-containing polymers such as homoand copolymers of acrylic, methacrylic and maleic acids with hydrophilic monomers (*N*-vinylamides, vinyl saccharides), polymer derivatives of aminobenzoic and salicylic acids, β -dicarbonyl compounds, *etc.*^{1212,1213} The most widely used chelating agents are iminodiacetic acid derivatives: 1,4,7,10-tetraazacyclodecane-1,4,7,10-tetraacetate (DOTA) and diethylenetriaminepentaacetic acid (DTPA), which were approved for clinical use.¹²¹⁴ Using DOTA, intensely luminescent iridium complexes were synthesized and were incorporated into temperature-responsive poly(isopropyl methacrylamide).¹²¹⁵

The introduction of a relatively high amount of DOTA or its derivatives into a macromolecule is associated with certain experimental difficulties caused by steric restrictions generated by the structure of the acid. Therefore, research and development of methods for the synthesis of new macromolecular chelating agents with different structure of the chelating groups have been carried out in recent years. Salicylaldehyde-based macromolecular chelating agents, which formed stable complexes with Ga³⁺, were prepared using reactions in *N*-vinylpyrrolidone copolymer backbones.^{1216,1217} It was shown that water-soluble copolymers of *N*-vinylpyrrolidone with *N*-allyl-*N*-aminosalicylic acid with a low content of chelating units form stable complexes with Eu³⁺ in the presence of thenoyltrifluoro-

acetone as a low-molecular-weight co-ligand; the intensity of luminescence of these complexes in aqueous solutions was 1-1.5 orders of magnitude higher than the luminescence intensity of a single Eu³⁺ complex. The observed effect of the polymer is probably caused by hydrophobization of the macromolecular coil upon the replacement of water molecules in the solvate environment of the chelating group by Eu³⁺ ions. The metallopolymer complexes were stable in solutions simulating biological fluids.

DOTA analogues, water-soluble macromolecular chelating agents with a high content of chelating groups, were prepared by copolymerization of N-vinylpyrrolidone with a vinyl monomer, 2-methacryloyloxyethyliminodiacetic acid. Their reactions with Eu³⁺ and Gd³⁺ ions were studied in dilute aqueous solutions by luminescence-based techniques.¹²¹⁸ It was shown that transition from the monomer to polymer complex, and from monoligand to a biligand complex is accompanied by 25-fold enhancement of luminescence. Moreover, the formation of bimetallic complex upon partial replacement of Eu³⁺ ions by Gd³⁺ further enhances luminescence by up to two times, which is indicative of the efficiency of $Gd^{3+} \rightarrow Eu^{3+}$ energy transfer. Thus, the formation of biligand and bimetallic complexes with variable composition and structure offers the possibility of controlling the luminescence intensity. Gadolinium is a paramagnetic metal used in contrast agents for magnetic resonance imaging; therefore, the Eu³⁺ and Gd³⁺ bimetallic polymer complexes are of interest as non-invasive agents for the synchronous optical and magnetic resonance imaging.

 β -Dicarbonyl compounds can serve as promising ligands. Water-soluble polymers containing β -dicarbonyl groups can be prepared both by reactions in hydroxylcontaining polymer chains and by copolymerization of, for example, methacryloylacetone with hydrophilic comonomers.^{1176, 1191}

Nekrasova *et al.*¹²¹⁹ described the synthesis of a watersoluble terpolymer of methacryloylacetone with 2-deoxy-*N*methacryloylaminoglucose and methacrylic acid and the formation conditions and luminescence of the polymer complex with Tb³⁺ ions. Using luminescence-based techniques, the complex formation was studied in aqueous solutions at low concentrations of reactants close to the concentrations used in nuclear medicine ($\sim 10^{-5}$ mol.%). The luminescent Tb³⁺ polymer complexes were stable in the presence of NaCl and CaCl₂; therefore, these complexes are promising for the preparation of luminescence agents for the therapy of cancer using radioactive ¹⁶¹Tb.

13.3.6. Metallopolymer complexes for magnetic resonance imaging Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) is a non-invasive diagnostic technique, which is highly important for medicine, as it allows 3D imaging of soft tissues with a submillimetre resolution in real time.¹²¹⁴ The method is based on the electromagnetic excitation of water molecules. The MRI signal is determined by longitudinal (T_1) and transverse (T_2) relaxation times of the hydrogen nucleus. Paramagnetic metals (Gd, Mn) are used to accelerate the proton relaxation and amplify the signal, in order to increase the resolution for the imaging of tissues with high contents of water. However, Gd³⁺ and Mn²⁺ are toxic; therefore, stable chelates of these metals are used in clinical practice.1220 However, due to relatively low molecular weight, these contrast agents are rapidly eliminated from the bloodstream and excreted from the body, and it is difficult to distinguish between the damaged and healthy tissues using these compounds. Presumably, this drawback could be overcome by inclusion of contrast agents into a macromolecular system. This results in increasing relaxivity, resolving power and circulation time and enables early diagnosis. Furthermore, polymers and nanostructured materials can penetrate into solid tumours and be retained there. An early example of application of water-soluble polymers as carriers for contrast agents was reported by Sieving et al,¹²²¹ who described the addition of DOTA and DTPA to polylysine by covalent bonds; the resulting conjugate was additionally modified with human serum albumin. The relaxivity of the final derivative was 2-3 times higher than that of the starting low-molecular-weight analogues (Gd-DOTA and Gd-DTPA). Modification of polyglutamic acid,1222 homo- and graft-copolymers of various amino acids and proteins was reported; no effect of the molecular weight on the relaxivity was noted, but the relaxivity changed upon variation of the distance between chelating units.

Apart from the modification of polypeptides, binding of Gd^{3+} complexes to polysaccharides was performed. For example, dextran was functionalized with the Gd-DTPA complex with a high binding efficiency (40–50%). The dextran derivative that showed a 1.5–2-fold increase in the relaxivity compared to Gd-DTPA was non-toxic and had some more advantages over other Gd-DTPA polymer derivatives for blood imaging.

A promising polymer carrier for Gd^{3+} complexes is PEG. This flexible-chain polyether possessing anti-aggregation properties serves as the base for the plasma substitute called Polyoxidin. Linear, graft and block copolymers of EG with DTPA and polyhistidine were synthesized.¹²²³ These copolymers showed long circulation times in blood and liver accumulation. Of obvious interest are polyamides based on DTPA and diamines containing 4, 5, 10 and 12 methylene units between the NH₂ groups.^{1198–1200} These polymers showed enhanced relaxivity, which increased with increasing length of the hydrophobic block.¹²²⁴

Magnetic resonance imaging contrast agents were developed on the basis of water-soluble carbochain polymers. Polyhydroxypropyl methacrylate was modified with Gd-DTPA complex using reactions in polymer chains and the distribution of the product in rats was studied experimentally.¹²²⁵ Monomeric methacrylamide DTPA derivatives and iminodiacetic acid analogues were synthesized and subjected to radical copolymerization, which resulted in the synthesis of water-soluble copolymers 1226 with hydroxypropylmethacrylamide and N-methacryloyltyrosinamide, which were retained in the tissue of rats for more than 14 days. Modification of DOTA with N-vinylpyrrolidone, acrolein and vinylamine copolymers 1227 yielded water-soluble polymers with increased content of Gd³⁺ and Mn²⁺ chelate units; relaxivity of these polymers considerably exceeded the relaxivity of clinically used low-molecularweight analogues.

Dendrimers and dendronized polymers are also actively used, in addition to linear polymers, in the studies dealing with macromolecular contrast agents. The interest in dendrimers is due to the fact that quite a few chelate groups can be introduced into one macromolecule and, hence, the density of these groups and the gadolinium content can be considerably increased. For example, sixth generation polyamidoamine dendrimer (PAMAM) contained 170 chelate groups, demonstrated high relaxivity per Gd³⁺ ion and was considerably superior to commercial Magnevist (Gd-DTPA) regarding the blood circulation time of experimental animals.¹²²⁸ Second to fourth generation dendrimers were completely renally excreted, fifth and sixth generation dendrimers were excreted by both the kidneys and the liver, and seventh to tenth generation dendrimers were excreted only by the liver.

Polylysine dendrimers functionalized with DTPA, chelates and additionally with vectors (galactose fragments) to make them specific to hepatocytes were synthesized.¹²²⁹ The dendrimer containing galactose residues showed a higher signal intensity. Polymers in which two polylysine dendrons are linked by a polyethylene glycol bridge appear to be promising.¹²³⁰

Along with dendrimers incorporating Gd-DTPA and Gd-DOTA chelates in the outer sphere, dendrimers containing gadolinium chelates in the middle of the molecule were prepared; this improved the relaxivity by substantial retardation of the random molecular rotation.^{1231, 1232} A considerable improvement of the relaxivity was attained by adding dendrons loaded with Gd³⁺ and Mn²⁺ DOTA complexes to linear *N*-vinylpyrrolidone copolymers.¹²²⁷

The above studies extended the views on MRI contrast agents. Methods for the synthesis of new macromolecular systems were developed and data on their safety and distribution in living organisms were obtained. The accumulated knowledge opens up the way for developing new effective pharmaceuticals based on hydrophilic polymers that will combine the properties of diagnostic and therapeutic agents and provide bioimaging based on luminescent, paramagnetic and radioactive ions.

14. Conclusion

To complete the screening of the promising trends in the development of polymer chemistry and the most important applications of polymers, although the choice of issues and areas was mosaic and arbitrary, we can state that polymer science is on the ascending branch of development and that the mosaic is evolving into a clear pattern. The superfluous politicization of the problem of Earth's pollution with polymer waste brought about certain bias in the choice of the most promising methods for polymer synthesis and processing; however, this could not divert the polymer science from the avenues such as making the synthesis more facile, minimizing the costs, reduction of energy consumption, focus on renewable raw materials, transition to water-soluble systems and generation of new ideas and approaches to the processing and recycling of polymer waste. The search for architecturally complex macromolecules continues, with the major line of research being shifted from the design of spectacular structures such as dense molecular brushes and dendrimers to the demonstration of unique properties inherent only in these structures and to increase in the efficiency of synthesis and also (as demanded by the present time) to the development of effective ways for their taking to pieces. Whereas earlier such studies were considered to be a chemical trick,1233 in our review this approach is followed as a promising trend in the field of macromolecular systems of a complex architecture.

The border between the extrusion of polymer blends and highly efficient methods for the synthesis of new materials is blurred. The multi-layer extrusion processing makes it possible to obtain new polymer systems based on a limited set of components manufactured on a large-scale. Preliminary results attest to enormous prospects of this, seemingly purely engineering solution unrelated to high technology or sophisticated synthetic approaches. The combinatorial prospects of this approach are just endless and involve almost no scaling problem, *i.e.*, transition from laboratory experiments to industrial production does not require intermediate stages. The only limiting factor is the paradigm of polymer waste disposal that implies preliminary very costly waste separation. Here we cast doubt on this obsolete ideology. The development of a biomimetic approach to polymer waste management would not only give rise to more efficient recycling options, but also break down numerous barriers that stand in the way of this key trend.

3D printing processes are being actively developed as a pass to the future demonstrating waste minimization in the manufacture of finished products. This high-technology field is represented in the review by examples most complicated for implementation such as the production of hightemperature polyimides and silicone materials. The lack of waste is especially important for these classes of polymers and can counterbalance the use of more intricate and expensive equipment. The review demonstrates the obvious progress in the development of options for the manufacture of precursors and curing conditions during printing; this ensures a steady growth of the production of diverse materials for 3D printing.

The idea to replace all sorts of polymers produced on a large-scale by their biodegradable analogues, which has persisted in recent years, has also changed. Although this idea is utopian, it is convenient from the standpoint of consumer society, as there is no need to take care of collection and disposal of trash: the nature is supposed to do it by itself. However, a long service life and a long period of complete degradation are, most often, interrelated. Therefore, fine tuning of these characteristics is very costly and inefficient. A certain role in the perception of the low efficiency of self-degradation belongs to the fact that the most harmless degradation products of even efficiently decomposed polymer systems contain carbon dioxide, with all ensuing consequences for the environment.

Although slowly, manufacturers start to understand that the efforts should be concentrated on the design of collection and effective recycling of polymer waste rather than on the self-destruction. Therefore, the use of biodegradable systems is redirected from the manufacture of packaging to the applications where the collection of waste is just impossible. For example, biodegradable polymers are included in formulations used in agriculture, while in medicine these polymers are used to produce drug delivery systems and implantation materials based on various smart systems, including those with precisely controlled biodegradation time. Finally, most important is the polymer waste recycling to composites for the aquatic construction. In these composites, finely crushed polymer waste serves as an inert filler encapsulated in an inorganic or hybrid binder.

This idea seems promising regarding simplification of the processing and safe storage of polymer waste in the bottomless depth of the global ocean; moreover, this implies a useful function of construction of underwater structures and artificial islands. The research along this line, feasibility calculations and particular practical solutions are the obvious milestones of the near future, which would change the ideology of polymer waste management and, after this, would eliminate the bottlenecks in the main research avenues into polymers and environmentally benign polymer technologies.

This review was prepared in the framework of the program of large research projects of the Ministry of Education and Science and the Russian Academy of Sciences; the team of authors includes members of the Scientific Council for Macromolecular Compounds of RAS. The review was financially supported by the Ministry of Science and Higher Education of the Russian Federation (agreement no. 075-15-2020-794).

15. List of abbreviations and symbols

The following abbreviations and symbols were used:

3,3'-BZP — 3,3'-diaminobenzophenone,

AA — acrylic acid,

ABS plastic —acrylonitrile, butadiene and styrene copolymer,

ATRP — atom transfer radical polymerization,

APTMAC — (3-acrylamidopropyl)trimethylammonium chloride,

BAPB — 4,4'-bis(4'-aminophenoxy)diphenyl,

BZP —3,3',4,4'-benzophenonetetracarboxylic acid dianhydride,

CFRP — carbon fibre reinforced plastic,

CPE — copolyester,

DFT — density functional theory,

DDFT — dynamic density functional theory,

DGEBA — diglycidyl ether of bisphenol A,

DETDA — diethyltoluenediamine,

DIVEMA — copolymer of maleic anhydride with divinyl ether,

DIW — direct ink writing,

DLP — digital light processing,

DMT — dimethyl terephthalate,

DOTA — 1,4,7,10-tetraazacyclodecane-1,4,7,10-tetraacetic acid,

DPD — dissipative particle dynamics,

DSC — differential scanning calorimetry,

DTPA — diethylenetriaminepentaacetic acid,

E — Young modulus,

 $E_{\rm ent}$ — entanglement plateau modulus of linear polymers,

EG — ethylene glycol,

EDTA — ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid.

EVOH — ethylene vinyl alcohol,

FDM — fused deposition modelling,

FEM — finite element method,

FRE — freedom reversible embedding,

 G_{term} — modulus of elasticity in the final viscoelastic shear zone,

GFRP — glass fibre reinforced plastic,

GRIN — gradient index,

h — unit vector in the shear direction,

HPC — hydroxypropyl cellulose,

IPEC — interpolyelectrolyte complex,

ItA — itaconic acid,

L — droplet length,

LC — liquid crystal,

LGS — lignosulfonates,

 $M_{\rm e}$ — molecular weight between the entanglements,

 $M_{\rm n}$ — number-average molecular weight,

MAA — methacrylic acid,

MC — Monte Carlo method,

MD — molecular dynamics,

MIP — molecular imprinted polymer, MRI — magnetic resonance imaging, MS — multiscale simulation, MXD6 — poly-meta-xylyleneadipamide, $n_{\rm sc}$ — side-chain degree of polymerization, $n_{\rm g}$ — degree of polymerization of the backbone between the grafted chains, $n_{\rm x}$ — degree of polymerization of the backbone between the cross-links, Na-CMC — sodium carboxymethyl cellulose, NIPA — N-isopropylacrylamide, NIPMA — *N*-isopropylmethacrylamide, NNPA — *N*-n-propylacrylamide, NP — nanoparticle, ODPA — 3,3',4,4'-diphenyl oxide tetracarboxylic dianhydride, P_{bulk} — bulk film permeability, $P_{\text{confined layer}}$ — oxygen permeability, P(r) —pressure gradient, PA — polyamide, PAA — polyacrylic acid, PALE - physically active liquid environment, PAM — polyacrylamide, PAMAM — polyamidoamine dendrimer, PAS — para- aminosalicylic acid, PBAT — polybutylene adipate terephthalate, PBS — polybutylene succinate, PC — polycarbonate, PCFF — polymer consistent force field, PCL — polycaprolactone, PDMS — polydimethylsiloxane, PEEK — poly(ether ether ketone), PEGDA — polyethyleneglycol diacrylate, PEG — polyethylene glycol, PE — polyethylene, PEO — polyethylene oxide, PET — polyethylene terephthalate, PGMA — polyglycidyl methacrylate, PHA — polyhydroxyalkanoate, PIB — polyisobutylene, PI — polyimide, PLA - polylactide, PMAA — polymethacrylic acid, PMI systems — polymer-monomer-initiator systems, PMMA — polymethyl methacrylate, PNB — polynorbornene, PNC — polymer nanocomposite, PP — polypropylene, PRISM — polymer reference interaction site model, PS — polystyrene, PSF — polysulfone, PtBMA — poly(*tert*-butyl methacrylate), PTFE — polytetrafluoroethylene, PVA — polyvinyl alcohol, PVC — polyvinyl chloride, PVDF — polyvinylidene fluoride, OM — quantum mechanics, r — drop radius, R — universal gas constant, R — 1,3-bis(3,4-dicarboxyphenoxy)benzene dianhydride, RCM — ring closing metathesis depolymerization, ReaxFF — reactive force field, SC — supercritical, SCF — supercritical fluid,

SFE — supercritical fluid extraction, SLA — stereolithography, SLS — selective laser sintering, T — absolute temperature, $T_{\rm g}$ — glass transition temperature, $T_{\rm m}$ — melting point. TBAF — tetrabutylammonium, TGA — thermogravimetric analysis, TPA — terephthalic acid, V — droplet volume, VI — 1-vinylimidazole, VFF — valence force field, VPTT — volume phase transition temperature, WBPU — waterborne polyurethane, XG — xanthane gum, $\alpha_{\rm s}$ — surface tension, γ – deformation, $\dot{\gamma}$ — shear rate, δ — gap between the coaxial cylinders, λ — uniaxial elongation, η^* — complex viscosity, η — viscosity, $\eta_{\rm m}$ — matrix viscosity, $\eta_{\rm d}$ — dispersed phase viscosity, λ_{\max} — elongation at break, v — fluid flow velocity at point z, ρ — density, σ — shear stress, $\sigma_{\rm s}$ — stress above which the forced rubber-like state occurs, $\sigma_{\rm true}$ — true stress. Ω — cone rotation speed. 16. Information about authors O.V.Arzhakova. PhD in Chemistry, Associate Professor. E-mail: arzhakova8888@gmail.com Current research interests: polymer composites, polymerization, polymers, polypropylene, polyethylene, polymer recycling, polymer materials, nanomaterials M.S.Arzhakov. Doctor of Chemical Sciences, Professor. E-mail: msa60@yandex.ru Current research interests: polymers, polymer composite materials, coatings. E.R.Badamshina. Doctor of Chemical Sciences, Professor, Deputy Director. E-mail: badamsh@icp.ac.ru Current research interests: physical chemistry of polymers, synthesis and characterization of polymers and oligomers, polymer composite materials including nanocomposites, energetic materials. E.B.Bryuzgina. PhD in Chemistry, Associate Professor. E-mail: cher-ekaterina18@yandex.ru Current research interests: polysaccharides, chitosan, cellulose, polymer reactions. E.V.Bryuzgin. Doctor of Chemistry, Associate Professor. E-mail: bryuzgin_e@mail.ru Current research interests: surface modification, graft polymers, control of lyophilic properties, wetting. A.V.Bystrova. PhD in Physics and Mathematics, Senior Researcher. E-mail: bvstrova@ispm.ru Current research interests: new polymeric forms, structure-property

relationships, supramolecular organization, hybrid organic-inorganic structures, dendrimers, hyperbranched polymers; multiarm stars, macromolecular brushes.

S.N.Chvalun. Corresponding Member of RAS, Professor, Head of the Department of Biopolymers, Chief Researcher.

E-mail: s-chvalun@yandex.ru

Current research interests: polymers, polymer materials, nanomaterials, biomedical polymers, crystal structure, X-ray diffraction, thermal

analysis, polymer rheology.

A.L.Didenko. Candidate of Chemical Sciences, Senior Researcher. E-mail: vanilin72@yandex.ru

Current research interests: synthesis of heat-resistant polymers. **I.V.Elmanovich**. PhD in Physics and Mathematics, Senior Researcher.

E-mail: elmanovich@polly.phys.msu.ru

Current research interests: supercritical fluids, aerogels, chemical recycling of plastic.

M.O.Gallyamov. Doctor of Physical and Mathematical Sciences, Professor.

E-mail: glm@spm.phys.msu.ru

Current research interests: high-resolution microscopy, supercritical fluids, polymer physics, materials for electrochemical current sources, materials for biomedicine.

R.A.Gumerov. Candidate of Technical Sciences, Candidate of Physical and Mathematical Sciences, Senior Researcher.

E-mail: gumerov@polly.phys.msu.ru

Current research interests: computer simulation of soft media.

S.V.Karpov. PhD in Chemistry, Senior Researcher.

E-mail: svkarpov@icp.ac.ru

Current research interests: macromolecular compounds, polyurethanes, polymerization kinetics, quantum chemical modelling.

A.R.Khokhlov. Full Member of RAS, Doctor of Physical and Mathematical Sciences, Head of laboratory, Head of department.

E-mail: khokhlov@polly.phys.msu.ru

Current research interests: polymer science, coil–globule transitions in macromolecular systems, liquid-crystal ordering in polymer solutions, biomimetic approaches to the preparation and modification of synthetic copolymers, associating polymers, polyelectrolytes, polymer gels, polymeric fluids for oil production, modification of polymeric materials upon swelling in supercritical fluids, catalysts immobilized in polymer matrices, polymer membranes for fuel cells, sustainable polymers.

P.V.Komarov. Doctor of Physical and Mathematical Sciences, Associate Professor, Leading Researcher.

E-mail: pv_komarov@mail.ru

Current research interests: multiscale computer simulations of molecular systems.

V.G.Kulichikhin. Corresponding Member of RAS, Doctor of Chemical Sciences, Professor, Head of Polymer Rheology Laboratory. E-mail: klch@ips.ac.ru

Current research interests: physical and colloid chemistry of polymers, rheology, chemical fibres, composites and nanocomposites based on polymer matrices.

S.A.Kurochkin. PhD in Chemistry, Leading Researcher.

E-mail: oligo@icp.ac.ru

Current research interests: radical polymerization, cross-linked and branched polymers, polymer micro- and nanogels, mathematical modelling of polymerization processes;

S.V.Larin. PhD in Physics and Mathematics, Deputy Director for Science. E-mail: selarin@macro.ru

Current research interests: computer simulation of complex polymer systems, polymer composite materials and polymer nanosystems. **A.Ya.Malkin**. Doctor of Physical and Mathematical Sciences, Professor, Chief Researcher.

E-mail: alex_malkin@mig.phys.msu.ru

Current research interests: physics and mechanics of polymers, rheology of polymers, colloids, nanocomposites and other multicomponent systems, polymer processing, problems of instability and phase transitions. **S.A.Milenin.** PhD in Chemistry, Senior Researcher.

E-mail: cephe@mail.ru

Current research interests: polysiloxanes, polyorganosiloxanes, polydimethylsiloxanes, functional polymers, dendrimers, polycarbosilanes, polysilsesquioxanes.

A.M.Muzafarov. Full Member of RAS, Doctor of Chemical Sciences, Chief Researcher.

E-mail: aziz@ispm.ru

Current research interests: new polymer forms, structure – property relationships, supramolecular organization, organosilicon compounds, hybrid organic-inorganic structures, active medium concept, organo-alkoxysilanes, chlorine-free processes, functional metallosiloxanes, dendrimers, hyperbranched polymers, nanogels, multiarm stars, macromolecular brushes.

V.S.Molchanov. PhD in Polymer Physics and Chemistry, Senior Researcher.

E-mail: molchan@polly.phys.msu.ru

Current research interests: physical chemistry of complex polymer and colloid systems.

A.V.Navrotskiy. Doctor of Chemistry, Professor, Rector.

E-mail: navrotskiy@vstu.ru

Current research interests: radical polymerization, grafting polymerization, surface modification, polyelectrolytes, polysaccharides, adaptive polymers.

I.A.Novakov. Full Member of RAS, Doctor of Chemistry, Professor, President.

E-mail: president@vstu.ru

Current research interests: synthesis and modification of polymers, polymer materials with special properties, polyimides, polyelectrolytes, biologically active compounds.

E.F.Panarin. Corresponding Member of RAS, Doctor of Chemical Sciences, Professor.

E-mail: panarin@hq.macro.ru

Current research interests: macromolecular chemistry, chemical transformations of polymers, biomedical polymers.

I.G.Panova. PhD in Polymer Chemistry, Leading Researcher at the Faculty of Chemistry, MSU.

E-mail: igpan@mail.ru

Current research interests: water-soluble polymers including polyelectrolytes, colloids, liposomes, proteins, interpolymer and polymer colloidal complexes, membrane transport, biocidal polymer films and coatings, biomedical applications of polymers, polymeric stabilizers for soil and ground.

O.E.Philippova. Doctor of Physical and Mathematical Sciences, Professor.

E-mail: phil@polly.phys.msu.ru

Current research interests: physical chemistry of associating polymers, polymer gels, viscoelastic surfactants.

I.I.Potemkin. Professor of RAS, Doctor of Physical and Mathematical Sciences, Professor.

E-mail: igor@polly.phys.msu.ru

Current research interests: soft matter physics.

V.M.Svetlichny. Doctor of Chemical Sciences, Head of Laboratory, Chief Researcher.

E-mail: valsvet@hq.macro.ru

Current research interests: synthesis of heat-resistant polymers

N.G.Sedush. PhD in Physics and Mathematics Senior Researcher. E-mail: nsedush@gmail.com

Current research interests: synthesis, structure and properties of biodegradable polymers, biomedical materials, shape-memory polymer materials, drug delivery systems.

O.A.Serenko. Doctor of Chemical Sciences, Chief Researcher.

E-mail: o_serenko@ineos.ac.ru

Current research interests: filled polymers, polymer nanocomposites, structure – property relationships.

S.S.Sheiko. Doctor of Sciences, Head of Laboratory.

E-mail: sheikornf @gmail.com

Current research interests: tissue-adaptive materials, design of programmable materials, reconfigurable polymer networks.

A.V.Shibaev. PhD in Physics and Mathematics Associate Professor. E-mail: shibaev@polly.phys.msu.ru

Current research interests: physical chemistry of double polymer networks, polymer nanocomposites and viscoelastic surfactants.

S.A.Uspenskii. PhD in Chemistry, Senior Researcher.

E-mail: s.a.uspenskii@mail.ru; uspenskii@ispm.ru

Current research interests: synthesis and applications of biopolymers, nano- and micro-particles, composites and pharmaceuticals.

G.V.Vaganov. Candidate of Technical Sciences, Senior Researcher. E-mail: glebvaganov@mail.ru

Current research interests: polymer composite materials, 3D printing. **V.V.Vasilevskaya**. Doctor of Physical and Mathematical Sciences,

Professor, Head of Laboratory.

E-mail: vvvas@polly.phys.msu.ru

Current research interests: statistical physics of polymers, computer simulation, self-organization, amphiphilic macromolecules, bio-degradable polymers.

A.Yu.Vdovichenko. PhD in Physics and Mathematics, Researcher. E-mail: vdartem@ispm.ru

Current research interests: polymers, polymer nanocomposites, thin films, gas-phase polymerization, dielectric spectroscopy.

V.E.Yudin. Doctor of Physical and Mathematical Sciences, Head of Laboratory, Chief Researcher.

E-mail: yudinve@gmail.com

Current research interests: polymer and composite mechanics

A.V.Yakimansky. Doctor of Chemical Sciences, Director.

E-mail: yakimansky@yahoo.com

Current research interests: living polymerization kinetics, quantum chemical calculations, reaction mechanisms, controlled radical polymerization, polymer brushes, polymer nanocomposites, chromophoreand luminophore-containing polymers, metal-polymer complexes, nonlinear optical properties, electrooptics, electroluminescence, conjugated polymers, copolyfluorenes, organic light-emitting diodes, polymer solar cells.

A.A.Yaroslavov. Corresponding Member of RAS, Doctor of Sciences in Polymer Chemistry, Professor, Head of the Polymer Science Division at the Faculty of Chemistry, MSU.

E-mail: yaroslav@belozersky.msu.ru

Current research interests: water-soluble polymers including polyelectrolytes, colloids, liposomes, proteins, interpolymer and polymer colloidal complexes, membrane transport, biocidal polymer films and coatings, biomedical applications of polymers, polymeric stabilizers for soil and ground.

V.V.Zefirov. PhD in Physics and Mathematics, Researcher.

E-mail: vv.zefirov@physics.msu.ru

Current research interests: synthesis of nanoparticles and aerogels in SC CO₂, polymer membranes for chemical power sources, depolymerization, catalysis.

17. References

- 1. A.A.Berlin. Polym.Sci., Ser. C, 63 (1), 1 (2021)
- Z.Li, A.Olah, E.Baer. Prog. Polym. Sci., 102, 101210 (2020)
 S.S.Sheiko, B.S.Sumerlin, K.Matyjaszewski. Prog. Polym.
- Sci., 33, 759 (2008) 4 H Lee L Pietrasik S S Sheiko K Matviaszewski Prog
- H.Lee, J.Pietrasik, S.S.Sheiko, K.Matyjaszewski. Prog. Polym. Sci., 35, 24 (2010)
- 5. J.Rzayev. ACS Macro Lett., 1, 1146 (2012)
- J.Yuan, K.Müller, A.H.E.Matyjaszewski, S.S.Sheiko. In Polym. Sci. A Compr. Ref. Vol. 6 Macromol. Archit. Soft Nano-objects. (Eds M. Moeller, K.Matyjaszewski). (Elsevier, 2012). P. 199
- R.Verduzco, X.Li, S.L.Pesek, G.E.Stein. Chem. Soc. Rev., 44, 2405 (2015)
- A.L.Liberman-Martin, C.K.Chu, R.H.Grubbs. Macromol. Rapid Commun., 38, 1700058 (2017)
- G.Xie, M.R.Martinez, M.Olszewski, S.S.Sheiko, K.Matyjaszewski. *Biomacromolecules*, 20, 27 (2019)
- M.Maw, B.J.Morgan, E.Dashtimoghadam, Y.Tian, E.A.Bersenev, A.V.Maryasevskaya, D.A.Ivanov, K.Matyjaszewski, A.V.Dobrynin, S.S.Sheiko. *Macromolecules*, 55, 2940 (2022)
- W.F.M.Daniel, J.Burdyńska, M.Vatankhah-Varnoosfaderani, K.Matyjaszewski, J.Paturej, M.Rubinstein, A.V.Dobrynin, S.S.Sheiko. *Nat. Mater.*, 15, 183 (2016)
- M.Vatankhah-Varnosfaderani, W.F.M.Daniel, M.H.Everhart, A.A.Pandya, H.Liang, K.Matyjaszewski, A.V.Dobrynin, S.S.Sheiko. *Nature (London)*, 549, 497 (2017)
- A.N.Keith, C.Clair, A.Lallam, E.A.Bersenev, D.A.Ivanov, Y.Tian, A.V.Dobrynin, S.S.Sheiko. *Macromolecules*, 53, 9306 (2020)
- V.G.Reynolds, S.Mukherjee, R.Xie, A.E.Levi, A.Atassi, T.Uchiyama, H.Wang, M.L.Chabinyc, C.M.Bates. *Mater. Horizons*, 7, 181 (2020)
- D.Zhang, E.Dashtimoghadam, F.Fahimipour, X.Hu, Q.Li, E.A.Bersenev, D.A.Ivanov, M.Vatankhah-Varnoosfaderani, S.S.Sheiko. *Adv. Mater.*, **32**, 2005314 (2020)

- S.S.Sheiko, F.Vashahi, B.J.Morgan, M.Maw,
 E.Dashtimoghadam, F.Fahimipour, M.Jacobs, A.N.Keith,
 M.Vatankhah-Varnosfaderani, A.V.Dobrynin. ACS Cent. Sci., 8, 845 (2022)
- M.Vatankhah-Varnosfaderani, A.N.Keith, Y.Cong, H.Liang, M.Rosenthal, M.Sztucki, C.Clair, S.Magonov, D.A.Ivanov, A.V.Dobrynin, S.S.Sheiko. *Science*, **359**, 1509 (2018)
- S.S.Sheiko, M.H.Everhart, A.V.Dobrynin, M.Vatankhah-Varnosfaderani. *Sci. Robot.*, 3, eaat7175 (2018)
- A.N.Keith, M.Vatankhah-Varnosfaderani, C.Clair, F.Fahimipour, E.Dashtimoghadam, A.Lallam, M.Sztucki, D.A.Ivanov, H.Liang, A.V.Dobrynin, S.S.Sheiko. ACS Cent. Sci., 6, 413 (2020)
- E.Dashtimoghadam, F.Fahimipour, A.N.Keith, F.Vashahi, P.Popryadukhin, M.Vatankhah-Varnosfaderani, S.S.Sheiko. *Nat. Commun.*, 12, 3961 (2021)
- J.Zhang, A.N.Keith, S.S.Sheiko, X.Wang, Z.Wang. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces, 13, 3278 (2021)
- J.L.Self, C.S.Sample, A.E.Levi, K.Li, R.Xie, J.R.de Alaniz, C.M.Bates. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 142, 7567 (2020)
- F.Vashahi, M.R.Martinez, E.Dashtimoghadam,
 F.Fahimipour, A.N.Keith, E.A.Bersenev, D.A.Ivanov,
 E.B.Zhulina, P.Popryadukhin, K.Matyjaszewski,
 M.Vatankhah-Varnosfaderani, S.S.Sheiko. Sci. Adv., 8,
 eabm2469 (2022)
- R.Xie, S.Mukherjee, A.E.Levi, V.G.Reynolds, H.Wang, M.L.Chabinyc, C.M.Bates. *Sci. Adv.*, 6, eabc6900 (2020)
- 25. P.Shieh, H.V.-T.Nguyen, J.A.Johnson. Nat. Chem., 11, 1124 (2019)
- Y.Shi, X.Wang, R.W. Graff, W.A.Phillip, H.Gao. J. Polym. Sci. Part A Polym. Chem., 53, 239 (2015)
- T.K.Meleshko, I.V.Ivanov, A.V.Kashina, N.N.Bogorad, M.A.Simonova, N.V.Zakharova, A.P.Filippov, A.V.Yakimansky. *Polym. Sci. Ser. B*, 60, 35 (2018)
- L.S.Litvinova, A.V.Kashina, T.K.Meleshko, A.V.Yakimansky. Int. J. Polym. Anal. Charact., 20, 645 (2015)
- A.V.Yakimansky, T.K.Meleshko, D.M.Ilgach, M.A.Bauman, T.D.Anan'eva, L.G.Klapshina, S.A.Lermontova, I.V.Balalaeva, W.E.Douglas. J. Polym. Sci. Part A Polym. Chem., 51, 4267 (2013)
- A.Krasova, E.Belyaeva, E.Tarabukina, A.Filippov, T.Meleshko, D.Ilgach, N.Bogorad, A.Yakimansky. *Macromol. Symp.*, **316**, 32 (2012)
- I.V.Ivanov, T.K.Meleshko, A.V.Kashina, A.V.Yakimansky. Russ. Chem. Rev., 88, 1248 (2019)
- Y.Xiao, H.Li, B.Zhang, Z.Cheng, Y.Li, X.Tan, K.Zhang. Macromolecules, 51, 2899 (2018)
- W.J.Neary, T.A.Isais, J.G.Kennemur. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 141, 14220 (2019)
- J.Paturej, L.Kuban, A.Milchev, V.G.Rostiashvili, T.A.Vilgis. Macromol. Symp., 316, 112 (2012)
- I.Park, A.Nese, J.Pietrasik, K.Matyjaszewski, S.S.Sheiko. J. Mater. Chem., 21, 8448 (2011)
- A.Milchev, J.Paturej, V.G.Rostiashvili, T.A.Vilgis. Macromolecules, 44, 3981 (2011)
- N.V.Lebedeva, F.C.Sun, H.Lee, K.Matyjaszewski, S.S.Sheiko. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 130, 4228 (2008)
- P.Deshmukh, M.Gopinadhan, Y.Choo, S.Ahn,
 P.W.Majewski, S.Y.Yoon, O.Bakajin, M.Elimelech,
 C.O.Osuji, R.M.Kasi. ACS Macro Lett., 3, 462 (2014)
- M.Gebler, A.J.M.Schoot Uiterkamp, C.Visser. *Energy Policy*, 74, 158 (2014)
- 40. Ribeiro, Matos, Jacinto, Salman, Cardeal, Carvalho, Godina, Peças. Sustainability, **12**, 929 (2020)
- C.Rauwendaal. *Polymer Extrusion*. (5th Ed.). (München: Carl Hanser Verlag GmbH & Co. KG, 2014)
- 42. Patent US 3051453 (1962)
- P.E.Neerincx, R.P.J.Denteneer, S.Peelen, H.E.H.Meijer. Macromol. Mater. Eng., 296, 349 (2011)

- 44. H.Chen, J.-C.Meiners. Appl. Phys. Lett., 84, 2193 (2004)
- P.E.Neerincx, M.Hofmann, O.Gorodetskyi, K.Feldman, J.Vermant, H.E.H.Meijer. *Polym. Eng. Sci.*, 61, 1257 (2021)
- P.E.Neerincx, H.E.H.Meijer. *Macromol. Chem. Phys.*, 214, 188 (2013)
- R.Schaller, P.E.Neerincx, H.E.H.Meijer. *Macromol. Mater.* Eng., 302, 1600524 (2017)
- J.Wang, D.Langhe, M.Ponting, G.E.Wnek, L.T.J.Korley, E.Baer. *Polymer*, 55, 673 (2014)
- 49. A.Boyd, M.Ponting, H.Fein. Adv. Opt. Technol., 4, 429 (2015)
- C.Ryan, C.W. Christenson, B.Valle, A.Saini, J.Lott, J.Johnson, D.Schiraldi, C.Weder, E.Baer, K.D.Singer, J.Shan. Adv. Mater., 24, 5222 (2012)
- T.Kazmierczak, H.Song, A.Hiltner, E.Baer. Macromol. Rapid Commun., 28, 2210 (2007)
- G.Mao, J.Andrews, M.Crescimanno, K.D.Singer, E.Baer, A.Hiltner, H.Song, B.Shakya. Opt. Mater. Express, 1, 108 (2011)
- S.N.Dhoot, B.D.Freeman, M.E.Stewart. In *Encycl. Polym. Sci. Technol.* (Hoboken, NJ, USA: John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 2002). P. 198
- 54. J.M.Carr, D.S.Langhe, M.T.Ponting, A.Hiltner, E.Baer. J. Mater. Res., 27, 1326 (2012)
- 55. H.Wang, J.K.Keum, A.Hiltner, E.Baer, B.Freeman, A.Rozanski, A.Galeski. *Science*, **323**, 757 (2009)
- S.Fernandes Nassar, N.Delpouve, C.Sollogoub, A.Guinault, G.Stoclet, G.Régnier, S.Domenek. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces, 12, 9953 (2020)
- M.Gupta, Y.Lin, T.Deans, E.Baer, A.Hiltner, D.A.Schiraldi. Macromolecules, 43, 4230 (2010)
- M.Ponting, Y.Lin, J.K.Keum, A.Hiltner, E.Baer. Macromolecules, 43, 8619 (2010)
- H.Wang, J.K.Keum, A.Hiltner, E.Baer. Macromolecules, 42, 7055 (2009)
- T.Messin, S.Marais, N.Follain, A.Guinault, V.Gaucher, N.Delpouve, C.Sollogoub. J. Memb. Sci., 598, 117777 (2020)
- G.Miquelard-Garnier, A.Guinault, D.Fromonteil, S.Delalande, C.Sollogoub. *Polymer*, 54, 4290 (2013)
- T.Messin, N.Follain, A.Guinault, G.Miquelard-Garnier, C.Sollogoub, N.Delpouve, V.Gaucher, S.Marais. J. Memb. Sci., 525, 135 (2017)
- X.Li, G.B.Mckenna, G.Miquelard-Garnier, A.Guinault, C.Sollogoub, G.Regnier, A.Rozanski. *Polymer*, 55, 248 (2014)
- B.Lu, K.Lamnawar, A.Maazouz, G.Sudre. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces, 10, 29019 (2018)
- M.Shi, Y.Zhang, L.Cheng, Z.Jiao, W.Yang, J.Tan, Y.Ding. J. Phys. Chem. B, 120, 10018 (2016)
- K.-I.Jo, Y.Oh, B.J.Sung, T.-H.Kim, M.S.Um, W.J.Choi, J.Bang, G.Yuan, S.K.Satija, J.Koo. ACS Macro Lett., 9, 210 (2020)
- 67. R.Y.F.Liu, T.E.Bernal-Lara, A.Hiltner, E.Baer. Macromolecules, 38, 4819 (2005)
- B.Lu, P.Alcouffe, G.Sudre, S.Pruvost, A.Serghei, C.Liu, A.Maazouz, K.Lamnawar. *Macromol. Mater. Eng.*, 305, 2000076 (2020)
- H.Wang, J.K.Keum, A.Hiltner, E.Baer. Macromolecules, 43, 3359 (2010)
- 70. T.Ebeling, A.Hiltner, E.Baer. Polymer, 40, 1525 (1999)
- J.Wang, D.Adami, B.Lu, C.Liu, A.Maazouz, K.Lamnawar. Polymers, 12, 2596 (2020)
- J.Feng, Z.Zhang, A.Bironeau, A.Guinault, G.Miquelard-Garnier, C.Sollogoub, A.Olah, E.Baer. *Polymer*, 143, 19 (2018)
- 73. D.Langhe, M.Ponting. Manufacturing and Novel Applications of Multilayer Polymer Films. (Elsevier, 2016)
- 74. B.Lu, H.Zhang, A.Maazouz, K.Lamnawar. Polymers, 13, 417 (2021)
- A.Aradian, E.Raphaël, P.-G.de Gennes. *Macromolecules*, 33, 9444 (2000)

- 76. P.-G.de Gennes. C.R.Seances Acad. Sci, Ser. B, 291, 219 (1980)
- P.-G.de Gennes. In *Phys. Polym. Surfaces Interfaces*. (Eds I.C.Sanchez, L.E.Fitzpatrick). (London: Manning Publications Co.,1992). P. 55
- 78. K.Kaiser, M.Schmid, M.Schlummer. Recycling, 3, 1 (2017)
- 79. R.Scaffaro, A.Maio, F.Sutera, E.Gulino, M.Morreale. Polymers, 11, 651 (2019)
- A.Folino, A.Karageorgiou, P.S.Calabrò, D.Komilis. Sustainability, 12, 6030 (2020)
- C.H.Günter Beyer. *Reactive Extrusion: Principles and Applications*. (Weinheim, Germany: Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA, 2017)
- R.Ibañez, F.Casteran, C.Argerich, C.Ghnatios, N.Hascoet, A.Ammar, P.Cassagnau, F.Chinesta. *Fluids*, 5, 94 (2020)
- F.Magliozzi, G.Chollet, E.Grau, H.Cramail. ACS Sustain. Chem. Eng., 7, 17282 (2019)
- 84. F.Awaja, D.Pavel. Eur. Polym. J., 41, 1453 (2005)
- 85. S.Schaible, C.Brändli. Chimia (Aarau), 71, 510 (2017)
- P.Cassagnau, V.Bounor-Legaré, B.Vergnes. In Mech. Ind. EDP Sciences, 2019. P. 803
- 87. S.Chen, X.Zhang, M.He, J.Li. J. Mater. Res., 35, 1846 (2020)
- 88. C.Martin. AAPS PharmSciTech, 17, 3 (2016)
- 89. A.Y.Malkin, M.L.Friedman, K.D.Vachaghin,
- G.V.Vinogradov. J. Appl. Polym. Sci., 19, 375 (1975)
 90. M.V.Bachurina, A.V.Kazakov, N.M.Trufanova. PNRPU Mech. Bull., 102 (2014)
- P.D.Anderson, J.Dooley, H.E.H.Meijer. *Appl. Rheol.*, 16, 198 (2006)
- F.Rousset, P.Bourgin, L.I.Palade. In J. Fluids Eng. Trans. ASME. (American Society of Mechanical Engineers Digital Collection, 2006). P. 27
- G.M.Wilson, B.Khomami. J. Nonnewton. Fluid Mech., 45, 355 (1992)
- 94. R.Komuro, S.K.Sukumaran, M.Sugimoto, K.Koyama. *Rheol. Acta*, **53**, 23 (2014)
- G.C.Tzeng, R.H.Chen. Adv. Mater. Process. Technol., 3, 52 (2017)
- 96. K.Lamnawar, A.Maazouz, P.Laure. Int. J. Mater. Form., 1, 763 (2008)
- J.Wang, C.McGinty, R.Reich, V.Finnemeyer, H.Clark, S.Berry, P.Bos. *Materials*, 11, 1195 (2018)
- N.A.Platé, V.G.Kulichikhin, R.V Talroze. Pure Appl. Chem., 63, 925 (1991)
- V.G.Kulichikhin, O.V.Vasil Eva, I.A.Litvinov, E.M.Antipov, I.L.Parsamyan, N.A.Platé. J. Appl. Polym. Sci., 42, 363 (1991)
- H.Mohammadigoushki, S.J.Muller. Soft Matter, 12, 1051 (2016)
- 101. S.M.Fielding. J. Rheol., 60, 821 (2016)
- N.Germann. Curr. Opin. Colloid Interface Sci., 39, 1 (2019)
 P.E.Boukany, S.Q.Wang, S.Ravindranath, L.J.Lee. Soft
- *Matter*, **11**, 8058 (2015) 104. M.Mohagheghi, B.Khomami. J. Rheol., **60**, 861 (2016)
- 105. X.Li, S.-Q.Wang. J. Rheol., 62, 491 (2018)
- 106. V.G.Kulichikhin, E.P.Plotnikova, A.K.Tereshin, A.V.Subbotin, L.A.Tsamalashvili. *Polym. Sci. Ser. C*, 42, 129 (2000)
- 107. A.S.Lodge Elastic Liquids. (London: Academic Press, 1964)
- 108. V.G.Kulichikhin, O.V.Vasil'eva, I.A.Litvinov, I.L.Parsamyan, N.A.Platá. *Makromol. Chemie. Macromol. Symp.*, 38, 173 (1990)
- V.Kulichikhin, E.Plotnikova, A.Subbotin, N.Platé. *Rheol.* Acta, 40, 49 (2001)
- 110. Y.T.Hu. J. Rheol., 54, 1307 (2010)
- 111. S.Lerouge, J.-F.Berret. In Adv. Polym. Sci. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2009. P. 1
- 112. V.Herle, P.Fischer, E.J.Windhab. Langmuir, 21, 9051 (2005)
- 113. S.O.Ilyin, V.G.Kulichikhin, A.Y.Malkin. *Polym. Sci. Ser. A*, 55, 503 (2013)

- 114. M.Cromer, M.C.Villet, G.H.Fredrickson, L.G.Leal. *Phys. Fluids*, **25**, 051703 (2013)
- 115. T.Divoux, M.A.Fardin, S.Manneville, S.Lerouge. Annu. Rev. Fluid Mech., 48, 81 (2016)
- 116. R.N.Al-kaby, J.S.Jayaratne, T.I.Brox, S.L.Codd, J.D.Seymour, J.R.Brown. J. Rheol., 62, 1125 (2018)
- 117. R.L.Moorcroft, S.M.Fielding. Phys. Rev. Lett., 110, 086001 (2013)
- 118. P.Rassolov, H.Mohammadigoushki. J. Rheol., **64**, 1161 (2020)
- V.V.Danilenko. Sintez i Spekanie Almaza Vzryvom. (Synthesis and Sintering of Diamonds by Explosion). (Energoatomizdat, 2003)
- 120. A.S.Simakov. Doctoral Thesis in Physics and Mathematics, Institute of Chemical Physics, Russia Academy of Sciences, Moscow, 2011
- V.V.Karbushev, I.I.Konstantinov, I.L.Parsamyan,
 V.G.Kulichikhin, V.A.Popov, T.F.George. *Adv. Mater. Res.*,
 59, 275 (2008)
- 122. A.V.Semakov, V.G.Kulichikhin. *Polym. Sci. Ser. A*, **51**, 1313 (2009)
- 123. A.V.Semakov, V.G.Kulichikhin, A.Y.Malkin. Adv. Condens. Matter Phys., 2015, 1 (2015)
- 124. A.Y.Malkin, A.V.Semakov, V.G.Kulichikhin. Polym. Sci. Ser. A, 53, 1198 (2011)
- 125. A.Y.Malkin. Adv. Colloid Interface Sci., 290, 102381 (2021)
- 126. S.P.Papkov, V.G.Kulichikhin, V.D.Kalmykova, A.Y.Malkin. J. Polym. Sci. Polym. Phys. Ed., 12, 1753 (1974)
- 127. X.Liu, G.Qi, A.M.G.Park, A.Rodriguez-Gonzalez, A.Enotiadis, W.Pan, V.Kosma, G.D.Fuchs, B.J.Kirby, E.P.Giannelis. *Small*, **15**, 1901666 (2019)
- 128. S.Kajiyama, H.Iwase, M.Nakayama, R.Ichikawa, D.Yamaguchi, H.Seto, T.Kato. *Nanoscale*, **12**, 11468 (2020)
- 129. A.Y.Malkin, V.G.Kulichikhin, M.Y.Polyakova, K.V.Zuev, V.A.Govorov. *Phys. Fluids*, **32**, 073107 (2020)
- P.Davidson, P.Batail, J.C.P.Gabriel, J.Livage, C.Sanchez, C.Bourgaux. Prog. Polym. Sci., 22, 913 (1997)
- V.V.Makarova, M.Y.Tolstykh, S.J.Picken, E.Mendes, V.G.Kulichikhin. *Macromolecules*, 46, 1144 (2013)
- 132. E.G.Gordeev, V.P.Ananikov. Russ. Chem. Rev., 89, 1507 (2020)
- 133. I.Gibson, D.Rosen, B.Stucker. Additive Manufacturing Technologies: 3D Printing, Rapid Prototyping, and Direct Digital Manufacturing, Second Edition. (2nd Ed.). (New York: Springer 2015)
- 134. Y.P.Shaik, J.Schuster, A.Shaik. Open Access Libr. J., 08, e7698 (2021)
- 135. Y.Tao, F.Kong, Z.Li, J.Zhang, X.Zhao, Q.Yin, D.Xing, P.Li. J. Mater. Res. Technol., 15, 4860 (2021)
- I.V.Polyakov, G.V.Vaganov, V.E.Yudin, E.M.Ivan'kova, E.N.Popova, V.Y.Elokhovskii. *Mech. Compos. Mater.*, 54, 33 (2018)
- 137. Q.Chen, Y.Y.Zhang, P.Huang, Y.Q.Li, S.Y.Fu. Compos. Commun., **30**, 101083 (2022)
- 138. S.Dupin, O.Lame, C.Barrès, J.Y.Charmeau. Eur. Polym. J., 48, 1611 (2012)
- 139. M.Vasquez, B.Haworth, N.Hopkinson. Polym. Eng. Sci., 53, 1230 (2013)
- 140. Y.Guo, K.Jiang, D.L.Bourell. Polym. Test., 37, 210 (2014)
- 141. R.D.Goodridge, C.J.Tuck, R.J.M.Hague. Prog. Mater. Sci., 57, 229 (2012)
- 142. S.C.Lao, W.Yong, K.Nguyen, T.J.Moon, J.H.Koo, L.Pilato, G.Wissler. J. Compos. Mater., 44, 2933 (2010)
- 143. W.Zhou, X.Wang, J.Hu, X.Zhu. Int. J. Adv. Manuf. Technol., 69, 901 (2013)
- 144. Y.Shi, Y.Wang, J.Chen, S.Huang. J. Appl. Polym. Sci., 108, 535 (2008)
- 145. Y.Shi, J.Chen, Y.Wang, Z.Li, S.Huang. Proc. Inst. Mech. Eng. Part L. J. Mater. Des. Appl., 221, 37 (2007)

- 146. O.Ghita, E.James, R.Davies, S.Berretta, B.Singh, S.Flint, K.E.Evans. *Mater. Des.*, 61, 124 (2014)
- 147. O.R.Ghita, E.James, R.Trimble, K.E.Evans. J. Mater. Process. Technol., 214, 969 (2014)
- 148. S.Berretta, K.E.Evans, O.Ghita. Eur. Polym. J., 68, 243 (2015)
- 149. M.Schmidt, D.Pohle, T.Rechtenwald. *CIRP Ann.*, **56**, 205 (2007)
- 150. J.Retolaza, K.Gondra, R.Ansola, A.Allue. *Mater. Manuf.* Process., **37**, 1332 (2022)
- L.M.Schönhoff, F.Mayinger, M.Eichberger, E.Reznikova, B.Stawarczyk. J. Mech. Behav. Biomed. Mater., 119, 104544 (2021)
- H.Wu, M.Sulkis, J.Driver, A.Saade-Castillo, A.Thompson, J.H.Koo. Addit. Manuf., 24, 298 (2018)
- X.Feng, J.Liu. In *High Perform. Polym. Their Nanocomposites*. (Hoboken, NJ, USA: John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 2018). P. 149
- 154. D.K.Brandom, G.L.Wilkes. Polymer, 35, 5672 (1994)
- 155. V.Ratta, A.Ayambem, J.E.McGrath, G.L.Wilkes. Polymer, 42, 6173 (2001)
- 156. V.E.Yudin, J.U.Otaigbe, L.T.Drzal, V.M.Svetlichnyi. Adv. Compos. Lett., 15, 137 (2006)
- 157. W.Wang, D.Wang, H.Jia, C.Liu, X.Zhao, C.Chen. J. Appl. Polym. Sci., 127, 4601 (2013)
- 158. X.Pei, G.Chen, J.Liu, X.Fang. Polymer, 56, 229 (2015)
- G.Vaganov, A.Didenko, E.Ivan'kova, E.Popova, V.Yudin, V.Elokhovskii, I.Lasota. J. Mater. Res., 34, 2895 (2019)
- 160. M.V.Brilihart, J.Teverovsky, P.Nagarkar, P.Cebe. MRS Proc., 323, 251 (1993)
- 161. R.-S.Tsai, D.-K.Lee, Y.-C.Liu, H.-B.Tsai. J. Appl. Polym. Sci., 90, 2604 (2003)
- 162. Patent RU 2279452 (2006)
- V.M.Svetlichnyi, V.V.Kudryavtsev. Vysokomol. Soedin. Cep. B, 45, 984 (2003)
- 164. G.V.Vaganov, A.L.Didenko, A.G.Ivanov, E.M.Ivan'kova, V.E.Yudin, I.L.Borisov, A.V.Volkov. J. Phys. Conf. Ser., 1697, 012116 (2020)
- 165. M.Chao. Int. J. Polym. Sci., 2018, 8590567 (2018)
- 166. Patent RU 2094441 (1997)
- 167. G.Vaganov, E.Ivan'kova, A.Didenko, E.Popova, V.Elokhovskiy, I.Kasatkin, V.Yudin. J. Appl. Polym. Sci., 139, e52748 (2022)
- 168. G.Vaganov, A.Didenko, E.Ivan'kova, E.Popova, V.Elokhovskii, A.V.Volkov, I.L.Borisov, V.E.Yudin. Key Eng. Mater., 869, 266 (2020)
- 169. Patent US 2020/0087513 A1 (2020)
- 170. Y.Lv, W.Thomas, R.Chalk, A.Hewitt, S.Singamneni. J. Mater. Res., 35, 3222 (2020)
- 171. S.Berretta, O.Ghita, K.E.Evans. Eur. Polym. J., 59, 218 (2014)
- 172. G.V.Vaganov, E.M.Ivan'kova, A.L.Didenko, E.N.Popova, V.Y.Elokhovsky, V.E.Yudin. J. Phys. Conf. Ser., 1697, 012114 (2020)
- V.E.Yudin, A.G.Kalbin, T.K.Meleshko, A.I.Grigor'ev, G.N.Gubanova, N.N.Bogorad, Y.N.Panov,
 O.F.Pozdnyakov, B.P.Redkov, A.O.Pozdnyakov,
 V.V.Kudryavtsev. *Russ. J. Appl. Chem.*, 74, 1183 (2001)
- 174. G.N.Gubanova, T.K.Meleshko, V.E.Yudin, Y.A.Fadin, Y.P.Kozyrev, V.I.Gofman, A.A.Mikhailov, N.N.Bogorad, A.G.Kalbin, Y.N.Panov, G.N.Fedorova, V.V.Kudryavtsev. *Russ. J. Appl. Chem.*, **76**, 1156 (2003)
- 175. T.Kozior. Teh. Vjesn. Tech. Gaz., 27, 1092 (2020)
- 176. T.A.Kostereva, Y.N.Panov, A.L.Didenko, I.G.Silinskaya, V.M.Svetlichnyi, V.E.Yudin, V.V.Kudryavtsev. *Russ. J. Appl. Chem.*, 77, 1355 (2004)
- 177. V.M.Nazarychev, G.V.Vaganov, S.V.Larin, A.L.Didenko, V.Y.Elokhovskiy, V.M.Svetlichnyi, V.E.Yudin, S.V.Lyulin. *Polymers*, 14, 3154 (2022)
- 178. G.Vaganov, A.Didenko, E.Ivan kova, E.Popova, T.Kuznetsova, I.Kobykhno, V.Yudin. Key Eng. Mater., 822, 208 (2019)
- I.Polyakov, G.Vaganov, A.Didenko, E.Ivan kova, E.Popova, Y.Nashchekina, V.Elokhovskiy, V.Svetlichnyi, V.Yudin. *Polymers*, 14, 3803 (2022)
- 180. B.Narupai, A.Nelson. ACS Macro Lett., 9, 627 (2020)
- 181. Silicon-Containing Polymers: The Science and Technology of Their Synthesis and Applications. (Eds R.G.Jones, W.Ando, C.Julian). (Netherlands; Springer, 2000)
- M.A.Brook. Silicon in Organic, Organometallic and Polymer Chemistry. (John Wiley & Sons, 1999)
- C.He, Z.Li. Silicon Containing Hybrid Copolymers. (Wiley, 2020)
- 184. F.Ganachaud, S.Boileau, B.Boury. Silicon Based Polymers: Advances in Synthesis and Supramolecular Organization. (Netherlands; Springer, 2008)
- 185. K.A.Bezlepkina, S.A.Milenin, N.G.Vasilenko, A.M.Muzafarov. *Polymers*, 14, 2408 (2022)
- 186. D.Rus, M.T.Tolley. *Nature (London)*, **521**, 467 (2015)
- 187. Q.Wang, H.Zhang, Z.Cui, Q.Zhou, X.Shangguan, S.Tian, X.Zhou, G.Cui. Energy Storage Mater., 23, 466 (2019)
- 188. U.Eduok, O.Faye, J.Szpunar. Prog. Org. Coatings, 111, 124 (2017)
- 189. P.Hu, Q.Xie, C.Ma, G.Zhang. Langmuir, 36, 2170 (2020)
- 190. Y.Zhuo, S.Xiao, A.Amirfazli, J.He, Z.Zhang. Chem. Eng. J., 405, 127088 (2021)
- 191. G.Wang, A.Li, W.Zhao, Z.Xu, Y.Ma, F.Zhang, Y.Zhang, J.Zhou, Q.He. *Adv. Mater. Interfaces*, 8, 2001460 (2021)
- Y.He, Y.Su. Silicon Nano-biotechnology. (Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer-Verlag, 2014)
- 193. M.Zare, E.R.Ghomi, P.D.Venkatraman, S.Ramakrishna. J. Appl. Polym. Sci., 138, 50969 (2021)
- 194. G.Barroso, Q.Li, R.K.Bordia, G.Motz. J. Mater. Chem. A, 7, 1936 (2019)
- 195. S.B.Campbell, Q.Wu, J.Yazbeck, C.Liu, S.Okhovatian, M.Radisic. ACS Biomater. Sci. Eng., 7, 2880 (2021)
- 196. B.A.Kamino, T.P.Bender. Chem. Soc. Rev., 42, 5119 (2013)
- 197. E.Yilgör, I.Yilgör. Prog. Polym. Sci., 39, 1165 (2014)
- 198. F.Liravi, E.Toyserkani. Addit. Manuf., 24, 232 (2018)
- 199. J.Yeo, J.J.Koh, F.Wang, Z.Li, C.He. In Silicon Contain. Hybrid Copolym. (Eds C.He, Z.Li). Wiley, 2020. P. 239
- X.Wang. Doctoral Thesis. Universitätsverlag der TU Berlin, 2019
- 201. L.Zhou, J.Fu, Y.He. Adv. Funct. Mater., 30, 2000187 (2020)
- 202. J.Herzberger, J.M.Sirrine, C.B.Williams, T.E.Long. Prog. Polym. Sci., 97, 101144 (2019)
- 203. Z.Jiang, B.Diggle, M.L.Tan, J.Viktorova, C.W.Bennett, L.A.Connal. Adv. Sci., 7, 2001379 (2020)
- 204. E.Luis, H.Liu, J.Song, W.Y.Yeong. J. Orthop. Res. Ther., 2018, 1104 (2018)
- 205. P.Mazurek, S.Vudayagiri, A.L.Skov. Chem. Soc. Rev., 48, 1448 (2019)
- 206. V.Ozbolat, M.Dey, B.Ayan, A.Povilianskas, M.C.Demirel, I.T.Ozbolat. ACS Biomater. Sci. Eng., 4, 682 (2018)
- 207. R.L.Truby, M.Wehner, A.K.Grosskopf, D.M.Vogt, S.G.M.Uzel, R.J.Wood, J.A.Lewis. *Adv. Mater.*, **30**, 1706383 (2018)
- 208. M.M.Durban, J.M.Lenhardt, A.S.Wu, W.Small, T.M.Bryson, L.Perez-Perez, D.T.Nguyen, S.Gammon, J.E.Smay, E.B.Duoss, J.P.Lewicki, T.S.Wilson. *Macromol. Rapid Commun.*, **39**, 6 (2018)
- 209. R.Mikkonen, P.Puistola, I.Jönkkäri, M.Mäntysalo. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces, 12, 11990 (2020)
- 210. C.Sturgess, C.J.Tuck, I.A.Ashcroft, R.D.Wildman. J. Mater. Chem. C, 5, 9733 (2017)
- 211. R.Woo, G.Chen, J.Zhao, J.Bae. ACS Appl. Polym. Mater., 3, 3496 (2021)
- 212. T.J.Hinton, A.Hudson, K.Pusch, A.Lee, A.W.Feinberg. ACS Biomater. Sci. Eng., 2, 1781 (2016)
- 213. A.Hamidi, Y.Tadesse. Mater. Des., 187, 108324 (2020)
- 214. C.A.Coenjarts, C.K.Ober. Chem. Mater., 16, 5556 (2004)

- J.Beach, S.Mann, C.Ault, D.Radojcic, X.Wan, A.Zlatanic, S.Patterson, J.M.Messman, P.R.Dvornic. *Macromolecules*, 54, 1715 (2021)
- 216. S.Roh, D.P.Parekh, B.Bharti, S.D.Stoyanov, O.D.Velev. *Adv. Mater.*, **29**, 1701554 (2017)
- 217. J.T.Muth, D.M.Vogt, R.L.Truby, Y.Mengüç, D.B.Kolesky, R.J.Wood, J.A.Lewis. Adv. Mater., 26, 6307 (2014)
- E.Luis, H.M.Pan, S.L.Sing, A.K.Bastola, G.D.Goh, G.L.Goh, H.K.J.Tan, R.Bajpai, J.Song, W.Y.Yeong. 3D Print. Addit. Manuf., 6, 319 (2019)
- D.A.Porter, N.Davis, P.S.Krueger, A.L.Cohen, D.Son. *Rapid* Prototyp. J., 26, 145 (2020)
- 220. E.Luis, H.M.Pan, S.L.Sing, R.Bajpai, J.Song, W.Y.Yeong. *Polymers*, **12**, 1031 (2020)
- 221. J.A.Smith, S.Li, E.Mele, A.Goulas, D.Engstrøm, V.V.Silberschmidt. J. Mech. Behav. Biomed. Mater., 115, 104291 (2021)
- 222. P.T.Anastas, J.C.Warner. *Green Chemistry: Theory and Practice.* (Oxford University Press, 2000)
- I.Krizhanovskiy, M.Temnikov, Y.Kononevich, A.Anisimov, F.Drozdov, A.Muzafarov. *Polymers*, 14, 3079 (2022)
- 224. C.E.Hoyle, T.Y.Lee, T.Roper. J.Polym. Sci. Part A Polym. Chem., 42, 5301 (2004)
- 225. M.Schaffner, J.A.Faber, L.Pianegonda, P.A.Rühs, F.Coulter, A.R.Studart. Nat. Commun., 9, 878 (2018)
- 226. S.S.Robinson, K.W.O Brien, H.Zhao, B.N.Peele, C.M.Larson, B.C.Mac Murray, I.M.Van Meerbeek, S.N.Dunham, R.F.Shepherd. *Extrem. Mech. Lett.*, 5, 47 (2015)
- 227. T.J.Wallin, L.-E.Simonsen, W.Pan, K.Wang, E.Giannelis, R.F.Shepherd, Y.Mengüç. *Nat. Commun.*, **11**, 4000 (2020)
- T.J.Wallin, J.H.Pikul, S.Bodkhe, B.N.Peele,
 B.C.Mac Murray, D.Therriault, B.W.McEnerney,
 R.P.Dillon, E.P.Giannelis, R.F.Shepherd. J. Mater. Chem. B,
 5, 6249 (2017)
- 229. J.Ma, T.Ma, J.Cheng, J.Zhang. Energy Storage Mater., 39, 294 (2021)
- 230. X.Wang, F.Schmidt, D.Hanaor, P.H.Kamm, S.Li, A.Gurlo. Addit. Manuf., 27, 80 (2019)
- 231. Z.Liu, P.Hong, Z.Huang, T.Zhang, R.Xu, L.Chen, H.Xiang, X.Liu. Chem. Eng. J., 387, 124142 (2020)
- 232. J.M.Sirrine, V.Meenakshisundaram, N.G.Moon, P.J.Scott, R.J.Mondschein, T.F.Weiseman, C.B.Williams, T.E.Long. *Polymer*, **152**, 25 (2018)
- 233. J.M.Sirrine, A.Zlatanic, V.Meenakshisundaram, J.M.Messman, C.B.Williams, P.R.Dvornic, T.E.Long. *Macromol. Chem. Phys.*, **220**, 1800425 (2019)
- 234. K.Yu, A.Xin, H.Du, Y.Li, Q.Wang. NPG Asia Mater., 11, 7 (2019)
- 235. T.Zhao, R.Yu, S.Li, X.Li, Y.Zhang, X.Yang, X.Zhao, C.Wang, Z.Liu, R.Dou, W.Huang. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces, 11, 14391 (2019)
- 236. C.S.O Bryan, T.Bhattacharjee, S.Hart, C.P.Kabb, K.D.Schulze, I.Chilakala, B.S.Sumerlin, W.G.Sawyer, T.E.Angelini. *Sci. Adv.*, **3**, e1602800 (2017)
- N.Rodriguez, S.Ruelas, J.-B.Forien, N.Dudukovic, J.DeOtte, J.Rodriguez, B.Moran, J.P.Lewicki, E.B.Duoss, J.S.Oakdale. *Polymers*, 13, 2239 (2021)
- 238. H.Xiang, X.Wang, Z.Ou, G.Lin, J.Yin, Z.Liu, L.Zhang, X.Liu. Prog. Org. Coatings, 137, 105372 (2019)
- 239. F.P.W.Melchels, J.Feijen, D.W.Grijpma. *Biomaterials*, **31**, 6121 (2010)
- 240. N.Bhattacharjee, C.Parra-Cabrera, Y.T.Kim, A.P.Kuo, A.Folch. Adv. Mater., 30, 1800001 (2018)
- C.J.Thrasher, J.J.Schwartz, A.J.Boydston. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces, 9, 39708 (2017)
- 242. Z.Ji, D.Jiang, X.Zhang, Y.Guo, X.Wang. Macromol. Rapid Commun., **41**, 2000064 (2020)
- 243. T.Femmer, A.J.C.Kuehne, M.Wessling. Lab Chip, 14, 2610 (2014)

- 244. K.Du, J.Basuki, V.Glattauer, C.Mesnard, A.T.Nguyen, D.L.J.Alexander, T.C.Hughes. ACS Appl. Polym. Mater., 3, 3049 (2021)
- 245. L.Zhou, Q.Gao, J.Fu, Q.Chen, J.Zhu, Y.Sun, Y.He. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces, 11, 23573 (2019)
- 246. R.Bui, M.A.Brook. *Adv. Funct. Mater.*, **30**, 2000737 (2020) 247. S.Sun, G.Fei, X.Wang, M.Xie, Q.Guo, D.Fu, Z.Wang,
- H.Wang, G.Luo, H.Xia. *Chem. Eng. J.*, 412, 128675 (2021)
 248. F.B.Madsen, I.Javakhishvili, R.E.Jensen, A.E.Daugaard,
- S.Hvilsted, A.L.Skov. *Polym. Chem.*, **5**, 7054 (2014) 249. F.Gonzaga, G.Yu, M.A.Brook. *Chem. Commun.*, 1730 (2009)
- Y.Gonzaga, G.Fu, M.A.Brock, Chem. Commun., 175 (2009)
 K.Sato, S.Ito, T.Higashihara, K.Fuchise. *React. Funct.*
- Polym., **166**, 105009 (2021) 251. K.Fuchise, K.Sato, M.Igarashi. *Macromolecules*, **54**, 5204 (2021)
- S.A.Milenin, F.V.Drozdov, K.A.Bezlepkina, V.Y.Majorov, A.M.Muzafarov. *Macromolecules*, 54, 2921 (2021)
- D.Migulin, S.Milenin, G.Cherkaev, A.Zezin, E.Zezina, A.Muzafarov. *React. Funct. Polym.*, 154, 104648 (2020)
- 254. T.Rambarran, F.Gonzaga, M.A.Brook. *Macromolecules*, 45, 2276 (2012)
- 255. R.Huisgen. Angew. Chemie Int. Ed. English, 2, 565 (1963)
- 256. R.Huisgen. Angew. Chemie Int. Ed. English, 2, 633 (1963)
- 257. M.Meldal, C.W.Tornøe. Chem. Rev., 108, 2952 (2008)
- C.W.Tornøe, C.Christensen, M.Meldal. J. Org. Chem., 67, 3057 (2002)
- 259. V.V.Rostovtsev, L.G.Green, V.V.Fokin, K.B.Sharpless. Angew. Chemie Int. Ed., 41, 2596 (2002)
- 260. L.Zhang, X.Chen, P.Xue, H.H.Y.Sun, I.D.Williams, K.B.Sharpless, V.V.Fokin, G.Jia. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 127, 15998 (2005)
- 261. P.Wu, A.K.Feldman, A.K.Nugent, C.J.Hawker, A.Scheel, B.Voit, J.Pyun, J.M.J.Fréchet, K.B.Sharpless, V.V.Fokin. *Angew. Chemie Int. Ed.*, 43, 3928 (2004)
- 262. H.C.Kolb, K.B.Sharpless. Drug Discov. Today, 8, 1128 (2003)
- 263. J.E.Hein, V.V.Fokin. Chem. Soc. Rev., 39, 1302 (2010)
- 264. E.Haldón, M.C.Nicasio, P.J.Pérez. Org. Biomol. Chem., 13, 9528 (2015)
- 265. L.Liang, D.Astruc. Coord. Chem. Rev., 255, 2933 (2011)
- 266. J.Huo, C.Lin, J.Liang. *React. Funct. Polym.*, **152**, 104531 (2020)
- 267. S.Rubinsztajn, J.Cella. Polym. Prep., 45, 635 (2004)
- 268. M.A.Brook, J.B.Grande, F.Ganachaud. Adv. Polym. Sci., 161 (2010)
- 269. R.Wakabayashi, K.Kuroda. Chempluschem, 78, 764 (2013)
- 270. M.A.Brook. Chem. Eur. J., 24, 8458 (2018)
- 271. C.S.Sample, S.H.Lee, S.Li, M.W.Bates, V.Lensch, B.A.Versaw, C.M.Bates, C.J.Hawker. *Macromolecules*, 52, 7244 (2019)
- 272. T.Billiet, M.Vandenhaute, J.Schelfhout, S.Van Vlierberghe, P.Dubruel. *Biomaterials*, **33**, 6020 (2012)
- 273. M.M.Stanton, J.Samitier, S.Sánchez. Lab Chip, 15, 3111 (2015)
- 274. S.Tibbits. Arch. Des., 84, 116 (2014)
- 275. A.Sydney Gladman, E.A.Matsumoto, R.G.Nuzzo, L.Mahadevan, J.A.Lewis. Nat. Mater., 15, 413 (2016)
- 276. S.Miao, N.Castro, M.Nowicki, L.Xia, H.Cui, X.Zhou, W.Zhu, S.Lee, K.Sarkar, G.Vozzi, Y.Tabata, J.Fisher, L.G.Zhang. *Mater. Today*, **20**, 577 (2017)
- 277. Y.Zhang, F.Zhang, Z.Yan, Q.Ma, X.Li, Y.Huang, J.A.Rogers. *Nat. Rev. Mater.*, 2, 17019 (2017)
- 278. X.Kuang, D.J.Roach, J.Wu, C.M.Hamel, Z.Ding, T.Wang, M.L.Dunn, H.J.Qi. Adv. Funct. Mater., 29, 1805290 (2019)
- D.G.Tamay, T.D.Usal, A.S.Alagoz, D.Yucel, N.Hasirci, V.Hasirci. Front. Bioeng. Biotechnol., 7, 164 (2019)
- 280. M.Q.Zafar, H.Zhao. Met. Mater. Int., 26, 564 (2020)
- 281. Y.Dong, S.Wang, Y.Ke, L.Ding, X.Zeng, S.Magdassi, Y.Long. Adv. Mater. Technol., 5, 2000034 (2020)
- 282. R.L.Truby, J.A.Lewis. Nature (London), 540, 371 (2020)

- 283. C.Yang, W.Wang, C.Yao, R.Xie, X.Ju, Z.Liu, L.Chu. Sci. Rep., 5, 13622 (2015)
- 284. T.Jungst, W.Smolan, K.Schacht, T.Scheibel, J.Groll. *Chem. Rev.*, **116**, 1496 (2016)
- 285. D.M.Kirchmajer, R.Gorkin, M.In Het Panhuis. J. Mater. Chem. B, 3, 4105 (2015)
- 286. J.M.Lee, W.Y.Yeong. Adv Heal. Mater., 5, 2856 (2016)
- 287. J.Wei, B.Wang, Z.Li, Z.Wu, M.Zhang, N.Sheng, Q.Liang, H.Wang, S.Chen. *Carbohydr. Polym.*, **238**, 116207 (2020)
- 288. Z.Ding, C.Yuan, X.Peng, T.Wang, H.J.Qi, M.L.Dunn. Sci. Adv., 3, e1602890 (2017)
- 289. S.E.Bakarich, S.Beirne, G.Wallace, M.Spinks. J. Mater. Chem. B, 1, 4939 (2013)
- 290. H.Muroi, R.Hidema, J.Gong, H.Furukawa. J. Solid Mech. Mater. Eng., 7, 163 (2013)
- 291. H.Li, C.Tan, L.Li. Mater. Des., 159, 20 (2018)
- 292. J.Liu, L.Sun, W.Xu, Q.Wang, S.Yu, J.Sun. Carbohydr. Polym., 207, 297 (2019)
- 293. J.Chen, J.Huang, Y.Hu. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces, 11, 12726 (2021)
- 294. J.Wu, Y.Lin, J.Sun. J. Mater. Chem., 22, 17449 (2012)
- 295. M.Hirsch, A.Charlet, E.Amstad. Adv. Funct. Mater., 31, 2005929 (2021)
- 296. F.Yang, V.Tadepalli, B.J.Wiley. ACS Biomater. Sci. Eng., 3, 863 (2017)
- 297. S.Liu, L.Li. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces, 9, 26429 (2017)
- 298. S.Hong, D.Sycks, H.F.Chan, S.Lin, G.P.Lopez, F.Guilak, K.W.Leong, X.Zhao. *Adv. Mater.*, **27**, 4035 (2015)
- 299. D.Wu, Y.Yu, J.Tan, L.Huang, B.Luo, L.Lu, C.Zhou. *Mater. Des.*, **160**, 486 (2018)
- 300. P.Jiang, P.Lin, C.Yang, H.Qin, X.Wang, F.Zhou. Chem. Mater., 32, 9983 (2020)
- 301. S.Afewerki, A.Sheikhi, S.Kannan, S.Ahadian, A.Khademhosseini. *Bioeng. Transl. Med.*, 4, 96 (2019)
- 302. B.Duan, L.A.Hockaday, K.H.Kang, J.T.Butcher. J. Biomed. Mater. Res. Part A, 101A, 1255 (2013)
- 303. A.Blaeser, D.F.Duarte Campos, U.Puster, W.Richtering, M.M.Stevens, H.Fischer. Adv. Healthc. Mater., 5, 326 (2016)
- 304. W.Liu, Y.S.Zhang, M.A.Heinrich, F.De Ferrari, H.L.Jang, S.M.Bakht, M.M.Alvarez, J.Yang, Y.-C.Li, G.Trujillo-de Santiago, A.K.Miri, K.Zhu, P.Khoshakhlagh, G.Prakash, H.Cheng, X.Guan, Z.Zhong, J.Ju, G.H.Zhu, X.Jin, S.R.Shin, M.R.Dokmeci, A.Khademhosseini. *Adv. Mater.*, **29**, 1604630 (2017)
- 305. D.Han, C.Farino, C.Yang, T.Scott, W.Choi, J.W.Freeman, H.Lee. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces, 10, 17512 (2018)
- M.Lee, K.Bae, C.Levinson, M.Zenobi-Wong. *Biofabrication*, 12, 025025 (2019)
- 307. J.L.Dávila, M.A.d'Ávila. Int. J. Adv. Manuf. Technol., 101, 675 (2019)
- 308. B.Roushangar Zineh, M.R.Shabgard, L.Roshangar. Mater. Sci. Eng. C, 92, 779 (2018)
- 309. S.Del Buffa, E.Rinaldi, E.Carretti, F.Ridi, M.Bonini, P.Baglioni. Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces, 145, 562 (2016)
- 310. H.Amir Afshar, A.Ghaee. Carbohydr. Polym., 151, 1120 (2016)
- M.A.Bonifacio, P.Gentile, A.M.Ferreira, S.Cometa, E.De Giglio. Carbohydr. Polym., 163, 280 (2017)
- 312. D.K.Patel, S.D.Dutta, W.C.Shin, K.Ganguly, K.T.Lim. *RSC Adv.*, **11**, 7466 (2021)
- 313. S.D.Dutta, J.Hexiu, D.K.Patel, K.Ganguly, K.T.Lim. Int. J. Biol. Macromol., 167, 644 (2021)
- 314. I.Siró, D.Plackett. Cellulose, 17, 459 (2010)
- 315. P.L.Nasatto, F.Pignon, J.L.M.Silveira, M.E.R.Duarte, M.D.Noseda, M.Rinaudo. *Polymers*, 7, 777 (2015)
- M.N.I.Shiblee, K.Ahmed, M.Kawakami, H.Furukawa. Adv. Mater. Technol., 4, 1900071 (2019)

- 317. Z.M.Jessop, A.Al-Sabah, N.Gao, S.Kyle, B.Thomas, N.Badiei, K.Hawkins, I.S.Whitaker. *Biofabrication*, 11, 045006 (2019)
- K.Markstedt, A.Mantas, I.Tournier, H.Martínez Avila, D.Hägg, P.Gatenholm. *Biomacromolecules*, 16, 1489 (2015)
- K.M.O.Håkansson, I.C.Henriksson, C.de la Peña Vázquez, V.Kuzmenko, K.Markstedt, P.Enoksson, P.Gatenholm. *Adv. Mater. Technol.*, 1, 1600096 (2016)
- 320. A.Skardal, J.Zhang, L.McCoard, S.Oottamasathien, G.D.Prestwich. Adv. Mater., 22, 4736 (2010)
- 321. H.Li, S.Liu, L.Lin. Int. J. Bioprinting, **2**, 54 (2016)
- 322. H.Fan, L.Wang, K.Zhao, N.Li, Z.Shi, Z.Ge, Z.Jin. Biomacromolecules, 11, 2345 (2010)
- 323. M.Ionita, M.A.Pandele, H.Iovu. *Carbohydr. Polym.*, 94, 339 (2013)
- 324. C.Bergonzi, G.Remaggi, C.Graiff, L.Bergamonti, M.Potenza, M.C.Ossiprandi, I.Zanotti, F.Bernini, R.Bettini, L.Elviri. *Nanomaterials*, 10, 844 (2020)
- 325. X.Le, W.Lu, J.Zhang, T.Chen. Adv. Sci., 6, 1801584 (2019)
- 326. X.Liu, H.Yuk, S.Lin, G.A.Parada, T.Tang, E.Tham, C.de la Fuente-Nunez, T.K.Lu, X.Zhao. Adv. Mater., 30, 1704821 (2018)
- 327. A.D.Valentine, T.A.Busbee, J.W.Boley, J.R.Raney, A.Chortos, A.Kotikian, J.D.Berrigan, M.F.Durstock, J.A.Lewis. Adv. Mater., 29, 1703817 (2017)
- 328. J.Li, C.Wu, P.K.Chu, M.Gelinsky. Mater. Sci. Eng. R Reports, 140, 100543 (2020)
- 329. O.E.Filippova. Vysocomol. Soedin., Ser. C, 42, 2328 (2000)
- 330. E.Yu.Kramarenko, O.E.Filippova, A.R.Khokhlov. Vysocomol. Soedin., Ser. C, 48, 1216 (2006)
- 331. O.E.Filippova , A.R.Khokhlov. In *Polymer Science:* A Comprehensive Reference. (Eds M.Moeller, K.Matyjaszewski). (Elsevier Science, 2012). P. 339
- 332. J.P.Gong, Y.Katsuyama, T.Kurokawa, Y.Osada. *Adv. Mater.*, **15**, 1155 (2003)
- 333. J.P.Gong. Soft Matter, 6, 2583 (2010)
- 334. Q.Chen, H.Chen, L.Zhu, J.Zheng. J. Mater. Chem. B, 3, 3654 (2015)
- 335. X.Li, H.Wang, D.Li, S.Long, G.Zhang, Z.Wu. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces, 10, 31198 (2018)
- 336. H.Chen, M.B.Müller, K.J.Gilmore, G.G.Wallace, D.Li. *Adv. Mater.*, **20**, 3557 (2008)
- 337. V.S.Molchanov, M.A.Efremova, A.S.Orekhov, N.A.Arkharova, A.V.Rogachev, O.E.Philippova. J. Mol. Liq., 314, 113684 (2020)
- 338. A.I.Barabanova, T.A.Pryakhina, E.S.Afanas'ev, B.G.Zavin, Y.S.Vygodskii, A.A.Askadskii, O.E.Philippova, A.R.Khokhlov. *Appl. Surf. Sci.*, 258, 3168 (2012)
- 339. Y.Lvov, E.Abdullayev. Prog. Polym. Sci., 38, 1690 (2013)
- 340. A.L.Volynskii, N.F.Bakeev. Solvent Crazing of Polymers. (Amsterdam: Elsevier, 1995)
- 341. O.V.Arzhakova, A.A.Dolgova, A.L.Volynskii. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces, 11, 18701 (2019)
- 342. A.L.Volynskii, N.F.Bakeev. Surface Phenomena in the Structural and Mechanical Behaviour of Solid Polymers. (CRC Press, 2018)
- 343. O.V.Arzhakova, A.A.Dolgova, I.V.Chernov, L.M.Yarysheva, A.L.Volynskii, N.F.Bakeev. *Polym. Sci. Ser.* A, 49, 903 (2007)
- 344. O.V.Arzhakova, A.A.Dolgova, E.G.Rukhlya, A.L.Volynskii. Polymer, 161, 151 (2019)
- 345. C.Lei, R.Xu, Z.Tian, H.Huang, J.Xie, X.Zhu. *Macromolecules*, **51**, 3433 (2018)
- 346. D.K.Mahajan, A.Hartmaier. Phys. Rev. E, 86, 021802 (2012)
- 347. G.R.Strobl. *The Physics of Polymers*. (Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer, 2007)
- 348. A.J.Kinloch, R.J.Young. Fracture Behaviour of Polymers. (Netherlands, Dordrecht: Springer, 1995)
- O.V.Arzhakova, D.V.Prishchepa, A.A.Dolgova, A.L.Volynskii. *Polymer*, **170**, 179 (2019)

- D.V.Bagrov, A.Y.Yarysheva, E.G.Rukhlya, L.M.Yarysheva, A.L.Volynskii, N.F.Bakeev. J. Microsc., 253, 151 (2014)
- O.V.Arzhakova, A.A.Dolgova, L.M.Yarysheva,
 A.L.Volynskii, N.F.Bakeev. *Polymer*, 56, 256 (2015)
- 352. E.S.Trofimchuk, N.I.Nikonorova, M.A.Moskvina, A.V.Efimov, M.A.Khavpachev, A.L.Volynskii. *Polymer*, 142, 43 (2018)
- 353. A.O.Dudnik, E.S.Trofimchuk, A.V.Efimov, N.I.Nikonorova, E.G.Rukhlya, L.N.Nikitin, I.V.Yaminsky, A.L.Volynskii. *Macromolecules*, 51, 1129 (2018)
- 354. R.K.Bay, S.Shimomura, Y.Liu, M.Ilton, A.J.Crosby. Macromolecules, **51**, 3647 (2018)
- 355. P.A.Kechekyan, O.V.Arzhakova, A.S.Kechekyan, A.A.Dolgova, A.L.Volynskii. *Polymer*, **176**, 11 (2019)
- 356. E.J.Kramer. In *Crazing Polym*. (Ed H.H.Kausch). (Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer-Verlag, 1983). P. 1
- 357. A.Y.Yarysheva, O.V.Arzhakova, L.M.Yarysheva, A.L.Volynskii. *Polymer*, **158**, 243 (2018)
- 358. A.L.Volynskii, N.F.Bakeev. Prot. Met. Phys. Chem. Surfaces, 49, 493 (2013)
- R.A.C.Deblieck, D.J.M.van Beek, K.Remerie, I.M.Ward. Polymer, 52, 2979 (2011)
- 360. A.Pawlak, A.Galeski. Macromolecules, 41, 2839 (2008)
- 361. F.Addiego, A.Dahoun, C.G Sell, J.-M.Hiver, O.Godard. *Polym. Eng. Sci.*, **49**, 1198 (2009)
- 362. T.Z.N.Sokkar, K.A.El-Farahaty, M.I.Raslan, A.A.Hamza. J. Microsc., 263, 97 (2016)
- 363. L.Ding, T.Wu, F.Yang, M.Xiang. Polym. Int., 66, 1129 (2017)
- 364. A.Y.Yarysheva, E.G.Rukhlya, L.M.Yarysheva, D.V.Bagrov, A.L.Volynskii, N.F.Bakeev. Eur. Polym. J., 66, 458 (2015)
- 365. A.Y.Yarysheva, D.V.Bagrov, P.A.Kechek yan, E.G.Rukhlya, A.V.Bakirov, L.M.Yarysheva, S.N.Chvalun, A.L.Volynskii. *Polymer*, 169, 234 (2019)
- 366. O.V Arzhakova, A.A.Dolgova, A.Y.Yarysheva, I.I.Nikishin, A.L.Volynskii. ACS Appl. Polym. Mater., 2, 2338 (2020)
- 367. O.V.Arzhakova, A.A.Dolgova, L.M.Yarysheva, A.L.Volynskii, N.F.Bakeev. *Inorg. Mater. Appl. Res.*, 2, 493 (2011)
- 368. S.B.Jenkins. *Nanoporous Materials: Types, Properties and Uses*. Nova Science Publishers, New York, 2010
- 369. B.Notario, J.Pinto, M.A.Rodriguez-Perez. Prog. Mater. Sci., 78-79, 93 (2016)
- 370. D.S.Ahmed, G.A.El-Hiti, E.Yousif, A.A.Ali, A.S.Hameed. J. Polym. Res., 25, 75 (2018)
- C.A.Kelly, C.Toncelli, M.Cruz-Romero, O.V.Arzhakova, J.P.Kerry, D.B.Papkovsky. *Mater. Des.*, 77, 110 (2015)
- 372. C.Toncelli, O.V.Arzhakova, A.Dolgova, A.L.Volynskii, J.P.Kerry, D.B.Papkovsky. J. Mater. Chem. C, 2, 8035 (2014)
- 373. O.V.Arzhakova, A.Y.Kopnov, A.I.Nazarov, A.A.Dolgova, A.L.Volynskii. *Polymer*, **186**, 122020 (2020)
- 374. A.Yarysheva, E.Rukhlya, T.Grokhovskaya, A.Dolgova, O.V.Arzhakova. J. Appl. Polym. Sci., 137, 48567 (2020)
- 375. A.Yarysheva, D.Strel'tsov, S.Malakhov, O.Arzhakova, L.Yarysheva, A.Volynskii. *Polym. Int.*, **69**, 627 (2020)
- 376. Patent RU 2711547 (2020)
- 377. Patent US 5516473 (1996)
- 378. O.V.Arzhakova, A.A.Dolgova, A.Y.Yarysheva, A.A.Zezin. Express Polym. Lett., 15, 531 (2021)
- 379. Patent RU 2711427 (2020)
- 380. Patent RU 2717268 (2020)
- C.Toncelli, O.V.Arzhakova, A.Dolgova, A.L.Volynskii, N.F.Bakeev, J.P.. Kerry, D.B.Papkovsky. *Anal. Chem.*, 86, 1917 (2014)
- 382. I.A.Okkelman, A.A.Dolgova, S.Banerjee, J.P.Kerry, A.Volynskii, O.V.Arzhakova, D.B.Papkovsky. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces, 9, 13587 (2017)
- 383. N.Kazanskaya, A.Kukhtin, M.Manenkova, N.Reshetilov, L.Yarysheva, O.Arzhakova, A.Volynskii, N.Bakeyev. *Biosens. Bioelectron.*, **11**, 253 (1996)

- 384. R.N.Gillanders, O.V.Arzhakova, A.Hempel, A.Dolgova, J.P.Kerry, L.M.Yarysheva, N.F.Bakeev, A.L.Volynskii, D.B.Papkovsky. *Anal. Chem.*, 82, 466 (2010)
- 385. Patent US 2011/0244592 A1 (2011)
- A.Y.Yarysheva, A.A.Dolgova, L.M.Yarysheva,
 O.V.Arzhakova. *Mendeleev Commun.*, **30**, 507 (2020)
- 387. E.G.Rukhlya, E.A.Litmanovich, A.I.Dolinnyi, L.M.Yarysheva, A.L.Volynskii, N.F.Bakeev. *Macromolecules*, 44, 5262 (2011)
- 388. A.Y.Yarysheva, D.V.Bagrov, E.G.Rukhlya, L.M.Yarysheva, A.L.Volynskii, N.F.Bakeev. *Polym. Sci. Ser. A*, 54, 779 (2012)
- 389. Patent RU 2243978 (2005)
- 390. Patent RU 2228431 (2004)
- 391. Patent RU 2225871 (2004)
- 392. Patent RU 2228851 (2004)
- 393. Patent RU 2217319 (2003)
- 394. M.Arzhakov. *Relaxation in Physical and Mechanical Behavior* of Polymers. (Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press, 2019)
- 395. M.S.Arzhakov. *Thermomechanics of Polymers. Accent Graphics Communications.* (Montreal, 2019)
- 396. M.S.Arzhakov, S.A.Arzhakov, V.A.Chernavin. Int. J. Polym. Mater., 40, 161 (1998)
- 397. M.S.Arzhakov, S.A.Arzhakov, V.A.Chernavin. New Polym. Mater., 5, 43 (1996)
- 398. A.G.Kolmakov, I.B.Oparina, M.A.Sevostyanov, M.S.Arzhakov, G.M.Lukovkin. *Eurasian Phys. Tech. J.*, 12, 33 (2015)
- 399. M.S.Arzhakov, A.E.Zhirnov, S.A.Arzhakov, G.M.Lukovkin, A.G.Kolmakov, V.T.Zabolotnyi. *Russ. Metall.*, 2015, 800 (2015)
- 400. X.Wu, F.Kang, W.Duan, J.Li. Prog. Nat. Sci., 29, 247 (2019)
- 401. H.Sun. Macromolecules, 28, 701 (1995)
- 402. H.Sun. J. Phys. Chem. B, 102, 7338 (1998)
- 403. C.Selvaraj, U.Panwar, D.C.Dinesh, E.Boura, P.Singh, V.K.Dubey, S.K.Singh. *Front Chem*, **8**, 595273 (2020)
- 404. Y.Li, Q.Wang, S.Wang. Compos. Part B Eng., 160, 348 (2019)
- 405. K.S.Khare, F.R.Phelan. Macromolecules, 51, 564 (2018)
- 406. P.V.Komarov, D.V.Guseva, P.G.Khalatur. *Polymer*, **143**, 200 (2018)
- 407. P.Español, P.B.Warren. J. Chem. Phys., 146, 150901 (2017)
- 408. J.G.E.M.Fraaije, B.A.C.van Vlimmeren, N.M.Maurits, M.Postma, O.A.Evers, C.Hoffmann, P.Altevogt, G.Goldbeck-Wood. J. Chem. Phys., **106**, 4260 (1997)
- 409. J.T.Wescott, Y.Qi, L.Subramanian, T.W.Capehart. J. Chem. Phys., **124**, 134702 (2006)
- 410. K.S.Schweizer, J.G.Curro. In Atomistic Modeling of Physical Properties. (Eds L.Monnerie, U.W.Suter). (Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer, 1994). P. 319
- 411. A.A.Markina, V.A.Ivanov, P.V.Komarov, A.R.Khokhlov, S.-H.Tung. J. Phys. Chem. B, **121**, 7878 (2017)
- 412. A.Markina, V.Ivanov, P.Komarov, S.Larin, J.M.Kenny, S.Lyulin. J. Polym. Sci. Part B Polym. Phys., 55, 1254 (2017)
- 413. P.V.Komarov, P.O.Baburkin, V.A.Ivanov, Y.-L.Li, S.-A.Chen, A.R.Khokhlov. Sol. RRL, 4, 2000352 (2020)
- 414. M.K.Gupta, R.K.Srivastava. Polym. Plast. Technol. Eng., 55, 626 (2016)
- 415. S.Banerjee, B.V Sankar. Compos. Part B Eng., 58, 318 (2014)
- 416. K.Kremer, F.Müller-Plathe. MRS Bull., 26, 205 (2001)
- Q.H.Zeng, A.B.Yu, G.Q.Lu. Prog. Polym. Sci., 33, 191 (2008)
 R.B.Ross, S.Mohanty. Multiscale Simulation Methods for Nanomaterials. (Wiley, 2008)
- 419. S.C.Glotzer, W.Paul. Annu. Rev. Mater. Res., 32, 401 (2002)
- 420. H.Meyer, F.Müller-Plathe. Macromolecules, 35, 1241 (2002)
- 421. G.M.Odegard, T.C.Clancy, T.S.Gates. Polym., 46, 553 (2005)
- 422. P.J.Stansfeld, M.S.P.Sansom. J. Chem. Theory Comput., 7, 1157 (2011)
- 423. A.M.Mayes. Nat. Mater., 4, 651 (2005)
- 424. P.V.Komarov, Y.-T.Chiu, S.-M.Chen, P.Reineker. Macromol. Theory Simulations, **19**, 64 (2010)

- 425. A.Bansal, H.Yang, C.Li, K.Cho, B.C.Benicewicz, S.K.Kumar, L.S.Schadler. *Nat. Mater.*, **4**, 693 (2005)
- 426. P.V.Komarov, I.V.Mikhailov, Y.-T.Chiu, S.-M.Chen, P.G.Khalatur. *Macromol. Theory Simulations*, 22, 187 (2013)
- 427. V.V.Zubkov, P.V.Komarov. Russ. J. Phys. Chem. A, 86, 1109 (2012)
- 428. D.V.Guseva, P.V.Komarov, A.V.Lyulin. J. Chem. Phys., 140, 114903 (2014)
- 429. D.V.Guseva, P.V.Komarov, A.V.Lyulin. J. Polym. Sci. Part B, Polym. Phys., 54, 473 (2016)
- P.V.Komarov, Y.-T.Chiu, S.-M.Chen, P.G.Khalatur, P.Reineker. *Macromolecules*, 40, 8104 (2007)
- 431. A.A.Gavrilov, P.V.Komarov, P.G.Khalatur. Macromolecules, 48, 206 (2015)
- 432. D.V.Guseva, V.Y.Rudyak, P.V.Komarov, A.V.Sulimov, B.A.Bulgakov, A.V.Chertovich. J.Polym. Sci. Part B, Polym. Phys., 56, 362 (2018)
- D.Guseva, V.Rudyak, P.Komarov, B.Bulgakov, A.Babkin, A.Chertovich. *Polymers*, 10, 792 (2018)
- 434. A.A.Lazutin, M.K.Glagolev, V.V Vasilevskaya, A.R.Khokhlov. J. Chem. Phys., 140, 134903 (2014)
- 435. M.K.Glagolev, A.À. Lazutin, V.V Vasilevskaya. Macromol. Symp., 348, 14 (2015)
- 436. M.K.Glagolev, A.A.Lazutin, V.V Vasilevskaya, A.R.Khokhlov. *Polym.*, **86**, 168 (2016)
- 437. A.A.Lazutin, A.A.Glagoleva, V.V Vasilevskaya, A.R.Khokhlov. Low Temp. Phys., 43, 244 (2017)
- 438. A.R.Khokhlov, P.G.Khalatur. Curr. Opin. Solid State Mater. Sci., 8, 3 (2004)
- 439. A.R.Khokhlov, A.V Berezkin, P.G.Khalatur. J. Polym. Sci. A Polym. Chem., 42, 5339 (2004)
- 440. A.A.Auer, A.Richter, A.V Berezkin, D.V Guseva, S.Spange. Macromol. Theory Simulations, 21, 615 (2012)
- 441. W.Goddard, B.Merinov, A.van Duin, T.Jacob, M.Blanco, V.Molinero, S.S.Jang, Y.H.Jang. *Mol. Simul.*, **32**, 251 (2006)
- 442. M.S.Radue, V.Varshney, J.W.Baur, A.K.Roy, G.M.Odegard. *Macromolecules*, 51, 1830 (2018)
- 443. G.M.Odegard, B.D.Jensen, S.Gowtham, J.Wu, J.He, Z.Zhang, Chem. Phys. Lett., 591, 175 (2014)
- 444. M.Glagolev, A.Glova, D.Mezhenskaia, S.Falkovich, S.Larin, V.Vasilevskaya, S.Lyulin. J. Polym. Sci. B Polym. Phys., 56, 604 (2018)
- 445. M.K.Glagolev, V.V.Vasilevskaya. Supercomput. Front. Innov., 5, 103 (2018)
- 446. M.K.Glagolev, V.V.Vasilevskaya. *Polymer*, **190**, 122232 (2020)
- 447. D.V.Guseva, A.A.Lazutin, V.V.Vasilevskaya. Polymer, 221, 123577 (2021)
- 448. T.P.Haider, C.Völker, J.Kramm, K.Landfester, F.R.Wurm. Angew. Chemie Int. Ed., 58, 50 (2019)
- 449. V.I.Gomzyak, V.A.Demina, E.V.Razuvaeva, N.G.Sedush, S.N.Chvalun. Tonkie Khim. Tekhnol., 12, 5 (2017)
- 450. R.Song, M.Murphy, C.Li, K.Ting, C.Soo, Z.Zheng. Drug Des. Devel. Ther., **12**, 3117 (2018)
- 451. S.Mangaraj, A.Yadav, L.M.Bal, S.K.Dash, N.K.Mahanti. J. Packag. Technol. Res., 3, 77 (2019)
- 452. Y.Zhong, P.Godwin, Y.Jin, H.Xiao. *Adv. Ind. Eng. Polym. Res.*, **3**, 27 (2020)
- 453. R.Thomson. *Marine Anthropogenic Litter*. (Cham: Springer International Publishing, 2015)
- 454. K.Waldschläger, S.Lechthaler, G.Stauch, H.Schüttrumpf. Sci. Total Environ., 713, 136584 (2020)
- 455. A.I.Suvorova, I.S.Tyukova, E.I.Trufanova. *Russ. Chem. Rev.*, 69, 451 (2000)
- 456. X.Ge, L.Yu, Z.Liu, H.Liu, Y.Chen, L.Chen. Int. J. Biol. Macromol., **125**, 370 (2019)
- 457. T.Jiang, Q.Duan, J.Zhu, H.Liu, L.Yu. Adv. Ind. Eng. Polym. Res., 3, 8 (2020)

- 458. B.Thomas, M.C.Raj, B.K.Athira, H.M.Rubiyah, J.Joy, A.Moores, G.L.Drisko, C.Sanchez. *Chem. Rev.*, 118, 11575 (2018)
- 459. Q.Xia, C.Chen, Y.Yao, J.Li, S.He, Y.Zhou, T.Li, X.Pan, Y.Yao, L.Hu. Nat. Sustain., (2021)
- 460. O.I.Bogdanova, S.N.Chvalun. Vysokomol. Soedin. Ser. A, 58, 407 (2016)
- 461. O.I.Bogdanova, S.N.Chvalun. Polym. Sci., Ser. A, 58, 629 (2016)
- 462. H.Wang, J.Qian, F.Ding. J. Agric. Food Chem., 66, 395 (2018)
- 463. T.A.Akopova, T.S.Demina, A.N.Zelenetskii. Fibre Chem., 44, 217 (2012)
- 464. S.Farah, D.G.Anderson, R.Langer. Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev., 107, 367 (2016)
- 465. O.I.Bogdanova, N.G.Sedush, T.N.Ovchinnikova, S.I.Belousov, D.K.Polyakov, S.N.Chvalun. *Ekolog. Promysh. Rossii*, 18 (2010)
- 466. L.T.Sin, A.R.Rahmat, W.A.W.A.Rahman. In *Handbook of Biopolymers and Biodegradable Plastics* (Elsevier, 2013). P. 11
- 467. N.G.Sedush, V.V.Izraylit, A.K.Mailyan, D.V.Savinov, Y.I.Kiryukhin, S.N.Chvalun. *Mendeleev Commun.*, 27, 281 (2017)
- 468. K.T.Kalinin, N.G.Sedush, P.V Dmitryakov, S.N.Chvalun. ChemistryOpen, 9, 1027 (2020)
- 469. J.Fernández, A.Etxeberria, J.R.Sarasua. J. Mech. Behav. iomed. Mater., 9, 100 (2012)
- 470. M.Razavi, S.Q.Wang. Macromolecules, 52, 5429 (2019)
- 471. E.S.Trofimchuk, A.V.Efimov, T.E.Grokhovskaya, N.I.Nikonorova, M.A.Moskvina, N.G.Sedush, P.V.Dorovatovskii, O.A.Ivanova, E.G.Rukhlya, A.L.Volynskii, S.N.Chvalun. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces, 9, 34325 (2017)
- 472. X.Zhao, H.Hu, X.Wang, X.Yu, W.Zhou, S.Peng. *RSC Adv.*, **10**, 13316 (2020)
- 473. K.Hamad, M.Kaseem, M.Ayyoob, J.Joo, F.Deri. *Prog. Polym. Sci.*, **85**, 83 (2018)
- 474. S.Z.Rogovina, K.V.Aleksanyan, L.V.Vladimirov, A.A.Berlin. *Russ. J. Phys. Chem. B*, **13**, 812 (2019)
- 475. H.Tsuji. Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev., 107, 97 (2016)
- 476. V.Nagarajan, A.K.Mohanty, M.Misra. ACS Sustain. Chem. Eng., 4, 2899 (2016)
- 477. S.Sinha Ray, K.Yamada, M.Okamoto, A.Ogami, K.Ueda. *Chem. Mater.*, **15**, 1456 (2003)
- 478. S.Agarwal. Macromol. Chem. Phys., 221, 2000017 (2020)
- 479. J.Chen, S.Lü, Z.Zhang, X.Zhao, X.Li, P.Ning, M.Liu. Sci. Total Environ., **613–614**, 829 (2018)
- 480. M.M.Hanafi, S.M.Eltaib, M.B.Ahmad. Eur. Polym. J., 36, 2081 (2000)
- 481. M.Y.Naz, S.A.Sulaiman. J. Control. Release, 225, 109 (2016)
- 482. D.Qiao, H.Liu, L.Yu, X.Bao, G.P.Simon, E.Petinakis, L.Chen. *Carbohydr. Polym.*, **147**, 146 (2016)
- 483. L.Xie, M.Liu, B.Ni, X.Zhang, Y.Wang. Chem. Eng. J., 167, 342 (2011)
- 484. R.C.da Silva, R.Baird, F.Degryse, M.J.McLaughlin. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J., 82, 1437 (2018)
- 485. N.B.Svishcheva, P.A.Khaptakhanova, D.A.Kasatov, S.A.Uspenskii. *Russ. Chem. Bull.*, **70**, 1725 (2021)
- 486. Z.Majeed, N.K.Ramli, N.Mansor, Z.Man. Rev. Chem. Eng., 31, 69 (2015)
- 487. M.Devassine, F.Henry, P.Guerin, X.Briand. Int. J. Pharm., 242, 399 (2002)
- 488. T.H.Trinh, K.Kushaari, A.S.Shuib, L.Ismail, B.Azeem. Biosyst. Eng., 130, 34 (2015)
- 489. M.Oliveira, C.Mota, A.S.Abreu, J.M.Nobrega. J. Polym. Eng., 35, 401 (2015)
- 490. S.Yang, S.A.Madbouly, J.A.Schrader, G.Srinivasan, D.Grewell, K.G.McCabe, M.R.Kessler, W.R.Graves. *Green Chem.*, 17, 380 (2015)
- 491. L.Zhou, D.Cai, L.He, N.Zhong, M.Yu, X.Zhang, Z.Wu. ACS Sustain. Chem. Eng., 3, 645 (2015)

- 492. E.I.Pereira, C.C.T.Da Cruz, A.Solomon, A.Le, M.A.Cavigelli, C.Ribeiro. *Ind. Eng. Chem. Res.*, 54, 3717 (2015)
- 493. L.B.Boinovich, A.M.Emelyanenko. *Russ. Chem. Rev.*, **77**, 583 (2008)
- 494. B.Zdyrko, I.Luzinov. Macromol. Rapid Commun., 32, 859 (2011)
- 495. B.Deng, R.Cai, Y.Yu, H.Jiang, C.Wang, J.Li, L.Li, M.Yu, J.Li, L.Xie, Q.Huang, C.Fan. Adv. Mater., 22, 5473 (2010)
- 496. M.Yu, G.Gu, W.D.Meng, F.L.Qing. Appl. Surf. Sci., 253, 3669 (2007)
- 497. M.Zhang, S.Wang, C.Wang, J.Li. Appl. Surf. Sci., 261, 561 (2012)
- 498. H.Ji, G.Chen, J.Yang, J.Hu, H.Song, Y.Zhao. Appl. Surf. Sci., 266, 105 (2013)
- 499. T.Xiang, Y.Han, Z.Guo, R.Wang, S.Zheng, S.Li, C.Li, X.Dai. ACS Sustain. Chem. Eng., 6, 5598 (2018)
- 500. U.Trdan, M.Hočevar, P.Gregorčič. Corros. Sci., 123, 21 (2017)
- 501. B.Bhushan, Y.C.Jung. Prog. Mater. Sci., 56, 1 (2011)
- C.Teas, S.Kalligeros, F.Zanikos, S.Stournas, E.Lois, G.Anastopoulos. *Desalination*, 140, 259 (2001)
- 503. J.Yang, Z.Zhang, X.Xu, X.Zhu, X.Men, X.Zhou. J. Mater. Chem., **22**, 2834 (2012)
- 504. Z.Xu, Y.Zhao, H.Wang, X.Wang, T.Lin. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed., 54, 4527 (2015)
- 505. K.Sasaki, M.Tenjimbayashi, K.Manabe, S.Shiratori. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces, 8, 651 (2016)
- 506. J.Drelich, E.Chibowski, D.D.Meng, K.Terpilowski. Soft Matter, 7, 9804 (2011)
- 507. L.Zhang, N.Zhao, J.Xu. J. Adhes. Sci. Technol., 28, 769 (2014)
- 508. C.Ao, R.Hu, J.Zhao, X.Zhang, Q.Li, T.Xia, W.Zhang, C.Lu. *Chem. Eng. J.*, **338**, 271 (2018)
- 509. Y.Ibrahim, E.Abdulkarem, V.Naddeo, F.Banat, S.W.Hasan. Sci. Total Environ., 690, 167 (2019)
- G.Gonçalves, P.A.A.P.Marques, T.Trindade, C.P.Neto, A.Gandini. J. Colloid Interface Sci., 324, 42 (2008)
- 511. S.Li, S.Zhang, X.Wang. Langmuir, 24, 5585 (2008)
- 512. N.A.Ivanova, A.B.Philipchenko. *Appl. Surf. Sci.*, **263**, 783 (2012)
- 513. K.Song, A.Gao, X.Cheng, K.Xie. *Carbohydr. Polym.*, **130**, 381 (2015)
- W.Song, V.S.Gaware, Ö.V.Rúnarsson, M.Másson, J.F.Mano. Carbohydr. Polym., 81, 140 (2010)
- 515. Y.Li, H.Zhang, C.Ma, H.Yin, L.Gong, Y.Duh, R.Feng. Carbohydr. Polym., **226**, 115279 (2019)
- 516. J.Yang, H.Song, X.Yan, H.Tang, C.Li. *Cellulose*, **21**, 1851 (2014)
- 517. D.W.Wei, H.Wei, A.C.Gauthier, J.Song, Y.Jin, H.Xiao. *J. Bioresour. Bioprod.*, **5**, 1 (2020)
- Roohi, K.Bano, M.Kuddus, M.R.Zaheer, Q.Zia, M.F.Khan, G.M.Ashraf, A.Gupta, G.Aliev. *Curr. Pharm. Biotechnol.*, 18, 429 (2017)
- 519. F.Alshehrei. J. Appl. Environ. Microbiol., 5, 8 (2017)
- 520. R.Chandra, R.Rustgi. Science, 23, 1273 (1998)
- 521. I.E.Napper, R.C.Thompson. *Environ. Sci. Technol.*, **53**, 4775 (2019)
- 522. T.Boontheekul, H.J.Kong, D.J.Mooney. Biomaterials, 26, 2455 (2005)
- 523. C.X.F.Lam, M.M.Savalani, S.-H.Teoh, D.W.Hutmacher. *Biomed. Mater.*, **3**, 034108 (2008)
- 524. J.E.Potts, R.A.Clendinning, W.B.Ackart, W.D.Niegisch. In *Polym. Ecol. Probl.* Springer US, Boston, MA, 1973. P. 61
- 525. S.Iannace, A.Maffezzoli, G.Leo, L.Nicolais. Polymer, 42, 3799 (2001)
- 526. A.Göpferich. Biomater. Silver Jubil. Compend., 17, 117 (1996)
- J.C.Middleton, A.J.Tipton. *Biomaterials*, 21, 2335 (2000)
 H.Yu, H.Liu, X.Yuan, W.Ding, Y.Li, J.Wang. *Chemosphere*,
- **235**, 239 (2019) 529. S.Zhuang, K.Zhu, J.Wang. J. Clean. Prod., **285**, 124911 (2021)

- 530. M.Yakup Arıca, M.Yilmaz, G.Bayramoğlu. J. Appl. Polym. Sci., **103**, 3084 (2007)
- 531. C.Su, H.Yang, H.Zhao, Y.Liu, R.Chen. Chem. Eng. J., 330, 423 (2017)
- 532. Z.Dang, L.Liu, Y.Li, Y.Xiang, G.Guo. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces, 8, 31281 (2016)
- 533. J.Ren, F.Tao, L.Liu, X.Wang, Y.Cui. Carbohydr. Polym., 232, 115807 (2020)
- 534. M.C.Galdioli Pellá, A.R.Simão, M.K.Lima-Tenório, E.Tenório-Neto, D.B.Scariot, C.V.Nakamura, A.F.Rubira. *Carbohydr. Polym.*, 239, 116236 (2020)
- 535. T.A.Dankovich, Y.-L.Hsieh. Cellulose, 14, 469 (2007)
- 536. N.A.Ivanova, G.I.Rutberg, A.B.Philipchenko. *Macromol. Chem. Phys.*, **214**, 1515 (2013)
- 537. T.Zhai, Q.Zheng, Z.Cai, H.Xia, S.Gong. *Carbohydr. Polym.*, **148**, 300 (2016)
- 538. S.Takeshita, A.Konishi, Y.Takebayashi, S.Yoda, K.Otake. Biomacromolecules, 18, 2172 (2017)
- 539. H.Sashiwa, S.Aiba. Prog. Polym. Sci., 29, 887 (2004)
- 540. K.V.Harish Prashanth, R.N.Tharanathan. *Trends Food Sci. Technol.*, **18**, 117 (2007)
- 541. K.Tømmeraas, S.P.Strand, W.Tian, L.Kenne, K.M.Vårum. Carbohydr. Res., 336, 291 (2001)
- 542. S.Wang, J.Sha, W.Wang, C.Qin, W.Li, C.Qin. *Carbohydr. Polym.*, **195**, 39 (2018)
- 543. W.G.Liu, K.De Yao, Q.G.Liu. J. Appl. Polym. Sci., 82, 3391 (2001)
- 544. D.W.Jenkins, S.M.Hudson. Chem. Rev., 101, 3245 (2001)
- 545. M.Pulat, C.Isakoca. J. Appl. Polym. Sci., 100, 2343 (2006)
- 546. Y.Tokiwa, B.P.Calabia. J. Polym. Environ., 15, 259 (2007)
- 547. N.Hoenich. BioResources, 1, 270 (2006)
- 548. S.Kamel, N.Ali, K.Jahangir, S.M.Shah, A.A.El-Gendy. Express Polym. Lett., 2, 758 (2008)
- 549. M.Sain, K.Oksman. In ACS Symp. Ser. Vol. 938. 2006. P. 2
- 550. A.F.Turbak, R.B.Hammer, R.E.Davies, N.A.Portnoy. In ACS Symp. Ser. Vol. 58. 1977. P. 12
- 551. C.Zhang, R.Liu, J.Xiang, H.Kang, Z.Liu, Y.Huang. J. Phys. Chem. B, 118, 9507 (2014)
- 552. D.Gagnaire, D.Mancier, M.Vincendon. J.Polym. Sci. Polym. Chem. Ed., 18, 13 (1980)
- 553. S.M.Hudson, Jo.A.Cuculo. J. Macromol. Sci. Part C, 18, (1980)
- 554. S.V.Heines. J. Chem. Educ., 21, 430 (1944)
- 555. H.A.Krassig. Cellulose: Structure, Accessibility and Reactivity. (Yverdon, Switzerland: Gordon and Breach Science, 1993)
- 556. T.Heinze, R.Dicke, A.Koschella, A.H.Kull, E.-A.Klohr, W.Koch. *Macromol. Chem. Phys.*, 201, 627 (2000)
- 557. N.J.Cao, Q.Xu, L.F.Chen. Appl. Biochem. Biotechnol., 51–52, 21 (1995)
- 558. N.J.Cao, Q.Xu, C.S.Chen, C.S.Gong, L.F.Chen. Appl. Biochem. Biotechnol., 45–46, 521 (1994)
- 559. Q.Xu, L.F.Chen. J. Appl. Polym. Sci., 71, 1441 (1999)
- 560. P.P.Weimarn. Zeitschrift Chem. Ind. Kolloide, 10, 131 (1912)
- 561. K.Letters. Kolloid-Zeitschrift, 58, 229 (1932)
- 562. J.Zhang, J.Zhang, L.Lin, T.Chen, J.Zhang, S.Liu, Z.Li, P.Ouyang. Molecules, 14, 5027 (2009)
- 563. P.Conte, A.Maccotta, C.De Pasquale, S.Bubici, G.Alonzo. J.Agric. Food Chem., 57, 8748 (2009)
- 564. F.Camacho, P.González-Tello, E.Jurado, A.Robles. J. Chem. Technol. Biotechnol., 67, 350 (1996)
- 565. Y.Ogihara, R.L.Smith, H.Inomata, K.Arai. Cellulose, 12, 595 (2005)
- 566. M.Sasaki, T.Adschiri, K.Arai. J. Agric. Food Chem., 51, 5376 (2003)
- 567. M.Sasaki, T.Adschiri, K.Arai. AIChE J., 50, 192 (2004)
- 568. H.-P.Fink, P.Weigel, H.J.Purz, J.Ganster. Prog. Polym. Sci., 26, 1473 (2001)
- M.Gericke, T.Liebert, O.A.El Seoud, T.Heinze. Macromol. Mater. Eng., 296, 483 (2011)

- 570. D.Martin, A.Weise, H.-J.Niclas. Angew. Chemie Int. Ed. English, 6, 318 (1967)
- 571. G.A.Petropavlovskii, A.M.Bochek, V.M.Shek. *Khim. Drevesiny*, 3 (1987)
- 572. V.Kulichikhin, I.Makarov, M.Mironova, L.Golova, M.Vinogradov, G.Shandryuk, I.Levin, N.Arkharova. *Materials*, **13**, 3495 (2020)
- 573. V.G.Kulichikhin, L.K.Golova, I.S.Makarov, M.I.Vinogradov, A.K.Berkovich, Y.V Golubev. J. Text. Eng. Fash. Technol., 3, 593 (2017)
- 574. I.S.Makarov, L.K.Golova, M.I.Vinogradov, M.V.Mironova, I.S.Levin, G.N.Bondarenko, G.A.Shandryuk, N.A.Arkharova, V.G.Kulichikhin. *Polym. Sci. Ser. A*, 61, 598 (2019)
- 575. P.Kulpinski. J. Appl. Polym. Sci., 98, 1855 (2005)
- 576. Q.Gao, X.Shen, X.Lu. Carbohydr. Polym., 83, 1253 (2011)
- 577. G.Crini. Environ. Chem. Lett., 17, 1623 (2019)
- 578. P.S.Bakshi, D.Selvakumar, K.Kadirvelu, N.S.Kumar. Int. J. Biol. Macromol., **150**, 1072 (2020)
- 579. L.S.Gal'braikh. Khim. Volokna, 5, 21 (2005)
- 580. K.Kurita. Mar. Biotechnol., 8, 203 (2006)
- 581. P.K.Dutta, J.Duta, V.S.Tripathi. J. Sci. Ind. Res. (India), 63, 20 (2004)
- 582. W.Wang, Q.Meng, Q.Li, J.Liu, M.Zhou, Z.Jin, K.Zhao. Int. J. Mol. Sci., **21**, 487 (2020)
- 583. H.Sashiwa, N.Kawasaki, A.Nakayama, E.Muraki, N.Yamamoto, S.I.Aiba. *Biomacromolecules*, 3, (2002)
- J.D.Schneible, A.Singhal, R.L.Lilova, C.K.Hall, A.Grafmüller, S.Menegatti. *Biomacromolecules*, 20, 3126 (2019)
- 585. N.G.Kandile, A.S.Nasr. Carbohydr. Polym., 78, 753 (2009)
- 586. T.K.Giri, A.Thakur, A.Alexander, Ajazuddin, H.Badwaik, D.K.Tripathi. Acta Pharm. Sin. B, 2, 439 (2012)
- 587. C.Yang, Y.Zhou, Y.Zheng, C.Li, S.Sheng, J.Wang, F.Wu. Int. J. Biol. Macromol., 87, 577 (2016)
- 588. S.Z.Rogovina. Polym. Sci. Ser. C, 58, 62 (2016)
- C.Bhavsar, M.Momin, S.Gharat, A.Omri. Expert Opin. Drug Deliv., 14, 1189 (2017)
- 590. J.Shieh, F.J.Hou, Y.C.Chen, H.M.Chen, S.P.Yang, C.C.Cheng, H.L.Chen. Adv. Mater., 22, 597 (2010)
- 591. A.Balram, S.Santhanagopalan, B.Hao, Y.K.Yap, D.D.Meng. Adv. Funct. Mater., 26, 2571 (2016)
- 592. A.Checco, A.Rahman, C.T.Black. Adv. Mater., 26, 886 (2014)
- 593. J.Zhang, S.Seeger. Adv. Funct. Mater., 21, 4632 (2011)
- 594. H.S.Lim, J.H.Baek, K.Park, H.S.Shin, J.Kim, J.H.Cho. *Adv. Mater.*, **22**, 2138 (2010)
- 595. K.Kurogi, H.Yan, H.Mayama, K.Tsujii. J. Colloid Interface Sci., 312, 156 (2007)
- 596. L.Xu, N.Liu, Y.Cao, F.Lu, Y.Chen, X.Zhang, L.Feng, Y.Wei. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces, 6, 13324 (2014)
- 597. Q.Cao, C.Yu, X.-F.Cheng, W.-J.Sun, J.-H.He, N.-J.Li, H.Li, D.-Y.Chen, Q.-F.Xu, J.-M.Lu. Sensors Actuators B, Chem., 320, 128390 (2020)
- 598. Z.Xu, Y.Zhao, H.Wang, H.Zhou, C.Qin, X.Wang, T.Lin. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces, 8, 5661 (2016)
- 599. A.K.Kota, G.Kwon, A.Tuteja. NPG Asia Mater., 6, e109 (2014)
- 600. G.Ju, M.Cheng, F.Shi. NPG Asia Mater., 6, e111 (2014)
- 601. P.C.Chen, Z.K.Xu. Sci. Rep., 3, (2013)
- 602. M.A.C.Stuart, W.T.S.Huck, J.Genzer, M.Müller, C.Ober, M.Stamm, G.B.Sukhorukov, I.Szleifer, V.V.Tsukruk, M.Urban, F.Winnik, S.Zauscher, I.Luzinov, S.Minko. *Nat. Mater.*, 9, 101 (2010)
- 603. K.Littunen, U.Hippi, L.-S.Johansson, M.Österberg, T.Tammelin, J.Laine, J.Seppälä. *Carbohydr. Polym.*, 84, 1039 (2011)
- 604. A.Carlmark, E.Larsson, E.Malmström. *Eur. Polym. J.*, **48**, 1646 (2012)
- 605. A.Uliniuc, M.Popa, E.Drockenmuller, F.Boisson, D.Leonard, T.Hamaide. *Carbohydr. Polym.*, 96, 259 (2013)

- 606. M.Rinaudo. Prog. Polym. Sci., 31, (2006)
- 607. H.Sashiwa, N.Yamamori, Y.Ichinose, J.Sunamoto, S.I.Aiba. Biomacromolecules, 4, 1250 (2003)
- 608. J.Xu, S.P.McCarthy, R.A.Gross, D.L.Kaplan. Macromolecules, 29, 3436 (1996)
- 609. Z.Jia, D.Shen, W.Xu. Carbohydr. Res., 333, 1 (2001)
- 610. N.Hadjichristidis. Encycl. Polym. Sci. Technol., 6, 38 (2002)
- 611. A.E.Mochalova, N.V.Zaborshchikova, A.A.Knyazev, L.A.Smirnova, V.A.Izvozchikova, V.V.Medvedeva, Y.D.Semchikov. *Polym. Sci. Ser. A*, **48**, 918 (2006)
- 612. A.S.El-Khouly, E.Kenawy, A.A.Safaan, Y.Takahashi, Y.A.Hafiz, K.Sonomoto, T.Zendo. *Carbohydr. Polym.*, 83, 346 (2011)
- 613. M.Chellapandian, M.R.V.Krishnan. Process Biochem., 33, 595 (1998)
- 614. M.Faria, C.Vilela, F.Mohammadkazemi, A.J.D.Silvestre, C.S.R.Freire, N.Cordeiro. Int. J. Biol. Macromol., 127, 618 (2019)
- 615. E.A.Elizalde-Peña, N.Flores-Ramirez, G.Luna-Barcenas, S.R.Vásquez-García, G.Arámbula-Villa, B.García-Gaitán, J.G.Rutiaga-Quiñones, J.González-Hernández. *Eur. Polym. J.*, **43**, 3963 (2007)
- 616. G.Desmet, E.Takács, L.Wojnárovits, J.Borsa. Radiat. Phys. Chem., 80, 1358 (2011)
- 617. T.S.Anirudhan, S.S.Nair, A.S.Nair. Carbohydr. Polym., 152, 687 (2016)
- C.Péroval, F.Debeaufort, A.-M.Seuvre, B.Chevet, D.Déspre, A.Voilley. J. Agric. Food Chem., 51, 3120 (2003)
- 619. L.Xu, Y.Lai, L.Liu, L.Yang, Y.Guo, X.Chang, J.Shi, R.Zhang, J.Yu. *Coatings*, **10**, 160 (2020)
- 620. E.V.Bryuzgin, V.V.Klimov, M.D.Le, T.H.Nguyen, A.V.Navrotskiy, I.A.Novakov. Surf. Innov., 5, 147 (2017)
- 621. V.V.Klimov, E.V.Bryuzgin, M.D.Le, E.A.Zelenova, T.H.Nguyen, A.V.Navrotskii, H.Nishide, I.A.Novakov. *Polym. Sci. Ser. D*, 9, 364 (2016)
- 622. E.Bryuzgin, V.Klimov, M.D.Le, A.Navrotskiy, I.Novakov. Fibers Polym., 21, 1032 (2020)
- 623. Y.Tanaka, H.Kakiuchi. J. Appl. Polym. Sci., 7, 1063 (1963)
- 624. Y.Tanaka, H.Kakiuchi. J. Polym. Sci. Part A Gen. Pap., 2, 3405 (1964)
- 625. P.J.P.Galy J., Sabra A.Polym. Eng. Sci., 26, 1514 (1986)
- 626. T.S.Babicheva, N.O.Gegel, A.B.Shipovskaya. J. Phys. Conf. Ser., 917, 042026 (2017)
- 627. Z.Li, L.Shao, W.Hu, T.Zheng, L.Lu, Y.Cao, Y.Chen. Carbohydr. Polym., **191**, 183 (2018)
- 628. A.Li, R.Lin, C.Lin, B.He, T.Zheng, L.Lu, Y.Cao. *Carbohydr. Polym.*, **148**, 272 (2016)
- 629. S.Montes, H.Maleki. In Colloid. Met. Oxide Nanoparticles. (Elsevier, 2020). P. 337
- 630. Y.Wang, Y.Su, W.Wang, Y.Fang, S.B.Riffat, F.Jiang. Carbohydr. Polym., 226, 115242 (2019)
- 631. G.Meng, H.Peng, J.Wu, Y.Wang, H.Wang, Z.Liu, X.Guo. *Fibers Polym.*, **18**, 706 (2017)
- 632. J.P.Chaudhary, N.Vadodariya, S.K.Nataraj, R.Meena. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces, 7, 24957 (2015)
- 633. M.P.Egorov, A.L.Maksimov, A.M.Muzafarov, N.E.Nifant'ev, A.Yu.Tsivadze. Vestn. Ross. Akad. Nauk, 92, 103 (2022)
- 634. A.A.Yaroslavoc, M.S.Arzhakov, A.R.Khokhlov. Vestn. Ross. Akad. Nauk, 92, 15 (2022)
- 635. L.Makarichi, W.Jutidamrongphan, K.Techato. *Renew.* Sustain. Energy Rev., **91**, 812 (2018)
- 636. J.Kim, S.Jeong. Sustainability, 9, 1638 (2017)
- 637. M.D.Vaverková. Geosciences, 9, 431 (2019)
- 638. S.Shilkina. Russ. J. Resour. Conserv. Recycl., 7, 1 (2020)
- 639. E.Y.Panasenkova, O.E.Gruzdeva, M.G.Kuznetsova. XXI Century. Technosph. Saf., **5**, 356 (2020)
- 640. S.Wong, R.Shanks. In *Biodegrad. Polym. Blends Compos.* from Renew. Resour. (Ed. L.Yu). (Hoboken: John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 2008). P. 303

- 641. N.Rudolph, R.Kiesel, C.Aumnate. Understanding Plastics Recycling Economic, Ecological, and Technical Aspects of Plastic Waste Handling. (Munich: Hanser Publications, 2017)
- 642. B.V.Naber. Tverdye Bytovye Otkhody, 20 (2015)
- 643. D.A.Lebedev, A.A.Nikanorova. *Gidrometeorolog. Ekolog.*, 507 (2020)
- 644. S.Utekar, S.V.K, N.More, A.Rao. Compos. Part B Eng., 207, 108596 (2021)
- 645. V.V.Abramov, N.M.Chalaya. *Tverdye Bytovye Otkhody*, 21 (2021)
- 646. A.K.Singh, R.Bedi, B.S.Kaith. Mater. Today Proc., 26, 1293 (2020)
- 647. M.Martínez-López, G.Martínez-Barrera, R.Salgado-Delgado, O.Gencel. Constr. Build. Mater., 274, 121487 (2021)
- 648. M.Kazemi, E.H.Fini. *Resour. Conserv. Recycl.*, **177**, 105967 (2022)
- 649. M.Vahdatbin, M.Jamshidi. *Resour. Conserv. Recycl.*, **179**, 106045 (2022)
- 650. *Handbook of Plastics Recycling*. (Ed. F.P.La Mantia). (Shrewsbury: Rapra Technology, 2002)
- 651. I.S.Kornev, D.S.Khlopkov, Yu.P.Suchkov, P.A.Kozlovskii, V.F.Shvets, N.M.Yukhnov, I.V.Danilov, Yu.S.Strebkov. *Khim. Proms. Segodnya*, 18 (2010)
- 652. S.M.Al-Salem, A.Antelava, A.Constantinou, G.Manos, A.Dutta. J. Environ. Manage., 197, 177 (2017)
- 653. A.P.Pradeep, S.Gowthaman. Fuel, 323, 124416 (2022)
- 654. G.D.Mumbach, A.Bolzan, R.A.F.Machado. Polymer, 209, 122940 (2020)
- 655. O.Dogu, M.Pelucchi, R.Van de Vijver, P.H.M.Van Steenberge, D.R.D'hooge, A.Cuoci, M.Mehl, A.Frassoldati, T.Faravelli, K.M.Van Geem. *Prog. Energy Combust. Sci.*, 84, 100901 (2021)
- 656. M.G.Davidson, R.A.Furlong, M.C.McManus. J. Clean. Prod., **293**, 126163 (2021)
- 657. W.Zhang, J.Zhang, Y.Ding, R.Zhou, S.Mao. *Energy*, 239, 122112 (2022)
- 658. K.O.Tukacheva, G.V.Il'inykh, N.N.Slyusar'. *Byull. Nauk. Prakt.*, **4**, 51 (2018)
- 659. M.S.Mehdi, M.T.Mehran, S.R.Naqvi, S.U.Zaman, A.H.Khoja, A.Bahadar. *Mater. Today Proc.*, **57**, 1322 (2022)
- 660. T.Adschiri, Y.-W.Lee, M.Goto, S.Takami. *Green Chem.*, 13, 1380 (2011)
- 661. M.Goto, M.Sasaki, T.Hirose. J. Mater. Sci., 41, 1509 (2006)
- 662. M.Goto. J. Supercrit. Fluids, 47, 500 (2009)
- 663. M.Goto. J. Jpn. Pet. Inst., 59, 254 (2016)
- 664. A.Queiroz, G.B.Pedroso, S.N.Kuriyama, A.A.Fidalgo-Neto. Curr. Opin. Green Sustain. Chem., 25, 100364 (2020)
- 665. B.Shojaei, M.Abtahi, M.Najafi. Polym. Adv. Technol., 31, 2912 (2020)
- 666. S.Mishra, V.S.Zope, R.D.Kulkarni. *Polym. Plast. Technol. Eng.*, **43**, 1001 (2004)
- 667. C.Y.Kao, B.Z.Wan, W.H.Cheng. Ind. Eng. Chem. Res., 37, 1228 (1998)
- Y.Ishida, K.Ohsugi, K.Taniguchi, H.Ohtani. Anal. Sci., 27, 1053 (2011)
- 669. S.G.Kazarian, G.G.Martirosyan. Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys., 4, 3759 (2002)
- 670. A.Noritake, M.Hori, M.Shigematsu, M.Tanahashi. Polym. J., 40, 498 (2008)
- 671. J.R.Campanelli, M.R.Kamal, D.G.Cooper. J. Appl. Polym. Sci., 48, 443 (1993)
- 672. K.Zenda, T.Funazukuri. J. Chem. Technol. Biotechnol., 83, 1381 (2008)
- 673. Z.Fang, R.L.Smith, H.Inomata, K.Arai. J. Supercrit. Fluids, 15, 229 (1999)
- 674. O.Sato, K.Arai, M.Shirai. *Fluid Phase Equilib.*, **228–229**, 523 (2005)
- 675. O.Sato, K.Arai, M.Shirai. Catal. Today, 111, 297 (2006)
- 676. J.Wang, K.Bei, Z.Hu, Y.Liu, Y.Ma, Y.Shen, I.-M.Chou, Z.Pan. Polym. Eng. Sci., 57, 544 (2017)

- 677. A.Ikeda, K.Katoh, H.Tagaya. J. Mater. Sci., 43, 2437 (2008)
- 678. H.Tagaya, K.Katoh, J.I.Kadokawa, K.Chiba. *Polym.* Degrad. Stab., **64**, 289 (1999)
- 679. M.Watanabe, Y.Matsuo, T.Matsushita, H.Inomata, T.Miyake, K.Hironaka. *Polym. Degrad. Stab.*, 94, 2157 (2009)
- 680. W.Wang, L.Meng, Y.Huang. Polym. Degrad. Stab., 110, 312 (2014)
- 681. W.Wang, L.Meng, K.Leng, Y.Huang. Polym. Degrad. Stab., 136, 112 (2017)
- 682. I.Okajima, H.Okamoto, T.Sako. Polym. Degrad. Stab., 162, 22 (2019)
- 683. J.Yu, L.Sun, C.Ma, Y.Qiao, H.Yao. *Waste Manag.*, **48**, 300 (2016)
- 684. Y.Sato, K.Kato, Y.Takeshita, K.Takahashi, S.Nishi. Japanese J. Appl. Physics, Part 1 Regul. Pap. Short Notes Rev. Pap., 37, 6270 (1998)
- 685. Y.Takeshita, K.Kato, K.Takahashi, Y.Sato, S.Nishi. J. Supercrit. Fluids, 31, 185 (2004)
- 686. K.Liu, F.-S.Zhang. J. Hazard. Mater., 316, 19 (2016)
- 687. F.-R.Xiu, Y.Wang, X.Yu, Y.Li, Y.Lu, K.Zhou, J.He, Z.Song, X.Gao. *Sci. Total Environ.*, **708**, 134532 (2020)
- 688. H.Kwak, H.Y.Shin, S.Y.Bae, H.Kumazawa. J. Appl. Polym. Sci., 101, 695 (2006)
- 689. W.D.Lilac, S.Lee. Adv. Environ. Res., 6, 9 (2001)
- 690. J.Kronholm, P.Vastamäki, R.Räsänen, A.Ahonen, K.Kartonen, M.L.Riekkola. *Ind. Eng. Chem. Res.*, 45, 3029 (2006)
- 691. T.Moriya, H.Enomoto. Polym. Degrad. Stab., 65, 373 (1999)
- 692. F.Bai, C.C.Zhu, Y.Liu, P.Q.Yuan, Z.M.Cheng, W.K.Yuan. Fuel Process. Technol., 160, 267 (2013)
- 693. X.Su, Y.Zhao, R.Zhang, J.Bi. Fuel Process. Technol., 85, 1249 (2004)
- 694. X.C.Tan, C.C.Zhu, Q.K.Liu, T.Y.Ma, P.Q.Yuan, Z.M.Cheng, W.K.Yuan. *Fuel Process. Technol.*, **118**, 49 (2014)
- 695. W.T.Chen, K.Jin, N.H.Linda Wang. ACS Sustain. Chem. Eng., 7, 3749 (2019)
- 696. L.Su, X.Wu, X.Liu, L.Chen, K.Chen, S.Hong. *Chinese J. Chem. Eng.*, **15**, 738 (2007)
- 697. B.Ciuffi, D.Chiaramonti, A.M.Rizzo, M.Frediani, L.Rosi. Appl. Sci., **10**, 6307 (2020)
- 698. R.Honma, H.Hori, F.R.Da Cunha, N.Horiike, L.Steinbach, B.Ameduri. Ind. Eng. Chem. Res., 58, 13030 (2019)
- 699. H.Hori, H.Tanaka, K.Watanabe, T.Tsuge, T.Sakamoto, A.Manseri, B.Ameduri. *Ind. Eng. Chem. Res.*, 54, 8650 (2015)
- 700. T.Helmer Pedersen, F.Conti. Waste Manag., 68, 24 (2017)
- 701. X.Zhao, Y.Xia, L.Zhan, B.Xie, B.Gao, J.Wang. ACS Sustain. Chem. Eng., 7, 1464 (2019)
- 702. M.S.Seshasayee, P.E.Savage. *Appl. Energy*, **278**, 115673 (2020)
- 703. H.Tagaya, Y.I.Suzuki, T.Asou, J.I.Kadokawa, K.Chiba. *Chem. Lett.*, **27**, 937 (1998)
- 704. Y.Shibasaki, J.Kadokawa, H.Tagaya, B.Hatano, C.Kato. J. Mater. Cycles Waste Manag., 6, 1 (2004)
- 705. Y.I.Suzuki, H.Tagaya, T.Asou, J.I.Kadokawa, K.Chiba. Ind. Eng. Chem. Res., 38, 1391 (1999)
- 706. Y.J.Huang, H.Paul Wang, C.T.Li, Y.C.Chien. *Chemosphere*, 40, 347 (2000)
- 707. C.Fromonteil, P.Bardelle, F.Cansell. Ind. Eng. Chem. Res., 39, 922 (2000)
- 708. Y.Shibasaki, T.Kamimori, J.I.Kadokawa, B.Hatano, H.Tagaya. Polym. Degrad. Stab., 83, 481 (2004)
- 709. K.Suyama, M.Kubota, M.Shirai, H.Yoshida. Polym. Degrad. Stab., 95, 1588 (2010)
- 710. Y.Park, J.N.Hool, C.W.Curtis, C.B.Roberts. *Ind. Eng. Chem. Res.*, **40**, 756 (2001)
- 711. M.Rezakazemi, O.Tavakoli. ChemistrySelect, 5, 3257 (2020)
- 712. Z.Dai, B.Hatano, J.I.Kadokawa, H.Tagaya. Polym. Degrad. Stab., **76**, 179 (2002)
- 713. D.T.Chen, C.A.Perman, M.E.Riechert, J.Hoven. J. Hazard. Mater., 44, 53 (1995)

- 714. S.Yan, D.Xia, X.Zhang, B.Jiang. Waste Manag., 93, 83 (2019)
- 715. Y.Park, J.T.Reaves, C.W.Curtis, C.B.Roberts. J. Elastomers Plast., **31**, 162 (1999)
- 716. S.Nanda, S.N.Reddy, H.N.Hunter, D.V.N.Vo, J.A.Kozinski, I.Gökalp. J. Supercrit. Fluids, 154, 104627 (2019)
- 717. S.Song, H.Zha, H.Huang. J. Polym. Eng., 37, 529 (2017)
- 718. J.Guo, J.Guo, Z.Xu. J. Hazard. Mater., 168, 567 (2009)
- 719. R.Wang, Z.Xu. Waste Manag., 34, 1455 (2014)
- 720. Y.Wang, F.S.Zhang. J. Hazard. Mater., 205-206, 156 (2012)
- 721. K.Li, Z.Xu. Environ. Sci. Technol., 49, 1761 (2015)
- 722. Y.Matsumoto, Y.Oshima. J.Supercrit. Fluids, 95, 462 (2014)
- 723. B.Wei, J.Li, H.Xie, L.Liu, Q.Dong. *Procedia Environ. Sci.*, **16**, 500 (2012)
- 724. M.Xing, F.Zhang. Procedia Environ. Sci., 16, 491 (2012)
- 725. M.Xing, F.S.Zhang. Chem. Eng. J., 219, 131 (2013)
- 726. E.Yildirir, J.A.Onwudili, P.T.Williams. Waste and Biomass Valorization, 6, 959 (2015)
- 727. K.Li, L.Zhang, Z.Xu. J. Hazard. Mater., 374, 356 (2019)
- 728. K.Li, Z.Xu. J. Hazard. Mater., 402, 123684 (2021)
- 729. R.Wang, Y.Chen, Z.Xu. Environ. Sci. Technol., 49, 5999 (2015)
- 730. X.Zhuang, Y.Ye, W.He, G.Li, J.Huang, S.Lu. Res. Chem. Intermed., **39**, 2495 (2013)
- 731. M.Brebu, T.Bhaskar, A.Muto, Y.Sakata. Chemosphere, 64, 1021 (2006)
- 732. J.A.Onwudili, P.T.Williams. Chemosphere, 74, 787 (2009)
- 733. A.Soler, J.A.Conesa, N.Ortuño. Chemosphere, 186, 167 (2017)
- 734. M.A.Uddin, T.Bhaskar, T.Kusaba, K.Hamano, A.Muto, Y.Sakata. Green Chem., 5, 260 (2003)
- 735. C.Morin, A.Loppinet-Serani, F.Cansell, C.Aymonier. J. Supercrit. Fluids, 66, 232 (2012)
- 736. I.Okajima, K.Watanabe, S.Haramiishi, M.Nakamura, Y.Shimamura, T.Sako. J. Supercrit. Fluids, 119, 44 (2017)
- 737. S.Gharde, B.Kandasubramanian. Environ. Technol. Innov., 14, 100311 (2019)
- 738. Y.Bai, Z.Wang, L.Feng. Mater. Des., 31, 999 (2010)
- 740. Y.N.Kim, Y.O.Kim, S.Y.Kim, M.Park, B.Yang, J.Kim, Y.C.Jung. *Compos. Sci. Technol.*, **173**, 66 (2019)
- 741. Y.Liu, J.Liu, Z.Jiang, T.Tang. Polym. Degrad. Stab., 97, 214 (2012)
- 742. I.Okajima, M.Hiramatsu, T.Sako. *Adv. Mater. Res.*, **222**, 243 (2011)
- 743. R.Morales Ibarra, M.Sasaki, M.Goto, A.T.Quitain, S.M.García Montes, J.A.Aguilar-Garib. J. Mater. Cycles Waste Manag., 17, 369 (2015)
- 744. K.Liu, Z.Zhang, F.-S.Zhang. Waste Manag., 56, 423 (2016)
- 745. H.U.Sokoli, M.E.Simonsen, E.G.Søgaard. *Polym. Degrad. Stab.*, **152**, 10 (2018)
- 746. L.O.Dandy, G.Oliveux, J.Wood, M.J.Jenkins, G.A.Leeke. Polym. Degrad. Stab., 112, 52 (2015)
- 747. J.A.Onwudili, P.T.Williams. J. Supercrit. Fluids, 49, 356 (2009)
- 748. C.Chaabani, E.Weiss-Hortala, Y.Soudais. *Waste and Biomass Valorization*, **8**, 2853 (2017)
- 749. C.C.Knight, C.Zeng, C.Zhang, B.Wang. *Environ. Technol.*, 33, 639 (2012)
- 750. G.Oliveux, J.L.Bailleul, E.L.G.La Salle, N.Lefèvre, G.Biotteau. Polym. Degrad. Stab., 98, 785 (2013)
- B.Pillain, P.Loubet, F.Pestalozzi, J.Woidasky, A.Erriguible, C.Aymonier, G.Sonnemann. J. Supercrit. Fluids, 154, 104607 (2019)
- 752. Y.F.Khalil. Waste Manag., 76, 767 (2018)
- 753. M.Prinçaud, C.Aymonier, A.Loppinet-Serani, N.Perry, G.Sonnemann. ACS Sustain. Chem. Eng., 2, 1498 (2014)
- 754. P.Kritzer. J. Supercrit. Fluids, 29, 1 (2004)
- 755. Y.Yang, Y.Lu, H.Xiang, Y.Xu, Y.Li. Polym. Degrad. Stab., 75, 185 (2002)

- 756. T.Sako, I.Okajima, T.Sugeta, K.Otake, S.Yoda, Y.Takebayashi, C.Kamizawa. *Polym. J.*, **32**, 178 (2000)
- 757. T.Sako, T.Sugeta, K.Otake, N.Nakazawa, M.Sato, K.Namiki, M.Tsugumi. J. Chem. Eng. Jpn., 30, 342 (1997)
- 758. Q.Liu, R.Li, T.Fang. Chem. Eng. J., 270, 535 (2015)
- H.Kurokawa, M.A.Ohshima, K.Sugiyama, H.Miura. Polym. Degrad. Stab., 79, 529 (2003)
- 760. M.Genta, M.Goto, M.Sasaki. J.Supercrit. Fluids, 52, 266 (2010)
- 761. B.K.Kim, G.C.Hwang, S.Y.Bae, S.C.Yi, H.Kumazawa. *J. Appl. Polym. Sci.*, **81**, 2102 (2001)
- 762. B.K.Kim, D.Kim, Y.Cho, M.Han. J.Chem. Eng. Jpn., 41, 923 (2008)
- 763. J.M.Andanson, S.G.Kazarian. *Macromol. Symp.*, 265, 195 (2008)
- 764. C.Nunes, P.Souza, A.Freitas, M.Silva, F.Rosa, E.Muniz. Catalysts, 7, 43 (2017)
- 765. S.L.Fávaro, A.R.Freitas, T.A.Ganzerli, A.G.B.Pereira, A.L.Cardozo, O.Baron, E.C.Muniz, E.M.Girotto, E.Radovanovic. J.Supercrit. Fluids, 75, 138 (2013)
- 766. R.E.N.De Castro, G.J.Vidotti, A.F.Rubira, E.C.Muniz. J. Appl. Polym. Sci., 101, 2009 (2006)
- 767. F.Liu, J.Chen, Z.Li, P.Ni, Y.Ji, Q.Meng. J. Anal. Appl. Pyrolysis, 99, 16 (2013)
- 768. J.Ding, J.Chen, Y.Ji, P.Ni, Z.Li, L.Xing. J. Anal. Appl. Pyrolysis, **106**, 99 (2014)
- 769. M.Imran, B.K.Kim, M.Han, B.G.Cho, D.H.Kim. Polym. Degrad. Stab., 95, 1686 (2010)
- 770. M.Genta, T.Iwaya, M.Sasaki, M.Goto, T.Hirose. Ind. Eng. Chem. Res., 44, 3894 (2005)
- 771. M.Genta, T.Iwaya, M.Sasaki, M.Goto. *Waste Manag.*, **27**, 1167 (2007)
- 772. M.Goto, H.Koyamoto, A.Kodama, T.Hirose, S.Nagaoka. J. Phys. Condens. Matter, 14, 11427 (2002)
- 773. M.Goto, H.Koyamoto, A.Kodama, T.Hirose, S.Nagaoka. *AIChE J.*, **48**, 136 (2002)
- 774. C.Zhang, H.Zhang, J.Yang, Z.Liu. Polym. Degrad. Stab., 86, 461 (2004)
- 775. J.Yang, J.Huang, M.Chyu, Q.-M.Wang, D.Xiong, Z.Zhu. J. Appl. Polym. Sci., 116, 2269 (2010)
- 776. T.Sako, T.Sugeta, K.Otake, S.Yoda, Y.Takebayashi, I.Okajima, C.Kamizawa. *Polym. J.*, **31**, 714 (1999)
- 777. J.Huang, J.Yang, M.K.Chyu, Q.Wang, Z.Zhu. Polym. Degrad. Stab., 94, 2142 (2009)
- 778. M.Genta, F.Yano, Y.Kondo, W.Matsubara, S.Oomoto. Mitsubishi Heavy Ind. Ltd., Tech. Rev., 40, 1 (2003)
- 779. R.Piñero, J.García, M.J.Cocero. *Green Chem.*, 7, 380 (2005) 780. R.Pinero-Hernanz, J.Garcia-Serna, M.J.Cocero. *AIChE J.*,
- **52**, 4186 (2006)
- 781. H.Jie, H.Ke, Z.Qing, C.Lei, W.Yongqiang, Z.Zibin. Polym. Degrad. Stab., 91, 2307 (2006)
- 782. A.Kamimura, K.Kaiso, S.Suzuki, Y.Oishi, Y.Ohara, T.Sugimoto, K.Kashiwagi, M.Yoshimoto. *Green Chem.*, 13, 2055 (2011)
- 783. A.Kamimura, K.Ikeda, S.Suzuki, K.Kato, Y.Akinari, T.Sugimoto, K.Kashiwagi, K.Kaiso, H.Matsumoto, M.Yoshimoto. *ChemSusChem*, 7, 2473 (2014)
- 784. H.Matsumoto, Y.Akinari, K.Kaiso, A.Kamimura. J. Mater. Cycles Waste Manag., 19, 326 (2017)
- 785. H.-Y.Shin, S.Y.Bae. J. Appl. Polym. Sci., 108, 3467 (2008)
- 786. X.Pei, X.Yuan, G.Zeng, H.Huang, J.Wang, H.Li, H.Zhu. Fuel Process. Technol., 93, 35 (2012)
- 787. H.shik Lee, J.H.Jeong, H.K.Cho, C.M.Koo, S.M.Hong, H.Kim, Y.W.Lee. *Polym. Degrad. Stab.*, **93**, 2084 (2008)
- 788. T.Goto, T.Yamazaki, T.Sugeta, I.Okajima, T.Sako. J. Appl. Polym. Sci., 109, 144 (2008)
- I.Okajima, A.Katsuzaki, T.Goto, T.Yamazaki, T.Sako. J. Chem. Eng. Japan, 43, 231 (2010)
- 790. Y.J.Kwon, W.Y.Park, S.M.Hong, C.M.Koo. J. Appl. Polym. Sci., 116, E21 (2012)

- 791. T.Goto, S.Ashihara, M.Kato, I.Okajima, T.Sako. Ind. Eng. Chem. Res., 51, 6967 (2012)
- 792. B.K.Baek, J.W.Shin, J.Y.Jung, S.M.Hong, G.J.Nam, H.Han, C.M.Koo. J. Appl. Polym. Sci., 132, 41442 (2015)
- 793. B.K.Baek, Y.H.La, W.J.Na, S.H.Lee, S.M.Hong, H.Han, Y.W.Lee, G.J.Nam, C.M.Koo. *Polym. Degrad. Stab.*, **126**, 75 (2016)
- 794. B.K.Baek, Y.H.La, A.S.Lee, H.Han, S.H.Kim, S.M.Hong, C.M.Koo. *Polym. Degrad. Stab.*, **130**, 103 (2016)
- 795. T.Goto, S.Ashihara, T.Yamazaki, I.Okajima, T.Sako, Y.Iwamoto, M.Ishibashi, T.Sugeta. *Ind. Eng. Chem. Res.*, 50, 5661 (2011)
- 796. N.Asahi, K.Sakai, N.Kumagai, T.Nakanishi, K.Hata, S.Katoh, T.Moriyoshi. *Polym. Degrad. Stab.*, 86, 147 (2004)
- 797. L.Liu, L.Tang, Z.Zhu, Y.Ni, Y.Wu. *MATEC Web Conf.*, 64, 4 (2016)
- 798. J.I.Ozaki, S.K.I.Djaja, A.Oya. Ind. Eng. Chem. Res., **39**, 245 (2000)
- 799. H.Yan, C.Lu, D.Jing, X.Hou. Chinese J. Polym. Sci., 32, 1550 (2014)
- 800. T.Zhang, Z.Xing, L.Zhang, Y.Zhang. J. Elastomers Plast., 50, 677 (2018)
- 801. L.Zhan, Z.Wang, Y.Zhang, Z.Xu. Resour. Conserv. Recycl., 155, 104695 (2020)
- 802. A.Kamimura, K.Yamada, T.Kuratani, Y.Taguchi, F.Tomonaga. Chem. Lett., 35, 586 (2006)
- 803. A.Kamimura, E.Konno, S.Yamamoto, T.Watanabe, K.Yamada, F.Tomonaga. J. Mater. Cycles Waste Manag., 11, 38 (2009)
- 804. W.Liu, H.Huang, H.Cheng, Z.Liu. Fibers Polym., 21, 604 (2020)
- 805. H.Huang, W.Liu, Z.Liu. CIRP Ann., 69, 33 (2020)
- 806. H.Huang, Y.Yin, H.Cheng, Z.Zhao, B.Zhang. J. Polym. Environ., 25, 115 (2017)
- 807. H.Cheng, H.Huang, B.Zhang, J.Zhang. Int. J. Sustain. Eng., 12, 233 (2019)
- H.Cheng, H.Huang, Z.Liu, J.Zhang. J. Polym. Environ., 26, 2153 (2018)
- 809. H.Cheng, H.Huang, J.Zhang, D.Jing. Fibers Polym., 18, 795 (2017)
- 810. G.Jiang, S.J.Pickering, E.H.Lester, T.A.Turner, K.H.Wong, N.A.Warrior. Compos. Sci. Technol., 69, 192 (2009)
- 811. H.Yan, C.Lu, D.Jing, C.Chang, N.Liu, X.Hou. New Carbon Mater., 31, 46 (2016)
- 812. A.Kamimura, Y.Akinari, T.Watanabe, K.Yamada, F.Tomonaga. J. Mater. Cycles Waste Manag., 12, 93 (2010)
- A.Kamimura, K.Yamada, T.Kuratani, Y.Oishi, T.Watanabe, T.Yoshida, F.Tomonaga. *ChemSusChem*, 1, 845 (2008)
- 814. A.Kamimura, E.Konno, S.Yamamoto, T.Watanabe, K.Yamada, F.Tomonaga. J. Mater. Cycles Waste Manag., 11, 133 (2009)
- I.Okajima, M.Hiramatsu, Y.Shimamura, T.Awaya, T.Sako. J. Supercrit. Fluids, 91, 68 (2014)
- 816. R.Piñero-Hernanz, J.García-Serna, C.Dodds, J.Hyde, M.Poliakoff, M.J.Cocero, S.Kingman, S.Pickering, E.Lester. J. Supercrit. Fluids, 46, 83 (2008)
- 817. H.-K.Cho, J.S.Lim. Int. J. Thermophys., 38, 175 (2017)
- 818. H.U.Sokoli, E.G.Søgaard. Chem. Eng. Trans., 43, 967 (2015)
- H.Cheng, W.Liu, H.Huang, Z.Liu. Int. J.Chem. React. Eng., 17, 20190048 (2019)
- E.Yildirir, J.A.Onwudili, P.T.Williams. J. Supercrit. Fluids, 92, 107 (2014)
- 821. L.Meng, D.Fan, Y.Huang, Z.Jiang, C.Zhang. Appl. Surf. Sci., 261, 415 (2012)
- 822. H.U.Sokoli, M.E.Simonsen, E.G.Søgaard. J. Reinf. Plast. Compos., 36, 1286 (2017)
- 823. H.U.Sokoli, M.E.Simonsen, R.P.Nielsen, K.R.Arturi, E.G.Søgaard. *Fuel Process. Technol.*, **149**, 29 (2016)
- 824. P.Köll, J.Metzger. Angew. Chemie Int. Ed. English, 17, 754 (1978)

- 825. I.Okajima, T.Sako. Polym. Degrad. Stab., 163, 1 (2019)
- 826. M.J.Keith, L.A.Román-Ramírez, G.Leeke, A.Ingram. Polym. Degrad. Stab., 161, 225 (2019)
- 827. H.U.Sokoli, J.Beauson, M.E.Simonsen, A.Fraisse, P.Brøndsted, E.G.Søgaard. J.Supercrit. Fluids, 124, 80 (2017)
- 828. G.C.Hwang, B.K.Kim, S.Y.Bae, S.C.Yi, H.Kumazawa. J. Ind. Eng. Chem., 5, 150 (1999)
- 829. S.C.Oh, D.I.Han, H.Kwak, S.Y.Bae, K.H.Lee. Polym. Degrad. Stab., 92, 1622 (2007)
- 830. S.C.Oh, H.Kwak, S.Y.Bae. J. Chem. Eng. Jpn., 39, 1004 (2006)
- 831. G.C.Hwang, K.H.Kim, S.Y.Bae, S.C.Yi, H.Kumazawa. *Korean J. Chem. Eng.*, **18**, 396 (2001)
- 832. A.Jain, R.K.Soni. J. Polym. Res., 14, 475 (2007)
- 833. W.Mormann, D.Spitzer. In *Adv. Polycarbonates*. (Eds D.J.Brunelle, M.R.Korn). 2005. P. 244
- 834. H.Lentz, W.Mormann. Makromol. Chemie. Macromol. Symp., 57, 305 (1992)
- 835. W.Mormann, D.Spitzer. E-Polymers, 4, 9 (2004)
- 836. W.Mormann, P.Frank. Macromol. Symp., 242, 165 (2006)
- 837. R.Arai, K.Zenda, K.Hatakeyama, K.Yui, T.Funazukuri. Chem. Eng. Sci., 65, 36 (2010)
- 838. K.Hatakeyama, T.Kojima, T.Funazukuri. J. Mater. Cycles Waste Manag., 16, 124 (2014)
- 839. F.R.Xiu, Y.Li, Y.Qi, X.Yu, J.He, Y.Lu, X.Gao, Y.Deng, Z.Song. Waste Manag., 84, 355 (2019)
- 840. G.C.Hwang, J.H.Choi, S.Y.Bae, H.Kumazawa. Korean J. Chem. Eng., 18, 854 (2001)
- 841. M.E.S.Abdel-Raouf, A.R.Mahmoud Abdel-Raheim, S.M.El-Saeed. Waste and Biomass Valorization, 4, 37 (2013)
- 842. A.Karaduman, E.H.Imşek, B.Çiçek, A.Y.Bilgesü. J. Anal. Appl. Pyrolysis, 62, 273 (2002)
- 843. S.Sato, T.Murakata, S.Baba, Y.Saito, S.Watanabe. J. Appl. Polym. Sci., 40, 2065 (1990)
- 844. T.Murakata, Y.Saito, T.Yosikawa, T.Suzuki, S.Sato. Polymer, 34, 1436 (1993)
- G.Vicente, J.Aguado, D.P.Serrano, N.Sánchez. J. Anal. Appl. Pyrolysis, 85, 366 (2009)
- 846. J.Aguado, D.P.Serrano, G.Vicente, N.Sánchez. Ind. Eng. Chem. Res., 46, 3497 (2007)
- 847. J.C.Dhawan, A.F.Bencsath, R.C.Legendre. In *Supercrit. Fluid Eng. Sci.* (Eds E.Kiran, J.F.Brennecke). (American Chemical Society, 1992). P. 380
- 848. S.N.Joung, S.W.Park, S.Y.Kim, K.P.Yoo, S.Y.Bae. Korean J. Chem. Eng., 16, 602 (1999)
- 849. S.B.Lee, I.K.Hong. J. Ind. Eng. Chem., 4, 26 (1998)
- 850. H.Jie, H.Ke, T.Lihua, W.Jiachun, Z.Zibin, Y.Weiyong. J. Appl. Polym. Sci., 109, 3596 (2008)
- 851. K.Huang, L.H.Tang, Z.Bin Zhu, W.Y.Ying. J. Anal. Appl. Pyrolysis, 76, 186 (2006)
- 852. K.Huang, L.H.Tang, Z.Bin Zhu, C.F.Zhang. Polym. Degrad. Stab., 89, 312 (2005)
- 853. P.R.Souza, C.S.Nunes, A.R.Freitas, J.R.Belinato, E.J.Pilau, A.R.Fajardo, E.A.da Silva Filho, W.H.Schreiner, E.C.Muniz. J. Clean. Prod., 254, 119984 (2020)
- 854. Y.Wang, J.Li, X.Zhou, T.Wang, Q.Zhao, H.Zhang, Y.Wang, X.Hou. Compos. Sci. Technol., 199, 108342 (2020)
- 855. M.Xing, Y.Li, L.Zhao, X.Song, Z.Fu, Y.Du, X.Huang. *Waste Manag.*, **102**, 464 (2020)
- 856. K.Kaiso, T.Sugimoto, K.Kashiwagi, A.Kamimura. Chem. Lett., 40, 370 (2011)
- Z.Feng, J.Zhao, J.Rockwell, D.Bailey, G.Huffman. Fuel Process. Technol., 49, 17 (1996)
- 858. P.T.Williams, E.Slaney. *Resour. Conserv. Recycl.*, **51**, 754 (2007)
- 859. L.Wang, P.Chen. Chem. Eng. Process. Process Intensif., 43, 145 (2004)
- M.N.Siddiqui, H.H.Redhwi. J. Anal. Appl. Pyrolysis, 86, 141 (2009)
- 861. M.M.Ibrahim, E.Hopkins, M.S.Seehra. *Fuel Process. Technol.*, **49**, 65 (1996)

- 862. M.M.Ibrahim, M.S.Seehra. Energy and Fuels, 11, 926 (1997)
- 863. D.Munir, M.R.Usman. J. Anal. Appl. Pyrolysis, 135, 44 (2018)
- 864. J.Shabtai, X.Xiao, W.Zmierczak. Energy and Fuels, 11, 76 (1997)
- W.Zmierczak, X.Xiao, J.Shabtai. Fuel Process. Technol., 49, 31 (1996)
- 866. T.Karayildirim, J.Yanik, S.Uçar, M.Saglam, M.Yüksel. Fuel Process. Technol., 73, 23 (2001)
- 867. D.Munir, M.F.Irfan, M.R.Usman. *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.*, **90**, 490 (2018)
- 868. E.S.Alekseev, A.Y.Alentiev, A.S.Belova, V.I.Bogdan, T.V.Bogdan, A.V.Bystrova, E.R.Gafarova, E.N.Golubeva, E.A.Grebenik, O.I.Gromov, V.A.Davankov, S.G.Zlotin, M.G.Kiselev, A.E.Koklin, Y.N.Kononevich, A.E.Lazhko, V.V.Lunin, S.E.Lyubimov, O.N.Martyanov, I.I.Mishanin, A.M.Muzafarov, N.S.Nesterov, A.Y.Nikolaev, R.D.Oparin, O.O.Parenago, O.P.Parenago, Y.A.Pokusaeva, I.A.Ronova, A.B.Solovieva, M.N.Temnikov, P.S.Timashev, O.V.Turova, E.V.Filatova, A.A.Philippov, A.M.Chibiryaev, A.S.Shalygin. *Russ. Chem. Rev.*, **89**, 1337 (2020)
- 869. S.Ügdüler, K.M.Van Geem, M.Roosen, E.I.P.Delbeke, S.De Meester. *Waste Manag.*, **104**, 148 (2020)
- 870. Y.B.Zhao, X.D.Lv, H.G.Ni. Chemosphere, 209, 707 (2018)
- 871. A.P.Sánchez-Camargo, J.A.Mendiola, E.Ibáñez, M.Herrero. In *Ref. Modul. Chem. Mol. Sci. Chem. Eng.* Elsevier, 2014. P. 196
- 872. E.Anklam, H.Berg, L.Mathiasson, M.Sharman, F.Ulberth. Food Addit. Contam., 15, 729 (1998)
- 873. M.Herrero, A.Cifuentes, E.Ibañez. *Food Chem.*, **98**, 136 (2006)
- 874. K.Y.Khaw, M.O.Parat, P.N.Shaw, J.R.Falconer. *Molecules*, 22, 1186 (2017)
- 875. M.S.Hossain, A.Santhanam, N.A.Nik Norulaini, A.K.M.Omar. Waste Manag., 31, 754 (2011)
- 876. M.S.Hossain, V.Balakrishnan, N.N.N.A.Rahman, Z.A.Rajion, M.O.A.Kadir. J. Supercrit. Fluids, 83, 47 (2013)
- 877. M.S.Hossain, N.N.Nik Ab Rahman, V.Balakrishnan, A.F.M.Alkarkhi, Z.Ahmad Rajion, M.O.Ab Kadir. *Waste Manag.*, 38, 462 (2015)
- 878. E.Di Maio, E.Kiran. J. Supercrit. Fluids, 134, 157 (2018)
- 879. R.G.Wissinger, M.E.Paulaitis. J. Polym. Sci. Part B Polym. Phys., 25, 2497 (1987)
- 880. H.J.Vandenburg, A.A.Clifford, K.D.Bartle, J.Carroll, I.Newton, L.M.Garden, J.R.Dean, C.T.Costley. *Analyst*, **122**, 101 (1997)
- 881. S.Shimizu, S.Abbott. J. Phys. Chem. B, 120, 3713 (2016)
- 882. H.Daimon, Y.Hirata. *Chromatographia*, **32**, 549 (1991)
- 883. L.Baner, T.Bücherl, J.Ewender, R.Franz. J. Supercrit. Fluids, 5, 213 (1992)
- 884. Y.Hirata, Y.Okamoto. J. Microcolumn Sep., 1, 46 (1989)
- 885. T.W.Ryan, S.G.Yocklovich, J.C.Watkins, E.J.Levy. J. Chromatogr. A, 505, 273 (1990)
- 886. A.De Paepe, B.Erlandsson, J.Östelius, U.Gasslander, A.Arbin. J.Liq. Chromatogr. Relat. Technol., 29, 1541 (2006)
- 887. J.A.Garde, R.Catalá, R.Gavara. Food Addit. Contam., 15, 701 (1998)
- 888. M.Thilén, R.Shishoo. J. Appl. Polym. Sci., 76, 938 (2000)
- 889. H.Engelhardt, J.Zapp, P.Kolla. Chromatographia, 32, 527 (1991)
- 890. C.G.Juo, S.W.Chen, G.R.Her. Anal. Chim. Acta, 311, 153 (1995)
- 891. J.Salafranca, J.Cacho, C.Nerín. HRC J. High Resolut. Chromatogr., 22, 553 (1999)
- 892. M.Arias, I.Penichet, F.Ysambertt, R.Bauza, M.Zougagh, Á.Ríos. J.Supercrit. Fluids, 50, 22 (2009)
- B.S.Anouar, C.Guinot, J.C.Ruiz, F.Charton, P.Dole, C.Joly, C.Yvan. J. Supercrit. Fluids, 98, 25 (2015)
- 894. A.Ben Said, C.Guinot, J.C.Ruiz, A.Grandjean, P.Dole, C.Joly, Y.Chalamet. J. Supercrit. Fluids, 110, 22 (2016)

- 895. D.E.Cristancho, J.D.Guzman, C.Taylor, D.Ortiz-Vega, H.Acosta, K.R.Hall. J. Supercrit. Fluids, 69, 124 (2012)
- M.Daneshvar, H.Kamali, M.Masoomi, H.S.Ghaziaskar. J. Supercrit. Fluids, 70, 119 (2012)
- 897. A.Alassali, N.Aboud, K.Kuchta, P.Jaeger, A.Zeinolebadi. *Polymers*, **12**, 1347 (2020)
- 898. Y.Yao, E.Chau, G.Azimi. Waste Manag., 97, 131 (2019)
- 899. S.Kuppers. Chromatographia, 33, 434 (1992)
- 900. K.D.Bartle, T.Boddington, A.A.Clifford, N.J.Cotton, C.J.Dowle. Anal. Chem., 63, 2371 (1991)
- 901. N.J.Cotton, K.D.Bartle, A.A.Clifford, S.Ashraf, R.Moulder, C.J.Dowle. J. High Resolut. Chromatogr., 14, 164 (1991)
- 902. S.Schmidt, L.Blomberg, T.Wannnman. Chromatographia, 28, 400 (1989)
- 903. S.R.Porter, L.T.Taylor. J. Chromatogr. A, 855, 715 (1999)
- 904. A.Venema, H.J.F.M.van de Ven, F.David, P.Sandra. J. High Resolut. Chromatogr., 16, 522 (1993)
- 905. X.Lou, H.G.Janssen, C.A.Cramers. J. Chromatogr. Sci., 34, 282 (1996)
- 906. R.M.Guerra, M.L.Marín, A.Sánchez, A.Jiménez. J. Supercrit. Fluids, 22, 111 (2002)
- 907. G.A.MacKay, R.M.Smith. J. High Resolut. Chromatogr., 18, 607 (1995)
- 908. T.P.Hunt, C.J.Dowle, G.Greenway. Analyst, 116, 1299 (1991)
- 909. J.W.Oudsema, C.F.Poole. J. High Resolut. Chromatogr., 16, 198 (1993)
- 910. S.H.Smith, L.T.Taylor. Chromatographia, 56, 165 (2002)
- 911. C.Gutiérrez, M.T.García, I.Gracia, A.de Lucas, J.F.Rodríguez. J. Mater. Cycles Waste Manag., 14, 308 (2012)
- 912. K.M.Dooley, D.Launey, J.M.Becnel, T.L.Caines. In *Innova*tions in Supercritical Fluid Science and Technology. (American Chemical Society, 1995). P. 269
- 913. S.B.Hawthorne, A.B.Galy, V.O.Schmitt, D.J.Miller. *Anal. Chem.*, **67**, 2723 (1995)
- 914. O.Scialdone, A.Galia, S.Raimondi, G.Filardo. J. Supercrit. Fluids, **39**, 347 (2007)
- 915. G.Filardo, A.Galia, S.Gambino, G.Silvestri, M.Poidomani. J. Supercrit. Fluids, 9, 234 (1996)
- 916. G.A.Mackay, R.M.Smith. J. Chromatogr. Sci., 32, 455 (1994)
- 917. H.Wang, K.Chen, J.Fu. Adv. Mater. Res., **550–553**, 908 (2012)
- 918. G.Bunte, T.Haerdle, H.Krause, E.Marioth. In *High Pressure Chemical Engineering*. (Eds P.R.von Rohr, C.Trepp). (Elsevier Science B.V., 1996). P. 535
- 919. D.Xia, A.Maurice, A.Leybros, J.M.Lee, A.Grandjean, J.C.P.Gabriel. *Chemosphere*, **263**, 128282 (2021)
- 920. A.mnim Altwaiq, M.Wolf, R.van Eldik. Anal. Chim. Acta, 491, 111 (2003)
- 921. T.Gamse, F.Steinkellner, R.Marr, P.Alessi, I.Kikic. Ind. Eng. Chem. Res., 39, 4888 (2000)
- 922. T.Gamse, R.Marr. Chemie Ing. Tech., 73, 590 (2001)
- 923. H.Wang, M.Hirahara, M.Goto, T.Hirose. J. Supercrit. Fluids, 29, 251 (2004)
- 924. C.O.Calgaro, D.F.Schlemmer, M.M.Bassaco, G.L.Dotto, E.H.Tanabe, D.A.Bertuol. J. CO₂ Util., 22, 307 (2017)
- 925. S.Sanyal, Q.Ke, Y.Zhang, T.Ngo, J.Carrell, H.Zhang, L.L.Dai. J. Clean. Prod., 41, 174 (2013)
- 926. P.Peng, A.H.A.Park. Green Chem., 22, 7080 (2020)
- 927. C.O.Calgaro, D.F.Schlemmer, M.D.C.R.Da Silva, E.V.Maziero, E.H.Tanabe, D.A.Bertuol. *Waste Manag.*, 45, 289 (2015)
- 928. D.A.Bertuol, C.M.Machado, M.L.Silva, C.O.Calgaro, G.L.Dotto, E.H.Tanabe. *Waste Manag.*, 51, 245 (2016)
- 929. A.B.Argenta, C.M.Reis, G.P.Mello, G.L.Dotto, E.H.Tanabe, D.A.Bertuol. J. Supercrit. Fluids, 120, 95 (2017)
- 930. K.Liu, Z.Zhang, F.S.Zhang. J. Hazard. Mater., 318, 216 (2016)
- 931. C.Erkey. J. Supercrit. Fluids, 17, 259 (2000)

- 932. M.Grützke, V.Kraft, W.Weber, C.Wendt, A.Friesen, S.Klamor, M.Winter, S.Nowak. J. Supercrit. Fluids, 94, 216 (2014)
- 933. S.Rothermel, M.Grützke, X.Mönnighoff, M.Winter, S.Nowak. In *Recycling of Lithium-Ion Batteries: The LithoRec* Way (Sustainable Production, Life Cycle Engineering and Management). (Eds A.Kwade, J.Diekmann). (Cham: Springer, 2018). P. 177
- 934. M.Grützke, X.Mönnighoff, F.Horsthemke, V.Kraft, M.Winter, S.Nowak. RSC Adv., 5, 43209 (2015)
- 935. X.Mönnighoff, A.Friesen, B.Konersmann, F.Horsthemke, M.Grützke, M.Winter, S.Nowak. J. Power Sources, 352, 56 (2017)
- 936. V.Margon, U.S.Agarwal, C.Bailly, G.de Wit, J.M.N.van Kasteren, P.J.Lemstra. J. Supercrit. Fluids, 38, 44 (2006)
- 937. J.Möller, E.Strömberg, S.Karlsson. Eur. Polym. J., 44, 1583 (2008)
- 938. C.Gutiérrez, J.F.Rodríguez, I.Gracia, A.de Lucas, M.T.García. Polym. Plast. Technol. Eng., 55, 335 (2016)
- 939. S.Peng, S.Liang, M.Yu. Procedia Environ. Sci., 16, 327 (2012)
- 940. S.Peng, S.Liang, M.Yu, X.Li. J. Mater. Cycles Waste Manag., 16, 178 (2014)
- 941. A.T.Griffith, Y.Park, C.B.Roberts. *Polym. Plast. Technol. Eng.*, **38**, 411 (1999)
- 942. M.Champeau, J.-M.Thomassin, T.Tassaing, C.Jérôme. J. Control. Release, **209**, 248 (2015)
- 943. M.Banchero. Color. Technol., 129, 2 (2013)
- 944. M.Türk, C.Erkey. J.Supercrit. Fluids, 134, 176 (2018)
- 945. J.J.Watkins, T.J.McCarthy. Macromolecules, 27, 4845 (1994)
- 946. O.S.Fleming, S.G.Kazarian. In Supercritical Carbon Dioxide: In Polymer Reaction Engineering. (Eds M.F.Kemmere, T.Meyer). (Weinhei: Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA, 2000). P. 205
- 947. I.Kikic, F.Vecchione. Curr. Opin. Solid State Mater. Sci., 7, 399 (2003)
- 948. M.A.L.Verbruggen, L.Van Der Does, J.W.M.Noordermeer, M.Van Duin, H.J.Manuel. *Rubber Chem. Technol.*, **72**, 731 (1999)
- 949. L.Asaro, M.Gratton, N.Poirot, S.Seghar, N.Aït Hocine. Waste Manag., 118, 647 (2020)
- 950. M.Kojima, M.Tosaka, Y.Ikeda. Green Chem., 6, 84 (2004)
- 951. M.Kojima, S.Kohjiya, Y.Ikeda. Polymer, 46, 2016 (2005)
- 952. A.A.Yaqoob, M.N.M.Ibrahim, K.Umar, A.Ahmad, S.H.Mohd. Setapar. In Advanced Nanotechnology and Application of Supercritical Fluids. (Springer, 2020). P. 199
- 953. L.Asaro, M.Gratton, S.Seghar, N.Aït Hocine. Resour. Conserv. Recycl., 133, 250 (2018)
- 954. M.Kojima, M.Tosaka, Y.Ikeda, S.Kohjiya. J. Appl. Polym. Sci., **95**, 137 (2005)
- 955. Y.Ikeda. In Chemistry, Manufacture and Applications of Natural Rubber. (Eds S.Kohjiya, Y.Ikeda). (Elsevier, 2014). P. 436
- 956. J.Shi, K.Jiang, H.Zou, L.Ding, X.Zhang, X.Li, L.Zhang, D.Ren. J. Appl. Polym. Sci., 131, 40298 (2014)
- 957. I.Mangili, E.Collina, M.Anzano, D.Pitea, M.Lasagni. Polym. Degrad. Stab., 102, 15 (2014)
- I.Tsivintzelis, A.G.Angelopoulou, C.Panayiotou. *Polymer*, 48, 5928 (2007)
- 959. Z.X.Zhang, S.H.Lee, J.K.Kim, S.L.Zhang, Z.X.Xin. Macromol. Res., 16, 404 (2008)
- 960. Z.X.Xin, Z.X.Zhang, K.Pal, K.J.Kim, D.J.Kang, J.K.Kim, D.S.Bang. J. Cell. Plast., 45, 499 (2009)
- 961. K.M.Jeong, Y.J.Hong, P.Saha, S.H.Park, J.K.Kim. Waste Manag. Res., 32, 1113 (2014)
- 962. Z.X.Zhang, S.L.Zhang, Z.X.Xin, J.K.Kim. e-Polymers, 7, 132 (2007)
- 963. D.E.Kwon, B.K.Park, Y.W.Lee. Polymers, 11, 291 (2019)
- 964. S.Japon, Y.Leterrier, J.E.Månson. Polym. Eng. Sci., 40, 1942 (2000)

- 965. L.Wei, N.Yan, Q.Chen. Environ. Sci. Technol., 45, 534 (2011)
- 966. H.Hu, L.Gao, C.Chen, Q.Chen. Environ. Sci. Technol., 48, 2928 (2014)
- 967. N.Yanagihara, K.Ohgane. Polym. Degrad. Stab., 101, 115 (2014)
- 968. X.-K.Li, H.Lu, W.-Z.Guo, G.-P.Cao, H.-L.Liu, Y.-H.Shi. AIChE J., 61, 200 (2015)
- 969. W.Guo, H.Lu, X.Li, G.Cao. RSC Adv., 6, 43171 (2016)
- 970. I.V.I.V.Elmanovich, A.I.A.I.Stakhanov, V.V.V.Zefirov, A.A.A.Pavlov, B.V.B.V.Lokshin, M.O.M.O.Gallyamov. J. Supercrit. Fluids, 158, 104744 (2020)
- 971. I.V.Elmanovich, A.I.Stakhanov, E.I.Kravchenko, S.V.Stakhanova, A.A.Pavlov, M.M.Ilyin, E.P.Kharitonova, M.O.Gallyamov, A.R.Khokhlov. J. Supercrit. Fluids, 181, 105503 (2022)
- 972. K.V.Datye, H.M.Raje, N.D.Sharma. Resour. Conserv., 11, 117 (1984)
- 973. J.J.Koh, X.Zhang, C.He. Int. J.Biol. Macromol., 109, 99 (2018)
- 974. R.Auras, B.Harte, S.Selke. Macromol. Biosci., 4, 835 (2004)
- 975. J.W.Doran. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ., 88, 119 (2002)
- 976. R.Lal. Food Energy Secur., 5, 212 (2016)
- 977. N.B.Khitrov, A.L.Ivanov, A.A.Zavalin, M.S.Kuznetsov. Vestn. Agrar. Nauki, 9, 29 (2007)
- 978. M.Biddoccu, G.Guzmán, G.Capello, T.Thielke, P.Strauss, S.Winter, J.G.Zaller, A.Nicolai, D.Cluzeau, D.Popescu, C.Bunea, A.Hoble, E.Cavallo, J.A.Gómez. *Int. Soil Water Conserv. Res.*, 8, 337 (2020)
- 979. D.N.K.V.Usharani, K.M.Roopashree. J. Pharmacogn. Phytochem., 8, 1256 (2019)
- 980. X.Zhang, W.Yang, X.Xin, A.Zhu, S.Ding. Nutr. Cycl. Agroecosystems, 117, 169 (2020)
- 981. S.K.K.Harichane, M.Ghrici, S.Kenai. Int. J. Civil Eng., 9, 90 (2011)
- 982. B.Koohestani, A.K.Darban, P.Mokhtari, E.Darezereshki, E.Yilmaz. Int. J. Environ. Sci. Technol., 18, 1837 (2021)
- 983. H.Porter, N.K.Dhami, A.Mukherjee. Cem. Concr. Compos., 83, 160 (2017)
- 984. Y.Q.H.Yi, K.Oh, R.Kou. Sustain. Mater. Technol., 25, e00194 (2020)
- 985. J.Liu, Y.Bai, Z.Song, Y.Lu, W.Qian, D.Kanungo. *Polymers*, **10**, 287 (2018)
- 986. Y.-X.Zang, W.Gong, H.Xie, B.-L.Liu, H.-L.Chen. *Environ. Technol. Rev.*, 4, 119 (2015)
- 987. R.E.Sojka, D.L.Bjorneberg, J.Entry, R.D.Lentz, W.J.Orts. In Advances in Agronomy. Vol. 92. (Elsevier, 2007). P. 75
- 988. D.N.W.G.J.Levy. In Functional Polymers in Food Science. (Eds G.Cirillo, U.G.Spizzirri, F.Iemma). (Hoboken, NJ, USA: John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 2015). P. 31
- 989. R.M.A.M.G.Rao, P.Bharathi. Sci. Revs. Chem. Commun, 4, 61 (2014)
- 990. T.Aro, P.Fatehi. ChemSusChem, 10, 1861 (2017)
- 991. N.Madad, L.Chebil, C.Sanchez, M.Ghoul. *Rasayan J. Chem.*, 4, 189 (2011)
- 992. Q.Chen, B.Indraratna, J.Carter, C.Rujikiatkamjorn. Comput. Geotech., 61, 316 (2014)
- 993. R.V.P.Chavali, B.Reshmarani. Int. J. Geo-Engineering, 11, 17 (2020)
- 994. G.Xu, X.Ding, M.Kuruppu, W.Zhou, W.Biswas. Sci. Total Environ., 616-617, 1552 (2018)
- 995. J.S.Vinod, B.Indraratna, M.A.A.Mahamud. Proc. Inst. Civ. Eng. Gr. Improv., 163, 43 (2010)
- 996. R.Shivashankar, B.C.Thomas, K.T.Krishnanunni, D.V.Reddy. In *Geotechnical Applications*. (Singapore: Springer, 2019). P. 127
- 997. X.Ding, G.Xu, M.Kizil, W.Zhou, X.Guo. *Water, Air, Soil Pollut.*, **229**, 214 (2018)
- 998. H.Habibi, K.Khosravi-Darani. Biocatal. Agric. Biotechnol., 10, 130 (2017)

- 999. M.H.Abu Elella, E.S.Goda, M.A.Gab-Allah, S.E.Hong, B.Pandit, S.Lee, H.Gamal, A.ur Rehman, K.R.Yoon. *J.Environ. Chem. Eng.*, 9, 104702 (2021)
- 1000. D.F.S.Petri. J. Appl. Polym. Sci., 132, 42035 (2015)
- 1001. F.García-Ochoa, V.E.Santos, J.A.Casas, E.Gómez. Biotechnol. Adv., 18, 549 (2000)
- 1002. I.Chang, J.Im, A.K.Prasidhi, G.-C.Cho. Constr. Build. Mater., 74, 65 (2015)
- 1003. A.F.Cabalar, M.Wiszniewski, Z.Skutnik. Soil Mech. Found. Eng., 54, 356 (2017)
- 1004. S.Lee, M.Chung, H.M.Park, K.-I.Song, I.Chang. J. Mater. Civ. Eng., **31**, 06019012 (2019)
- 1005. G.C.C.I.Chang, M.Lee, A.T.P.Tran, S.Lee, Y.M.Kwon, J.Im. *Transp. Geotech.*, 24, 100385 (2020)
- 1006. I.Chang, Y.-M.Kwon, J.Im, G.-C.Cho. Can. Geotech. J., 56, 1206 (2019)
- 1007. H.Fatehi, S.M.Abtahi, H.Hashemolhosseini, S.M.Hejazi. Constr. Build. Mater., **167**, 813 (2018)
- 1008. R.Chen, L.Zhang, M.Budhu. J. Geotech. Geoenvironmental Eng., 139, 1802 (2013)
- 1009. C.A.Dove, F.F.Bradley, S.V.Patwardhan. *Mater. Struct.*, **49**, 4463 (2016)
- 1010. N.Latifi, S.Horpibulsuk, C.L.Meehan, M.Z.Abd Majid, M.M.Tahir, E.T.Mohamad. J. Mater. Civ. Eng., 29, 04016204 (2017)
- 1011. T.H.K.S.M.Ham, I.Chang, D.H.Noh. J. Geotech. Geoenvironmental Eng., 144, 06018004 (2018)
- 1012. I.Chang, A.K.Prasidhi, J.Im, H.-D.Shin, G.-C.Cho. *Geoderma*, **253**–**254**, 39 (2015)
- 1013. A.Soldo, M.Miletić, M.L.Auad. Sci. Rep., 10, 267 (2020)
- 1014. A.Mendonça, P.V.Morais, A.C.Pires, A.P.Chung, P.V.Oliveira. *Appl. Sci.*, **11**, 170 (2020)
- 1015. K.Y.K.Y.Lee, D.J.D.J.Mooney. Prog. Polym. Sci., 37, 106 (2012)
- 1016. H.Hecht, S.Srebnik. Biomacromolecules, 17, 2160 (2016)
- 1017. H.Daemi, M.Barikani. Sci. Iran., 19, 2023 (2012)
- 1018. K.I.Draget. In *Handbook of Hydrocolloids*. (2nd Ed.). (Woodhead Publishing Limited, 2009). P. 807
- 1019. J.H.Quastel, D.M.Webley. J. Agric. Sci., 37, 257 (1947)
- 1020. J.H.Quastel. Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol., 5, 75 (1954)
- 1021. H.Fatehi, M.Bahmani, A.Noorzad. In *Geo-Congress 2019: Soil Improvement*. (Reston, VA: American Society of Civil Engineers, 2019). P. 157
- 1022. A.Soltani, R.Raeesi, A.Taheri, A.Deng, M.Mirzababaei. Polymers, 13, 764 (2021)
- 1023. C.Peng, J.Zheng, S.Huang, S.Li, D.Li, M.Cheng, Y.Liu. J. Appl. Phycol., 29, 1421 (2017)
- 1024. C.V.Hawkes. Ecology, 84, 1553 (2003)
- 1025. D.C.Housman, H.H.Powers, A.D.Collins, J.Belnap. J. Arid Environ., 66, 620 (2006)
- 1026. J.Cabala, O.Rahmonov, M.Jablonska, E.Teper. Water, Air, Soil Pollut., 215, 339 (2011)
- 1027. V.Pushpamalar, S.J.Langford, M.Ahmad, Y.Y.Lim. Carbohydr. Polym., 64, 312 (2006)
- 1028. A.Benchabane, K.Bekkour. *Colloid Polym. Sci.*, **286**, 1173 (2008)
- 1029. Y.H.X.Pei, Q.Yang, Q.Xu, X.Zhang. Mech. Eng., 35, 2316 (2016)
- 1030. C.Nnadi, F.Brave. J. Soil Sci. Environ. Manag., 2, 206 (2011)
- 1031. S.Ning, H.Jumai, Q.Wang, B.Zhou, L.Su, Y.Shan, J.Zhang. Adv. Polym. Technol., 2019, Article ID 6869454 (2019)
- 1032. A.Olad, H.Zebhi, D.Salari, A.Mirmohseni, A.Reyhani Tabar. Mater. Sci. Eng. C, 90, 333 (2018)
- 1033. H.Andry, T.Yamamoto, T.Irie, S.Moritani, M.Inoue, H.Fujiyama. J. Hydrol., 373, 177 (2009)
- 1034. S.C.Sutradhar, M.M.R.Khan, M.M.Rahman, N.C.Dafadar. *J. Phys. Sci.*, **26**, 23 (2015)
- 1035. F.N.Kök, M.Y.Arıca, O.Gencer, K.Abak, V.Hasırcı. Pestic. Sci., 55, 1194 (1999)
- 1036. N.Işiklan. J. Appl. Polym. Sci., 99, 1310 (2006)

- 1037. H.Nie, M.Liu, F.Zhan, M.Guo. Carbohydr. Polym., 58, 185 (2004)
- 1038. S.Mohebbi, M.N.Nezhad, P.Zarrintaj, S.H.Jafari, S.S.Gholizadeh, M.R.Saeb, M.Mozafari. *Curr. Stem Cell Res. Ther.*, 14, 93 (2019)
- 1039. S.K.Yong, M.Shrivastava, P.Srivastava, A.Kunhikrishnan, N.Bolan. In *Reviews of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology*. Vol. 233. (Springer, Cham, 2015). P. 1
- 1040. W.J.Orts, R.E.Sojka, G.M.Glenn. Ind. Crops Prod., 11, 19 (2000)
- 1041. W.J.Orts, A.Roa-Espinosa, R.E.Sojka, G.M.Glenn, S.H.Imam, K.Erlacher, J.S.Pedersen. J. Mater. Civ. Eng., 19, 58 (2007)
- 1042. A.Alsanad. Ph.D. Theses. Arizona State University, USA, 2011
- 1043. R.Khachatoorian, I.G.Petrisor, C.-C.Kwan, T.F.Yen. J. Pet. Sci. Eng., **38**, 13 (2003)
- 1044. M.Wan. Carbohydr. Polym., 55, 249 (2004)
- 1045. R.Aguilar, J.Nakamatsu, E.Ramírez, M.Elgegren, J.Ayarza, S.Kim, M.A.Pando, L.Ortega-San-Martin. *Constr. Build. Mater.*, **114**, 625 (2016)
- 1046. A.Donayre, L.F.Sanchez, S.Kim, R.Aguilar, J.Nakamatsu. IOP Conf. Ser. Mater. Sci. Eng., **416**, 012044 (2018)
- 1047. I.Makarios-Laham, T.-C.Lee. J. Environ. Polym. Degrad., 3, 31 (1995)
- 1048. K.Manjula, A.R.Podile. World J. Microbiol. Biotechnol., 21, 1057 (2005)
- 1049. P.Rakesh. Int. J. Pure Appl. Biosci., 5, 2043 (2017)
- 1050. Y.Li, X.Sun, Y.Bi, Y.Ge, Y.Wang. Agric. Sci. China, 8, 597 (2009)
- 1051. M.Zhang, T.Tan, H.Yuan, C.Rui. J. Bioact. Compat. Polym., 18, 391 (2003)
- 1052. P.Fernandez-Saiz, J.M.Lagarón, M.J.Ocio. J. Agric. Food Chem., 57, 3298 (2009)
- 1053. K.S.V.P.Chandrika, R.D.Prasad, V.Godbole. Int. J. Biol. Macromol., 126, 282 (2019)
- 1054. A.B.Zezin, S.V.Mikheikin, V.B.Rogacheva, M.F.Zansokhova, A.V.Sybachin, A.A.Yaroslavov. *Adv. Colloid Interface Sci.*, 226, 17 (2015)
- 1055. Polyelectrolyte Complexes in the Dispersed and Solid State I. (Ed. M.Müller). (Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer, 2014)
- 1056. V.A.Kabanov, A.B.Zezin. Russ. Chem. Rev., 51, 883 (1982)
- 1057. V.A.Kabanov, A.B.Zezin, V.A.Kasaikin, A.A.Yaroslavov, D.A.Topchiev. *Russ. Chem. Rev.*, **60**, 288 (1991)
- 1058. V.A.Izumrudov, B.K.Mussabayeva, Z.S.Kassymova, A.N.Klivenko, L.K.Orazzhanova. *Russ. Chem. Rev.*, 88, 1046 (2019)
- 1059. M.Siyawamwaya, Y.E.Choonara, D.Bijukumar, P.Kumar, L.C.Du Toit, V.Pillay. Int. J. Polym. Mater. Polym. Biomater., 64, 955 (2015)
- 1060. Y.Luo, Q.Wang. Int. J. Biol. Macromol., 64, 353 (2014)
- 1061. I.G.Panova, A.V.Sybachin, V.V.Spiridonov, K.Kydralieva, S.Jorobekova, A.B.Zezin, A.A.Yaroslavov. *Geoderma*, **307**, 91 (2017)
- 1062. I.G.Panova, D.D.Khaidapova, L.O.Ilyasov, A.A.Kiushov, A.B.Umarova, A.V.Sybachin, A.A.Yaroslavov. *Polym. Sci. Ser. B*, **61**, 698 (2019)
- 1063. I.G.Panova, D.D.Khaydapova, L.O.Ilyasov, A.B.Umarova, A.A.Yaroslavov. *Colloids Surfaces A Physicochem. Eng. Asp.*, 590, 124504 (2020)
- 1064. I.G.Panova, V.V.Demidov, P.S.Shulga, L.O.Ilyasov, M.A.Butilkina, A.A.Yaroslavov. L. Degrad. Dev., 32, 1022 (2021)
- 1065. G.Shulga, T.Betkers, J.Brovkina, B.Neiberte, A.Verovkins, O.Belous, D.Ambrazaitene, A.Žukauskaite. Mol. Cryst. Liq. Cryst., 486, 291/[1333] (2008)
- 1066. G.Shulga, T.Betkers, S.Vitolina, B.Neiberte, A.Verovkins, O.Anne, D.Ambrazaitiene, A.Zukauskaite. J. Environ. Eng. Landsc. Manag., 23, 279 (2015)

- 1067. Z.S.Kassymova, L.K.Orazzhanova, A.N.Klivenko, B.K.Mussabayeva, D.K.Aserzhanov. *Russ. J. Appl. Chem.*, 92, 208 (2019)
- 1068. B.K.Mussabayeva, Z.S.Kassymova, M.A.Aldabergenova. Bull. Karaganda Univ. 'Chemistry' Ser., 97, 22 (2020)
- 1069. J.Li, J.Cui, J.Yang, Y.Li, H.Qiu, J.Yang. Compos. Sci. Technol., 129, 30 (2016)
- 1070. S.M.Cakić, I.S.Ristić, M.M.Cincović, D.T.Stojiljković, C.J.János, C.J.Miroslav, J.V.Stamenković. Prog. Org. Coatings, 78, 357 (2015)
- 1071. B.Fernández-d Arlas, A.Eceiza. Macromol. Chem. Phys., 216, 1914 (2015)
- 1072. F.Zheng, Y.Li, Z.Zhang, J.Jia, P.Hu, C.Zhang, H.Xu. J. Clean. Prod., 264, 121685 (2020)
- 1073. H.Dong, W.Wang, Z.Song, H.Dong, J.Wang, S.Sun, Z.Zhang, M.Ke, Z.Zhang, W.-M.Wu, G.Zhang, J.Ma. *Bioresour*. *Technol.*, 239, 472 (2017)
- 1074. M.Nadafan, R.Malekfar, A.Izadi-Darbandi, Z.Dehghani. Desalin. Water Treat., 57, 21286 (2016)
- 1075. S.V.Karpov, A.S.Dzhalmukhanova, D.A.Chernyayev, V.P.Lodygina, V.V.Komratova, G.V.Malkov, E.R.Badamshina. *Bull. Karaganda Univ. 'Chemistry' Ser.*, 97, 43 (2020)
- 1076. S.V.Karpov, A.S.Dzhalmukhanova, D.A.Chernyayev, V.P.Lodygina, A.I.Firsova, E.R. Badamshina. *Polym. Adv. Technol.* 32, 2727 (2021)
- 1077. S.V.Karpov, V.P.Lodygina, V.V.Komratova, A.S.Dzhalmukhanova, G.V.Malkov, E.R.Badamshina. *Kinet. Catal.*, 57, 422 (2016)
- 1078. Y.-T.Wen, N.-T.Dai, S.Hsu. Acta Biomater., 88, 301 (2019)
- 1079. Y.Zhang, B.Liu, K.Huang, S.Wang, R.L.Quirino, Z.Zhang, C.Zhang. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces, 12, 37607 (2020)
- 1080. B.Bizet, É. Grau, H.Cramail, J.M.Asua. *Polym. Chem.*, **11**, 3786 (2020)
- 1081. A.Bossion, I.Olazabal, R.H.Aguirresarobe, S.Marina, J.Martín, L.Irusta, D.Taton, H.Sardon. *Polym. Chem.*, **10**, 2723 (2019)
- 1082. C.Zhang, H.Wang, Q.Zhou. Green Chem., 22, 1329 (2020)
- 1083. S.V.Karpov, A.S.Dzhalmukhanova, V.G.Kurbatov, E.O.Perepelitsina, A.E.Tarasov, E.R.Badamshina. *Polymers*, 14, 5262 (2022)
- 1084. Y.Dong, Z.Zhang, Y.Jin, J.Lu, X.Cheng, J.Li, Y.Deng, Y.Feng, D.Chen. J.Environ. Sci., 24, 999 (2012)
- 1085. H.Qin, H.Zhang, L.Li, X.Zhou, J.Li, C.Kan. *RSC Adv.*, **7**, 52684 (2017)
- 1086. H.Zhang, H.Qin, L.Li, X.Zhou, W.Wang, C.Kan. J. Agric. Food Chem., 66, 6552 (2018)
- 1087. L.Vásquez, L.Campagnolo, A.Athanassiou, D.Fragouli. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces, 11, 30207 (2019)
- 1088. H.-J.Hong, J.S.Lim, J.Y.Hwang, M.Kim, H.S.Jeong, M.S.Park. *Carbohydr. Polym.*, **195**, 136 (2018)
- 1089. N.Mao, L.Zhou, Z.Ye, W.Zheng, L.Peng, Y.Li. J.Environ. Eng., 139, 1070 (2013)
- 1090. T.Lü, D.Yu, G.Chen, X.Wang, S.Huang, C.Liu, P.Tang. Biochem. Eng. J., 143, 196 (2019)
- 1091. L.Hou, Y.Liu, B.-L.Zhou, J.Li. Desalin. WATER Treat., 202, 276 (2020)
- 1092. G.Chen, J.Li, S.Tabassum, Z.Zhang. RSC Adv., 5, 25372 (2015)
- 1093. H.Dong, X.Jiang, S.Sun, L.Fang, W.Wang, K.Cui, T.Yao, H.Wang, Z.Zhang, Y.Zhang, Z.Zhang, P.Fu. RSC Adv., 9, 7495 (2019)
- 1094. Y.Dong, Z.Zhang, Y.Jin, Z.Li, J.Lu. J.Environ. Sci., 23, 366 (2011)
- 1095. S.Tabassum, Y.Wang, X.Zhang, Z.Zhang. RSC Adv., 5, 88692 (2015)
- 1096. X.Qu, P.J.J.Alvarez, Q.Li. Water Res., 47, 3931 (2013)
- 1097. N.Ngwenya, E.J.Ncube, J.Parsons. Rev. Environ. Contam. Toxicol., 222, 111 (2013)
- 1098. C.Fonseca Couto, L.C.Lange, M.C.Santos Amaral. J. Water Process Eng., 26, 156 (2018)

- 1099. A.W.Carpenter, C.F.De Lannoy, M.R.Wiesner. Environ. Sci. Technol., 49, 5277 (2015)
- 1100. H.Voisin, L.Bergström, P.Liu, A.Mathew. Nanomaterials, 7, 57 (2017)
- 1101. N.Mahfoudhi, S.Boufi. Cellulose, 24, 1171 (2017)
- 1102. O.Bakajin, A.Noy, F.Fornasiero, C.P.Grigoropoulos, J.K.Holt, J.Bin In, S.Kim, H.G.Park. In Nanotechnology Applications for Clean Water: Solutions for Improving Water Quality: Second Edition. (Elsevier, 2014). P. 173
- 1103. E.C.Madenli, O.Cakmakci. *Desalin. Water Treat.*, **60**, 137 (2017)
- 1104. M.Sile-Yuksel, B.Tas, D.Y.Koseoglu-Imer, I.Koyuncu. Desalination, **347**, 120 (2014)
- 1105. A.Zirehpour, A.Rahimpour, M.Ulbricht. J. Memb. Sci., 531, 59 (2017)
- 1106. R.S.DeFever, S.Sarupria. Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys., 17, 29548 (2015)
- 1107. M.Sajid, M.K.Nazal, Ihsanullah, N.Baig, A.M.Osman. Sep. Purif. Technol., **191**, 400 (2018)
- 1108. C.Alexander, H.S.Andersson, L.I.Andersson, R.J.Ansell, N.Kirsch, I.A.Nicholls, J.O Mahony, M.J.Whitcombe. J. Mol. Recognit., 19, 106 (2006)
- 1109. L.Chen, X.Wang, W.Lu, X.Wu, J.Li. Chem. Soc. Rev., 45, 2137 (2016)
- 1110. H.Zhang. Polymer, 55, 699 (2014)
- 1111. Nanoscale Materials in Water Purification. (Eds S.Thomas, D.Pasquini, L.Shao-Yuan, D.A.Gopakumar). (Elsevier, 2019)
- 1112. I.Y.Sapurina, M.A.Shishov, V.T.Ivanova. *Russ. Chem. Rev.*, **89**, 1115 (2020)
- 1113. G.V.Lisichkin, Y.A.Krutyakov. *Russ. Chem. Rev.*, **75**, 901 (2006)
- 1114. O.D.Gendrikson, A.V.Zherdev, B.B.Dzantiev. Usp. Biol. Chem., 46, 149 (2006)
- 1115. L.Ye, K.Mosbach. Chem. Mater., 20, 859 (2008)
- 1116. O.Kotrotsiou, C.Kiparissides. In Nanoscale Materials in Water Purification. Elsevier, 2019. P. 179
- 1117. S.A.Chesnokov, V.K.Cherkasov, G.A.Abakumov, O.N.Mamysheva, M.Y.Zakharina, N.Y.Shushunova, Y.V.Chechet, V.A.Kuropatov. *Polym. Sci. Ser. B*, **56**, 11 (2014)
- 1118. M.J.Garcia-Soto, K.Haupt, C.Gonzato. *Polym. Chem.*, **8**, 4830 (2017)
- 1119. M.A.Söylemez, O.Güven, M.Barsbay. Eur. Polym. J., 103, 21 (2018)
- 1120. J.-F.Lutz, J.-M.Lehn, E.W.Meijer, K.Matyjaszewski. *Nat. Rev. Mater.*, **1**, 16024 (2016)
- 1121. H.Zhang. Eur. Polym. J., 49, 579 (2013)
- 1122. S.A.Kurochkin, V.P.Grachev. Polym. Sci. Ser. C, 57, 20 (2015)
- 1123. M.T.Gokmen, F.E.Du Prez. Prog. Polym. Sci., 37, 365 (2012)
- 1124. M.S.Silverstein. Prog. Polym. Sci., 39, 199 (2014)
- 1125. S.A.Chesnokov, N.A.Lenshina, M.V.Arsenyev, R.S.Kovylin, M.A.Baten kin, A.I.Poddel'sky, G.A.Abakumov. *Appl. Organomet. Chem.*, **31**, e3553 (2017)
- 1126. S.V.Kurmaz, N.V.Fadeeva, A.I.Gorshkova, S.A.Kurochkin, E.I.Knerelman, G.I.Davydova, V.I.Torbov, N.N.Dremova, D.V.Konev, V.A.Kurmaz, V.M. Ignatiev, N.S.Emelyanova. *Materials*, 14, 6757 (2021); https://doi.org/10.3390/ma14226757
- 1127. Y.Jiao, J.Jiang, H.Zhang, K.Shi, H.Zhang. Eur. Polym. J., 54, 95 (2014)
- 1128. E.P.C.Lai, Z.De Maleki, S.Wu. J. Appl. Polym. Sci., 116, 1499 (2009)
- 1129. Z.Wang, T.Qiu, L.Guo, J.Ye, L.He, X.Li. *React. Funct. Polym.*, 126, 1 (2018)
- 1130. S.Beyazit, B.Tse Sum Bui, K.Haupt, C.Gonzato. Prog. Polym. Sci., 62, 1 (2016)
- 1131. Y.Li, X.Li, Y.Li, J.Qi, J.Bian, Y.Yuan. Environ. Pollut., 157, 1879 (2009)
- 1132. G.Pan, Y.Zhang, Y.Ma, C.Li, H.Zhang. Angew. Chemie Int. Ed., 50, 11731 (2011)
- 1133. T.Jing, J.Wang, M.Liu, Y.Zhou, Y.Zhou, S.Mei. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res., 21, 1153 (2014)

- 1134. R.J.Krupadam, M.S.Khan, S.R.Wate. *Water Res.*, **44**, 681 (2010)
- 1135. M.Karg, A.Pich, T.Hellweg, T.Hoare, L.A.Lyon, J.J.Crassous, D.Suzuki, R.A.Gumerov, S.Schneider, I.I.Potemkin, W.Richtering. *Langmuir*, **35**, 6231 (2019)
- 1136. W.Richtering. Langmuir, 28, 17218 (2012)
- 1137. M.V.Anakhov, R.A.Gumerov, I.I.Potemkin. *Mendeleev* Commun., **30**, 555 (2020)
- 1138. K.Naseem, Z.Hussain Farooqi, M.Zia Ur Rehman, M.Atiq Ur Rehman, M.Ghufran. *Rev. Chem. Eng.*, **35**, 285 (2019)
- 1139. Q.Wu, P.Tian. J. Appl. Polym. Sci., 109, 3470 (2008)
- 1140. B.Özkahraman, I.Acar, S.Emik. Polym. Bull., 66, 551 (2011)
- 1141. D.Parasuraman, M.J.Serpe. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces, 3, 2732 (2011)
- 1142. D.Parasuraman, A.K.Sarker, M.J.Serpe. *Colloid Polym. Sci.*, **291**, 1795 (2013)
- 1143. T.Sliwa, M.Jarzębski, E.Andrzejewska, M.Szafran, J.Gapiński. React. Funct. Polym., 115, 102 (2017)
- 1144. K.Naseem, Z.H.Farooqi, R.Begum, M.Ghufran, M.Z.U.Rehman, J.Najeeb, A.Irfan, A.G.Al-Sehemi. J. Mol. Liq., 268, 229 (2018)
- 1145. K.Naseem, R.Begum, W.Wu, M.Usman, A.Irfan, A.G.Al-Sehemi, Z.H.Farooqi. J. Mol. Liq., **277**, 522 (2019)
- 1146. K.Naseem, Z.H.Farooqi, R.Begum, M.Z.Ur Rehman, M.Ghufran, W.Wu, J.Najeeb, A.Irfan. *Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res.*, 27, 28169 (2020)
- 1147. T.Brändel, V.Sabadasch, Y.Hannappel, T.Hellweg. ACS Omega, 4, 4636 (2019)
- 1148. V.Sabadasch, L.Wiehemeier, T.Kottke, T.Hellweg. Soft Matter, 16, 5422 (2020)
- 1149. L.Q.Yang, M.M.Hao, H.Y.Wang, Y.Zhang. Colloid Polym. Sci., 293, 2405 (2015)
- 1150. M.Ajmal, M.Siddiq, N.Aktas, N.Sahiner. *RSC Adv.*, **5**, 43873 (2015)
- 1151. S.ur Rehman, M.Siddiq, H.Al-Lohedan, N.Aktas, M.Sahiner, S.Demirci, N.Sahiner. J. Environ. Manage., 166, 217 (2016)
- 1152. L.Jin, Q.Sun, Q.Xu, Y.Xu. Bioresour. Technol., 197, 348 (2015) 1153. 1153.
- Z.Huang, Q.Wu, S.Liu, T.Liu, B.Zhang. Carbohydr. Polym., 97, 496 (2013)
- 1154. L.Zhao, H.Mitomo. J. Appl. Polym. Sci., 110, 1388 (2008)
- 1155. M.Ajmal, S.Demirci, M.Siddiq, N.Aktas, N.Sahiner. New J. Chem., 40, 1485 (2016)
- 1156. K.Naseem, R.Begum, Z.H.Farooqi. *Polym. Compos.*, **39**, 2167 (2018)
- 1157. P.Liu, L.Jiang, L.Zhu, A.Wang. Ind. Eng. Chem. Res., 53, 4277 (2014)
- 1158. P.Liu, L.Jiang, L.Zhu, J.Guo, A.Wang. J. Ind. Eng. Chem., 23, 188 (2015)
- 1159. G.E.Morris, B.Vincent, M.J.Snowden. J. Colloid Interface Sci., 190, 198 (1997)
- 1160. M.Bradley, B.Vincent. Langmuir, 24, 2421 (2008)
- 1161. N.Sahiner, O.Ozay, N.Aktas. Chemosphere, 85, 832 (2011)
- 1162. P.Rao, I.M.C.Lo, K.Yin, S.C.N.Tang. J. Environ. Manage., 92, 1690 (2011)
- 1163. T.Kureha, T.Sato, D.Suzuki. Langmuir, 30, 8717 (2014)
- 1164. C.Nam, H.Li, G.Zhang, T.C.M.Chung. *Macromolecules*, **49**, 5427 (2016)
- 1165. A.L.A.Abirami, P.S.Kumar, D.G.Prakash, A.Ravirajan, A.Umasankaran, P.Narayanan, K.Ravishankar, C.S.Kumar, S.Nagaraju, K.P.J.Reddy. *Sep. Purif. Technol.*, 234, 116095 (2020)
- 1166. A.Pich, A.Karak, Y.Lu, A.K.Ghosh, H.J.P.Adler. J. Nanosci. Nanotechnol., 6, 3763 (2006)
- 1167. K.H.Tan, W.Xu, S.Stefka, D.E.Demco, T.Kharandiuk, V.Ivasiv, R.Nebesnyi, V.S.Petrovskii, I.I.Potemkin, A.Pich. Angew. Chemie Int. Ed., 58, 9791 (2019)

- 1168. D.Kleinschmidt, M.S.Fernandes, M.Mork, A.A.Meyer, J.Krischel, M.V Anakhov, R.A.Gumerov, I.I.Potemkin, M.Rueping, A.Pich. J. Colloid Interface Sci., 559, 76 (2020)
- 1169. Y.Lu, S.Proch, M.Schrinner, M.Drechsler, R.Kempe, M.Ballauff. J. Mater. Chem., 19, 3955 (2009)
- 1170. L.A.Shah, A.Haleem, M.Sayed, M.Siddiq. J. Environ. Chem. Eng., 4, 3492 (2016)
- 1171. H.J.M.Wolff, M.Kather, H.Breisig, W.Richtering, A.Pich, M.Wessling. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces, 10, 24799 (2018)
- 1172. H.J.M.Wolff, J.Linkhorst, T.Göttlich, J.Savinsky, A.J.D.Krüger, L.De Laporte, M.Wessling. Lab Chip, 20, 285 (2020)
- 1173. R.A.Gumerov, E.Gau, W.Xu, A.Melle, S.A.Filippov, A.S.Sorokina, N.A.Wolter, A.Pich, I.I.Potemkin. J. Colloid Interface Sci., 564, 344 (2020)
- 1174. N.A.Plate, A.E.Vasil'ev. Fiziologicheski Aktivnye Polimery. (Physiologically Active Polymers). (Moscow: Khimiya, 1986)
- 1175. G.Ringsdorf, B.Shmidt. Zh. Vsesoyus. Khim. O-va im. D.I.Mendeleeva, **32**, 481 (1987)
- 1176. E.F.Panarin, N.A.Lavrov, M.S.Solovskii, L.I.Shal'nova. Polimery — Nositeli Biologicheskikh Aktivnykh Veshchestv. (Polymers — Carriers of Biologically Active Substances). (Saint Petersburg: TsOP 'Professiya', 2014)
- 1177. G.E.Afinogenov, E.F.Panarin. Antimikrobnye Polimery. (Antimicrobial Polymers). (Saint Petersburg: Gippokrat, 1993)
- 1178. Y.Yang, Z.Cai, Z.Huang, X.Tang, X.Zhang. Polym. J., 50, 33 (2018)
- 1179. T.J.Franklin, G.A.Snow. Biochemistry of Antimicrobial Action. (Netherlands, Dordrecht: Springer, 1989)
- 1180. M.S.Solovskii, E.F.Panarin. Sintez i Modifikatsiya Polimerov. (Synthesis and Modification of Polymers). (Moscow: Khimiya, 2003)
- 1181. A.V.Kabanov, V.A.Kabanov. Bioconjug. Chem., 6, 7 (1995)
- 1182. A.Akinc, M.Thomas, A.M.Klibanov, R.Langer. J. Gene Med., 7, 657 (2005)
- 1183. A.V.Slita, N.A.Kasyanenko, O.V.Nazarova, I.I.Gavrilova, E.M.Eropkina, A.K.Sirotkin, T.D.Smirnova, O.I.Kiselev, E.F.Panarin. J. Biotechnol., 127, 679 (2007)
- 1184. P.Dubruel, B.Christiaens, B.Vanloo, K.Bracke, M.Rosseneu, J.Vandekerckhove, E.Schacht. *Eur. J. Pharm. Sci.*, **18**, 211 (2003)
- 1185. A.Muñoz-Bonilla, M.Fernández-García. Prog. Polym. Sci., 37, 281 (2012)
- 1186. F.Siedenbiedel, J.C.Tiller. Polymers, 4, 46 (2012)
- 1187. A.R.Danilov, Yu.V.vasil'ev. Novye Biologicheski Aktivnye Polimery i Immobilizovannye imi Steroidy. (Biologically Active Polymers and Steroids Mobilized by Them). (Leningrad: LPMI, 1988)
- 1188. O.V.Nazarova, L.S.Potarenkova, A.N.Stukov, Yu.I.Zolotova, O.N.Zhuravskaya, T.N.Nekrasova, E.F.Panarin. *Khim.-Farm. Zh.*, **51**, 3 (2017)
- 1189. O.V.Nazarova, E.P.Anan'eva, V.V.Zarubaev, E.O.Sinegubova, Yu.I.Zolotova, M.A.Bezrukova, E.F.Panarin. *Khim.-Farm. Zh*, **53**, 48 (2019)
- 1190. L.I.Tikhonova. Zh. Fiz. Khim., 48, 823 (1974)
- 1191. V.V Kopeikin. Acta Polym., 34, 307 (1983)
- 1192. V.D.Pautov, T.N.Anan'eva, I.I.Gavrilova. Zh. Prikl. Khim., 80, 2054 (2007)
- 1193. W.Regelson. In *Adv. Chemotherapy*. (Eds A.Goldin, F.Schnitzer, R.J.Hawking). (New York: Academic Press, 1968). P. 303
 1194. N.A.Zeitlenok, L.M.Vil'ner, V.A.Trukhmanova,
- V.A.Kropachev, I.M.Rodin, T.M.Markelova, M.M.Gol'dfarb. Voprosy Virusuologii, 401 (1968)
- 1195. V.N.Tarasov, V.A.Kropachev, L.B.Trukhmanova. Zh. Mikrobiol. Epidemiol. Immunobiol, 89 (1970)
- 1196. N.A.Zaitlenok. Obrazovanie i Deistvie Interferona (Formation and Action of Interferon). (Riga: Znanie, 1972)

- 1197. T.S.Abdukhodzhaev, V.A.Kropachev, L.B.Trukhmanova, L.M.Vil'ner. Fiziologicheski Aktivnye Polymery. (Physiologically Active Polymer Substances). (Tashkent: Izd. Tashk. Univ., 1976)
- 1198. D.I.Ershov, I.A.Vinograd, M.M.Kozlovskii, O.L.Pendarskii, L.L.Stotskaya. In *Polimery Meditsinskogo Naznacheniya*. (*Medical Grade Polymers*). (Moscow: INKhS Akad. Nauk SSSR, 1988). P. 11
- 1199. E.G.Deeva. Candidate Thesis in Medical Sciences. (Saint Petersburg: Smorodintsev Research Institute of Influenza, 2000)
- 1200. K.S.Zerda, C.P.Gerba, K.C.Hou, S.M.Goyal. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, **49**, 91 (1985)
- 1201. A.K.Sirotkin, V.P.Sukhinin, O.V.Nazarova, I.I.Gavrilova, E.F.Panarin. Dokl. Akad. Nauk, 388, 821 (2003)
- 1202. M.T.Shieh, D.WuDunn, R.I.Montgomery, J.D.Esko, P.G.Spear. J. Cell Biol., 116, 1273 (1992)
- 1203. P.Mohan, D.Schols, M.Baba, E.De Clercq. *Antiviral Res.*, **18**, 139 (1992)
- 1204. P.G.Spear. In Viral Fusion Mechanisms. (Ed. J.Bentz). (CRC Press, 1992). P. 201
- 1205. R.A.Anderson, K.A.Feathergill, X.Dico, M.Cooper, R.Kirkpatrick, R.Spear, D.P.Waller, C.Chang, G.F.Doncel, B.Herold, L.J.D.Zaneveld. J. Androl., 21, 862 (2000)
- 1206. E.F.Panarin, V.N.Ushakova. In Polimery Meditsinskogo Naznacheniya. (Medical Grade Polymers). (Moscow: INKhS Akad. Nauk SSSR, 1988). P. 66
- 1207. Patent RU 2635558 (2017)
- 1208. E.F.Panarin. A.I.Fisher, N.A.Nesterova, A.A.Shtro, A.V.Dobrodumov, I.I.Gavrilova, V.A.Manakhov, T.N.Nerasova. *Izv. Akad. Nauk., Ser. Khim.*, **11**, 2352 (2022)
- 1209. J.-C.G.Bünzli. J. Lumin., 170, 866 (2016)
- 1210. V.V.Utochnikova, N.P.Kuz'mina. Russ. J. Coord. Chem., 42, 679 (2016)
- 1211. M.N.Bochkarev, A.P.Pushkarev. Org. Photonics Photovoltaics, 4, 60 (2016)
- 1212. C.Du, L.Ma, Y.Xu, Z.Youyuan, C.Jiang. *Eur. Polym. J.*, **34**, 23 (1998)
- 1213. X.Qi, Z.Wang, S.Ma, L.Wu, S.Yang, J.Xu. Polymer, 55, 1183 (2014)
- 1214. J.M.Bryson, J.W.Reineke, T.M.Reineke. *Macromolecules*, **45**, 8939 (2012)
- 1215. Q.Zhao, C.Huang, F.Li. Chem. Soc. Rev., 40, 2508 (2011)
- 1216. A.G.Ivanov, I.I.Gavrilova, V.D.Krasikov, E.F.Panarin. Russ. J. App. Chem., **92**, 1705 (2019)
- 1217. T.N.Nekrasova, N.A.Nesterova, I.I.Gavrilova, V.D.Pautov, E.F.Panarin. *Russ. J. Appl. Chem.*, **92**, 1336 (2019)
- 1218. T.N.Nekrasova, M.V.Solovskii, M.S.Borisenko, A.I.Fisher, E.F.Panarin. Dokl. Chem., 497, 4953 (2021)
- 1219. T.N.Nekrasova, O.N.Zhuravskaya, M.A.Bezrukova, A.V.Dobrodumov, E.F.Panarin. *Dokl. Chem.*, **492**, 85 (2020)
- 1220. P.Caravan, J.J.Ellison, T.J.McMurry, R.B.Lauffer. Chem. Rev., **99**, 2293 (1999)
- 1221. P.F.Sieving, A.D.Watson, S.M.Rocklage. *Bioconjug. Chem.*, 1, 65 (1990)
- 1222. F.Ye, T.Ke, E.-K.Jeong, X.Wang, Y.Sun, M.Johnson, Z.-R.Lu. *Mol. Pharm.*, **3**, 507 (2006)
- 1223. A.M.Mohs, X.Wang, K.C.Goodrich, Y.Zong, D.L.Parker, Z.-R.Lu. *Bioconjug. Chem.*, **15**, 1424 (2004)
- 1224. Y.Zong, J.Guo, T.Ke, A.M.Mohs, D.L.Parker, Z.-R.Lu. J. Control. Release, 112, 350 (2006)
- 1225. D.Wang, S.C.Miller, M.Sima, D.Parker, H.Buswell, K.C.Goodrich, P.Kopečková, J.Kopeček. *Pharm. Res.*, 21, 1741 (2004)
- 1226. F.Kiessling, M.Heilmann, T.Lammers, K.Ulbrich, V.Subr, P.Peschke, B.Waengler, W.Mier, H.-H.Schrenk, M.Bock, L.Schad, W.Semmler. *Bioconjug. Chem.*, **17**, 42 (2006)
- 1227. S.V.Burov, K.V.Polyanichko, P.S.Chelushkin, M.Yu.Dorosh, I.I.Gavrilova, A.V.Dobrodumov, Yu.V.Pokhvoshchev, V.D.Krasikov, E.F.Panarin. *Dokl. Chem.* 466, 18 (2016)

- 1228. H.Kobayashi, S.Kawamoto, S.-K.Jo, H.L.Bryant, M.W.Brechbiel, R.A.Star. *Bioconjug. Chem.*, **14**, 388 (2003)
- 1229. K.Luo, G.Liu, W.She, Q.Wang, G.Wang, B.He, H.Ai, Q.Gong, B.Song, Z.Gu. *Biomaterials*, 32, 7951 (2011)
- 1230. Y.Fu, H.-J.Raatschen, D.E.Nitecki, M.F.Wendland, V.Novikov, L.S.Fournier, C.Cyran, V.Rogut, D.M.Shames, R.C.Brasch. *Biomacromolecules*, 8, 1519 (2007)
- 1231. L.Vander Elst, M.Port, I.Raynal, C.Simonot, R.N.Muller. *Eur. J. Inorg. Chem.*, **2003**, 2495 (2003)
- 1232. D.A.Fulton, E.M.Elemento, S.Aime, L.Chaabane, M.Botta, D.Parker. Chem. Commun., 1064 (2006)
- 1233. A.M.Muzafarov, M.Golly, M.Moeller. *Macromolecules*, 28, 8444 (1995)